





Management of diabetes

A national clinical guideline



March 2010 Updated November 2017

	TO EVIDENCE STATEMENTS AND GRADES OF RECOMMENDATIONS			
leve 1++	High quality meta-analyses, systematic reviews of RCTs, or RCTs with a very low risk of bias			
1+	Well conducted meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a low risk of bias			
1 ⁻	Meta-analyses, systematic reviews, or RCTs with a high risk of bias			
	High quality systematic reviews of case control or cohort studies			
2++	High quality case control or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding or bias and a high probability that the relationship is causal			
2+	Well conducted case control or cohort studies with a low risk of confounding or bias and a moderate probability that the relationship is causal			
2 -	Case control or cohort studies with a high risk of confounding or bias and a significant risk that the relationship is not causal			
3	Non-analytic studies, eg case reports, case series			
4	Expert opinion			
GRA	DES OF RECOMMENDATION			
Note: The grade of recommendation relates to the strength of the evidence on which the recommendation is based. It does not reflect the clinical importance of the recommendation.				
	At least one meta-analysis, systematic review, or RCT rated as 1 ⁺⁺ , and directly applicable to the target population; or			
A	A body of evidence consisting principally of studies rated as 1 ⁺ , directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results			
B	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2 ⁺⁺ , directly applicable to the target population, and demonstrating overall consistency of results; <i>or</i>			
	Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 1 ⁺⁺ or 1 ⁺			
С	A body of evidence including studies rated as 2 ⁺ , directly applicable to the target population and demonstrating overall consistency of results; <i>or</i>			
	Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2 ⁺⁺			
D	Evidence level 3 or 4; or			
	Extrapolated evidence from studies rated as 2+			
GOOD PRACTICE POINTS				
V	Recommended best practice based on the clinical experience of the guideline development group			

NHS Quality Improvement Scotland (NHS QIS) is committed to equality and diversity and assesses all its publications for likely impact on the six equality groups defined by age, disability, gender, race, religion/belief and sexual orientation.

SIGN guidelines are produced using a standard methodology that has been **equality impact assessed** to ensure that these equality aims are addressed in every guideline. This methodology is set out in the current version of SIGN 50, our guideline manual, which can be found at www.sign.ac.uk/sign-50.html. The EQIA assessment of the manual can be seen at www.sign.ac.uk/assets/ sign50eqia.pdf. The full report in paper form and/or alternative format is available on request from the NHS QIS Equality and Diversity Officer.

Every care is taken to ensure that this publication is correct in every detail at the time of publication. However, in the event of errors or omissions corrections will be published in the web version of this document, which is the definitive version at all times. This version can be found on our web site www.sign.ac.uk.



Management of diabetes

A national clinical guideline



March 2010

ISBN 978 1 905813 58 2

Published March 2010 Updated May 2011 Updated May 2014 Updated November 2017

This guideline was issued in 2010 and will be considered for review in three years. The review history, and any updates to the guideline in the interim period, will be noted in the review report, which is available in the supporting material section for this guideline on the SIGN website: **www.sign.ac.uk**

SIGN consents to the photocopying of this guideline for the purpose of implementation in NHSScotland

> Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network Healthcare Improvement Scotland Gyle Square, 1 South Gyle Crescent Edinburgh EH12 9EB

> > www.sign.ac.uk

Contents

1	Introduction	1
1.1	The need for a guideline	1
1.2	Remit of the guideline	1
1.3	Definitions	2
1.4	Statement of intent	3
2	Key recommendations	5
2.1	Lifestyle management	5
2.2	Psychosocial factors	5
2.3	Management of type 1 diabetes	6
2.4	Management of diabetes in pregnancy	7
2.5	Management of diabetic cardiovascular disease	7
2.6	Management of kidney disease in diabetes	7
2.7	Prevention of visual impairment	8
2.8	Management of diabetic foot disease	8
3	Lifestyle management	9
3.1	Delivery of lifestyle interventions	9
3.2	Structured education	10
3.3	Self monitoring of glycaemia	12
3.4	Smoking cessation	16
3.5	Exercise and physical activity	17
3.6	Weight management in type 2 diabetes	20
3.7	Healthy eating	22
3.8	Alcohol	23
3.9	Checklist for provision of information	24
4	Psychosocial factors	25
4.1	The influence of psychosocial factors on diabetes control	25
4.2	Screening for psychological distress	26
4.3	The effect of psychological interventions on diabetes outcomes	27
4.4	Treatment of psychological distress	28
4.5	Checklist for provision of information	29
5	Management of type 1 diabetes	30
5.1	Diagnosis and epidemiology	30
5.2	Initiating therapy at diagnosis	30
5.3	Continuing management	31
5.4	Quality of life	36

5.5	Long term complications and screening	. 37
5.6	Checklist for provision of information	. 38
6	This section is superseded by SIGN 154 Pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes	. 39
7	Management of diabetes in pregnancy	. 56
7.1	Introduction	. 56
7.2	Contraception	. 56
7.3	Pre-pregnancy care	. 57
7.4	Nutritional management	. 59
7.5	Optimisation of glycaemic control	. 59
7.6	Complications during pregnancy	. 60
7.7	Fetal assessment	. 62
7.8	Gestational diabetes	. 63
7.9	Delivery	. 66
7.10	Infants of mothers with diabetes	. 66
7.11	Postnatal care	. 67
7.12	Follow up of women with GDM	. 68
7.13	Checklist for provision of information	. 68
8	Management of diabetic cardiovascular disease	. 70
8.1	Epidemiology	70
	Lpidemology	.70
8.2	Cardiovascular risk factors	
8.2 8.3		. 70
	Cardiovascular risk factors	. 70 . 71
8.3	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease	. 70 . 71 . 73
8.3 8.4	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76
8.3 8.4 8.5	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79
8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81
8.38.48.58.68.7	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81
8.38.48.58.68.78.8	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke Peripheral arterial disease.	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81
 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke Peripheral arterial disease Checklist for provision of information	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81 . 83
 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 9 	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke Peripheral arterial disease Checklist for provision of information Management of kidney disease in diabetes	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81 . 83
 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 9 9.1 	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke Peripheral arterial disease Checklist for provision of information Management of kidney disease in diabetes Definitions	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81 . 83 . 83 . 84
 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 9 9.1 9.2 	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke Peripheral arterial disease Checklist for provision of information Management of kidney disease in diabetes Definitions Prevalence and progression of kidney disease in diabetes	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81 . 83 . 83 . 84 . 85
 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 9 9.1 9.2 9.3 	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke Peripheral arterial disease Checklist for provision of information Management of kidney disease in diabetes Prevalence and progression of kidney disease in diabetes Screening for kidney disease in diabetes	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81 . 83 . 83 . 84 . 85 . 87
 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 9 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease Management of patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes Management of patients with diabetes and heart failure Management of patients with diabetes and stable angina Management of acute stroke Peripheral arterial disease Checklist for provision of information Management of kidney disease in diabetes Definitions Prevalence and progression of kidney disease in diabetes Screening for kidney disease in diabetes	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81 . 83 . 83 . 83 . 84 . 85 . 87 . 87
 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 9 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 	Cardiovascular risk factors Primary prevention of coronary heart disease	. 70 . 71 . 73 . 76 . 79 . 81 . 81 . 81 . 83 . 83 . 84 . 85 . 87 . 87 . 93

10	Prevention of visual impairment	. 96
10.1	Risk identification and prevention	. 96
10.2	Screening	. 97
10.3	Treatment	. 100
10.4	Rehabilitation	. 102
10.5	Checklist for provision of information	. 102
11	Management of diabetic foot disease	. 104
11.1	Epidemiology and risk factors	. 104
11.2	Risk stratification	. 104
11.3	Patient education	. 106
11.4	Preventative footwear and orthoses	. 106
11.5	Management of active foot disease	. 107
11.6	Painful diabetic neuropathy	. 109
11.7	Checklist for provision of information	. 110
12	Provision of information	. 111
12.1	Sources of further information	. 111
13	Implementing the guideline	. 112
13.1	Resource implications of key recommendations	. 112
13.2	Auditing current practice	. 113
13.3	Additional advice to NHSScotland from NHS Quality Improvement Scotland and the Scottish Medicines Consortium	. 115
14	The evidence base	. 116
14.1	Systematic literature review	. 116
14.2	Recommendations for research	. 116
14.3	Review and updating	. 118
15	Development of the guideline	. 119
15.1	Introduction	. 119
15.2	The guideline development group	. 119
15.3	The guideline steering group	. 122
15.4	Consultation and peer review	. 123
Abbrevia	tions	. 125
Annex 1		. 130
Annex 2		. 140
Annex 3		. 142
Reference	es	. 143

1 Introduction

1.1 THE NEED FOR A GUIDELINE

Diabetes mellitus is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in Scotland and worldwide, with an increasing prevalence. In 2009 there were around 228,000 people registered as having diabetes in Scotland, an increase of 3.6% from the preceding year.¹ This increase relates, in part, to the increasing age of the population, an increase in obesity and also perhaps to increasing survival of those with diabetes.

Twenty years ago the St Vincent declaration aimed to decrease blindness, end-stage renal failure, amputation and cardiovascular disease in those with diabetes and to improve the outcome of pregnant mothers who have diabetes. Since that time there has been a great increase in evidence showing that many diabetic outcomes can be influenced by appropriate therapies. Part of this evidence base was reviewed in the previous SIGN guideline on management of diabetes (SIGN 55) published in 2001.² New clinical evidence has been published since then and has resulted in the need for this selective update. Implementing the evidence described in this guideline will have a positive effect on the health of people with diabetes.

1.1.1 UPDATING THE EVIDENCE

Since the publication of SIGN 55, new evidence has been published in many areas covered by the recommendations in that guideline. Where this evidence was thought likely to significantly change either the content or grading of these recommendations, it has been identified and reviewed. Where new evidence does not update existing recommendations and where no new evidence was identified to support an update, the guideline text and recommendations are reproduced verbatim from SIGN 55. The original supporting evidence was not re-appraised by the current guideline development group. A number of new areas that were not considered in SIGN 55 have also been incorporated into this selective update, (see section 1.2.3).

A Cost and Resource Impact Assessment report developed by NHS QIS is available as a companion document to this guideline. This document reports the national costs to NHSScotland of implementing recommendations that are estimated to have a net additional cost of $\pounds 5$ million or more to introduce.

1.2 **REMIT OF THE GUIDELINE**

1.2.1 OVERALL OBJECTIVES

This guideline provides recommendations based on current evidence for best practice in the management of diabetes. For people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes recommendations for lifestyle interventions are included, as are recommendations for the management of cardiovascular, kidney and foot diseases. Guidance for all people with diabetes to prevent visual impairment, and specific advice for pregnant women with diabetes is provided. A new section on the management of psychosocial issues, drawn partially from evidence originally contained in other sections, is now included. Finally, a section on the management of type 1 diabetes has been added. Implementation of these recommendations will encourage the provision and development of high quality care for people with diabetes. It should also inform the development of measureable standards of diabetes care. Glucose-lowering therapies in people with type 2 diabetes are covered in SIGN guideline number 154 on pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes.⁷⁶³ Prevention of diabetes and pre-diabetes are not covered.

1.2.2 TARGET USERS OF THE GUIDELINE

This guideline will mainly be of interest to all healthcare professionals involved in the care of people with diabetes. The target users are, however, much broader than this, and include people with diabetes, their carers and those who interact with people with diabetes outside of the NHS. It will also be of interest to those planning the delivery of services in NHSScotland and beyond.

1.2.3 SUMMARY OF UPDATES TO THE GUIDELINE CARRIED OUT IN 2010, BY SECTION

Key recommendations	New
Lifestyle management	Updated
Psychosocial factors	Updated
Management of type 1 diabetes	Updated
Pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes	Superseded by SIGN 154
Management of diabetes in pregnancy	Updated
Management of diabetic cardiovascular disease	Updated
Management of kidney disease in diabetes	Updated
Prevention of visual impairment	Updated
Management of diabetic foot disease	Minor update
Provision of information	New
	Lifestyle management Psychosocial factors Management of type 1 diabetes Pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes Management of diabetes in pregnancy Management of diabetic cardiovascular disease Management of kidney disease in diabetes Prevention of visual impairment Management of diabetic foot disease

1.3 DEFINITIONS

Diabetes mellitus is defined as a metabolic disorder of multiple aetiology characterised by chronic hyperglycaemia with disturbances of carbohydrate, protein and fat metabolism resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both. The clinical diagnosis of diabetes is often indicated by the presence of symptoms such as polyuria, polydipsia, and unexplained weight loss, and is confirmed by measurement of abnormal hyperglycaemia.³

The World Health Organization (WHO)³ advises that the range of blood glucose indicative of diabetes mellitus is as follows:

- fasting venous plasma glucose (FPG) \geq 7.0 mmol/l; or
- venous plasma glucose ≥11.1 mmol/l at two hours after a 75 g oral glucose load (oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT)).

The fact that glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) reflects average plasma glucose over the previous two to three months in a single measure which can be performed at any time of the day and does not require any special preparation such as fasting has made it a key measure for assessing glycaemic control in people with established diabetes. In 2011 the WHO recommended that HbA1c can be used as a diagnostic test for diabetes providing that stringent quality assurance tests are in place, that assays are standardised to criteria aligned to the international reference values and there are no conditions present that preclude its accurate measurement. The guidance states that an HbA1c of 48 mmol/mol (6.5%) is recommended as the cut-off point for diagnosing diabetes.⁷⁶¹A UK expert position statement highlighted issues around the implementation of the test including that it is unsuitable for diagnosing Type 1 diabetes or diabetes in pregnant women. It is therefore less useful in children and young people with suspected diabetes who need a more rapid assessment.⁷⁶²

*Impaired Glucose Tolerance (IGT) is a stage of impaired glucose regulation (FPG < 7.0 mmol/l and OGTT 2 hour value \geq 7.8 mmol/l but < 11.1mmol/l).

Impaired Fasting Glucose (IFG) has been introduced to classify individuals who have fasting glucose values above the normal range but below those diagnostic of diabetes. (fasting plasma glucose $\geq 6.1 \text{ mmol/l but } < 7.0 \text{ mmol/l}$).

IGT and IFG are not clinical entities in their own right, but rather risk categories for cardiovascular disease and/or future diabetes.

Until June 2009 glycated haemoglobin in the UK was reported in Diabetes Control and Complication Trial (DCCT)-aligned format with the units being the proportion of total haemoglobin that is glycosylated expressed as a percentage. While UK laboratories standardised measures of HbA1c so that results were aligned with the analyses used in the DCCT, laboratories in other countries did not necessarily do so meaning that HbA1c values could not be accurately compared worldwide. Furthermore, since the DCCT, the methods used for measuring HbA1c have been found to have interferences yielding a falsely high result. A new and more accurate standard published by the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (IFCC) replaces the DCCT-aligned calibration for HbA1c and reports results in mmol/ mol.⁴ To facilitate the changeover of measurements both formats will be reported in parallel from June 2009 to June 2011, and the IFFC format only thereafter (see Annex 2). In this guideline, HbA1c values will be presented as DCCT-aligned values in text or recommendations with IFCC calibration in brackets, eg HbA1c = 7.5% (59 mmol/mol).

1.4 STATEMENT OF INTENT

This guideline is not intended to be construed or to serve as a standard of care. Standards of care are determined on the basis of all clinical data available for an individual case and are subject to change as scientific knowledge and technology advance and patterns of care evolve. Adherence to guideline recommendations will not ensure a successful outcome in every case, nor should they be construed as including all proper methods of care or excluding other acceptable methods of care aimed at the same results. The ultimate judgement must be made by the appropriate healthcare professional(s) responsible for clinical decisions regarding a particular clinical procedure or treatment plan. This judgement should only be arrived at following discussion of the options with the patient, covering the diagnostic and treatment choices available. It is advised, however, that significant departures from the national guideline or any local guidelines derived from it should be fully documented in the patient's case notes at the time the relevant decision is taken.

1.4.1 PATIENT VERSION

A patient version of this guideline is available from the SIGN website, www.sign.ac.uk

1.4.2 PRESCRIBING OF LICENSED MEDICINES OUTWITH THEIR MARKETING AUTHORISATION

Recommendations within this guideline are based on the best clinical evidence. Some recommendations may be for medicines prescribed outwith the marketing authorisation (product licence). This is known as 'off label' use. It is not unusual for medicines to be prescribed outwith their product licence and this can be necessary for a variety of reasons.

Generally the unlicensed use of medicines becomes necessary if the clinical need cannot be met by licensed medicines; such use should be supported by appropriate evidence and experience.⁵

Medicines may be prescribed outwith their product licence in the following circumstances:

- for an indication not specified within the marketing authorisation
- for administration via a different route
- for administration of a different dose.

'Prescribing medicines outside the recommendations of their marketing authorisation alters (and probably increases) the prescribers' professional responsibility and potential liability. The prescriber should be able to justify and feel competent in using such medicines.'⁵

Any practitioner following a SIGN recommendation and prescribing a licensed medicine outwith the product licence needs to be aware that they are responsible for this decision, and in the event of adverse outcomes, may be required to justify the actions that they have taken.

Prior to prescribing, the licensing status of a medication should be checked in the current version of the British National Formulary (BNF).

1.4.3 ADDITIONAL ADVICE TO NHSSCOTLAND FROM NHS QUALITY IMPROVEMENT SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH MEDICINES CONSORTIUM

NHS QIS processes multiple technology appraisals (MTAs) for NHSScotland that have been produced by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) in England and Wales.

The Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC) provides advice to NHS Boards and their Area Drug and Therapeutics Committees about the status of all newly licensed medicines and any major new indications for established products.

SMC advice and NHS QIS validated NICE MTAs relevant to this guideline are summarised in the section on implementation.

2 Key recommendations

The following recommendations were highlighted by the guideline development group as the key clinical recommendations that should be prioritised for implementation. The grade of recommendation relates to the strength of the supporting evidence on which the recommendation is based. It does not reflect the clinical importance of the recommendation.

2.1 LIFESTYLE MANAGEMENT

- A Adults with type 1 diabetes experiencing problems with hypoglycaemia or who fail to achieve glycaemic targets should have access to structured education programmes based upon adult learning theories.
- A Adults with type 2 diabetes should have access to structured education programmes based upon adult learning theories.
- B All people who smoke should be advised to stop and offered support to help facilitate this in order to minimise cardiovascular and general health risks.
- A Obese adults with type 2 diabetes should be offered individualised interventions to encourage weight loss (including lifestyle, pharmacological or surgical interventions) in order to improve metabolic control.
- Self monitoring of blood glucose may be considered in the following groups of patients with type 2 diabetes who are not using insulin:
 - those at increased risk of hypoglycaemia
 - those experiencing acute illness
 - those undergoing significant changes in pharmacotherapy or fasting, for example, during Ramadan
 - those with unstable or poor glycaemic control (HbA1c>8.0% (64 mmol/mol))
 - those who are pregnant or planning pregnancy.

2.2 PSYCHOSOCIAL FACTORS

- **B** Regular assessment of a broad range of psychological and behavioural problems in children and adults with type 1 diabetes is recommended.
 - In children this should include eating disorders, behavioural, emotional and family functioning problems.
 - In adults this should include anxiety, depression and eating disorders.
- A Children and adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes should be offered psychological interventions (including motivational interviewing, goal setting skills and CBT) to improve glycaemic control in the short and medium term.

2.3 MANAGEMENT OF TYPE 1 DIABETES

- B An intensified treatment regimen for adults with type 1 diabetes should include either regular human or rapid-acting insulin analogues.
- B Basal insulin analogues are recommended in adults with type 1 diabetes who are experiencing severe or nocturnal hypoglycaemia and who are using an intensified insulin regimen. Adults with type 1 diabetes who are not experiencing severe or nocturnal hypoglycaemia may use basal anologues or NPH insulin.
- B Children and adolescents may use either insulin analogues (rapid-acting and basal), regular human insulin and NPH preparations or an appropriate combination of these.
- C The insulin regimen should be tailored to the individual child to achieve the best possible glycaemic control without disabling hypoglycaemia.
- A **CSII** therapy is associated with modest improvements in glycaemic control and should be considered for patients unable to achieve their glycaemic targets.
- B CSII therapy should be considered in patients who experience recurring episodes of severe hypoglycaemia.
- A To reduce the risk of long term microvascular complications, the target for all young people with diabetes is the optimising of glycaemic control towards a normal level.

2.4 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES IN PREGNANCY

- C Pre-pregnancy care provided by a multidisciplinary team is strongly recommended for women with diabetes.
- A A suitable programme to detect and treat gestational diabetes should be offered to all women in pregnancy.
- A Pregnant women with GDM should be offered dietary advice and blood glucose monitoring and be treated with glucose-lowering therapy depending on target values for fasting and postprandial targets.
- B Metformin or glibenclamide may be considered as initial pharmacological, glucoselowering treatment in women with gestational diabetes.

2.5 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETIC CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

- A Hypertension in people with diabetes should be treated aggressively with lifestyle modification and drug therapy.
- A Target diastolic blood pressure in people with diabetes is \leq 80 mm Hg.
- D Target systolic blood pressure in people with diabetes is < 130 mm Hg.
- A Lipid-lowering drug therapy with simvastatin 40 mg or atorvastatin 10 mg is recommended for primary prevention in patients with type 2 diabetes aged >40 years regardless of baseline cholesterol.
- A Intensive lipid-lowering therapy with atorvastatin 80 mg should be considered for patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes, objective evidence of coronary heart disease on angiography or following coronary revascularisation procedures.

2.6 MANAGEMENT OF KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETES

- A Reducing proteinuria should be a treatment target regardless of baseline urinary protein excretion. However, patients with higher degrees of proteinuria benefit more. There should be no lower target as the greater the reduction from baseline urinary protein excretion, the greater the effect on slowing the rate of loss of GFR.
- A In people with diabetes and kidney disease, blood pressure should be reduced to the lowest achievable level to slow the rate of decline of glomerular filtration rate and reduce proteinuria.
- A People with type 1 diabetes and microalbuminuria should be treated with an ACE inhibitor irrespective of blood pressure.
- A People with type 2 diabetes and microalbuminuria should be treated with an ACE inhibitor or an ARB irrespective of blood pressure.
- A ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs should be used as agents of choice in patients with chronic kidney disease and proteinuria (≥ 0.5 g/day, approximately equivalent to a protein/ creatinine ratio of 50 mg/mmol) to reduce the rate of progression of chronic kidney disease.

2.7 PREVENTION OF VISUAL IMPAIRMENT

- A Good glycaemic control (*HbA1c* ideally around 7% or 53 mmol/mol)) and blood pressure control (<130/80 mm Hg) should be maintained to prevent onset and progression of diabetic eye disease.
- B Systematic screening for diabetic retinal disease should be provided for all people with diabetes.
- All people with type 1 or type 2 diabetes with new vessels at the disc or iris should receive laser photocoagulation. Laser photocoagulation should also be provided for patients with new vessels elsewhere with vitreous haemorrhage. All people with type 2 diabetes and new vessels elsewhere should receive laser photocoagulation.

2.8 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETIC FOOT DISEASE

- В
- All patients with diabetes should be screened to assess their risk of developing a foot ulcer.
- C Patients with active diabetic foot disease should be referred to a multidisciplinary diabetic foot care service.

3 Lifestyle management

Modification of adverse lifestyle factors is an important aspect of the management of all types of diabetes. In particular, appropriate management of cardiovascular risk factors such as smoking, physical inactivity and poor diet is important for the prevention of macrovascular disease. Microvascular complications may also be affected by adverse lifestyle factors, eg smoking. However, helping patients to modify certain behaviours should take account of other factors such as the patient's willingness to change, their perception of their diabetes, and factors which may be indirectly related to their diabetes, such as depression and adverse effects on quality of life.

This section of the guideline has been divided into the following areas: delivery of lifestyle interventions, structured education, self monitoring of glycaemic control, and the specific areas of smoking, obesity, physical activity, healthy eating and alcohol. Some recommendations in these areas are supported by evidence extrapolated from large studies conducted in the general population and these recommendations have been graded accordingly.

3.1 DELIVERY OF LIFESTYLE INTERVENTIONS

3.1.1 WHICH LIFESTYLE INTERVENTIONS HAVE BEEN SHOWN TO WORK IN DIABETES?

- Intensive interventions which include frequent contact with health professionals including telephone contact, multiple injections of insulin and self monitoring of blood glucose have led to improvements in self-management.⁶
- Computer-assisted programmes which provide education and trigger self-management have a proven benefit in terms of both metabolic and psychosocial outcomes.^{7,8}
- Psychological interventions which are varied and include behaviour modification, motivational interviewing, patient empowerment and activation have a positive impact on outcomes (see section 4).
- Interventions based on a theoretical model or knowledge base have better outcomes.

People with diabetes should be offered lifestyle interventions based on a valid theoretical framework.

Computer-assisted education packages and telephone prompting should be considered as part of a multidisciplinary lifestyle intervention programme.

No evidence was identified to determine the optimal setting of lifestyle interventions, nor which addresses long term (>1 year) follow up in educational interventions.

Telephone or postal reminders prompting people with diabetes to attend clinics or appointments1+are an effective method of improving attendance.9,104

3.1.2 TRAINING HEALTH PROFESSIONALS TO DELIVER LIFESTYLE INTERVENTIONS

A randomised controlled trial (RCT) conducted in primary care indicated that patient satisfaction and knowledge improve when lifestyle interventions are delivered by staff who have been trained to take a patient-centred approach.¹¹

One study indicated that primary care nurses in contact with diabetes nurse educators are more knowledgeable about diabetes than nurses with no specific training in diabetes, and provide 3 a higher standard of care.¹²



Healthcare professionals should receive training in patient-centred interventions in diabetes.

1⁺⁺ 1⁺ 2⁺⁺

1+

3.2 STRUCTURED EDUCATION

Educational interventions for diabetes are complex and varied. A Patient Education Working Group convened by the Department of Health and Diabetes UK has laid out the criteria for the development of high quality patient education programmes. These key criteria have been endorsed by a Health Technology Assessment (HTA).¹³ The key standards are:

- Any programme should have an underpinning philosophy, should be evidence based, and suit the needs of the individual. The programme should have specific aims and learning objectives, and should support the development of self-management attitudes, beliefs, knowledge and skills for the learner, their family and carers.
- The programme should have a structured curriculum which is theory driven, evidence based, resource effective, have supporting materials and be written down.
- It should be delivered by trained educators who have an understanding of the educational theory appropriate to the age and needs of the programme learners, and be trained and competent in delivery of the principles and content of the specific programme they are offering.
- The programme should be quality assured, be reviewed by trained, competent, independent assessors and be assessed against key criteria to ensure sustained consistency.
- The outcomes from the programme should be regularly audited.

Research in this area is difficult to carry out and does not lend itself well to traditional randomised controlled intervention trials. Many studies have included "wait list" control groups where the intervention group is compared with a similar group who receive the same intervention but delayed by a period of time. In addition, whilst measurement of HbA1c is the most commonly used method to assess glycaemic control, many different aspects of quality of life have been assessed using a number of different assessment tools.

The lack of head-to-head comparative trials renders it impossible to recommend one specific programme over any other. It is important to consider the outcomes that are desirable for the population being treated and to consider whether the trial data support the delivery of those outcomes for that population.



Structured education programmes should adhere to the principles laid out by the Patient Education Working Group.

3.2.1 STRUCTURED EDUCATION IN ADULTS WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

Structured education based on principles of adult learning (including patient empowerment and experiential learning) is associated with improved psychological well-being, reduced anxiety and overall improvement in quality of life in people with type 1 diabetes.¹⁴⁻¹⁷ The effect of structured education on glycaemic control in people with type 1 diabetes varies across different programmes.

1 + +

1 +

1 + +

In recent years the DAFNE (Dose Adjustment for Normal Eating) education programme has been introduced for adults with type 1 diabetes. Patients taking part in the DAFNE programme obtained an average 1% improvement in HbA1c after six months.¹⁴ In addition patients noted overall improvement in quality of life and improved dietary freedom. No effect was noted in frequency of severe hypoglycaemia or patient-perceived hypoglycaemia.

DAFNE is likely to be cost effective adding 0.063 quality adjusted life years (QALY), and saving £536 per patient treated discounted over 10 years compared with conventional treatment.¹⁸

One RCT evaluating BITES (Brief Educational Intervention in Type 1 Diabetes) included adults with type 1 diabetes who attended a 2.5 day course delivered over six weeks.¹⁹ People taking part in this programme described increased treatment satisfaction at up to 12 months, however no benefit was observed in terms of HbA1c, rates of hypoglycaemia, blood pressure, lipids, weight, BMI or use of insulin.

3

1++

Preliminary results for BERTIE, a structured education programme for people with newly diagnosed or established diabetes, have been published.²⁰ This retrospective observational study showed HbA1c (mean±standard error, SE) fell from $8.9\pm0.2\%$ (74 ± 2 mmol/mol) to $8.4\pm0.2\%$ (68 ± 2 mmol/mol) (p<0.001) at three months, and was maintained at six months, $8.6\%\pm0.3$ (70 ± 3 mmol/mol), at 12 months and $8.3\%\pm0.5$ (67 ± 5 mmol/mol) at 24 months. The programme occupies about 7.5 hours direct health professional contact per person, spread over a month and may be more easily delivered within routine clinical services than programmes requiring more intensive input. Further evaluation of people with different baseline glycaemic control using a controlled methodology and assessing further critical outcomes, including hypoglycaemia, is required.

A number of structured education programmes have been developed specifically for patients who have significant problems with hypoglycaemia. These include Hypoglycaemia Anticipation, Awareness and Treatment Training (HAATT),²¹ HyPOS²² and Blood Glucose Awareness Training (BGAT).²³ Improvements in hypoglycaemia rates and awareness seen in these programmes are not associated with deterioration in overall glycaemic control.

A Adults with type 1 diabetes experiencing problems with hypoglycaemia or who fail to achieve glycaemic targets should have access to structured education programmes based upon adult learning theories.

3.2.2 STRUCTURED EDUCATION IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

Structured education based on developing problem solving skills targeted at children and adolescents has a positive effect on a number of behavioural outcomes (including frequency of self monitoring of blood glucose, better compliance with sick-day rules, increased levels of exercise, dietary intake and improved medication adherence) and overall quality of life.²⁴⁻²⁶ There is limited evidence for a small reduction in HbA1c (approximately 0.3% (3 mmol/mol)).^{16,24}

1+ 2+

No evidence was identified to indicate whether group or individualised (one-to-one) structured education is associated with better outcomes.



Children and adolescents should have access to programmes of structured education which have a basis in enhancing problem solving skills.

3.2.3 STRUCTURED EDUCATION IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES

Structured education based on principles of adult learning (including patient empowerment and experiential learning) is associated with improved psychological well-being, reduced anxiety and overall improvement in quality of life in patients with type 2 diabetes.^{13,27-29}

Structured education programmes for patients with type 2 diabetes show variable effects on glycaemic control. Most education interventions are associated with some HbA1c improvement but this is not a universal finding. HbA1c changes vary with the interventions used but, where benefit is seen, the magnitude of change is usually in the range of 0.3 (3 mmol/mol) to 1.0% (11 mmol/mol) improvement.^{14,15,30-33}

One systematic review compared the effect of individual structured education delivered face to face against usual care in adults with type 2 diabetes.³⁴ Individual education did not significantly improve glycaemic control (weighted mean difference (WMD) in HbA1c -0.1% (-1 mmol/mol), 95% CI -0.3 (-3) to 0.1 (1), p = 0.33) over a 12 to 18 month period. In a subgroup analysis of studies involving participants with a higher mean baseline HbA1c (>8% (64 mmol/mol)) there was a small benefit of individual education on glycaemic control (WMD -0.3% (-3 mmol/mol), 95% CI -0.5 (-5) to -0.1 (-1), p = 0.007).

1++

The X-PERT programme of six-weekly sessions of two hours duration has been compared with 'usual' care. Patients who took part in this programme showed a reduction in HbA1c of 0.6% (7 mmol/mol) at up to 14 months follow up (p<0.001).³⁵ Body weight reduced slightly (-0.5 kg v +1.1 kg (controls) (p<0.001) and waist circumference was reduced (4 cm in women; 2 cm in men) (p<0.001). Sixteen per cent of patients who took part in the X-PERT programme were able to reduce their diabetes medication. Lifestyle outcomes were also improved with improvement in knowledge outcomes, number of days exercising and total empowerment. The X-PERT programme has been evaluated in a computer based simulation used to project long-term health benefits and cost effectiveness.⁷⁵⁹ This study showed that X-PERT was associated with a QALY gain of 0.09 and an increase in total health care costs of €718 per participant, giving an incremental cost per QALY of about €10,000, compared to 'usual' care. Sensitivity analyses suggested that there was a very high probability that the programme would be cost effective at a threshold of €20,000.

The Diabetes Education and Self-Management for Ongoing and Newly Diagnosed (DESMOND) programme has been introduced for patients with type 2 diabetes. This programme did not lead to improvement in HbA1c after 12 months but was associated with around 1 kg greater weight loss and 5% less cigarette smoking. The intervention group also showed a greater understanding of diabetes and a lower prevalence of depression.²⁷

The cost effectiveness of the DESMOND programme has been evaluated using the same computer based simulation model.⁷⁵⁹ This study showed that DESMOND was associated with a QALY gain of 0.01 and an increase in health care costs of €63 per participant, with an incremental cost per QALY of about €32,000, compared to 'usual' care. Sensitivity analyses suggested that there was a 10% probability that the programme would be cost effective at a threshold of €20,000. The cost effectiveness study notes that the DESMOND trial provided enhanced standard care to control subjects and this may result in an underestimation of its effects in relation to the other programmes.⁷⁵⁹



Adults with type 2 diabetes should have access to structured education programmes based upon adult learning theories.

3.3 SELF MONITORING OF GLYCAEMIA

Self monitoring of glycaemia is a commonly used strategy for people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes to manage glycaemic control. Self monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) is accepted standard practice for people with type 1 diabetes. Self monitoring of blood glucose for people with type 2 diabetes can guide adjustment of insulin or other medication for patients and health professionals as part of a comprehensive package of diabetes care, encourage self-empowerment and promote better self-management behaviours. Conversely self monitoring may fail to improve diabetes control and has been associated with negative psychological outcomes.^{36, 37} Other methods of self monitoring include self monitoring of urine glucose (SMUG) and measurement of blood or urine ketones. Continuous monitoring of interstitial glucose (CMG) is an alternative for people with type 1 diabetes who have persistent problems with glycaemic control.

3.3.1 SELF MONITORING OF BLOOD GLUCOSE IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

Self monitoring of blood glucose is a fundamental and established component of self-management in people with type 1 diabetes and evidence for its routine use has not been reviewed.

One systematic review identified poor quality studies which assessed the effect of frequency of self monitoring on glycaemia in people with type 1 diabetes.³⁸ One non-randomised trial in children and two observational studies in adults reported that more frequent blood glucose monitoring (\geq 3 tests per day) was associated with improvements in glycaemia. However, one small crossover study in adults with type 1 diabetes reported that there was no difference in HbA1c between those who tested twice each day for a week compared with those who tested four times daily on two non-consecutive days per week.

The importance of SMBG whilst driving should be reinforced in people with type 1 diabetes.

1++

1++

1 + +

1+

1++

1+

Continuous glucose monitoring

Although SMBG is a vital part of the management of glycaemia in people with type 1 diabetes, many patients do not routinely monitor glucose levels either postprandially or overnight, which may leave undetected episodes of hyperglycaemia and hypoglycaemia respectively.³⁹ Systems using continuous monitoring of glucose by means of subcutaneous sensors which measure interstitial glucose levels have been developed. These systems are generally only considered for use by patients who experience particular difficulties in maintaining normal glucose levels or who have been transferred to continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion therapy (see section 5.3.2).

The evidence on the value of CGM in people with type 1 diabetes is conflicting.

One RCT demonstrated a reduction in HbA1c at three months of 1.0% (11 mmol/mol) \pm 1.1% (12 mmol/mol) (CGM group) v. 0.4% (4 mmol/mol) \pm 1.0% (11 mmol/mol) (conventional SMBG group) (p=0.003) in both adults and children with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes (HbA1c>8.1% (65 mmol/mol)).⁴⁰

Another RCT in adults and children with type 1 diabetes and excellent glycaemic control (HbA1c <7.0% (53 mmol/mol)) reported that subjects using CGM maintained HbA1c levels over six months without a corresponding rise in hypoglycaemia, (baseline 6.4% (46 mmol/mol) \pm 0.5 (5 mmol/mol) at baseline with 0.02% (0.2 mmol/mol) \pm 0.45 (5 mmol/mol) increase at six months). People in the control group using conventional SMBG reported a significant increase in HbA1c over the same period (treatment group difference -0.34% (3.72 mmol/mol), 95% CI -0.49 (-5.36) to -0.20 (-2.19), p<0.001).⁴¹

In contrast, a large RCT including adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes using insulin showed no significant differences in HbA1c between people using CGM or standard SMBG, or between baseline HbA1c and follow-up measurement at 3, 6, 12 or 18 months. No significant differences were found between the groups in the number of hypo- and hyperglycaemic events. This study also reported that CGM was not cost effective.⁴²

One RCT of adults and children with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes (HbA1c 7.0 to 10.0% (53 to 86 mmol/mol)) assigned patients to CGM or SMBG and stratified results according to age. The only significant reduction in HbA1c was reported in the group aged 25 years or older using CGM compared with those using SMBG (mean difference in change, -0.53% (-5.79 mmol/mol), 95% Cl -0.71 (-7.76) to -0.35 (-3.83), p < 0.001). The between-group difference was not significant among those who were 15 to 24 years of age (mean difference, 0.08% (1.87 mmol/mol), 95% Cl, -0.17 (-1.86) to 0.33 (3.61), p = 0.52) or among those who were 8 to 14 years of age (mean difference, -0.13% (-1.42 mmol/mol), 95% Cl, -0.38 (-4.15) to 0.11 (1.20), p = 0.29).⁴³

One systematic review of five poor quality RCTs on CGM versus SMBG in children with type 1 diabetes showed no additional benefit for CGM on HbA1c results.⁴⁴

CGM may be a useful adjuvant to conventional self monitoring in selected adults with type 1 diabetes as an aid to improve glycaemic control, however further research is required to identify the groups of patients who will gain most benefit.

Z CGM should not be used routinely in people with diabetes.

3.3.2 SELF MONITORING OF BLOOD GLUCOSE IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES

The literature in this area is difficult to assess. Many of the studies cannot be compared as the patient groups were different and glucose monitoring was usually just one part of a multifactorial intervention programme.⁴⁵

The evidence for the benefit of self monitoring of blood glucose in people with type 2 diabetes is conflicting. One large RCT found no significant effect of SMBG on HbA1c between groups randomised to standard care (no self monitoring), less intensive self monitoring with clinician interpretation of results and more intensive self monitoring with self interpretation of results.³⁶ The study reported a negative impact of SMBG on quality of life, and economic analysis indicated it was associated with higher healthcare costs and was not cost effective if used routinely (average additional annual cost per patient of £92 (95% CI, £80 to £103) in the less intensive group and £84 (95% CI £73 to £96) in the more intensive group).

One systematic review of studies in patients with type 2 diabetes who did not use insulin showed benefit for SMBG in reducing HbA1c levels in six of 11 trials included. Of the remaining five studies, two were underpowered, two compared SMBG against urine monitoring and one had an unusual three-armed design.⁴⁶

A comprehensive systematic review investigated the effect of SMBG on glycaemia, microand macrovascular disease and other diabetes outcomes in people with type 2 diabetes.³⁸ It identified three non-randomised studies of poor quality, including people with type 2 diabetes on insulin, which reported statistically significant reductions in HbA1c ranging from -0.36% (-3.93 mmol/mol) (95% Cl -0.24 (-2.62) to -0.48 (-5.25)) to -1.00% (-10.93 mmol/mol) (95% Cl -1.68 (-18.36) to -0.32 (-3.50)).

2++

2-

Only one poor quality non-randomised study was cited in this review which reported the effect of SMBG on hypoglycaemia in people with type 2 diabetes using insulin.⁴⁷ Hypoglycaemia was reduced in people monitoring glucose four times daily once per week (RR 0.45, 95% Cl 0.03 to 6.86) and four times daily once per two weeks (RR 0.67, 95% Cl 0.04 to 10.11) compared with those who did not monitor glucose. Rates of hypoglycaemia, however, were very low overall and the study only followed up patients for 12 weeks.

For people with type 2 diabetes not treated with insulin a meta-analysis of seven RCTs showed a clinically small but statistically significant reduction in HbA1c in favour of those using SMBG (WMD -0.25% (-2.73 mmol/mol), 95% CI -0.36 (-3.93) to -0.15 (-1.64)).³⁸ Those using SMBG more than twice daily achieved a larger reduction in HbA1c compared with those testing less frequently (WMD -0.47% (-5.14 mmol/mol), 95% CI -0.79 (-8.63) to -0.15 (-1.64)). Subgroup analysis showed larger improvements in glycaemia with SMBG in patients with baseline HbA1c levels of 8.0% (64 mmol/mol) or above (WMD -0.30% (-3.28 mmol/mol), 95% CI -0.54 (-5.90) to -0.17 (-1.86)) compared with patients with baseline level less than 8.0% (64 mmol/mol) (mean difference -0.16% (-1.75 mmol/mol), 95% CI -0.34 (-3.72) to 0.03 (0.33)).

Two further meta-analyses reported a reduction in HbA1c of 0.4% using SMBG for people with type 2 diabetes who are not using insulin.^{48,49}

One meta-analysis included three RCTs which reported that the relative risk of overall hypoglycaemia was greater with SMBG compared with no SMBG (1.99, 95% CI 1.37 to 2.89), however the rate of overall hypoglycaemia in patients using SBMG was lower (rate ratio 0.73, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.98).³⁸ The authors speculate that this may be accounted for by the fact that increased detection of hypoglycaemia in those initiating SMBG (which results in a higher risk of overall hypoglycaemia) may produce behaviour changes that reduce future hypoglycaemic events, resulting in a lower rate of overall hypoglycaemia.

One RCT involving 610 patients with type 2 diabetes using the sulphonylurea gliclazide reported that although the total number of hypoglycaemic episodes was similar in the SBMG and non-SMBG groups there was a more than twofold increase in incidence of symptomatic hypoglycaemic events in the non-SMBG group (64 symptomatic episodes of hypoglycaemia out of 66 total hypoglycaemic episodes compared with 27/51 in the SMBG group).⁵⁰ This suggests that patients taking sulphonylureas may gain benefit from SMBG in terms of ability to pre-empt episodes of symptomatic hypoglycaemia, however the study was not designed to show this categorically.

No significant differences were reported in rates of macrovascular disease, body weight, patient well-being or patient satisfaction in people using SMBG.^{36,38,51}

The impact of SMBG on management of glycaemic control is positive but small for patients with type 2 diabetes who are not on insulin, and slightly larger, but based on poorer evidence, for those using insulin. It is difficult to use the evidence base to define those patients with type 2 diabetes who will gain most benefit from SBGM. Extrapolation from the evidence would suggest that specific subgroups of patients may benefit. These include those who are at increased risk of hypoglycaemia or its consequences, and those who are supported by health professionals in acting on glucose readings to change health behaviours including appropriate alterations in insulin dose. Further research is needed to define more clearly which subgroups are most likely to benefit.

B SMBG is recommended for patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes who are using insulin where patients have been educated in appropriate alterations in insulin dose.

B Routine self monitoring of blood glucose in people with type 2 diabetes who are using oral glucose-lowering drugs (with the exception of sulphonylureas) is not recommended.

- Motivated patients with type 2 diabetes who are using sulphonylureas may benefit from routine use of SMBG to reduce risk of hypoglycaemia.
- SMBG may be considered in the following groups of people with type 2 diabetes who are not using insulin:
 - those at increased risk of hypoglycaemia
 - those experiencing acute illness
 - those undergoing significant changes in pharmacotherapy or fasting, for example, during Ramadan
 - those with unstable or poor glycaemic control (HbA1c>8.0% (64 mmol/mol))
 - those who are pregnant or planning pregnancy.

3.3.3 URINE GLUCOSE MONITORING IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES

One meta-analysis⁴⁸ and two systematic reviews^{51,52} were identified. Studies suggest that urine testing is equivalent to blood testing but these studies were generally carried out in an era when HbA1c levels were higher than would now be considered acceptable, limiting the applicability of these data to current practice.

The meta-analysis suggests that a very modest improvement in glycaemic control is associated with urine testing versus placebo (HbA1c -0.14% (-1.53 mmol/mol)), which is unlikely to be of clinical importance.⁴⁸ There is no evidence describing an impact of urine monitoring on rates of hospital admission, rates of diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), or mortality.

1+

B Routine self monitoring of urine glucose is not recommended in patients with type 2 diabetes.

3.3.4 BLOOD AND URINE KETONE MONITORING

Ketone monitoring using urine, or more recently blood, is generally accepted practice in type 1 diabetes. Detection of ketones can assist with insulin adjustment during illness or sustained hyperglycaemia to prevent or detect DKA. It is not however recommended as a routine measurement.

One small RCT and a cross-sectional study assessed the benefits of blood ketone monitoring against urine ketone monitoring in a range of settings.

The RCT reported hospital attendance and emergency complications were reduced (60% fewer hospitalisations and 40% fewer emergency assessments) with an overall 50% reduction in need for hospitalisation (p = 0.05) when comparing blood glucose with urine ketone monitoring in adolescent patients with type 1 diabetes.⁵³ The event rates in the trial were small.

In the emergency department setting, a cross-sectional study suggested that blood ketone measurement may be a more accurate predictor of ketosis/acidosis than urine ketone measurement.⁵⁴ Sensitivity and specificity for the measurement of hyperketonemia from blood capillary samples were 91% and 56% respectively and were 82% and 54% from urine samples respectively.

There is insufficient evidence to make a recommendation on the routine measurement of ketones in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes.

When ketone monitoring is required during sustained hyperglycaemia, blood ketone monitoring with increased healthcare professional support is preferable to urine ketone monitoring in young adults with type 1 diabetes.

2+

1+

3.4 SMOKING CESSATION

3.4.1 RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SMOKING

In the general population tobacco smoking is strongly and dose-dependently associated with all cardiovascular events, including coronary heart disease (CHD), stroke, peripheral arterial disease (PAD) and cardiovascular death.^{55,56} In people with diabetes smoking is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ and the excess risk attributable to smoking is more than additive.⁶⁰ Smoking cessation reduces these risks substantially, although the decrease is dependent on the duration of cessation.^{61, 62} Men who smoke are three times more likely to die aged 45-64 years, and twice as likely to die aged 65-84 years than non-smokers.⁵⁵ Studies done among women during the 1950s and 1960s reported relative risks for total mortality ranging from 1.3 to 1.4. Smokers in the Nurses' Health Study were at nearly 1.9 times the risk compared with people who have never smoked.

For microvascular disease the evidence is less clear. A good quality Swedish case control study provides supportive evidence for current or former history of smoking (at five years before survey) as a significant risk factor for chronic kidney disease (CKD) in a community based population.⁶³ Odds ratios (OR) increased with increasing frequency and duration of smoking. A 'pack year' is calculated by multiplying the number of packs of cigarettes smoked per day by the number of years an individual has smoked. More than 15 pack years of smoking increased the risk of CKD significantly (16-30 pack years, OR 1.32; > 30 pack years, OR 1.52).

There is a suggestion that smoking may be a risk factor for retinopathy in type 1 diabetes^{64, 65} but not in people with type 2 diabetes.^{66,67}

In the Scottish Diabetes Survey 2009 nearly 1 in 5 people with diabetes were recorded as being current smokers, which is slightly lower than among the general population.¹

B All people who smoke should be advised to stop and offered support to help facilitate this in order to minimise cardiovascular and general health risks.

3.4.2 FIRST LINE INTERVENTIONS

Studies in patients with diabetes support the use of intensive management in the form of motivational interviewing or counselling in combination with pharmacological therapies such as bupropion and nicotine replacement. Two RCTs (280 and 368 patients) compared intensive versus conventional management and demonstrated increased quit rates from 2.3% to 17% and 14% to 40% respectively.^{68, 69} A smaller study of 60 patients involving intensive management without the addition of pharmacological treatment demonstrated a positive trend for quit rates at three months but a non-significant result at six months.⁷⁰

Group behaviour therapy is more effective than self help material but has not been proven to be superior to individual advice.⁷¹

A Healthcare professionals involved in caring for people with diabetes should advise them not to smoke.

B Intensive management plus pharmacological therapies should be offered to patients with diabetes who wish to stop smoking.

There is no clear evidence suggesting that pharmacological intervention or counselling strategies to aid smoking cessation in patients with diabetes should differ to those used in the general population. For general smoking cessation advice refer to SIGN 97 on Risk estimation and the prevention of cardiovascular disease.⁷²

2++

4

2+

4

1+

3.4.3 MONITORING

Relapse to smoking remains a problem even in those patients who have successfully quit at one year. The relapse rate has been recorded as 23-40%.^{73,74}



Healthcare professionals should continue to monitor smoking status in all patient groups.

3.5 EXERCISE AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

3.5.1 DEFINITIONS

Physical activity is defined as any skeletal muscle movement which expends energy beyond resting level (eg walking, gardening, stair climbing).

Health-enhancing physical activity is physical activity conducted at a sufficient level to bring about measureable health improvements. This normally equates to a moderate intensity level or above and can generally be described as activity that slightly raises heart rate, breathing rate and core temperature but in which the patient is still able to hold a conversation.

Exercise is a subset of physical activity which is done with the goal of enhancing or maintaining an aspect of fitness (eg aerobic, strength, flexibility, balance). It is often supervised (eg in a class), systematic and regular (eg jogging, swimming, attending exercise classes).

3.5.2 ASSESSMENT OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

Physical activity is a very difficult behaviour to measure since it incorporates mode of activity, duration, frequency and intensity. There is no gold standard and techniques range from heart rate monitoring to motion counters and self reports. Self report is the easiest format but there is often an over reporting of minutes spent in activity. The Scottish Physical Activity Questionnaire is an example of one self report format that has known validity and reliability for assessing moderate activity.⁷⁵ As with smoking cessation (see section 3.4), it is important in assessing what kind of support a patient needs for increasing or maintaining physical activity. A rate of perceived exertion scale is useful for estimating exercise intensity, particularly in people with autonomic neuropathy who have reduced maximal heart rate.⁷⁶

3.5.3 EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE ON THE PREVENTION OF DIABETES

Regular physical activity is associated with a reduced risk of development of type 2 diabetes. This risk reduction is consistent over a range of intensity and frequency of activity, with a doserelated effect. Greater frequency of activity confers greater protection from development of type 2 diabetes and this is valid for both vigorous- and moderate-intensity activity. The length of time to confer the effect is a minimum of four years.⁷⁷⁻⁸³

Several randomised trials have determined the effects of lifestyle interventions, including physical activity and exercise, on the progression from IGT to diabetes over a period ranging from three to six years. All of these studies have shown a relative risk reduction varying from 46 to 58% in the development of type 2 diabetes.⁸⁴⁸⁷

All people should be advised to increase their level of physical activity to achieve current physical activity recommendations and be supported to maintain this level across the lifespan.

4

2+

3.5.4 EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE ON THE MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES

Both structured, supervised exercise programmes and less structured, unsupervised physical activity programmes (of variable activity type and mode of delivery) are effective for improving glycaemic control and cardiovascular risk factors in people with type 2 diabetes. Programmes lasting from eight weeks to one year improve glycaemic control as indicated by a decrease in HbA1c levels of 0.6% (7 mmol/mol), 95% Cl 0.9 (9.84) to 0.3 (3.28), p < 0.05).⁸⁸ The exercise intervention significantly decreased plasma triglycerides (-0.2 mmol/l, 95% Cl -0.48 to -0.02), and there was a reduction in visceral adipose tissue with exercise (-45.5 cm², 95% Cl -63.8 to -27.3). No significant difference was found between groups in quality of life, plasma cholesterol or blood pressure.

A

People with type 2 diabetes should be encouraged to participate in physical activity or structured exercise to improve glycaemic control and cardiovascular risk factors.

Limited research has addressed the economic impact of physical activity and exercise programmes.⁸⁹ There is insufficient evidence to draw a conclusion on the cost effectiveness of structured exercise.

A systematic review of randomised and observational studies reported that exercise and physical activity programmes in people with type 1 diabetes do not improve glycaemic control but improve cardiovascular risk factors.⁹⁰ It was not possible to identify specific intervention details or effect sizes due to the heterogeneity of studies and gaps in the research.

B

People with type 1 diabetes should be encouraged to participate in physical activity or structured exercise to improve cardiovascular risk factors.

3.5.5 PRESCRIPTION OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE FOR PEOPLE WITH DIABETES

Various guidelines exist for physical activity and exercise in the general population. The most recent guidelines from the US Department of Health and Human services (2008) recommend the following:

- Adults (aged 18–64 years) should build up to achieve a minimum of 2.5 hours each week of moderate-intensity, or 75 minutes each week of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity, or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity. Aerobic activity should be performed in episodes of at least 10 minutes and preferably be spread throughout the week (ie 30 minutes of activity on at least five days of the week). Greater amounts of activity should provide greater health benefits, particularly for weight management. Adults should also do moderate- or high-intensity muscle-strengthening activities that involve all major muscle groups on two or more days per week.
- Older adults (aged 65 years and older) should follow the adult guidelines. If this is not
 possible due to limiting chronic conditions, older adults should be as physically active as
 their abilities allow. They should avoid inactivity. Older adults should also try to do exercises
 that maintain or improve balance if they are at risk of falling.

In people with type 2 diabetes physical activity or exercise should be performed at least every second or third day to maintain improvements in glycaemic control. In view of insulin adjustments it may be easier for people with type 1 diabetes to perform physical activity or exercise every day.⁹¹

Aerobic, endurance exercise is usually recommended, however resistance exercise with low weights and high repetitions is also beneficial.⁹² A combination of both aerobic and resistance exercise appears to provide greater improvement in glycaemic control than either type of exercise alone.⁸⁸

1+

4

1+

1++

Exercise and physical activity (involving aerobic and/or resistance exercise) **should be performed on a regular basis.**

D

4

No trial based evidence was identified which described how to promote physical activity for patients with diabetes. Expert opinion suggests using social-cognitive models and making advice person-centred and diabetes specific.⁹³

D

Advice about exercise and physical activity should be individually tailored and diabetes specific and should include implications for glucose management and foot care.

An evidence based public health guidance document reported that there was insufficient evidence to recommend the use of exercise referral schemes to promote physical activity other than as part of research studies where their effectiveness is being evaluated.⁹⁴

One more recent RCT demonstrated an exercise referral programme, specifically tailored for people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes, to be effective for improving physiological parameters and mood state at 12 weeks post intervention.⁹⁵ In this study the addition of a physical activity consultation (in which cognitive behavioural skills were developed) enhanced programme attendance and adherence to physical activity at six months.

3.5.6 ADVICE FOR PATIENTS TAKING INSULIN OR GLUCOSE-LOWERING DRUGS

Exercise with normal insulin dose and no additional carbohydrate significantly increases the risk of hypoglycaemia during and after exercise. If exercise can be anticipated, a reduction of the normal insulin dose will significantly reduce the risk of hypoglycaemia and delayed hypoglycaemia.⁹⁶

The amount of reduction in insulin dose will depend on duration and intensity of exercise being performed, insulin and glycaemic level before exercise, and the time of day. If exercise cannot be anticipated and insulin dose has already been taken, extra carbohydrate before exercise will reduce the risk of hypoglycaemia.

Injection of insulin into exercising areas increases the absorption of insulin and the risk of hypoglycaemia and should therefore be avoided.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸

High temperatures can also increase insulin absorption. This should be taken into consideration when exercising in hot climates. A further reduction in insulin dose may be required.⁹⁶

C Individualised advice on avoiding hypoglycaemia when exercising by adjustment of carbohydrate intake, reduction of insulin dose, and choice of injection site, should be given to patients taking insulin.

Patients using glucose-lowering drugs, such as sulphonylureas, may also be at risk of hypoglycaemia during exercise.

3.5.7 DIABETIC COMPLICATIONS AND EXERCISE

There is no known association between exercise participation and development or exacerbation of diabetic complications, however exercise during insulin deficiency can cause hyperglycaemia.⁹⁶

Research demonstrates that high-intensity exercise may transiently increase albumin excretion rate (AER) in people with or without diabetes. No evidence of more rapid progression of nephropathy or retinopathy was identified in subjects with diabetes who exercise more.^{99,100}

Weight-bearing physical activity and brisk walking programmes in people with type 2 diabetes and peripheral neuropathy do not increase the risk of foot ulcers.¹⁰¹

There is higher risk of myocardial infarction (MI) after heavy exertion in sedentary compared with non-sedentary people with type 1 diabetes.¹⁰²

- D Patients with existing complications of diabetes should seek medical review before embarking on exercise programmes.
- D A gradual introduction and initial low intensity of physical activity with slow progressions in volume and intensity should be recommended for sedentary people with diabetes.

2+

4

2+

4

3.6 WEIGHT MANAGEMENT IN TYPE 2 DIABETES

Type 2 diabetes is associated with obesity (defined as body mass index > 30 kg/m²). Obesity is associated with a significant negative impact on morbidity and mortality and weight management is an integral part of diabetes care. Weight loss in obese individuals has been associated with reductions in mortality, blood pressure, lipid profiles, arthritis-related disability and other outcomes.¹⁰³ Studies have not addressed the impact of weight loss on complications of diabetes including retinopathy, nephropathy or neuropathy.

The SIGN guideline on the management of obesity provides detailed recommendations on the prevention and treatment of obesity within the clinical setting, in children, young people and adults.¹⁰³ The guideline addresses:

- diagnosis of overweight and obesity
- primary prevention of obesity
- treatment of obesity by diet, lifestyle interventions, drugs and bariatric surgery
- prevention of weight regain following treatment.

In addition, the guideline discusses the benefits of weight loss on glycaemic control in people with established diabetes and the prevention and remission of both established diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance. While a brief summary of weight loss interventions in people with diabetes is included here, the SIGN obesity guideline should be the primary resource for evidence based recommendations on management of obesity.

3.6.1 WEIGHT LOSS

One meta-analysis including 22 studies (n = 4,659 with follow up one to five years) demonstrated a mean weight loss of 1.7 kg (95% Cl 0.3 to 3.2), or 3.1% of baseline body weight with lifestyle intervention. Within this meta-analysis, several studies reported a significant reduction in HbA1c of 1.0% to 2.6% with lifestyle intervention corresponding to weight loss.¹⁰⁴

In one RCT weight loss of 8.5% through an intensive education and support programme decreased HbA1c by 0.64% (6.99 mmol/mol) and decreased fasting blood glucose by 1.19 mmol/l. The use of glucose-lowering medication was reduced from 86.5% to 78.6%.¹⁰⁵

1 + +

One meta-analysis of eight studies examined the effects of Very Low Energy Diets (VLED) and Low Energy Diets (LED) in 219 obese subjects with type 2 diabetes. Although the type and duration of intervention varied across the studies, subjects lost 11.1% of their initial weight and fasting plasma glucose decreased by 14.7% at 48 weeks.¹⁰⁶

One systematic review of 14 RCTs investigated a range of different weight reducing diets and included participants with type 2 diabetes, hypertension, MI, asthma and breast cancer. Four RCTs provided data comparing a Protein Sparing Modified Fast (PSMF) with a Low Calorie Diet (LCD) and found no statistically significant differences in HbA1c or weight loss between these two interventions.¹⁰⁷

A systematic review, including 22 studies on pharmacotherapy for weight loss in adults with type 2 diabetes, focused mainly on weight loss and HbA1c data for orlistat (n = 2,036 participants), sibutramine (n = 296) and fluoxetine (n = 1,047).¹⁰⁸ Orlistat resulted in a mean pooled effect weight loss of 2.0 kg (95% Cl 1.3 to 2.8) associated with a reduction in HbA1c of 0.5% (5.46 mmol/mol) (95% Cl 0.3 (3.28) to 0.6 (6.56)) with follow up between 24 and 57 weeks. Sibutramine resulted in mean pooled effect weight loss of 5.1 kg (95% Cl 3.2 to 7.0) with no reduction in HbA1c after follow up of 12 to 52 weeks. Fluoxetine resulted in mean pooled effect weight loss of 3.4 kg (95% Cl, 1.7 to 5.2) at 8 to 16 weeks, 5.1 kg (95% Cl, 3.3 to 6.9) at 24 to 26 weeks and one study produced a loss of 5.8 kg (95% Cl, 0.8 to 10.8) at 52 weeks with no reduction in HbA1c. Gastrointestinal side effects were common with orlistat; tremor, somnolence and sweating with fluoxetine; and palpitations with sibutramine.

The long term benefits of weight loss on glyacemic control have not been adequately assessed.

2++

1++

2++

2+

3.6.2 BARIATRIC SURGERY

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 621 studies (including 135,246 people; mean body mass index (BMI) 47.9) investigated the effects of different kinds of bariatric surgery and considered the role of these surgical techniques upon resolution of established type 2 diabetes.¹⁰⁹ Most included studies were observational with only 4.7% being RCTs. For patients with type 2 diabetes total mean weight loss was 40.6 kg. This benefit lasted for beyond two years after intervention. Diabetes resolution was greatest for patients undergoing biliopancreatic diversion/ duodenal switch (95.1% resolved); followed by gastric bypass (80.3% resolved); gastroplasty (79.7% resolved) and then laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding (56.7% resolved).

A systematic review containing 11 studies examined the effects of long term weight loss on diabetes outcomes in people with type 2 diabetes.¹¹⁰ Two studies reported extreme weight loss following bariatric surgery.^{111,112} Ninety three per cent of patients either remitted or demonstrated an improvement in glycaemia following weight loss surgery. Similarly, 90% of patients with preoperative impaired glucose tolerance in one study had normal glucose handling following surgical intervention.¹¹¹

In an RCT of 60 patients with a diabetes diagnosis of less than two years which was published after the systematic review, there was remission of diabetes in 73% of the group receiving adjustable gastric banding bariatric surgery compared with 15% in the control group who received a range of non-surgical treatments for obesity (p < 0.001).¹¹³ Surgical and control groups lost a mean of 20.0% and 1.4% body weight, respectively at two years (p < 0.001). Remission of diabetes was related to weight loss and lower baseline HbA1c levels. There were no serious adverse events in either group.

In a large prospective cohort study of 1,703 obese subjects, 851 patients underwent adjustable gastric banding, vertical banded gastroplasty or gastric bypass and were matched to control subjects who received non-surgical intervention according to local protocols.¹¹⁴ At two years there was weight gain of 0.1% in the control group and weight loss of 23.4% in the surgical group (p<0.001). At 10 years, the control group gained 1.6% weight and the surgical group had weight loss of 16.1% (p<0.001). Recovery from diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors was significantly more common in the surgical group than in the control group, both at two and 10 years.

In a retrospective cohort study of 402 subjects with type 2 diabetes undergoing laparoscopic gastric banding, excess weight loss for patients with diabetes was 39.2% at one year, 46.7% at 18 months, and 52.6% at two years. Mean HbA1c decreased from 7.35% (56.8 mmol/mol) (range 5.6 (38) to 11 (97)) to 5.8% (40 mmol/mol) (range 5.0 (31) to 6.2 (44)) at two years. There was withdrawal of diabetic medications in 66% at one year and 80% at two years.¹¹⁵

Due to the absence of head-to-head comparisons between weight loss interventions it is not possible to recommend a single approach.

Obese adults with type 2 diabetes should be offered individualised interventions to encourage weight loss (including lifestyle, pharmacological or surgical interventions) in order to improve metabolic control.

3.7 HEALTHY EATING

3.7.1 DIETARY RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PEOPLE WITH DIABETES

Eating healthily is of fundamental importance as part of diabetes healthcare behaviour and has beneficial effects on weight, metabolic control and general well-being.^{116,117} Salt restriction in the general population is discussed in the SIGN guideline on risk estimation and the prevention of cardiovascular disease (SIGN 97).⁷²

One meta-analysis of 11 RCTs investigated the efficacy of different diets to improve glycaemic control in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes aged from 10 to 60 years.¹¹⁸ Pooled data for six trials measuring HbA1c showed a mean reduction of 0.5% (5.46 mmol/mol) (95% CI 0.8 (8.74) to 0.2 (2.19), p = 0.001) for patients on low glycaemic index (GI) diets compared with higher GI diets. In two studies a low GI diet was associated with reduced reports of hypoglycaemia. The authors note that some randomisation information was inadequate and bias from unblinded assessors cannot be ruled out.

There is insufficient evidence to make a recommendation about specific diets for improving glycaemic control.

There is no evidence on patient satisfaction, quality of life or hospital admission rates with reference to particular diets. Insufficient evidence exists to make a comparison of hyper and hypoglycaemia rates between different diets.

High dropout rates and poor compliance with carbohydrate- and energy-restricted diets demonstrated in trial settings would suggest that such diets are not widely applicable or acceptable to patients.^{119,120} Short term (six months) low carbohydrate diets containing as little as 50 g carbohydrate per day (13% of daily energy)¹²⁰ or 110 g per day (33% of daily energy)¹¹⁹ appear safe in type 2 diabetes whether treated by diet, tablets, insulin or a combination. In patients who adhere to a low carbohydrate diet a reduction in insulin and/or oral hypoglycaemic agent dose is likely to be necessary.

B People with type 2 diabetes can be given dietary choices for achieving weight loss that may also improve glycaemic control. Options include simple caloric restriction, reducing fat intake, consumption of carbohydrates with low rather than high glycaemic index, and restricting the total amount of dietary carbohydrate (a minimum of 50 g per day appears safe for up to six months).

In patients with type 2 diabetes, a systematic review of short term supplementation with omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) showed a reduction in triglycerides (TG) but a rise in low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol.¹²¹

B Dietary supplementation with omega-3 PUFA is not generally recommended in people with type 2 diabetes.

Supplementation with 500 mg tocopherol (vitamin E) per day for six weeks in patients with well controlled type 2 diabetes caused increased heart rate and blood pressure.¹²²

Vitamin E supplementation 500 mg per day is not recommended in people with type 2 diabetes.

3.7.2 DIETARY INTERVENTIONS TO PREVENT THE ONSET OF DIABETES

There is conflicting evidence for the role of specific dietary intervention programmes. Studies either show a beneficial effect or no effect, but there is no evidence of a harmful effect. One large trial from Finland demonstrated a short term reduction in the development of type 2 diabetes in high risk subjects (overweight and impaired glucose tolerance) by encouraging lifestyle change, including diet and exercise advice. It is not possible to determine which aspects of the programme were successful.⁸⁴ However, other studies have demonstrated that if people who are overweight lose weight, by whatever method, their risk of developing diabetes is reduced.^{83,116,123-125}

1 + +

R

4

2++

3

В

Overweight individuals and those at high risk of developing diabetes should be encouraged to reduce this risk by lifestyle changes including weight management and physical activity.

3.7.3 ENCOURAGING DIETARY CHANGE IN CLINICAL PRACTICE

The use of a behavioural approach to dietary interventions in patients with diabetes shows clinically significant benefit in terms of weight loss, HbA1c, lipids, and self care behaviour for up to two years after the initial intervention.¹²⁶⁻¹³² However, it is not always possible to identify if the benefit is wholly attributable to the intervention, or dependent on how or where the care is delivered.

Intensive therapy or contact in patients with diabetes shows clinically beneficial effects on weight and glycaemic control during the period of intervention. More education and contact appears to improve outcomes.¹³³⁻¹³⁷ Pre-packaged meal programmes show significant clinical benefit in terms of weight, blood pressure, glycaemic control and lipids during the study period but are impractical outside the trial setting.¹³⁸⁻¹⁴¹



Clinical interventions aimed at dietary change are more likely to be successful if a psychological approach based on a theoretical model is included.

3.8 ALCOHOL

Alcohol is known to have both beneficial and harmful effects on the biochemical basis of CHD and the psychological consequences of the disease.¹⁴²

Consuming over 40 g/day alcohol increases a man's risk of liver disease, raised blood pressure and some cancers (for which smoking is a confounding factor) and violent death. For women consuming more than 24 g/day average alcohol increases their risk of developing liver disease and breast cancer.¹⁴³

3.8.1 EFFECT OF ALCOHOL ON CARDIOVASCULAR RISK

Observational evidence suggests a protective effect of alcohol consumption for vascular endpoints including death in patients with type 2 diabetes.¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁶ Studies that have stratified alcohol intake describe the familiar 'J' shaped curve relating alcohol consumption and a measure of vascular risk in patients with type 2 diabetes. One case control study¹⁴⁴ suggests that the threshold for increased risk of admission to hospital with an acute coronary syndrome occurs at a lower level of alcohol consumption (one glass of wine or 12 g daily, OR 0.53, 95% Cl 0.28 to 0.97) than that found in the general population.

People with diabetes can take alcohol in moderation as part of a healthy lifestyle but should aim to keep within the target consumption recommended for people without diabetes.

3.8.2 EFFECT OF ALCOHOL ON GLYCAEMIA

There is evidence that drinking 2-3 units of alcohol is not associated with hypoglycaemia in people with type 1 or type 2 diabetes.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵²

However, acute alcohol consumption reduces hypoglycaemia awareness. Both acute alcohol consumption and acute hypoglycaemia adversely affect cognitive function and their effects are additive.¹⁵³

All patients with diabetes should be aware of the high calorific value of alcohol and the implications of excess consumption on body weight.

3.8.3 EFFECT OF ALCOHOL ON COMPLICATIONS OF DIABETES

There is insufficient evidence to determine if risk or severity of other diabetes complications is affected by alcohol consumption.¹⁴⁵

3.9 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

Healthcare professionals should:

- explain the health risks associated with smoking and encourage patients to quit. They should
 inform the patient of the range of smoking cessation services available (see SIGN 97) and
 facilitate referral to local services if appropriate.
- involve carers and family members in diabetes education and care to encourage family support and understanding.
- offer individualised interventions to people with diabetes to help promote weight loss, where necessary.

People with diabetes should:

- speak to their family members about their diabetes to encourage diabetes awareness to help prevent development of type 2 diabetes in their first degree relatives by lifestyle modification.
- increase their levels of physical activity in line with current physical activity recommendations.
 Some people might find structured exercise classes useful in this regard.
- increase physical activity levels gradually where starting levels are low.
- seek professional advice before embarking on an exercise programme if they have existing complications of diabetes or other medical problems.
- understand and follow healthy eating recommendations. This should include calorie restriction where weight loss is desirable.

4 **Psychosocial factors**

Studies investigating the relationships among psychological and social variables and diabetes outcomes are generally cross-sectional in nature, rather than longitudinal, and often fail to report pre-diagnosis baseline data. Furthermore, researchers use different terms to describe the foci of their studies yet measure the same outcome. For example, studies investigating self management, adherence, and diabetes control all typically use HbA1c as the primary outcome measure, which is appropriate because self-management and adherence are mediators of diabetes control. These different ways of describing diabetes outcomes are included in the literature.

Similarly, researchers use a wide variety of psychological terms to describe human behaviour and the nature of psychological interventions even when detailing broadly the same things. For example, some investigators of children with type 1 diabetes who are finding life and control difficult report childhood behavioural problems, some detail parenting problems, and others highlight family dysfunction. These descriptions commonly reflect the theoretical position of researchers rather than substantial differences in reported behaviour.

Research on the efficacy of psychological interventions in diabetes is in its infancy. Most outcomes have been reported over relatively short periods considering diabetes is a lifelong condition and conclusions about using these interventions on ethnic minorities may be problematic because of their lack of representation in the research. In most intervention studies reviewed, patients are recruited into trials from diabetes clinics, are not newly diagnosed and do not have significant comorbid medical problems. Some trials recruit only patients with poorly controlled diabetes, ^{154,155} whereas others have wider inclusion criteria.^{10,156}

Interventions reviewed include behaviour modification, motivational interviewing (Motl), cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT), goal setting, guided self-determination (GSD) and coping skills. These interventions are generally acceptable to patients, increase patient satisfaction with treatment, and apply across the spectrum of children, adolescents, and adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, including those whose diabetes is poorly controlled.

4.1 THE INFLUENCE OF PSYCHOSOCIAL FACTORS ON DIABETES CONTROL

There is evidence that a range of psychological and social factors can impact on the ability of people with diabetes to manage their condition. Whether the burden of managing diabetes causes psychological and social problems or vice versa, however, is unclear.

The following factors are associated with poorer control in children and young people with type 1 diabetes:¹⁵⁷

- aspects of family functioning including conflict; lack of cohesiveness and lack of openness
- depression
- anxiety
- maternal distress
- eating disorders
- behavioural problems.

The following factors are associated with poorer control in adults with type 1 diabetes:¹⁵⁸

- clinical depression and subclinical levels of mood disruption
- anxiety
- eating disorders.

4

4

Depression is more common in people with diabetes than in the general population.¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹ The presence of microvascular and macrovascular complications is associated with a higher prevalence of depression and lower quality of life.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴ Remission of depression is often associated with an improvement in glycaemic control.^{161,164}

1+ 1++ 2++

4

3 4

- **B** Regular assessment of a broad range of psychological and behavioural problems in children and adults with type 1 diabetes is recommended.
 - In children this should include eating disorders, behavioural, emotional and family functioning problems.
 - In adults this should include anxiety, depression and eating disorders.

4.2 SCREENING FOR PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS

One evidence based guideline has indicated the need for health professionals working in diabetes to have sufficient levels of consulting skills to be able to identify psychological problems, or at least to the extent to be able to decide whether or not referral to specialist services is required.¹⁵⁸

Health professionals working in diabetes should have sufficient levels of consulting skills to be able to identify psychological problems and be able to decide whether or not referral to specialist services is required.

Depression can be assessed using simple questions regarding mood and enjoyment of day to day activities (QOF questions), using self-completed measures or via a more intensive clinical interview (normally carried out by psychologists/psychiatrists). There are some screening tools which have been validated and are widely used with the general population and with those who have medical conditions.

The performance of some self report screening tools has been assessed in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. These include the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI),¹⁶⁵ the Centre for Epidemiological Studies–Depression Scale (CES-D)¹⁶⁶ and the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9).¹⁶⁷ These are relatively short (21,20, 9 items respectively) and could be completed by most patients in a clinic setting within 10-15 minutes.

It is worth noting that some symptoms of diabetes overlap with symptoms of common psychological problems. On one hand this can make identification of psychological problems more difficult than is usually the case, and on the other hand this can lead to false positives when using screening tools designed for use with the general population.

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)¹⁶⁸ is the most widely used self report screening tool for adults with medical conditions, including diabetes in the UK, although there is no good quality evidence establishing reliability and validity in a diabetic population. The HADS is short (14 items) and screens for both anxiety and depression. The HADS controls for symptom overlap. An expert panel recommended the use of the HADS with adults who have diabetes in Scotland.¹⁶⁹

There is no equivalent inventory for children.

There are also reliable validated measures of general psychological distress in relation to diabetes, including the PAID (Problem Areas in Diabetes) scale and the WHO-5 Well-being Index.¹⁷⁰ No evidence was identified for validated tools to screen for anxiety or eating disorders in people with diabetes.

There is no evidence assessing how to assess psychological problems reliably and validly in young people or adults with diabetes. In the absence of this evidence there are screening tools which have been validated and are widely used with the general population and with those who have medical conditions.

- ☑ Validated screening tools which are widely used to assess general psychological distress in the general population (eg HADS) may be used in adults or young people with diabetes.
- Healthcare professionals should be aware of cultural differences in type/presentation of psychological problems within Black and minority ethnic communities living with diabetes and facilitate appropriate psychological/emotional support.

4.3 THE EFFECT OF PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS ON DIABETES OUTCOMES

4.3.1 CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

A systematic review of the literature on the effectiveness of psychoeducational interventions for adolescents reported a pooled median effect size (ES) of -0.18 on HbA1c and of -0.37 on psychological well-being.¹⁷¹ This review highlighted a number of methodological problems with the existing literature such as a lack of RCTs and a lack of clarity in the descriptions of the psychological interventions. In 2006, the review was updated and reported improvements in the quality of the literature, for example, an increased proportion of RCTs (54% v 40%) and a larger mean number of participants in newly identified studies (79.7 v 53.8 people).¹⁶ The median effect size for HbA1c (-0.17) and psychological well-being (-0.37) remained similar to that reported by the earlier review. These effect sizes for HbA1c translate to a change of about 0.3% (3 mmol/mol) and the review concludes that interventions have only a small effect on glycaemic outcomes but a more substantial effect on psychosocial function.¹⁶

There is only one systematic review of studies that has evaluated the effects of psychological interventions on children and adolescents with diabetes whilst excluding studies of educational interventions.¹⁵⁹ This review described improvements in HbA1c of 0.48% (5.25 mmol/mol) (95% Cl 0.05 (0.55) to 0.91 (9.95)) and a statistically significant reduction in psychological distress (ES -0.48, 95% Cl -0.10 to -0.83). It should be noted that this effect size is smaller than is represented in the general literature on treatments for distress, however most patients in the studies included in the systematic review were not distressed at baseline.

A further systematic review of family interventions (including educational and psychological components) on children and adolescents reported a slightly larger improvement in HbA1c (0.6% (6.56 mmol/mol)).¹⁷²

Recent RCTs not included in these reviews have found improvements in HbA1c of 0.5% (5.46 mmol/mol) for interventions in adolescents using motivational interviewing,^{10,156} and 0.8% (8.74 mmol/mol) using goal reinforcement via text messaging.¹⁰

4.3.2 ADULTS WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

In adults, a systematic review evaluated the effects of psychological interventions and reported a reduction in mean HbA1c of -0.22% (2.40 mmol/mol) (95% Cl 0.13 (1.42) to -0.56 (-6.12)) but no statistically significant reduction in distress (ES-0.25, 95% Cl 0.01 to -0.51).¹⁵⁹ One subsequent large UK based RCT using a combination of CBT and motivational interviewing reported 12 month post-treatment results on HbA1c (a reduction of 0.46% (5.03 mmol/mol)) similar to that described above for children and young people, and considerably larger than that previously reported in meta-analysis in adults.¹⁵⁴ This trial also reported a non-significant change in depression scores at 12 month follow up although the aim was to improve glycaemic control, not psychological distress, and few of the subjects were clinically distressed.

2++

1+

Compared to the general literature on psychological interventions for psychological distress, the effect sizes reported for studies of adults, adolescents and children with diabetes are low probably reflecting homogeneity of study samples (in terms of psychological distress). That is, studies did not target people with diabetes who were experiencing clinical levels of psychological problems and therefore significant reductions in this area were unlikely.

4.3.3 ADULTS WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES

One systematic review evaluated the impact of psychological interventions (including group or individual CBT or counselling) on glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes.¹⁷³ It showed a reduction of 0.76% (8.31 mmol/mol) in HbA1c (95% CI 0.18 (1.97) to 1.34 (14.64), and a statistically significant reduction in psychological distress (ES -0.58, 95% CI -0.95 to -0.20), but no impact on weight control.

A small number of RCTs show a positive impact of psychological interventions on mediators of control in people with type 2 diabetes, with small to medium effect sizes. Outcomes include self-management,¹⁷⁴ adherence,^{175,176} and lifestyle factors (walking, weight loss).^{175,176} However it is difficult to synthesise the evidence as behavioural outcomes are often not clearly defined or comparable across studies.



Children and adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes should be offered psychological interventions (including motivational interviewing, goal setting skills and CBT) to improve glycaemic control in the short and medium term.

4.4 TREATMENT OF PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS

4.4.1 INTRODUCTION

There has been little research on how best to treat clinically significant psychological problems in children and adults with diabetes. As well as inevitably limiting guidance in this area, the lack of empirical evidence also means that it is unclear whether or not people with diabetes need to receive treatments that are dissimilar to those received by people without diabetes.

No evidence was identified on how to treat emotional and behavioural problems in children and young people with diabetes.

4.4.2 TREATMENT OF DEPRESSION

Antidepressant therapy with a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) is a useful treatment in depressed patients with diabetes and may improve glycaemic control,¹⁷⁷ however tricyclic antidepressants may adversely affect metabolic control.¹⁷⁸

Continued antidepressant treatment for one year after recovery may prevent recurrence of depression in some patients with diabetes.¹⁷⁹

Cognitive behavioural therapy is a psychological treatment which attempts to find links between the person's feelings and the patterns of thinking which underpin their distress. CBT, psychotherapy programmes and coping skills training are useful in treating depression in patients with diabetes.¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸² However, cognitive behavioural therapy may be less effective in patients with complications.¹⁶⁴

In view of the limited evidence, the most sensible approach is for healthcare professionals who are involved in the treatment of significant psychological problems in children and adults with diabetes to refer to standard guidelines for those specific disorders.

Ø

Healthcare professionals working with adults and children with diabetes should refer those with significant psychological problems to services or colleagues with expertise in this area. 1 + +

1 + +

1+ 2++
4.5 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

Healthcare professionals should:

- on those occasions where significant psychosocial problems are identified, explain the link between these and poorer diabetes control. If possible, it is good practice to also give suitable leaflets. They should advise patients where best to obtain further help, and facilitate this if appropriate.
- be mindful of the burden caused by psychosocial problems (such as clinical and subclinical levels of depression) when setting goals and adjusting complex treatment regimens (typically adults and children will be less able to make substantial changes to their lives during difficult times).

People with diabetes (or parents/guardians) should:

- try to speak to their general practitioner or diabetes team if they feel they (or their children) have significant psychosocial issues such as those detailed in this section.
- be mindful that many psychosocial problems make diabetes self-care harder, and also that many difficulties can be successfully treated with the right help.

5 Management of type 1 diabetes

The following recommendations are for all health professionals who advise and support people with type 1 diabetes and their families. They should be used in combination with other recent practice guidance, particularly from NICE^{157,158} and the International Society for Paediatric and Adolescent Diabetes. www.ispad.org

SIGN 55, which this guideline supersedes, contained a section on the management of type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents under the age of 16 years. Sections 5.1, 5.2, 5.3.3 and 5.5 (diagnosis, initiating therapy, dietary management and long term complications and screening) have not been significantly updated in the present review and therefore continue to relate to people aged under 16 years. The remainder of the section includes updated material which is relevant to the management of children, adolescents and adults with type 1 diabetes.

5.1 DIAGNOSIS AND EPIDEMIOLOGY

Diabetes is the most common metabolic disease in the young. In 2009 the Scottish Diabetes Survey indicated there were 27,363 patients with type 1 diabetes in Scotland.¹ The Scottish Study Group for the Care of Diabetes in the Young has shown that currently there are nearly 1,900 people aged under 15 years with diabetes in Scotland, with an annual incidence of 35 per 100,000 population by 2003, and a near quadrupling of new cases in the last 40 years (*Personal communication, Prof Norman Waugh*). The incidence in Scotland is one of the highest in the world.¹⁸³ Type 1 diabetes, resulting from beta-cell destruction and absolute insulin deficiency, accounts for over 90% of diabetes in young people aged less than 25 years, and is autoimmune in origin. Non-type 1 diabetes, diabetes, diabetes secondary to pancreatic disease and a rise in type 2 diabetes and other insulin-resistance syndromes in the young.¹⁸⁴

5.1.1 SCREENING FOR TYPE 1 DIABETES

Twelve to fifteen per cent of young people under the age of 15 years with diabetes mellitus have an affected first degree relative (a positive family history).¹⁸⁵ The children of fathers with diabetes are three times more likely to develop diabetes than those of mothers with diabetes.¹⁸⁶ While there are known antibody markers of prediction in high risk subjects, there is no evidence for effective methods of prevention of type 1 diabetes.¹⁸⁷

B

Screening for pre-type 1 diabetes is not recommended in either the general population or in high risk children and young people.

5.2 INITIATING THERAPY AT DIAGNOSIS

Home based instruction of the newly diagnosed child or young person appears to be at least as effective as inpatient instruction in terms of glycaemic control and family acceptability over a two-year period.¹⁸⁸ Management in the community using a home based education programme for patients with newly diagnosed diabetes has been shown also to be cost effective.¹⁸⁹



A home-based programme for initial management and education of children with diabetes and their families is an appropriate alternative to a hospital-based programme.

The evidence on the role of the intensification of therapy in the attempt to achieve as rapid as possible normoglycaemia is inconsistent. In particular, there is no evidence of a sustained effect of any specific insulin therapy on glycaemic control during the first few months after diagnosis. Therefore, no recommendation can be given for the most appropriate insulin therapy at diagnosis.

5.3 CONTINUING MANAGEMENT

There is at present no evidence for the effectiveness of any medication other than insulin in the management of type 1 diabetes in the young.

Medications other than insulin presently have no role in the management of type 1 diabetes in young people.

5.3.1 GLYCAEMIC TARGETS

Despite compelling evidence that improved glycaemic control reduces risks of microvascular and macrovascular complications in people with type 1 diabetes⁶ no evidence was identified on outcomes associated with treatment to specific targets. Thus, there is no agreed single target for glycaemic control in these patients. Targets recommended by different authorities vary between 6.5-7.5% (48-58 mmol/mol).^{158,190,191} Targets can also vary within an individual even over a very short period of time depending on a variety of clinical and non-clinical circumstances.

1+ 4

1+

The guideline development group concluded that identifying a single target for all people with type 1 diabetes was not appropriate, but that patients should discuss this with their healthcare professionals, in the knowledge that the overall aim is to achieve the lowest HbA1c as possible, which does not interfere with the patient's quality of life.

5.3.2 INSULIN REGIMEN

В

Conventional therapy for type 1 diabetes (twice daily insulin with support from a multidisciplinary healthcare team and regular diabetes and health monitoring) is associated with variable results.¹⁸⁵ Limited data support an improvement in glycaemic control using three rather than two injections per day.^{185,192,193}

Evidence regarding the impact of an intensive insulin regimen upon long term control is derived principally from the Diabetes Control and Complication Trial (DCCT) which also involved a comprehensive patient support element (diet and exercise plans, monthly visits to the healthcare team etc).^{6,194} Intensive insulin therapy (four injections or more per day or pump insulin) significantly improves glycaemic control over a sustained period compared with conventional insulin therapy (two injections per day). DCCT did not include children aged less than 13 years and, due to the study design, it is impossible to separate the benefits of intensive insulin therapy from intensive support.

B Intensive insulin therapy should be delivered as part of a comprehensive support package.

While there is no evidence on the most effective form of support package, in general this refers to increased contact between patients and their families with a local multidisciplinary team of health professionals delivering specific healthcare strategies.

Both basal (eg, glargine and detemir) and rapid-acting (eg, lispro, aspart and glulisine) insulin analogues are prescribed widely in the management of type 1 diabetes.

Rapid-acting insulin analogues in adults

In comparison with regular human insulin and as part of a basal bolus regimen, short-acting insulin analogues have a small but statistically significant effect on HbA1c in people with type 1 diabetes, with a reduction of approximately 0.1%.^{195, 196} In the context of long term glycaemic control this is unlikely to be clinically significant. Some studies have reported a reduction in hypoglycaemia in association with their use, however there is considerable heterogeneity between these studies, making it difficult to draw firm conclusions. The use of insulin analogues has been associated with an improvement in treatment satisfaction scores in several, though not all, studies which used a validated assessment tool.

An intensified treatment regimen for adults with type 1 diabetes should include either regular human or rapid-acting insulin analogues.

1++

Basal insulin analogues in adults

Two meta-analyses have compared basal insulin analogues (glargine and detemir) and neutral protamine Hagedorm (NPH) insulin in adults with type 1 diabetes.

The first meta-analysis, undertaken by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health, concluded that use of glargine was associated with a reduction in HbA1c of 0.11% (1.20 mmol/mol) (95% CI 0.02 (0.22) to 0.21 (2.30)) while use of detemir was associated with a reduction in HbA1c of 0.06% (0.66 mmol/mol) (95% CI -0.13 (-1.42) to +0.02 (0.22)).¹⁹⁷

Benefits in terms of hypoglycaemia were inconsistent. When glargine was compared with NPH insulin, there was no significant reduction in severe or nocturnal hypoglycaemia, however there was a high degree of heterogeneity between the studies. When detemir was compared with NPH, reductions in severe (RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.96) and nocturnal (RR 0.92, 95% Cl 0.85 to 0.98) hypoglycaemia were observed, though there was no reduction in overall hypoglycaemia.

In a further meta-analysis of 20 RCTs of greater than 12 weeks duration comparing basal insulin analogues with NPH insulin, the mean reduction in HbA1c associated with the use of analogues was 0.07% (0.77 mmol/mol) (95% CI 0.13 (1.42) to 0.01 (0.11)).¹⁹⁸ On combining the eight trials that compared insulin detemir with NPH insulin, there was significantly less weight gain associated with the use of insulin detemir than NPH insulin (by 0.26 kg/m², 95% Cl 0.06 to 0.47). Equivalent data were not available for glargine. There was no reduction in overall hypoglycaemia associated with the use of basal analogues, though reductions in severe (OR 0.73, 95% Cl 0.6 to 0.89) and nocturnal (OR 0.69, 95% Cl 0.55 to 0.86) hypoglycaemia were observed.

One recent 24 month RCT compared insulin detemir (n = 331) with NPH insulin (n = 166) as the basal insulin component of a basal bolus regimen. The reduction in HbA1c in association with insulin detemir was 0.22% (2.40 mmol/mol) (95% CI 0.41 (4.48) to 0.03 (0.33)). Risk of major and nocturnal hypoglycaemia with detemir was 69% and 46% lower respectively in comparison with NPH (p < 0.001).¹⁹⁹

One study showed greater patient satisfaction, though no change in quality of life, with the use 1 + + of insulin glargine when compared with NPH.²⁰⁰

Comparison of insulin detemir and insulin glargine

In a 52 week study comparing insulin detemir and insulin glargine as the basal component of a basal bolus regimen in 443 patients with type 1 diabetes, there was no difference or change in HbA1c or rates of hypoglycaemia between the groups. According to the study protocol, two thirds of the detemir group completed the study on twice daily detemir.²⁰¹

In a 26 week study comparing twice daily detemir with once daily glargine as part of a basal bolus regimen in 320 subjects with type 1 diabetes, there was no difference in improvement in HbA1c at the end of the study. There was no difference in overall confirmed hypoglycaemia, however, severe and nocturnal hypoglycaemia were 72% and 32% lower, respectively, with detemir. There was no significant difference in body weight.²⁰²

In summary, basal insulin analogues appear to offer no clinically significant improvement in glycaemic control, but may offer reductions in severe and nocturnal hypoglycaemia. Insulin detemir may be associated with less weight gain than NPH insulin, but in many individuals will require twice daily dosing. It is important to interpret these findings in the context of cost; although insufficient data were available in type 1 diabetes to conduct an economic analysis, both insulin glargine and insulin detemir cost more than NPH insulin.

Basal insulin analogues are recommended in adults with type 1 diabetes who are experiencing severe or nocturnal hypoglycaemia and who are using an intensified insulin regimen. Adults with type 1 diabetes who are not experiencing severe or nocturnal hypoglycaemia may use basal anologues or NPH insulin.

1 + +

1 + +

1+

Rapid-acting insulin analogues in children and adolescents

There are relatively few good quality studies in pre-pubertal children and adolescents comparing use of insulin analogues with that of regular human insulin. Even these few are of relatively short duration, and most involve small numbers of subjects.

One systematic review identified four studies in pre-pubertal children and one study involving adolescents which showed no difference in glycaemic control (as measured by HbA1c) between the use of rapid-acting insulin analogues and regular human insulin.¹⁹⁶

Overall and nocturnal rates of hypoglycaemia in pre-pubertal children and adolescents using rapid-acting insulin analogues were not significantly different from those using regular human insulin.¹⁹⁶ One study showed reduction in rates of both overall and nocturnal hypoglycaemia when using rapid-acting insulin analogues.¹⁹⁶

A meta-analysis which reviewed the same studies as the systematic review with one additional RCT included, also showed no significant difference between HbA1c or hypoglycaemia between rapid-acting analogues or regular human insulin.¹⁹⁵

Basal insulin analogues in children and adolescents

In both children and adolescents, compared with NHS insulins, neither of the basal insulin analogues, glargine nor detemir, was associated with a significant difference in HbA1c.¹⁹⁵ No difference in hypoglycaemia was seen with glargine when compared with NPH insulin. In the one trial comparing detemir with NPH in pre-pubertal children and adolescents, no differences in severe hypoglycaemia were observed though there were minor reductions in nocturnal and overall hypoglycaemia.²⁰³

In children and adolescents, use of rapid-acting and basal insulin analogues offers at least similar glycaemic control, rates of overall hypoglycaemia, and rates of nocturnal hypoglycaemia to that of regular human insulin, and so both may be offered as alternatives.

The use of insulin in pregnant women with diabetes is discussed in section 7.5.2.

- **B** Children and adolescents may use either insulin analogues (*rapid-acting and basal*), regular human insulin and NPH preparations or an appropriate combination of these.
- C The insulin regimen should be tailored to the individual child to achieve the best possible glycaemic control without disabling hypoglycaemia.

CSII therapy

Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) or 'insulin pump' therapy allows programmed insulin delivery with multiple basal infusion rates and flexible bolus dosing of insulin with meals. In developed countries its usage is increasing in patients with type 1 diabetes, who are expert at carbohydrate counting or have undertaken an appropriate structured education course. CSII therapy requires considerable input especially from nurse specialists and dietitians in addition to the purchase of a pump and consumables.

A number of meta-analyses have evaluated trials of CSII therapy.²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁹ The RCTs have often been of poor quality but performed in specialised pump centres. Concern has been raised over the lack of independently funded studies to allow objective comparison of results.²⁰⁹

One meta-analysis included six RCTs, all with patients <21 years of age,²⁰⁷ while the other meta-analyses included a mixture of infants, children, adolescents and adults and did not allow a comparison between the groups,^{204-206, 208} except for a significant increase in minor hypoglycaemia in children on CSII in one meta-analysis.²⁰⁹

In patients with type 1 diabetes CSII therapy has been associated with an improvement in glycaemic control with falls in HbA1c of between 0.2 to 0.4% (2.2 to 4.4 mmol/mol) compared to multiple daily injections (MDI), predominately using human insulin.²⁰⁶⁻²⁰⁹

1 + +

1++

1++

1+

1+ 1++ No differences in rates of diabetic ketoacidosis or severe hypoglycaemia were associated with CSII in comparison to MDI, with the exception of one meta-analysis which pre-selected studies to include people experiencing a high rate of hypoglycaemia on MDI.²⁰⁵ Severe hypoglycaemia was defined as that requiring third party assistance, including unconsciousness, seizure, glucagon administration and emergency attendance or admission to hospital. Trials were included where the rate of severe hypoglycaemia during MDI was > 10 episodes/100 patient years of treatment. The meta-analysis reported that CSII was associated with at least a threefold lower rate of severe hypoglycaemia (rate ratio 2.89). This study combined six RCTs with 'before and after' studies and noted an overall HbA1c reduction of 0.6% (6.6 mmol/mol) in favour of CSII.

In one systematic review CSII therapy was shown to be of no benefit in quality of life (QoL).²¹⁰ Lack of benefit was ascribed to poor study quality, lack of power, lack of exclusion and inclusion criteria, mixture of patient groups and differing assessment of QoL tools. In particular the authors note the confounding role of structured education, which should be given to all people with diabetes before commencing CSII, but which may not be given to comparator groups if there are any. In 'before and after' studies, it is difficult to say how much of the benefit is due to the education rather than to the CSII.

Three small RCTs have shown some benefit in treatment satisfaction associated with CSII despite no difference in glycaemic control.²¹¹⁻²¹³

In one crossover study, established users of CSII therapy were randomised to either continuing CSII or MDI. Despite no differences in HbA1c or episodes of severe hypoglycaemia, patients using CSII therapy had a greater mean treatment satisfaction score than those using MDI (mean \pm SD, $32.3 \pm 2.6 v 23.2 \pm 7.0$, p < 0.0001).²¹¹ Due to dropouts this study was underpowered to detect a significant difference in the primary outcome.

One RCT randomised 72 newly diagnosed children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes to CSII or MDI.²¹² After 24 months no differences in HbA1c or rate of hypoglycaemia were reported between groups, but mean treatment satisfaction (\pm standard deviation (SD) was significantly higher in the CSII group compared with the MDI group (33.1 \pm 0.9 and 27.5 \pm 2.0, respectively, p<0.001).

A third small RCT also showed no difference in HbA1c or rates of hypoglycaemia between CSII and MDI groups.²¹³ The mean treatment satisfaction score (\pm SD) increased from 22.8 \pm 8.1 at baseline to 31.5 \pm 4.9 at 24 weeks in the CSII group and from 24.0 \pm 6.3 to 28.8 \pm 5.4 in the MDI group (treatment difference: 3.1, 95% CI 0.1 to 6.1, p = 0.042).

Large RCTs comparing CSII therapy to MDI therapy with insulin analogues, which assess glycaemic control and rates of both hypoglycaemia and DKA are lacking. Such studies should not restrict entry on the basis of hypoglycaemia and should use a validated QoL assessment. One such study, the REPOSE (Relative Effectiveness of Pumps Over MDI and Structured Education) trial is likely to recruit patients in 2010.

- A CSII therapy is associated with modest improvements in glycaemic control and should be considered for patients unable to achieve their glycaemic targets.
- B CSII therapy should be considered in patients who experience recurring episodes of severe hypoglycaemia.
- An insulin pump is recommended for those with very low basal insulin requirements (such as infants and very young children), for whom even small doses of basal insulin analogue may result in hypoglycaemia.
- Pump therapy should be available from a local multidisciplinary pump clinic for patients who have undertaken structured education.
- ☑ Targets for improvement in HbA1c and/or reduction in hypoglycaemia should be agreed by patients using CSII therapy and their multidisciplinary diabetes care team. Progress against targets should be monitored and, if appropriate, alternative treatment strategies should be offered.

1+

1+

1+ 2+

1+

2-

3

4

5.3.3 DIETARY MANAGEMENT

A regimen which includes dietary management improves glycaemic control. Limited evidence was identified concerning the optimal type of dietary therapy.^{6,194} There is a lack of evidence to recommend either a qualitative or quantitative approach as the most effective mode of dietary therapy.

Dietary advice as part of a comprehensive management plan is recommended to improve glycaemic control.

- Specialist dietetic advice should be given by a dietitian with expertise in type 1 diabetes.
- Carbohydrate counting is an essential skill to support intensified insulin mangement in type 1 diabetes, either by MDI or CSII, and all patients must be able to access such training locally, and ideally, at their own diabetes clinic.

5.3.4 INPATIENT MANAGEMENT

One RCT of 300 people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes cared for by either hospital diabetes specialist nurses or general healthcare professionals, showed a length of stay (LoS) in hospital reduced by three days in those managed by the diabetes specialists (median LoS: intervention group 8 days, control group 11 days, p < 0.01).²¹⁴

☑ Inpatients with diabetes should have evaluation of their glycaemic control and support in the management of their diabetes from a diabetes nurse specialist in an effort to reduce length of stay.

No studies were identified looking at the impact of self or carer care compared to routine care on length of stay or patient satisfaction.

5.3.5 INTEGRATED CARE PATHWAYS IN DIABETIC KETOACIDOSIS

One cohort study of 43 people admitted with DKA reported an improvement in time to insulin and fluid administration but was underpowered to show change in length of stay, hypoglycaemia or morbidity.²¹⁵

Children and young people with type 1 diabetes presenting with DKA should be managed according to local protocols which have been developed with reference to national and 4 internationally agreed consensus documents.^{216, 217}

5.3.6 OUT OF HOURS SUPPORT

Experience of dedicated diabetes hotlines shows that parents of younger children and those with a shorter duration of diabetes are more likely to use this service.^{218,219} There is no evidence suggesting that a dedicated diabetes helpline prevents acute complications and hospital admissions.

There are several different methods of providing advice and support to those diagnosed with type 1 diabetes in Scotland. These include the national NHS24 service, local GP or specialist nurse services, secondary care advice provided by on-call specialist nursing or medical staff or medical trainees after hours, and a commercial service provided by Novo Nordisk, staffed by independent specialist nurses.

People with diabetes should have access to medical advice 24 hours per day as part of their care package.

5.3.7 TRANSITION FROM PAEDIATRIC TO ADULT SERVICES

Young people with diabetes often move from the paediatric services to the adult healthcare system at a time when diabetes control is known to deteriorate.²²⁰ There is consensus that the needs of adolescents and young people need to be actively managed during this transition period.^{157, 221-224} Transition models have evolved according to local circumstances and beliefs and their complexity makes comparison very difficult. There is little evidence available on the different adolescent transition models and their benefits and there is no evidence to recommend a particular transition model.

Some common themes appear in the literature:

- Patients and their families favour a structured transition from paediatric to adult services together with adequate information along the way.
- A structured transition process appears to improve clinic attendance and reduces loss to follow up in the adult services.^{224,225}
- Paediatric and adult services should work together to develop structured transition arrangements that serve the needs of the local population.

5.3.8 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES AT SCHOOL

Children spend 30-40% of their time within the education system, outside the direct supervision of their parents. Those adults responsible for them during school hours may not be experienced in the care of children with diabetes. Complications such as hypoglycaemia and poor glycaemic control may occur during these times.²²⁶

Only two studies were identified which addressed whether supportive management for children with type 1 diabetes within the education system has any effect on diabetes complications or glycaemic control. Both took place in the United States of America (USA), and therefore have limited generalisability to the United Kingdom (UK). The first study involved school-based consultations from the diabetes nurse, but was described as a pilot study, with no control group and a self-selected intervention group. The intervention consisted of increased visits during school hours to discuss diabetes and advice on dose adjustments. No changes in HbA1c or self-efficacy measurements were found.²²⁷ The second study involved increased school nurse supervision of children with poorly controlled diabetes. The intervention group showed a decrease in HbA1c of 1.6%, but an accompanying change of insulin regimen in this group (to MDI) may have biased the outcome.²²⁸

There is insufficient evidence to recommend specific supportive measures for children during school hours, but children should be afforded the same level of diabetes care whether in or out of school. Intensification of diabetes management requires increased monitoring and insulin use and, as this significantly improves glycaemic control, should be available to all children while at school.

Educational and health services should work together to ensure that children with diabetes have the same quality of care within the school day as outside of it. Children at school should be supported with all necessary aspects of diabetes care, such as glucose monitoring, insulin injection and treatment of hypoglycaemia.

5.4 QUALITY OF LIFE

Severe hypoglycaemia may adversely affect quality of life in patients treated with insulin, particularly in those newly diagnosed. Improvements in blood glucose control are associated with improvements in quality of life, providing there is no increase in hypoglycaemic symptoms.^{229,230} Frequency of insulin dose adjustment does not appear to affect quality of life.^{192,229-231}



Patients and healthcare professionals should make every effort to avoid severe hypoglycaemia, particularly in those who are newly diagnosed.

3 4

3

2-

1-

1+

2+

5.5 LONG TERM COMPLICATIONS AND SCREENING

5.5.1 RISK OF MICROVASCULAR COMPLICATIONS

Early abnormalities in children and adolescents (eg microalbuminuria, background retinopathy) predict later development of long term microvascular complications.^{6, 194, 232, 233}

Maintaining glycaemic control to as near normal as possible significantly reduces the long term risk of microvascular diseases.^{6,194} Poor glycaemic control (HbA1c > 10% (86 mmol/mol)) over time in young people with diabetes increases the risk of the development of retinopathy by approximately eightfold.¹⁹⁴

To reduce the risk of long term microvascular complications, the target for all young people with diabetes is the optimising of glycaemic control towards a normal level.

5.5.2 SCREENING FOR EARLY SIGNS OF MICROVASCULAR DISEASE

The literature is confusing in relation to the timing of commencing screening in young people with diabetes. Age and puberty are reported without any strict definition. For clarity and simplicity the guideline development group suggests 12 years of age in both boys and girls.

Recommendations for screening patients with type 1 diabetes for retinopathy, nephropathy and hypertension are included in sections 10.2, 9.3 and 8.3 respectively.

There is no evidence that routine screening for autonomic neuropathy or hyperlipidaemia are of benefit in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes.

5.5.3 CYSTIC FIBROSIS AND DIABETES

Twenty per cent of patients with cystic fibrosis will develop secondary diabetes by the age of 20, with an incidence which increases thereafter to 80% by the of age 35.²³⁴ Limited data suggest that clinical symptoms deteriorate when diabetes develops in cystic fibrosis,^{235,236} although no evidence exists that the presence of diabetes or its treatment affects long term survival.



Patients with cystic fibrosis should be screened annually for diabetes from 10 years of age.

5.5.4 ASSOCIATED CONDITIONS

Thyroid and coeliac disease are reported to be increased in young people with type 1 diabetes compared with non-diabetic subjects.²³⁷⁻²³⁹ Both thyroid and coeliac disease may occur with minimal symptoms that may be missed during routine care.



Young people with diabetes should be screened for thyroid and coeliac disease at onset of diabetes and at intervals throughout their lives.

Standard blood tests exist to screen for thyroid and coeliac disease but there are limited data to support the specific frequency of screening.

5.6 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

People with type 1 diabetes:

- should have the right to choose not just the insulin regimen, but whether to use an analogue (designer insulin), human or animal insulin. People with diabetes must appreciate the time action profiles of their type of insulin, have knowledge of injection sites and absorption rates of insulin.
- need to perform blood glucose monitoring at home on a regular basis and act on the results to adjust insulin therapy and achieve their target HbA1c levels.
- should initially receive intensive dietetic input with regular dietetic updates.
- should have a clear understanding of sick day rules and be able to recognise hypoglycaemia and treat it appropriately.

Ideally all of the above should form part of an education programme provided locally by the Diabetes Team, with the aim to empower patients to make the choice that is right for them.

People with type 1 diabetes:

- should have ongoing support for their diabetes.
- should have a clear plan of how to get help on an urgent or semi-urgent basis. This will
 often involve the local Diabetes Team in office hours, but outwith these times arrangements
 vary across Scotland.

Hospital admission- If you have concerns about your diabetes management as an inpatient ask the local ward staff to have the Diabetes Team review your progress.

Insulin and Driving- Patients starting insulin treatment must be advised to report this change to the DVLA (Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency). Those taking insulin are required to reapply for their licence every 1-3 years with supportive evidence sought from their GP or consultant. Regular monitoring and prevention of hypoglycaemia are key to safe driving. Rules for driving should be discussed with healthcare professionals.

Healthcare professionals should:

- develop a local transition process that facilitates a seamless move to an adult service, which encourages regular attendance of teenagers.
- monitor emergency metabolic admissions.
- help promote good diabetes care in the school environment.
- provide a record of results obtained and targets issued for individual patients in a hand-held record.

6 This section is superseded by SIGN 154 Pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes

7 Management of diabetes in pregnancy

7.1 INTRODUCTION

An optimal outcome may be obtained from pregnancy in women with diabetes if excellent glycaemic control is achieved before and during pregnancy. However, type 1 and 2 diabetes are high risk states for both the woman and her fetus. There are increased complications of diabetes, severe hypoglycaemia, and progression of microvascular complications. Ketoacidosis must also be avoided. There are also increased risks of obstetric complications, such as miscarriage, maternal infection, pre-eclampsia, premature labour, polyhydramnios and failure to progress in first or second stage. Fetal and neonatal complications include congenital malformation, late intrauterine death, fetal distress, hypoglycaemia, respiratory distress syndrome and jaundice. Rates of fetal and neonatal loss and major congenital malformation are increased by at least two to threefold. The prevalence of type 2 diabetes is increasing in women of reproductive age and outcomes may be equivalent or worse than in those with type 1 diabetes. Management prior to and during pregnancy should follow the same intensive programme of metabolic, obstetric and neonatal supervision.

National audits on management of diabetes in pregnancy indicate that adverse pregnancy outcomes remain higher in women with diabetes than in the non-diabetic population.^{311, 312}

An experienced multidisciplinary team, led by a named obstetrician and physician with an interest in diabetes, and including a diabetes specialist nurse, diabetes specialist midwife and dietitian should provide comprehensive care from pre-pregnancy to postnatal review.

Effective communication between all members of the team is essential, recognising that the key member is the woman with diabetes.

7.2 CONTRACEPTION

Contraception should be discussed on an individual basis with all women of childbearing age with diabetes. There is little evidence on choice of contraceptive method specifically in these women. In general, the contraceptive advice for a woman with diabetes should follow that in the general population. The combined oral contraceptive (COC) is contraindicated in women with diabetes according to the presence and severity of diabetic complications and/or other risk factors for vascular disease. Progestogen-only preparations, oral or intramuscular, may be suitable in these women. The World Health Organization's evidence based guidance for medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use makes recomendations for women with diabetes.³¹³

Long-acting methods such as implants, intrauterine systems (IUS) and copper intrauterine devices (IUD) are safe methods of contraception which may be particularly suitable for use in women with diabetes as these are as effective as sterilisation and produce low circulating hormone levels.³¹⁴

- Pregnancy should be planned and good contraceptive advice and pre-pregnancy counselling are essential.
- Healthcare professionals should refer to the WHO medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use prior to offering contraceptive advice to women with diabetes.

2+

2++

2+

7.3 PRE-PREGNANCY CARE

Infants whose mothers with diabetes received dedicated multidisciplinary pre-pregnancy care showed significantly fewer major congenital malformations (approximating to the rate in non-diabetic women) compared to infants whose mothers did not receive such care. Attendance at a pre-pregnancy clinic is associated with a reduction in the rate of miscarriage and in complications of pregnancy. Infants of mothers attending pre-pregnancy clinics have fewer problems and are kept in special care for shorter periods than infants of non-attending mothers.^{315, 316}

The essential components of a pre-pregnancy care programme include review and consideration of the medical (including pharmacological treatment), obstetric and gynaecological history; advice on glycaemic control to optimise HbA1c; screening for complications of diabetes and counselling for maternal and fetal complications.



Pre-pregnancy care provided by a multidisciplinary team is strongly recommended for women with diabetes.

All healthcare professionals in contact with women of childbearing age with diabetes should be aware of the importance of pre-pregnancy care and local arrangements for its delivery, and should share this information with the woman.

No evidence was identified on structured education specifically for pre-pregnant women. Women contemplating pregnancy should have access to structured education in line with the commendations for adults with diabetes (see sections 3.2.1 and 3.2.3).

7.3.1 PRE-PREGNANCY TARGETS FOR BLOOD SUGAR

A large body of observational evidence found an association between maternal glycaemia and congenital malformation and miscarriage.³¹⁷ The risk of congenital anomaly in the offspring of women with pre-pregnancy diabetes increased with an increasing level of HbA1c.³¹⁸ In women with type 1 diabetes, poor glucose control before and during pregnancy is associated with perinatal mortality and congenital malformations (see Table 3).³¹⁹ No HbA1c threshold for such effects was identified.

Table 3: Derived absolute risk of a major or minor congenital anomaly in association with the number of standard deviations (SD) of glycosylated haemoglobin above normal, and the approximate corresponding HbA1c concentration, measured periconceptionally.³¹⁸

SD of GHb	Corresponding HbA1c (%)	Corresponding HbA1c (mmol/mol)	Absolute risk of a congenital anomaly (%, 95% Cl)
0	5.0	31	2.2 (0.0 to 4.4)
2	6.0	42	3.2 (0.4 to 6.1)
4	7.0	53	4.8 (1.0 to 8.6)
6	8.0	64	7.0 (1.7 to 12.3)
8	9.0	75	10.1 (2.3 to 17.8)
10	10.0	86	14.4 (2.8 to 25.9)
≥12	≥11	≥97	20.1 (3.0 to 37.1)

Assumes a DCCT-aligned HbA1c assay with mean (SD) of 5.0% (0.5%) among non-diabetic, non-pregnant controls. Copyright 2007 American Diabetes Association. From Diabetes Care, Vol. 30, 2007; 1920-1925. Reprinted with permission from The American Diabetes Association. ³¹⁸

C

Pre-pregnancy glycaemic control should be maintained as close to the non-diabetic range as possible, taking into account risk of maternal hypoglycaemia.

☑ The target for pre-pregnancy glycaemic control for most women should, as a minimum, be an HbA1c of less than 7% (53 mmol/mol) although lower targets of HbA1c may be appropriate if maternal hypoglycaemia can still be minimised.

57

7.3.2 ORAL MEDICATION BEFORE AND DURING PREGNANCY

Folic acid

Neural tube defects in high-risk pregnancies are associated with lower levels of folate.³²⁰ A large study in high-risk non-diabetic women has shown that prescription of 4 mg folate supplementation pre- and periconceptually has been shown to confer protection against neural tube defects, particularly in women at high risk.³²¹

B

All women with diabetes should be prescribed high dose pre-pregnancy folate supplementation, continuing up to 12 weeks gestation.

Folic acid 5 mg tablets are readily available, suitable, and should be provided wherever pre-pregnancy care is delivered.

Metformin and sulphonylureas

Metformin and sulphonylureas are not associated with an increase in congenital malformation or early pregnancy loss.^{317, 322} Systematic reviews of observational studies on the use of oral hypoglycaemics (including metformin and glibenclamide) in women with diabetes in early pregnancy do not indicate an increase in miscarriage or congenital anomaly.^{323, 324}

- B Women with diabetes initially treated in early pregnancy with metformin or sulphonylureas should be advised that these medications do not appear to carry additional risk of teratogenesis or early pregnancy loss.
- While metformin and glibenclamide may be used to treat GDM (gestational diabetes mellitus see section 7.8.3), sulphonylureas other than glibenclamide should not be used during pregnancy due to placental passage.

Statins

A reference guide to medications in pregnancy and lactation reported that atorvastatin, fluvastatin, pravastatin and simvastatin are contraindicated in pregnancy and lactation.³²⁵ The reference guide found that a small number of case reports and surveillance studies and a case series had investigated the use of atorvastatin, fluvastatin, pravastatin and simvastatin in pregnant women. The case series evaluated 20 cases of malformation in 54 cases of statin exposure reported to the US Food and Drug Administration between 1987 and 2001. The malformations included five major defects of the central nervous system (including two cases of holoprosencephaly) and five unilateral limb deficiencies.

No evidence was identified for rosuvastatin.

The British National Formulary recommends that statins should be avoided during pregnancy as congenital malformations have been reported and decreased synthesis of cholesterol may affect fetal development.⁵

ACE inhibitors

 \square

Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors have been associated with an increase in risk of congenital malformation and both ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blocking medications should be avoided throughout pregnancy.³²⁶

The use of statins, ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blocking medications should be reviewed in women pre-pregnancy and avoided during pregnancy.

1++ 2++

2+

4

7.4 NUTRITIONAL MANAGEMENT

It is good clinical practice to provide dietary advice to women before, during and after pregnancy.³²⁷

Advice on diet and exercise should be offered in line with recommendations for adults with diabetes (see sections 3.7.1 and 3.5.4)



С

Dietetic advice should be available in all diabetic antenatal clinics.

7.5 OPTIMISATION OF GLYCAEMIC CONTROL

7.5.1 GLUCOSE MONITORING

Optimal glucose control before pregnancy reduces congenital malformations and miscarriage, while during pregnancy it reduces macrosomia, stillbirth, neonatal hypoglycaemia, and respiratory distress syndrome.³²⁶

D All women with pre-gestational diabetes should be encouraged to achieve excellent glycaemic control.

There is limited evidence comparing the use of preprandial testing to postprandial testing during pregnancy. A small RCT of 61 pregnant women with type 1 diabetes found that postprandial blood glucose monitoring was associated with greater success in achieving glycemic control targets and a smaller neonatal triceps skinfold thickness. A statistically significant reduction in the incidence of pre-eclampsia was associated with postprandial monitoring.³²⁸

In women with gestational diabetes, measurement and targeting of postprandial glucose was associated with improved outcomes (including birth weight and macrosomia).³²⁹ Detection and management of gestational diabetes, including protocols specifying postprandial targets, were associated with reduced birth weight and reduced perinatal morbidity in two large randomised studies.^{330, 331}

Postprandial glucose monitoring should be carried out in pregnant women with gestational diabetes and may be considered in pregnant women with type 1 or 2 diabetes.

☑ In people with type 1 or type 2 diabetes, as long as hypoglycaemia can be minimised, aim to achieve blood glucose:

- between 4 and 6 mmol/l preprandially, and
- <8 mmol/l one hour postprandially, or</p>
- < 7 mmol/l two hours postprandially
- >6 mmol/l before bed.

There is limited evidence that continuous glucose monitoring may be of benefit to women during pregnancy. Use of continuous glucose monitoring compared to conventional monitoring was associated with an improvement in birth weight and macrosomia in one study of women with type 1 and type 2 diabetes but not in another randomised control trial in women with gestational diabetes.^{332, 333}

B Continuous glucose monitoring may be considered in women with type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

Diabetes specialist nurses and midwives have an important role in educating women on the need for home blood glucose monitoring and intensive insulin regimens. Intensive basal bolus regimens are commonly used and insulin analogues are increasingly used, although published research on their role and safety in pregnancy is limited.

1+

1++

7.5.2 INSULIN THERAPY

Intensive insulin therapy is beneficial in terms of maternal and neonatal outcomes.³³⁴ Use of insulin analogues outwith pregnancy is associated with limited evidence of reduction in hypoglycaemia (section 5 and SIGN 154 section 10.2).

It has been demonstrated that rapid-acting analogue insulins to confer potential advantages during pregnancy. Lispro and aspart have been associated with an improved glycaemic profile in the short term compared to unmodified short acting human insulin.³³⁵⁻³³⁷ A non-significant trend towards reduced major hypoglycaemic (RR 0.72) and nocturnal hypoglycaemic (RR 0.48) events was found with insulin aspart.^{338, 339} There appear to be no consistent safety concerns with respect to maternal or neonatal outcomes with rapid-acting insulin analogues.^{335, 336}

No evidence was identified on the benefit of glulisine during pregnancy.

There is a lack of high quality evidence regarding outcomes of pregnancy using basal insulin analogue therapy or CSII in women who are pregnant. Current evidence suggests neither benefit nor harm with CSII.^{340, 341}

2++

1+

No randomised control trial evidence is available to support the use of either of the basal insulin analogues detemir or glargine in women who are pregnant or considering pregnancy. Several case control studies suggest no increase in adverse outcomes with glargine.³⁴²⁻³⁴⁵

- The choice of insulin therapy should be discussed, ideally as part of pre-pregnancy counselling.
- **B** Rapid-acting insulin analogues (*lispro and aspart*) appear safe in pregnancy and may be considered in individual patients where hypoglycaemia is problematic.
- NPH insulin should remain the basal insulin of choice in pregnancy unless the clinical benefit of a basal insulin analogue has been demonstrated on an individual basis.
- Women should be advised that while most commonly used regular human insulins are licensed for use during pregnancy, other insulins and oral glucose-lowering agents (eg metformin, glibenclamide, other sulphonylureas, detemir) are not.

7.6 COMPLICATIONS DURING PREGNANCY

7.6.1 OBSTETRIC COMPLICATIONS

There is no specific evidence on management of obstetric complications, including pregnancyinduced hypertension and increased risk of thromboembolism, in women with diabetes. These risks should be managed as for other pregnant women.

7.6.2 METABOLIC COMPLICATIONS

During pregnancy, hypoglycaemic unawareness and severe hypoglycaemia are common. Diabetic ketoacidosis can develop more rapidly, at lower levels of blood glucose and in response to therapeutic glucocorticoids. Women and their partners need education on the management of hypoglycaemia, including the use of glucagon, avoiding hypoglycaemia during driving and on the recognition and prevention of ketoacidosis, which may result in fetal death. Local emergency contact arrangements must be explicit.

7.6.3 MICROVASCULAR COMPLICATIONS

Diabetic retinal and renal disease can deteriorate during pregnancy.³⁴⁶ The presence of retinopathy alone is not associated with a poorer pregnancy outcome for the fetus unless concurrent nephropathy is evident.³⁴⁷ $\begin{pmatrix} 2^+\\3 \end{pmatrix}$

Retinopathy

Prevention of visual impairment in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes is covered in section 10.

In one study, 43% of women with baseline retinopathy showed progression during pregnancy,³⁴⁶ although sight-threatening retinopathy is rare (around 2% of pregnancies).³⁴⁸ Poor glycaemic control in the first trimester and pregnancy-induced or chronic hypertension are independently associated with the progression of retinopathy.³⁴⁶

- C Examination of the retina prior to conception and during each trimester is advised in women with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. More frequent assessment may be required in those with poor glycaemic control, hypertension or pre-existing retinopathy.
- С

C

- Early referral of pregnant women with referable retinopathy to an ophthalmologist is recommended due to the potential for rapid development of neovascularisation.
- Multidisciplinary teams should have locally agreed protocols for the grade of retinopathy required for referral.

Parous women with type 1 diabetes have significantly lower levels of all retinopathy compared with nulliparous women.³⁴⁹ The associated significant difference in HbA1c suggests that improved glycaemic control associated with pregnancy may be sustained over time, with beneficial effects on long term complications.

2+

Women should be reassured that tight glycaemic control during and immediately after pregnancy can effectively reduce the long term risk of retinopathy.

Nephropathy

There is an association between pre-existing nephropathy (microalbuminuria or albuminuria) and a poorer pregnancy outcome, though this is not due to any increase in congenital malformations. Proteinuria increases transiently during pregnancy, returning to a pre-pregnancy level within three months of delivery. The incidence of worsening chronic hypertension or pregnancy-induced hypertension/pre-eclampsia is high in women with both incipient and overt nephropathy, occurring in over 50% of women where overt nephropathy is present. Worsening nephropathy and superimposed pre-eclampsia are the most common causes of pre-term delivery in women with diabetes.³³¹

- Women with diabetic nephropathy require careful monitoring and management of blood pressure.
 - ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blocking medications should be avoided as they may adversely affect the fetus.
 - Appropriate antihypertensive agents which may be used during pregnancy include methyl dopa, labetalol and nifedipine.

7.7 FETAL ASSESSMENT

An early pregnancy scan is considered good practice to confirm viability in women with preexisting diabetes, particularly when changes in medication are required or diabetic control is suboptimal.

There is evidence of an increased incidence of congenital malformations in women with preexisting diabetes (type 1 and type 2).³¹⁷⁻³¹⁹ In general, the sensitivity of ultrasound scanning for detecting structural abnormalities increases with gestational age.³⁵⁰ It is not possible to determine when during the second trimester scanning should take place to maximise detection rates. A detailed anomaly scan, including evaluation of the four chamber heart and outflow tracts, undertaken at around 20 weeks (18-22 weeks) enables detection of many major structural abnormalites.³⁵⁰

☑ All women should be offered scanning to include:

- an early viability scan
- a gestational age scan between 11 weeks and 13 weeks (+6 days) in association with biochemical screening and nuchal translucency measurement to risk assess for trisomies.
- a detailed anomaly scan including four chamber cardiac view and outflow tracts between 20 and 22 weeks.

In pregnancies complicated by maternal diabetes, the fetus is at risk of both macrosomia and intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR). The risk of macrosomia is greater when there has been poor glycaemic control. The risk of IUGR is greater in women with vascular complications of diabetes (retinopathy, nephropathy) or when pre-eclampsia develops.³⁵¹

Fetal monitoring includes cardiotocography (CTG), Doppler ultrasound and ultrasound measurement of fetal growth and liquor volume. Although regular fetal monitoring is common practice, no evidence has been identified on the effectiveness of any single or multiple techniques and therefore the clinical judgement of an obstetrician experienced in diabetic pregnancy is essential.

When IUGR is suspected, additional monitoring with serial ultrasound and umbilical arterial Doppler velocimetry is associated with improved outcomes (fewer inductions of labour and hospital admissions with a trend to improved perinatal mortality).³⁵²

The evidence for the accuracy of ultrasound scanning in predicting macrosomia (birth weight >4,000 g) is mixed. The accuracy of fetal weight estimation in women with diabetes is at least comparable to women who are not diabetic,³⁵³ but for prediction of macrosomia sensitivities have been found to vary from 36-76%, and positive predictive values from 51-85%.³⁵³⁻³⁵⁸ The negative predictive value of ultrasound is consistently higher (80-96%) and therefore it is feasible that the true value of ultrasonography in the management of these women may be its ability to rule out the diagnosis of macrosomia.³⁵⁴⁻³⁵⁷

There is evidence to suggest that the incorrect diagnosis of a large for gestational age fetus increases the induction and Caesarean section rate without improving clinical outcome.^{355, 356, 359} Studies conclude that the reliability of ultrasound estimation of fetal weight is suboptimal.^{357, 358, 360-362}

The ability to predict shoulder dystocia in the non-diabetic population is poor and evidence in the diabetic population limited.³⁶³ Determination of polyhydramnios may be clinically useful as it may be associated with adverse clinical outcome.

3

2++

2++

2+

2+

In the management of gestational diabetes, four randomised control trials used ultrasound to detect abdominal circumference (AC) >70th or >75th percentile and/or abnormal glucose monitoring to select women for insulin initiation or intensification.³⁶⁴⁻³⁶⁷ The trials used differing levels of less intensive glycaemic management (where AC $< 70^{\text{th}}$ or 75^{th} percentile or glucose monitoring was within target) and more intensive glycaemic management (where AC $> 70^{th}$ or 75th percentile or glucose monitoring was outwith target). The trials reported either equivalent outcomes or improved outcomes (birthweight, macrosomia, large for gestational age) in women with gestational diabetes.³⁶⁵⁻³⁶⁷ Improved outcomes were associated with AC being ascertained early (rather than late) in the third trimester and intensively managed thereafter.^{365, 367-369} Where outcomes were equivalent this was achieved with fewer women requiring insulin or a change of treatment assignment.^{366, 367} Although the rates of large for gestational age infants were reduced with insulin therapy there were no immediate clinical benefits observed from this reduction and an increase in the Caesarean section rate in the groups receiving intensive treatment was observed.364,366

1+

C Where IUGR is suspected, regular monitoring including growth scans and umbilical artery Doppler should be carried out.

 \square In the absence of IUGR, monitoring of fetal growth can be used but given the inaccuracies in estimating fetal weight it is important that this is not used as a sole method of determining timing or mode of delivery.

7.8 **GESTATIONAL DIABETES**

Gestational diabetes can be defined as carbohydrate intolerance of variable severity with onset or first recognition during pregnancy.3 This definition will include women with abnormal glucose tolerance that reverts to normal after delivery, those with undiagnosed type 1 or type 2 diabetes, and rarely women with monogenic diabetes.³⁷⁰ If type 1 or type 2 diabetes is presumed (eg due to early presentation or grossly elevated blood glucose), urgent action is required to normalise metabolism.

Two randomised control trials have shown that intervention in women with gestational diabetes with dietary advice, monitoring and management of blood glucose is effective in reducing birth weight and the rate of large for gestational age infants, ^{330, 331} as well as perinatal 1+ morbidity.³³⁰ In a single study dietary therapy was associated with a reduction in the rate of large for gestational age infants, even with degrees of mild glucose intolerance short of current diagnostic criteria for gestational diabetes, although other outcomes (birth weight, macrosomia, neonatal hypoglycaemia) were not significantly affected.³⁷¹

In older (non-randomised) series a diagnostic label of GDM was associated with an increased likelihood of induction of labour, instrumental delivery and Caesarean section.³⁷² The more recent RCTs of detection and management of GDM found no change in the rate of Caesarean section in one study,³³⁰ and a reduction in another.³³¹

A suitable programme to detect and treat gestational diabetes should be offered to all women in pregnancy.

The most appropriate strategies for screening and diagnosing GDM remain controversial. There is a continuous relationship between maternal glucose level (fasting, 1 hour and 2 hours after 75 g OGTT) at 24-28 weeks and pregnancy outcomes (macrosomia, fetal insulin, clinical neonatal hypoglycaemia and Caesarean section).³⁷³ Studies showing a benefit of screening to detect GDM have used a variety of strategies.^{330, 331}

1+ 2+

7.8.1 SCREENING FOR GDM

Early pregnancy

An important aim of screening, particularly in early pregnancy, is to identify women with undiagnosed type 2 diabetes. Clinical suspicion that type 1 or type 2 diabetes is present or developing in pregnancy may be raised by persistent heavy glycosuria in pregnancy (2 + on more than two occasions), random glucose >5.5 mmol/l two hours or more after food, or >7 mmol/l within two hours of food.³

The International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups consensus document suggests that all or high-risk women should be offered screening with HbA1c, fasting or random glucose at the first gestational visit.³⁷⁴ While the characteristics of HbA1c in early pregnancy should be close to those outwith pregnancy, it should be noted that normal HbA1c falls in later pregnancy, potentially resulting in false negative results. While levels of glucose tolerance diagnostic of diabetes (HbA1c \geq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol), fasting \geq 7.0 mmol/l or two hours \geq 11.1 mmol/l) can be interpreted in early pregnancy, the clinical interpretation of intermediate levels of glucose testing (HbA1c 6.0 to 6.4% (42 to 46 mmol/mol), fasting glucose 5.1 to 6.9 mmol/l, 2 hour glucose 7.8 to 11.0 mmol/l) encompassing current definitions of gestational diabetes, impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance remain to be defined.

Later pregnancy

Controversy remains over the best screening strategy for detection of GDM and the most clinically and cost-effective strategy is likely to vary depending on the population. A number of risk factors can be identified and health economic analysis supports screening of women with risk factors using 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) at 24-28 weeks of gestation (see *Table 4*).³²⁶ Meaurement of fasting glucose provided a good predictor of adverse outcomes in the HAPO study.³⁷³

It is expected that strategies to detect previously existing but undetected diabetes in early pregnancy and strategies to screen for gestational diabetes at 24-28 weeks will be refined as information on the characteristics of this testing becomes apparent for the local population. Strategies are likely to be simplified for women believed to be low risk based on risk factors (see Table 4).

Table 4: Risk factors for	gestational	diabetes ³²⁶
---------------------------	-------------	-------------------------

BMI more than 30 kg/m ²		
Previous macrosomic baby weighing 4.5 kg or more		
Previous gestational diabetes		
Family history of diabetes (first degree relative with diabetes)		
Family origin with a high prevalence of diabetes:		
 South Asian (specifically women whose country of family origin is India, Pakistan or Bangladesh) 		

- Black Caribbean
- Middle Eastern (specifically women whose country of family origin is Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates, Iraq, Jordan, Syria, Oman, Qatar, Kuwait, Lebanon or Egypt).

4

4

2++

4

Screening at first antenatal visit

- At booking all women should be assessed for the presence of risk factors for gestational diabetes.
- All women with risk factors should have HbA1c or fasting glucose measured.
 - Women in early pregnancy with levels of HbA1c≥6.5% (48 mmol/mol), fasting ≥7.0 mmol/l or two hour ≥11.1 mmol/l glucose diagnostic of diabetes should be treated as having pre-existing diabetes.
 - Women with intermediate levels of glucose (HbA1c 6.0 to 6.4% or 42 to 46 mmol/mol), fasting glucose 5.1 to 6.9 mmol/l or two hour glucose 8.6 to 11.0 mmol/l should be assessed to determine the need for immediate home glucose monitoring and, if the diagnosis remains unclear, assessed for gestational diabetes by 75 g OGTT at 24-28 weeks.

Screening later in pregnancy

- All women with risk factors should have a 75 g OGTT at 24-28 weeks.
 - A fasting plasma glucose at 24-28 weeks is recommended in low-risk women.

7.8.2 DIAGNOSIS OF GDM

There is a continuous relationship between maternal glucose level (fasting, one hour, two hours after 75 g OGTT) and fetal growth.³⁷³

2++

It is likely that the greatest health benefits come from treating women with the highest levels of blood sugar, however, meta-analysis of the available RCTs is not available to guide decision making regarding the level of glucose at which different health benefits accrue and such studies may prove to be underpowered for this purpose. It is suggested that criteria are set at a level where there is an impact in RCTs not only on birth weight but outcomes including shoulder dystocia and Caesarean section.

A recent international consensus has suggested criteria which result in a diagnosis of gestational diabetes in 16-18% of the pregnant population, where all women are tested with 75 g OGTT.³⁷⁴ Women diagnosed using these criteria have a 1.75-fold increase in risk of macrosomia.^{330, 331} It is suggested that these international consensus criteria are adopted.

1+ 4

Depending on individual clinical circumstance it is accepted that dietary intervention in women at lower glucose levels (two hour 7.8 to 8.5 mmol/l) may help to reduce birth weight, and dietary advice and intervention on an individual basis might be considered (for example, in previous macrosomia or previous complicated delivery).³³⁰

☑ The adoption of internationally agreed criteria for gestational diabetes using 75 g OGTT is recommended:

- fasting venous plasma glucose \geq 5.1 mmol/l, or
- one hour value $\geq 10 \text{ mmol/l}$, or
- two hours after OGTT ≥ 8.5 mmol/l.
- ☑ Women with frank diabetes by non-pregnant criteria (fasting venous glucose ≥7 mmol/l, two hour ≥11.1 mmol/l) should be managed within a multidisciplinary clinic as they may have type 1 or type 2 diabetes and be at risk of pregnancy outcomes similar to those of women with pre-gestational diabetes.

7.8.3 MANAGEMENT OF GDM

Management with dietary change to lower blood glucose levels and, if necessary, treatment with insulin improves outcomes in gestational diabetes.³³⁰ In one study, glycaemic management was tailored to control of preprandial and postprandial blood sugar.³³⁰ This study suggests that the majority of women with gestational diabetes (80%) can be managed with dietary therapy alone. If, after nutritional advice, preprandial and postprandial glucose levels are normal and there is no evidence of excessive fetal growth, the pregnancy can be managed as for a normal pregnancy.

Two recent randomised controlled trials suggested that management strategies using metformin or glibenclamide can achieve similar outcomes to initial management with insulin although 20-40% of women will still eventually require insulin therapy.³⁷⁵⁻³⁷⁷ Metformin crosses the placenta and glibenclamide appears not to. 375, 376

If blood glucose levels are in the range for established diabetes (see section 1.3), intensive specialist management and initial therapy with insulin is required.

Pregnant women with GDM should be offered dietary advice and blood glucose monitoring and be treated with glucose-lowering therapy depending on fasting and postprandial targets.

- \square Glucose-lowering therapy should be considered in addition to diet where fasting or two hour glucose levels are above target, for example, where two or more values per fortnight are:
 - \geq 5.5 mmol/l preprandial or \geq 7 mmol/l two hours postprandial on monitoring at \leq 35 weeks
 - \geq 5.5 mmol/l preprandial or \geq 8 mmol/l two hours postprandial on monitoring at >35 weeks, or
 - any postprandial values are >9 mmol/l.

Metformin or glibenclamide may be considered as initial pharmacological, glucose-B lowering treatment in women with gestational diabetes.

7.9 DELIVERY

National audit data in Scotland indicate that delivery in women with diabetes is generally expedited within 40 weeks gestation.^{311, 312} No clear evidence was identified to inform the optimal timing for delivery. The timing of delivery should be determined on an individual basis.

Women who are at risk of pre-term delivery should receive antenatal corticosteroids.³⁷⁸ If corticosteroids are clinically indicated for pre-term labour, supervision by an experienced team is essential to regulate diabetic control.

Women with diabetes have a higher rate of Caesarean section even after controlling for 2+ confounding factors.379

- \square . Women with diabetes requiring insulin or oral glucose-lowering medication who have pregnancies which are otherwise progressing normally should be assessed at 38 weeks gestation with delivery shortly after, and certainly by 40 weeks.
 - Women with diabetes should be delivered in consultant-led maternity units under the combined care of a physician with an interest in diabetes, obstetrician, and neonatologist.
 - Women with diabetes should have a mutually agreed written plan for insulin management at the time of delivery and immediately after.
 - The progress of labour should be monitored as for other high-risk women, including continuous electronic fetal monitoring.
 - Intravenous insulin and dextrose should be administered as necessary to maintain blood glucose levels between 4 and 7 mmol/l.

7.10 INFANTS OF MOTHERS WITH DIABETES

Labour and delivery should only be undertaken in a maternity unit supported by neonatal intensive care facilities. There is no need for routine admission of the infant to the neonatal unit. There is insufficient evidence on the preferred method of cotside blood glucose measurement in neonates; however, whichever method is used, the glucose value should be confirmed by laboratory measurement. Neonatal hypoglycaemia is defined at blood glucose < 2.6 mmol/l and is associated with adverse short and long term neurodevelopmental outcomes.³⁸⁰

1+

4

3

1 + +

2+

3

2++

Neonatal hypoglycaemia has been associated with adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes and impaired cognitive development.³⁸¹⁻³⁸⁶

A multicentre feeding study in preterm infants found significant hypoglycaemia (<2.6 mmol/l) was associated with reductions in Bayley motor and developmental scores of 13 and 14 points, respectively, at 18 months corrected age. An association between recurrent exposure to hypoglycaemia and a 3.5-fold increase in the incidence of cerebral palsy and developmental delay in infants was also found.³⁸⁴ However, methods of glycaemic monitoring and interventions were not standardised in the study, so caution is required before extrapolating these findings to term infants. Recurrent episodes of blood glucose <2.6 mmol/l in small for gestational age (SGA) pre-term infants were associated with measurable neurodevelopmental deficits, affecting fine motor ability and perceptual performance, that were still apparent at five years of age.³⁸⁵ Repeated episodes of hypoglycaemia have also been shown to produce a reduction in occipito-frontal head circumference (OFC), a surrogate marker of brain growth,³⁸⁷ at twelve, eighteen and sixty months of age.³⁸⁵

Early feeding is advised to avoid neonatal hypoglycaemia and to stimulate lactation.

Glycaemic control at six weeks in women with type 1 diabetes, who exclusively breast fed, has been found to be significantly better than those who bottle fed.³⁸⁸ There are well documented health benefits for infants that are breast fed.

B Breast feeding is recommended for infants of mothers with diabetes, but mothers should be supported in the feeding method of their choice.

Although most medicines are not licensed for use in lactation, specialist reference sources provide information on suitability of medicines in breast feeding.^{325, 389, 390} Insulin, metformin and glibenclamide are considered compatible with breast feeding, although the infant should be observed for signs of hypoglycaemia.^{325, 389, 390} The antihypertensives commonly used in pregnancy: labetalol, nifedipine and methyldopa are found in breast milk in low concentration and these agents are considered appropriate for use in breastfeeding mothers, although with labetalol the infant should be monitored for bradycardia and hypotension.^{325, 389, 390} Of the ACE inhibitors, enalapril and captopril are considered safer.³⁹⁰ There is no information available on angiotensin-II receptor antagonists. Statins are not recommended in breast feeding.^{325, 389} Information on use of aspirin is conflicting with some sources advising low-dose aspirin is safe in breast feeding, ³⁸⁹ while others advise cautious use due to potential for toxicity.³²⁵ Others do not recommend it due to potential risk of Reye's syndrome in the infant although amounts of aspirin in breast milk from antiplatelet doses will be very low.³⁹⁰

Specialist advice should be sought if the baby is premature or unwell.

7.11 POSTNATAL CARE

Women with type 1 or type 2 diabetes may require adjustment of their treatment regimen postnatally. Women with gestational diabetes should be investigated postnatally to clarify the diagnosis and exclude type 1 or type 2 diabetes. The opportunity should also be taken to provide lifestyle advice to reduce the risk of subsequent type 2 diabetes.

- Postnatal follow up should be seen as an opportunity to initiate pre-pregnancy care for any subsequent pregnancy. Appropriate contraception should be provided and the importance of good glycaemic control emphasised.
- Breast feeding should be encouraged to benefit mother and baby but it may necessitate insulin dose adjustment and a dietetic review.

7.12 FOLLOW UP OF WOMEN WITH GDM

A diagnosis of GDM identifies women at increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes in future.

Rates of progression to type 2 diabetes in women with previous GDM vary widely (between 15 and 50% cumulative incidence at five years) and will be influenced by other risk factors such as ethnicity, obesity, and exercise.³⁹¹

2++ 2+

A Cochrane review concluded that diet combined with exercise or diet alone enhances weight loss post-partum.³⁹² Both pharmacological and intensive lifestyle interventions reduce onset of type 2 diabetes in people with impaired glucose tolerance, including women with previous gestational diabetes.⁸⁷

No robust evidence was identified to determine when follow-up testing should be carried out.

C Women who have developed GDM should be given diet, weight control and exercise advice.

Women who have developed GDM should be reminded of the need for pre-conception counselling and appropriate testing to detect progression to type 2 diabetes.

- Where diabetes is not apparent immediately after delivery, glucose tolerance should be reassessed at least six weeks postpartum with a minimum of fasting glucose and with 75 g OGTT if clinically indicated.
 - An annual assessment of glycaemia using fasting glucose or HbA1c should be carried out thereafter.

7.13 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

Pre-pregnancy

C

- Discuss pregnancy planning with women with diabetes of childbearing age at their annual review.
- Advise women with diabetes who are planning pregnancy that they will be referred to a pre-pregnancy multidisciplinary clinic and outline the benefits of multidisciplinary management.
- Provide information on the risks of diabetes to both mother and fetus.
- Explain why a review of glycaemic control is necessary. Suggest that they should aim for HBA1c of <7% (53 mmol/mol) for three months prior to pregnancy.
- Advise that folic acid 5 mg (available on prescription only) should be taken for three months prior to conception and until the end of week 12 of pregnancy.
- Offer lifestyle advice, for example, on stopping smoking, alcohol consumption and exercise.
- Explain about the need for a review with the dietitian.
- Explain that a review of all medication will be necessary when planning a pregnancy and offer advice on which medications may need to be stopped, the reasons behind stopping and what the alternatives are.
- Provide contact telephone numbers.

Pregnancy

- Ensure that the principles of the Keeping Childbirth Natural and Dynamic (KCND) initiative are maintained where possible.
- Advise women with diabetes who are pregnant that they will be referred to a joint diabetes antenatal clinic (where available) and outline the benefits of multidiciplinary management.
- Explain that a review of all medication will be necessary when pregnant and offer advice on which medications may need to be stopped, the reasons behind stopping and the alternatives available.
- Advise women about the risks of hypoglycaemia, how to recognise the warning signs and symptoms and what treatment they may require. Ensure they have a glucagon kit and know how and when to use it.
- Advise that during pregnancy tight glycaemic control is necessary and they will need to monitor their blood glucose more often. Be clear about the targets that need to be achieved.
- Offer advice about sick day rules and planning for periods of illness (even minor) which may cause hyperglycaemia. These may include:
 - what to do with insulin or tablets
 - appropriate food to maintain blood glucose levels
 - how often to measure blood glucose and when to check for ketones
 - when to contact the diabetes team and contact numbers.
- Explain about the need for a review with the dietitian.
- Offer lifestyle advice, for example, on stopping smoking, alcohol consumption and exercise.
- Offer advice on safe driving and ensure that women inform the DVLA and their insurance company if they are starting on insulin.
- Inform women about the risk of retinopathy and advise that they will have retinal screening during each trimester. Explain what screening involves and what treatment to expect if retinopathy is found.
- Provide contact telephone numbers.

8 Management of diabetic cardiovascular disease

8.1 EPIDEMIOLOGY

Morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular disease (CVD) are two to five times higher in patients with diabetes compared with non-diabetics.³⁹³⁻³⁹⁹ Women with diabetes have been shown to have a higher relative risk of death from cardiovascular disease than men, although the absolute risk is lower.^{398, 400, 401} Diabetes is associated with excess mortality, even in areas with high background death rates from cardiovascular disease. This excess mortality is evident in all age groups, most pronounced in young people with type 1 diabetes, and exacerbated by socioeconomic deprivation. The life expectancy of both men and women diagnosed as having type 2 diabetes at age 40 is reduced by eight years relative to people without diabetes.^{402, 403} There is an increased prevalence of cardiovascular disease in South Asian individuals with diabetes.^{398, 399}

8.2 CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTORS

8.2.1 DYSLIPIDAEMIA

Dyslipidaemia is commonly present in patients with type 2 diabetes.⁴⁰⁴ An increased concentration of LDL cholesterol or total cholesterol is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.^{57, 58}

The most common type of dyslipidaemia in type 2 diabetes is the combination of elevated triglycerides, low HDL and small, dense LDL.⁴⁰⁵ A 1 mmol/l reduction of LDL cholesterol represents a 21% reduction in risk of CVD.⁴⁰⁶

Triglycerides are an independent marker of increased risk of cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes.⁴⁰⁷

8.2.2 HYPERTENSION

Hypertension is positively related to risk of CVD death, with a progressive increase in risk with rising systolic pressures.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ Each 10 mm Hg reduction in systolic pressure is associated with a 15% (95% Cl 12 to 18%) reduction in the risk of CVD death over ten years.⁴⁰⁸

8.2.3 HYPERGLYCAEMIA

Increasing glycaemia (measured as HbA1c) was associated with increased risk of CVD morbidity and mortality in observational data from UKPDS.⁵⁸ Each 1% (11 mmol/mol) lower HbA1c was associated with a 21% (95% CI 15 to 27%) lower risk of diabetes-related death and specifically a 14% lower risk of myocardial infarction (MI) over ten years. No lower threshold was demonstrated.⁴⁰⁹ Meta-analyses of RCTs suggest that intensive glycaemic control reduces the risk of cardiovascular disease by approximately 10% compared to standard care (with borderline statistical significance) but does not have a statistically significant effect on all-cause or cardiovascular disease mortality (*SIGN 154 section 3.3*).

2++

8.2.4 OTHER POTENTIAL RISK FACTORS

No studies identifying obesity as an independent risk factor in established diabetes were identified.

In addition to its role in identifying patients at risk of diabetic nephropathy (see section 9), microalbuminuria is an independent marker associated with a doubling in cardiovascular risk.⁴¹⁰ There is insufficient evidence to determine whether reducing albumin excretion rate specifically reduces cardiovascular morbidity or mortality.

8.3 PRIMARY PREVENTION OF CORONARY HEART DISEASE

Risk estimation and the prevention of CVD is discussed fully in SIGN 97.72

8.3.1 LIFESTYLE MODIFICATION

Lifestyle modification, as discussed in section 3, is recommended to reduce cardiovascular risk factors.

8.3.2 PHARMACOLOGICAL THERAPY

Glucose-lowering

For recommendations on glucose-lowering therapy for reducing cardiovascular risk in people with type 2 diabetes see SIGN 154.

Antihypertensive therapy

Blood pressure (BP) lowering in people with diabetes reduces the risk of macrovascular and microvascular disease.^{6, 408, 409}

A Hypertension in people with diabetes should be treated aggressively with lifestyle modification and drug therapy.

The lowering of blood pressure to 80 mm Hg diastolic is of benefit in people with diabetes. In the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) study, the lowest incidence of major cardiovascular events in all patients occurred at a mean achieved diastolic blood pressure of 82.6 mm Hg and further reduction below this blood pressure was safe in patients with diabetes. There was a 51% reduction in major cardiovascular events in the BP target group \leq 80 mm Hg compared with the target group \leq 90 mm Hg (p=0.005).⁴¹¹

A Target diastolic blood pressure in people with diabetes is ≤ 80 mm Hg.

In the HOT study, although diastolic BP was accurately measured, systolic BP was consistently underestimated. The reported achieved systolic BP of 139.7 mm Hg in patients with a diastolic target of \leq 80 mm Hg is likely to have been closer to 146 mm Hg.⁴¹² In the UKPDS, the achieved systolic BP of 144 mm Hg in patients allocated to 'tight control' was observed when aiming for a systolic BP of <150 mm Hg. The long term follow up of these patients emphasised the need for maintenance of good blood pressure control.²⁴⁵ In an epidemiological analysis, lowest risk was observed in those with a systolic BP <120 mm Hg.⁴⁰⁸

SIGN 97 recommends that the target systolic blood pressure for patients with diabetes should be < 130 mm Hg.⁷²

4

1++

Target systolic blood pressure in people with diabetes is < 130 mm Hg.

When starting antihypertensive treatment, calcium channel blockers, diuretics and ACE inhibitors are equally effective. There was no significant difference in outcome among the three treatment groups in the Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT).⁴¹³ A subgroup analysis of ALLHAT found an increase in heart failure in the patient group treated with alpha blocker as first line compared to a diuretic although this may simply reflect an increase in ankle swelling prevalence (RR of heart failure in patients with diabetes 1.85, 95% Cl 1.05 to 2.55).⁴¹³

The Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial (ASCOT) found that amlodipine (a calcium channel blocker) based treatment (with an ACE inhibitor as an add-on treatment) reduced the incidence of total cardiovascular events and procedures compared with an atenolol (beta blocker) regimen (with a thiazide diuretic as an add-on treatment) (HR 0.86, CI 0.76 to 0.98, p = 0.026).⁴¹⁴ This study is also included in a meta-analysis of eight trials comparing beta blockers and other antihypertensive agents on cardiovascular outcomes which showed increased CV mortality in those treated with beta blockers in comparison with those treated with renin-angiotensin blockade agents.⁴¹⁵

There is evidence from two studies for the use of a combination of ACE inhibitor and diuretic. Compared to placebo, ACE inhibitor and diuretic in one study reduced blood pressure (5.6/2.2 mm Hg) and the relative risks of all deaths, cardiovascular deaths and major vascular events by 14% (p=0.025), 18% (p=0.027) and 9% (p=0.041) respectively, no matter the initial BP level.⁴¹⁶ A second study found that ACE inhibitor and diuretic reduced BP by 9.5/4.6 mm Hg compared to placebo. The reduction in risk of further stroke for those with diabetes was 38% (95% CI 8 to 58%) equivalent to one stroke avoided for every 16 patients treated for five years.⁴¹⁷

Angiotensin-II receptor blockers (ARBs) are equally effective alternative antihypertensive agents in patients with ACE inhibitor-induced cough or rash.⁴¹⁸ They also have similar renal benefits in patients with microalbuminuria.⁴¹⁹

The British Hypertension Society A/CD algorithm has been accepted as the best method of defining combination drug therapy. It specifies the use of ACE inhibitors (or ARBs if intolerant), calcium channel blockers and thiazide-type diuretics. The A/CD algorithm can be found in SIGN 97: Risk estimation and the prevention of cardiovascular disease.⁷²

A Patients with diabetes requiring antihypertensive treatment should be commenced on:

- an ACE inhibitor (ARB if ACE inhibitor intolerant), or
- a calcium channel blocker, or
- a thiazide diuretic.

A Beta blockers and alpha blockers should not normally be used in the initial management of blood pressure in patients with diabetes.

An algorithm such as the A/CD should be followed, unless there is a specific indication that a particular specific class be used first (eg ACE inhibitor or ARB in those < 55 years or with nephropathy, beta blockers in ischaemic heart disease). The expectation should be that most patients end up on more than one agent.

Antiplatelet therapy

The role of aspirin in primary prevention remains uncertain. In the HOT study 75 mg of aspirin further reduced 'major cardiovascular events' in well controlled hypertensive patients with diabetes (HR 0.85, p = 0.03).⁴¹¹ In this study non-fatal major bleeds were significantly more frequent among patients receiving aspirin (HR 1.8, p < 0.001).

In a Scottish population, there was no significant reduction in cardiovascular outcomes (HR 0.98, p=0.86) using 100 mg of aspirin compared to placebo.⁴²⁰ In a Japanese population, 81-100 mg of aspirin did not significantly reduce the primary outcome of cardiovascular disease (HR 0.80, p=0.16) in an open labelled study.⁴²¹

Further studies are underway.422,423

A meta-analysis of six RCTs (10,117 patients) found no statistically significant reduction in the risk of major cardiovascular events or all-cause mortality when aspirin was compared to placebo or no aspirin in people with diabetes and no pre-existing cardiovascular disease. Aspirin significantly reduced the risk of myocardial infarction in men (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.34 to 0.94) but not in women (RR 1.08, 95% CI 0.71 to 1.65; p for interaction = 0.056). Evidence relating to harms was inconsistent.⁴²⁴

Low-dose aspirin is not recommended for primary prevention of vascular disease in patients with diabetes.

1++

1++

1+

1 + +

72

Lipid lowering

A

Three large RCTs (CARDS, ASCOT, HPS) examined the effects of statins versus placebo in people with diabetes and no existing cardiovascular disease.⁴²⁵⁻⁴²⁷ The patients were male and female aged 40-80 years, with a small ethnic group, with baseline hypertension or other additional cardiovascular risk factors. One study (Collaborative Atorvastatin Diabetes Study, CARDS) included only patients with type 2 diabetes.⁴²⁵ A small number of people with type 1 diabetes were included in another study (Heart Protection Study, HPS).⁴²⁷ Statin therapy (atorvastatin 10 mg or simvastatin 40 mg) significantly reduced cardiovascular events comprising stroke, acute coronary events and coronary revascularisations (percutaneous coronary intervention, PCI, and coronary artery bypass grafting, CABG).

The reduction of events in patients with type 1 diabetes did not differ from patients with type 2 diabetes but did not reach individual statistical significance. Reduction in cardiovascular events was seen regardless of baseline cholesterol concentrations. People with diabetes experienced no more side effects from statins compared to people without diabetes.⁴²⁷

1+

1+

Lipid-lowering drug therapy with simvastatin 40 mg or atorvastatin 10 mg is recommended for primary prevention in patients with type 2 diabetes aged >40 years regardless of baseline cholesterol.

- **B** Lipid-lowering drug therapy with simvastatin 40 mg should be considered for primary prevention in patients with type 1 diabetes aged >40 years.
- Patients under 40 years with type 1 or type 2 diabetes and other important risk factors, eg microalbuminuria, should be considered for primary prevention lipid-lowering drug therapy with simvastatin 40 mg.

8.4 MANAGEMENT OF PATIENTS WITH DIABETES AND ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES

SIGN 93 covers the management of acute coronary syndromes in the general population.⁴²⁸ Some evidence statements and recommendation from SIGN 93 have been reproduced here.

Unless covered specifically in the following sections, the principles of management are as for patients without diabetes.

Acute coronary syndromes are a common cause of death in people with diabetes. However, the case fatality from myocardial infarction is double that of the non-diabetic population.⁴²⁹

8.4.1 GLYCAEMIC CONTROL

Elevated blood glucose at hospital admission is a strong independent risk marker for patients with myocardial infarction.⁴³⁰ There have been two major RCTs investigating the effects of insulin and glucose infusion in diabetic patients with acute myocardial infarction. In the Diabetes Mellitus Insulin-Glucose Infusion in Acute Myocardial Infarction (DIGAMI) trial (n = 620), intensive metabolic control using insulin and glucose infusion in patients with diabetes mellitus or a blood glucose >11.0 mmol/l conferred a marked mortality benefit at one year (18.6% v 26.1%).⁴³¹ The subsequent DIGAMI 2 trial (n = 1,253) investigated whether long term insulin therapy should be considered in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and acute myocardial infarction. It demonstrated that long term insulin was of no additional benefit, although there was extensive use of insulin at discharge in all treatment groups making interpretation difficult. For patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, insulin is not required beyond the first 24 hours unless clinically required for the management of their diabetes.⁴³²



Patients with clinical myocardial infarction and diabetes mellitus or marked hyperglycaemia (> 11.0 mmol/l) should have immediate intensive blood glucose control. This should be continued for at least 24 hours.

8.4.2 PRIMARY CORONARY ANGIOPLASTY

Subgroup analysis has shown that primary angioplasty is equally successful in patients with and without diabetes, and may be more effective than thrombolytic therapy in patients with diabetes either with or without acute myocardial infarction.^{433, 434}

A comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis of RCT data showed that primary percutaneous coronary intervention is superior to thrombolysis for the treatment of patients with ST elevation acute coronary syndrome.^{435, 436} When compared with thrombolysis, primary PCI reduced short and long term mortality, stroke, re-infarction, recurrent ischaemia and the need for CABG surgery as well as the combined end point of death or non-fatal re-infarction. This benefit was consistent across all patient subgroups and was independent of the thrombolytic agent used. The greatest benefit was seen in those patients treated within 12 hours of symptom onset.^{435, 436}



Patients with an ST elevation acute coronary syndrome should be treated immediately with primary percutaneous coronary intervention.

8.4.3 THROMBOLYSIS

Thrombolytic therapy has been shown to reduce mortality after acute MI in patients with diabetes by up to 42%, with no increase in risk of bleeding or stroke. It should not be withheld due to concern about retinal haemorrhage in patients with retinopathy, and the indications and contraindications for thrombolysis in patients with diabetes are the same as in non-diabetic patients.⁴³⁷

Compared with primary PCI, the benefit of thrombolysis on six month mortality is more time dependent and is associated with a lesser degree of myocardial salvage at all time points.^{438, 439} Evidence is lacking regarding the precise acceptable delay of primary PCI over thrombolysis. Considered expert opinion suggests that when primary PCI cannot be performed within 90 minutes of diagnosis, thrombolytic therapy should be administered.^{440, 441} This is based upon the assumptions that there is a 30 minute delay to the administration of thrombolysis and that the superiority of primary PCI is most clear when the time difference between administration of thrombolysis and balloon inflation is \leq 60 minutes.



When primary percutaneous coronary intervention cannot be provided within 90 minutes of diagnosis, patients with an ST elevation acute coronary syndrome should receive immediate thrombolytic therapy.

8.4.4 ANTIPLATELET THERAPY

Meta-analysis of platelet inhibitor therapy has demonstrated a 31% reduction in non-fatal re-infarction, a 42% reduction in non-fatal stroke and a 13% reduction in cardiovascular mortality.⁴⁴²

A Aspirin (75 mg per day) should be given routinely and continued long term in patients with diabetes and coronary heart disease.

In the Clopidogrel in Unstable Angina to Prevent Recurrent Events (CURE) trial, clopidogrel (75 mg daily) was administered for between three and 12 months (median nine months) after non-ST elevation acute coronary syndrome.⁴⁴³ Although the study was not powered to assess temporal effects, the clinical benefits were predominantly seen in the first three months of therapy.⁴⁴⁴ There were no differences in clinical outcome beyond three months,⁴⁴⁴ although bleeding risks with clopidogrel were consistently higher.⁴⁴⁵ Clopidogrel therapy reduced the primary composite end point of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction or stroke but this was principally driven by a reduction in recurrent non-fatal myocardial infarction. There was no demonstrable effect on mortality.

2+

1++

1+

The CURE trial specifically targeted recruiting centres with no routine policy for the early use of invasive procedures. Since this trial, routine clinical practice has moved to the more widespread invasive investigation of all medium-to-high risk patients to reduce the incidence of recurrent myocardial infarction. The benefits of clopidogrel therapy are likely to be overestimated in the modern era of interventional practice.

In the Clopidogrel for High Atherothrombotic Risk and Ischemic Stabilization, Management and Avoidance (CHARISMA) trial, long term combination aspirin and clopidogrel therapy (median follow up 28 months) demonstrated no additional benefit in comparison to aspirin alone.⁴⁴⁶ There appeared to be a modest benefit in the subgroup of patients with clinically evident atherosclerotic disease that included approximately 30% of patients with a history of myocardial infarction within the previous five years. The magnitude of this apparent benefit was similar to that seen in the CURE trial beyond three months from the index event.

In the Clopidogrel and Metoprolol in Myocardial Infarction Trial/Second Chinese Cardiac Study (COMMIT/CCS-2), clopidogrel or placebo was administered with aspirin for up to four weeks (median 16 days) after ST elevation acute coronary syndrome.⁴⁴⁷ Patients prescribed clopidogrel had a reduced relative risk of death, re-infarction, or stroke compared with controls (OR 0.91, 95% Cl 0.86 to 0.97, p = 0.002).



In addition to long term aspirin, clopidogrel therapy should be continued for three months in patients with non-ST elevation acute coronary syndromes.



In addition to long term aspirin, clopidogrel therapy should be continued for up to four weeks in patients with ST elevation acute coronary syndromes.

8.4.5 BETA BLOCKERS

Diabetes is not a contraindication to use of beta blockers, which reduce mortality, sudden cardiac death and re-infarction when given after acute myocardial infarction.⁴⁴⁸

A meta-analysis of 25 RCTs involving over 20,000 patients on long term beta blocker therapy after myocardial infarction showed a 23% relative risk reduction in total mortality and a 32% relative risk reduction in sudden death.⁴⁴⁹ The Carvedilol Post-Infarct Survival Control in Left Ventricular Dysfunction (CAPRICORN) trial (n = 1,959) in patients with low ejection fraction (<0.40) following myocardial infarction showed that delayed (3 to 14 days) and cautious uptitration (over 4 to 6 weeks post-infarction) of carvedilol resulted in a 3% absolute risk reduction (RR reduction 23%) in all-cause mortality compared with placebo. Although immediate beta blocker therapy should be avoided in patients with acute pulmonary oedema and acute left ventricular failure, subsequent cautious introduction of beta blockade is associated with major benefits.⁴⁵⁰

Patients with clinical myocardial infarction should be maintained on long term beta blocker therapy.

8.4.6 BLOCKERS OF THE RENIN ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM

The major morbidity and mortality benefits of ACE inhibitor therapy have been widely established in patients with heart failure or with left ventricular dysfunction following myocardial infarction.^{451, 452}

Meta-analysis of almost 100,000 patients receiving therapy with a converting enzyme inhibitor within 36 hours of acute myocardial infarction and continued for at least four weeks, confirmed that ACE inhibitors reduced mortality and that most of the benefits appeared to occur during the first few days, when mortality was highest. Patients at higher risk appeared to obtain a greater absolute benefit.⁴⁵³



Patients with clinical myocardial infarction should be commenced on long term ACE inhibitor therapy within the first 36 hours.

1 + +

1++

1+

1++

8.4.7 LIPID LOWERING

Statin therapy in people with diabetes appears to be associated with a statistically significant reduction in the relative risk of various clinical end points including all-cause mortality and fatal and non-fatal MI.⁴⁵⁴

A small number of RCTs which compared low-dose versus high-dose statins produced subgroup analyses of patients with diabetes. None of these studies adopted a treat to target approach. In the Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy (PROVE-IT) study atorvastatin 80 mg was compared with pravastatin 40 mg in patients who had been admitted with acute coronary syndromes.^{455, 456} In people with diabetes the use of atorvastatin 80 mg was associated with a significant reduction in a triple end point of death, MI and unstable angina.⁴⁵⁷ In the Treating to New Targets (TNT) study atorvastatin 80 mg was compared with previous myocardial infarction, objective evidence of coronary heart disease or previous coronary revascularisation procedures.^{458, 459} In people with diabetes the use of atorvastatin 80 mg was associated with a significant reduction in CHD death, MI, cardiac arrest or stroke; p = 0.026).⁴⁶⁰ A marked reduction in cardiovascular events was particularly demonstrated in diabetic patients with CKD.⁴⁶¹ The main side effect in both studies was an increase in abnormalities of liver function tests.

A Intensive lipid-lowering therapy with atorvastatin 80 mg should be considered for patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes, objective evidence of coronary heart disease on angiography or following coronary revascularisation procedures.

Two large RCTs of fibrate use in patients with known coronary heart disease were identified.^{462,463} In the Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Intervention Trial (VA-HIT) 2,531 patients with diabetes were randomised to gemfibrozil or placebo.⁴⁶² Gemfibrozil reduced the primary end point of non-fatal MI or cardiovascular death (RR reduction 22%, AR reduction 4.4%, p=0.006). Stroke and transient ischaemic attack were reduced by 31% and 59% respectively (p<0.001). Patients were not on baseline standard statin therapy. The Fenofibrate Intervention and Event Lowering in Diabetes (FIELD) study randomised 9,795 patients with diabetes to fenofibrate or placebo.⁴⁶³ The primary end point of coronary events was not reduced. A prespecified outcome measure of total cardiovascular events was reduced (RR reduction 11%, AR reduction 1%, p=0.035). Patients were not on baseline standard statin therapy.

Whether or not fibrates improve cardiovascular outcome in patients without cardiac disease has been addressed by one RCT of 4,081 patients with diabetes randomised to gemfibrozil or placebo.⁴⁶⁴ The incidence of fatal and non-fatal infarction and cardiac death was reduced (RR reduction 34%, AR reduction 1.4%, p<0.02). Patients were not on baseline standard statin therapy.

There is insufficient evidence to recommend fibrates, ezetimibe or nicotinic acid for the primary or secondary prevention of cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 1 or 2 diabetes treated with statins.

Fibrate treatment can be considered in patients who are intolerant of statins.

8.5 MANAGEMENT OF PATIENTS WITH DIABETES AND HEART FAILURE

The management of chronic heart failure is discussed fully in SIGN 95.⁴⁶⁵ Some evidence statements and recommendations from SIGN 95 have been reproduced here.

Unless covered specifically in the following sections, the principles of management are as for patients without diabetes.

8.5.1 GLYCAEMIC CONTROL

Metformin

A meta-analysis addressing whether or not metformin increased or decreased mortality found no RCTs comparing metformin to placebo in patients with heart failure and diabetes.²⁵² In the observational studies identified, metformin is associated with a reduction in all-cause mortality (OR 0.85; CI 0.76 to 0.95; p = 0.004).²⁵² Metformin has been associated with a reduction in readmission due to heart failure in observational studies.²⁵² Metformin is no longer contraindicated in patients with heart failure and diabetes.

No evidence was identified on the effect of metformin on hospitalisation due to stroke or myocardial infarction.

Sulphonylureas

A meta-analysis addressing whether or not sulphonylureas increase or reduce mortality in patients with heart failure and diabetes found too little data to draw a conclusion. No studies were identified on the effect of sulphonylureas on death or hospitalisation due to heart failure, MI or stroke.²⁵²

Insulin

A meta-analysis addressing whether insulin increased or decreased mortality found no RCTs comparing insulin to placebo in patients with heart failure and diabetes.²⁵² In three included observational studies, insulin was associated with an increased mortality when compared to different hypoglycaemic agents, while in one study it was not.

No studies addressing whether or not insulin increases or decreases hospitalisation due to heart failure, myocardial infarction or stroke were identified.

Thiazolidinediones

Two meta-analyses addressed whether or not TZDs increase or reduce total mortality or hospitalisation due to heart failure in patients with diabetes and HF.^{252, 266} Only one small RCT (n = 224) of patients with NYHA class I or II was included in the meta-analyses. This did not show a significant increase in heart failure hospitalisation. In observational studies TZDs are associated with increased hospitalisation and readmission due to heart failure.²⁵² These observational studies have different comparators. There is insufficient evidence from these observational studies and single RCT to conclude whether TZDs increase or decrease mortality.^{252, 266} TZDs are contraindicated in patients with NYHA III or IV heart failure.^{252, 266}

Other agents

No evidence was identified to address whether or not acarbose, DPP-4 inhibitors or GLP-1 analogues increase or reduce death or hospitalisation due to heart failure, MI or stroke in patients with diabetes mellitus and chronic heart failure.

8.5.2 BLOCKERS OF THE RENIN ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM

In the large Studies of Left Ventricular Dysfunction (SOLVD), the absolute risk reduction for mortality in patients with diabetes with chronic heart failure was 4.5% over a mean follow up of 4.5 years. The much smaller CONSENSUS-1 study showed more dramatic reductions in mortality.^{466, 467}

ACE inhibitors were first shown to be effective in heart failure in the 1980s. Since then, many RCTs have confirmed their benefit on mortality and morbidity, in patients with chronic heart failure,^{466, 467} left ventricular diastolic dysfunction (LVSD), heart failure or both after MI,^{468,470} and in patients with asymptomatic LVSD.⁴⁷¹

1++

1+

1++

2++

1 + +

1++

Meta-analysis of these and other major trials (n = 7,105 patients) has shown that in patients with chronic heart failure, treatment with an ACE inhibitor reduces relative risk of mortality by 23% (OR 0.77, 95% Cl 67 to 88; absolute risk reduction ARR 6.1%) and admission for heart failure is reduced by 35% (95% Cl 26 to 43%; ARR 10.2%).⁴⁷² In a further meta-analysis in patients with LVSD, heart failure or both after MI, relative risk of mortality was reduced by 26% (95% Cl 17 to 34%; ARR 5.7%) and hospital admission by 27% (95% Cl 15 to 37%; AR reduction 3.6%).⁴⁷³



Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors should be considered in patients with all NYHA functional classes of heart failure due to left ventricular systolic dysfunction.

8.5.3 BETA BLOCKERS

Many RCTs have been undertaken with beta blockers in patients with heart failure. In the Cardiac Insufficiency Bisoprolol Study II (CIBIS II),⁴⁷⁴ MEtoprolol CR/XL Randomized Intervention Trial in Congestive Heart Failure (MERIT-HF),⁴⁷⁵ and Carvedilol Prospective Randomized Cumulative Survival (COPERNICUS)⁴⁷⁶ trials a consistent, approximately one third reduction in total mortality was seen with bisoprolol, extended release metoprolol succinate and carvedilol. In the Study of the Effects of Nebivolol Intervention on Outcomes and Rehospitalisation in Seniors with heart failure (SENIORS) trial, nebivolol significantly reduced a composite outcome of death or cardiovascular hospitalisations in elderly heart failure patients.⁴⁷⁷

There is consistent evidence for positive benefits from beta blockers in patients with heart failure, with risk of mortality from cardiovascular causes reduced by 29% (95% Cl 14% to 42%); mortality due to pump failure reduced by 36% (95% Cl 9% to 55%); and all-cause mortality reduced by 23% (95% Cl 8% to 35%).⁴⁷⁸

Benefits were seen with beta blockers with different pharmacological properties, whether β1 selective (bisoprolol, metoprolol, nebivolol) or non-selective (carvedilol).

Two formulations of metoprolol were used in clinical trials of patients with chronic heart failure. Only long-acting metoprolol succinate has been shown to perform better than placebo in reducing mortality.⁴⁷⁵ Short-acting metoprolol tartrate, given twice daily, was compared to carvedilol in Carvedilol or Metoprolol European Trial (COMET).⁴⁷⁹ Carvedilol reduced mortality over five years by 17% compared with metoprolol tartrate (33.8% v 39.5%), (HR 0.83, 95% Cl 0.74 to 0.93, ARR 5.7%, p=0.0017).

Beta blockers produce benefit in the medium to long term. In the short term they can produce decompensation with worsening of heart failure and hypotension. They should be initiated at low dose and only gradually increased with monitoring up to the target dose. Beta blockers are contraindicated in patients with asthma, second or third degree atrioventricular heart block or symptomatic hypotension and should be used with caution in those with low initial blood pressure (ie systolic BP < 90 mm Hg). There is some evidence that cardioselective beta blockers can be used safely in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart failure.⁴⁸⁰

A meta-analysis confirms that beta blockers also reduce mortality in diabetic patients with heart failure (RR 0.84, 95% Cl 0.73% to 0.96%, p=0.011).⁴⁸¹

A All patients with heart failure due to left ventricular systolic dysfunction of all NYHA functional classes should be started on beta blocker therapy as soon as their condition is stable (unless contraindicated by a history of asthma, heart block or symptomatic hypotension).

1++

1 + +

1+

8.6 MANAGEMENT OF PATIENTS WITH DIABETES AND STABLE ANGINA

The management of stable angina is discussed fully in SIGN 96.⁴⁸² Some evidence statements and recommendations from SIGN 96 have been reproduced here.

Unless covered specifically in the following sections, the principles of management are as for patients without diabetes.

Patients with angina due to CHD are at risk of cardiovascular events and are eligible for secondary preventative treatments to lower their risk of CVD. These interventions are considered in more detail in SIGN guideline 97 on risk estimation and the prevention of cardiovascular disease.⁷²

8.6.1 ANTIPLATELET THERAPY

Evidence from 287 studies involving a total of 135,000 patients with cardiovascular disease including stable angina has shown that antiplatelet therapy, mainly with aspirin, given in a dose ranging from 75 to 150 mg daily led to a significant reduction in serious vascular events, non-fatal myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke and vascular mortality.⁴⁴²

Enteric-coated products do not prevent the major gastrointestinal complications of aspirin therapy and are significantly more expensive than the standard dispersible formulation.⁴⁸³⁻⁴⁸⁵

8.6.2 LIPID LOWERING WITH STATINS

A meta-analysis of data from 14 randomised trials of statins involving 90,056 patients including patients with stable angina has shown the overall benefit of statin therapy. There was a significant reduction in all-cause and coronary mortality, myocardial infarction, the need for coronary revascularisation and fatal or non-fatal stroke.⁴⁸⁶



All patients with stable angina due to atherosclerotic disease should receive long term standard aspirin and statin therapy.

8.6.3 BLOCKERS OF THE RENIN ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM

The HOPE study involved 9,297 high-risk patients with vascular disease or diabetes plus one other cardiovascular risk factor without history of heart failure or left ventricular dysfunction.⁴⁸⁷ The combined primary outcome was myocardial infarction, stroke, or cardiovascular death. Ramipril lowered the risk of the combined primary outcome by 25%, myocardial infarction by 22%, stroke by 33%, cardiovascular death by 37%, and total mortality by 24%. After adjustment for the changes in systolic (2.4 mm Hg) and diastolic (1.0 mm Hg) blood pressures, ramipril still lowered the risk of the combined primary outcome by 25% (95% Cl 12 to 36%, p=0.0004).

The use of perindopril in the European trial on Reduction Of cardiac events with Perindopril in stable coronary Artery disease (EUROPA) study involving 13,655 patients with stable coronary disease and no clinical evidence of heart failure reduced the risk of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction or cardiac arrest.⁴⁸⁸ This significant reduction in cardiovascular events is mainly due to the reduction in the incidence of non-fatal myocardial infarction. Unlike the HOPE study, the effect on all-cause mortality did not reach a statistically significant level. Subgroup analysis of the trial showed that benefit from perindopril is mainly in patients with a history of myocardial infarction.

Two other trials of ACE inhibitors did not show any benefit in patients with stable coronary heart disease. The Prevention of Events with Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibition (PEACE) trial of trandolopril in 8,290 patients with no history of clinical heart failure or echocardiographic evidence of left ventricular systolic dysfunction did not reveal any benefit on cardiovascular events although the event rate was unexpectedly low.⁴⁸⁹ The study population in this trial was of lower risk and received more intensive treatment of risk factors than did those in the HOPE and EUROPA trials.

A smaller trial (Quinapril Ischemic Event Trial, QUIET) of 1,750 patients with coronary heart disease and normal left ventricular function found that the ACE inhibitor quinapril did not significantly affect clinical outcomes or the progression of coronary atherosclerosis.⁴⁹⁰ All patients recruited to this trial had undergone successful coronary angioplasty involving the revascularisation of at least one coronary artery.

1 + +

1 + +

1 + +

1⁺⁺ 2⁺⁺ A meta-analysis of six randomised trials, including 33,500 patients with coronary artery disease and preserved left ventricular systolic function showed that ACE inhibitors significantly reduced cardiovascular (RR 0.83, Cl 0.72 to 0.96; ARR 0.86%, p = 0.01) and all-cause mortality (RR 0.87, Cl 0.81 to 0.94; ARR 1.06%, p = 0.0003).⁴⁹¹

When the findings of the HOPE, EUROPA, and PEACE trials were combined in a meta-analysis of 29,805 patients, ACE inhibitors significantly reduced all-cause mortality (7.8 v 8.9%, p = 0.0004), cardiovascular mortality (4.3 v 5.2%, p = 0.0002), non-fatal myocardial infarction (5.3 v 6.4%, p = 0.0001) and all stroke (2.2 v 2.8%, p = 0.0004).⁴⁹² Although PEACE and QUIET, which did not show a benefit of ACE inhibitors among their populations, both recruited patients at apparently lower CVD risk, the PEACE trial was underpowered rather than affected by low cardiovascular event rates in the study population.

Patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction (LVSD) or heart failure are at higher risk than those included in HOPE, EUROPA or PEACE and will gain relatively more benefit from ACE inhibitor therapy.⁴⁹² Systematic reviews in patients with chronic heart failure or LVSD indicate absolute risk reductions ranging from 3.8 to 6%.^{452,472} All patients with stable vascular disease are likely to derive some benefit from these drugs, to a degree approximately proportional to the level of baseline risk.

A

All patients with stable angina should be considered for treatment with ACE inhibitors.

Other than a significant reduction in stroke events with losartan in patients with left ventricular hypertrophy,⁴⁹³ studies of angiotensin II receptor blockers have failed to show cardiovascular benefit on their own,⁴⁹⁴⁻⁴⁹⁶ or in combination with an ACE inhibitor.⁴⁹⁷

8.6.4 CORONARY REVASCULARISATION

Patients with diabetes are at increased risk of complications during revascularisation procedures. There is an increased risk of mortality following both coronary bypass surgery and angioplasty; and there is a substantially increased risk of re-stenosis following angioplasty in diabetic patients, partly ameliorated by the use of coronary stents. Much of this increased risk is due to confounding associations, for example female sex, diffuse coronary disease, impaired left ventricular function and renal impairment, rather than the diabetic state itself. Indications for coronary angiography in patients with diabetes with symptomatic coronary disease are similar to those in non-diabetics, recognising the increased risk associated with revascularisation procedures.

Recommendations on revascularisation in the general population are given in SIGN guideline 96 on the management of stable angina.⁴⁸²

The Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation (BARI) trial suggested that amongst patients with diabetes, CABG using internal mammary arteries was associated with a better survival rate than percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA) although this trial was conducted before the advent of the routine use of stenting.⁴⁹⁸ However, the more recent Emory Angioplasty vs Surgery Trial (EAST) reached similar conclusions.⁴⁹⁹ The American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force recommend CABG over PTCA in patients with multivessel disease.⁵⁰⁰

B For patients with diabetes and multivessel disease, CABG with use of the internal mammary arteries is preferred over PTCA.

Stenting improves the outcome after angioplasty.⁵⁰¹ Platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor antagonists (eg abciximab) also reduce mortality after angioplasty with or without stenting in patients with diabetes.⁵⁰²⁻⁵⁰⁵



Patients with diabetes undergoing angioplasty should be treated with stents where feasible, and receive adjunctive therapy with a platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor antagonist.

1++

1+

4
Three large meta-analyses and two smaller meta-analyses compared drug-eluting stents (DES) and bare metal stents (BMS) for revascularisation in patients with diabetes.⁵⁰⁶⁻⁵¹⁰ Two further meta-analyses compared paclitaxel- and sirolimus-eluting stents (PES and SES) in patients with diabetes.^{511, 512} DES reduces in-stent re-stenosis and target lesion revascularisation when compared to BMS. No consistent effect on MI or death was demonstrated. No difference in outcome was demonstrated when patients with diabetes were treated with SES compared to PES.

There are few data comparing newer generation DES with PES and SES in patients with diabetes. Most of the studies included in the meta-analyses concern revascularisation of patients with diabetes and chronic stable coronary heart disease and non-ST elevation myocardial infarction.⁵⁰⁶⁻⁵¹⁰ There are limited data on patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction or saphenous vein grafts.



In patients with diabetes, DES are recommended as opposed to BMS in stable coronary heart disease or non-ST elevation myocardial infarction to reduce in-stent re-stenosis and target lesion revascularisation.

8.7 MANAGEMENT OF ACUTE STROKE

The incidence of stroke in patients with diabetes is high, and the mortality following stroke is increased compared to non-diabetic patients. There is little evidence specific to people with diabetes (see the SIGN guideline on management of acute stroke, SIGN 108).⁵¹³ Management of stroke is similar to that in non-diabetic patients. Routine glucose control should be maintained. Rehydration and intravenous insulin may also be required.

8.8 PERIPHERAL ARTERIAL DISEASE

The most common complications of peripheral arterial disease are lower limb ischaemia, gangrene and amputation. For guidance on management of peripheral arterial disease see SIGN 89.⁵¹⁴

8.9 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

Primary Prevention

Patients with diabetes who have no CVD but have one or more risk factor (see section 8.2) should be advised how this will affect the likelihood of their developing CVD.

Patients should be given information to help them recognise the following risk factors:

- smoking
- dyslipidaemia
- hypertension
- hyperglycaemia
- central obesity

and a plan made to help them reduce those which affect them.

- Certain risk factors can be lessened with changes to lifestyle and patients should be given all possible support by trained staff to enable them to stop smoking, improve diet and/or increase their physical activity level.
- Medication as well as lifestyle modification may be necessary. Patients should be advised that success will depend upon their agreeing to follow the prescribed treatment to lower their risk of CVD. They should also be made aware of any potential side effects of drugs.

1++

1++

Secondary treatment

- Patients with diabetes and new or established CVD should be offered treatment similar to all others with heart disease. The additional factor to be considered is to obtain and maintain good glycaemic control.
- Patients should be encouraged to take advantage of all cardiac rehabilitation programmes offered.
- If aspirin is prescribed, reassurance may be necessary that it is still an appropriate treatment for people who have established vascular disease.

9 Management of kidney disease in diabetes

This section of the guideline focuses on the detection, prevention, and management of kidney disease in people with diabetes. More detailed guidance on the investigation and management of chronic kidney disease may be found in SIGN 103, Diagnosis and management of chronic kidney disease.⁵¹⁵ The management of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and renal replacement therapy (RRT) are not considered in this guideline.

9.1 **DEFINITIONS**

Diabetic kidney disease is usually classified, on the basis of the extent of urine protein excretion, as either microalbuminuria or nephropathy.

Microalbuminuria is defined by a rise in urinary albumin loss to between 30 and 300 mg day. Timed urine collections may be inaccurate and therefore a urinary albumin/creatinine ratio (ACR) > 2.5 mg/mmol in men and > 3.5 mg/mmol in women is often used to define microalbuminuria. This is the earliest sign of diabetic kidney disease and predicts increased total mortality, cardiovascular mortality and morbidity, and end-stage renal failure.

Diabetic nephropathy is defined by a raised urinary albumin excretion of > 300 mg/day (indicating clinical proteinuria) in a patient with or without a raised serum creatinine level. An ACR > 30 mg/mmol in a spot urine sample is consistent with a diagnosis of diabetic nephropathy, providing other causes have been excluded. This represents a more severe and established form of renal disease and is more predictive of total mortality, cardiovascular mortality and morbidity and end-stage renal failure than microalbuminuria.

The presence of retinopathy has often been taken as a prerequisite for making a diagnosis of diabetic nephropathy, but nephropathy can occur in the absence of retinopathy. In a Danish study of 93 people with type 2 diabetes, persistent albuminuria and no retinopathy, 69% had diabetic nephropathy, 12% had glomerulonephritis and 18% had normal glomerular structure.⁵¹⁶

Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) is defined as the volume of plasma which is filtered by the glomeruli per unit time and is usually measured by estimating the rate of clearance of a substance from the plasma. Glomerular filtration rate varies with body size and conventionally is corrected to a body surface area (BSA) of 1.73 m², the average BSA of a population of young men and women studied in the mid-1920s.⁵¹⁷

The majority of the evidence considered in this section of the guideline relates to people who are presumed to have diabetic kidney disease, ie they have diabetes and some level of proteinuria, with or without a reduced GFR. In most individuals this diagnosis is made clinically, as biopsy may not alter management. Classic diabetic kidney disease is characterised by specific glomerular pathology. It is important to note that there are other reasons why an individual with diabetes may develop proteinuria and/or a declining GFR, notably hypertensive nephropathy and renovascular disease. In many individuals, kidney disease will be due to a combination of one or more of these factors, and people with diabetes may develop kidney disease for other reasons not related to diabetes.

With the advent of reporting of estimated GFR, there are increasing numbers of people being identified with a sustained low GFR. These individuals have *chronic* kidney disease (CKD), which may be classified as shown in Table 5, but in the absence of proteinuria they would not generally be classified as having *diabetic* kidney disease.

Stage	Description	GFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)
1*	Kidney damage with normal or raised GFR	≥90
2*	Kidney damage with mild decrease in GFR	60-89
3A		45-59
3B	Moderately lowered GFR	30-44
4	Severely lowered GFR	15-29
5	Kidney failure (end-stage renal disease)	<15

Table 5: Stratification of chronic kidney disease

Notes: *in order to diagnose stages 1 and 2 CKD, additional evidence of kidney damage must be present, eg proteinuria.

If proteinuria (24 hour urine >1 g per day or urine PCR >100 mg/mmol) is present the suffix P may be added.

Patients on dialysis are classified as stage 5D

The suffix T indicates patients with a functioning renal transplant (can be stages 1-5).

9.2 PREVALENCE AND PROGRESSION OF KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETES

There are no Scottish national data on the prevalence of kidney disease in people with diabetes. Estimates of prevalence from individual studies must be interpreted in the context of their patient population, such as levels of deprivation and the proportion of individuals from ethnic minorities. In a cross-sectional study of approximately 34,000 adults with diabetes in three primary care trusts (PCTs) in east London, the prevalence of CKD stages 3-5 was 18%. The populations of these PCTs are among the most deprived in the UK and over 50% of the population is non-White. Compared with Whites, CKD stage 3 was less common in South Asians (OR 0.80, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.88) and Blacks (OR 0.51, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.58), but CKD stages 4 and 5 were more common in south Asians (OR 1.52, 95% CI 1.24 to 1.85) and Blacks (OR 1.27, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.85).⁵¹⁸ In another study of 7,596 people with diabetes from Salford (96% Caucasian), CKD stages 1-2 was present in 9%, stage 3 CKD in 24.8% and stage 4-5 CKD in 2.7%.⁵¹⁹

The racial differences in CKD are not simply accounted for by the increased risk and prevalence of diabetes in minority ethnic populations. The higher incidence of Stage 4 and 5 CKD in minority 3 ethnic populations may, in part, reflect reduced access to health care and genetic differences between populations.520

The number of patients with diabetes commencing RRT in Scotland is increasing. Data from the Scottish Renal Registry show that the number of patients with diabetes as the primary cause of CKD has risen from 67 in the cohort of patients commencing RRT in Scotland in 1980-84 (8%), to 516 in the cohort commencing treatment in 2000-2004 (18%).⁵²¹

9.2.1 MICROALBUMINURIA AND PROTEINURIA

A large RCT of patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS) reported the percentage with proteinuria and microalbuminuria at baseline (diagnosis) and during follow up over 15 years.⁵²² At diagnosis 12.8% 1 + + had microalbuminuria and 2.1% had evidence of proteinuria. The proportions of individuals with microalbuminuria and proteinuria over 15 years of follow up, for participants in the conventional management arm of the study, are shown in Table 6.

4

Follow up (years)	Number	Microalbuminuria (%)	Proteinuria (%)
Baseline	994	12.8	2.1
3	1048	14.5	2.5
6	938	18.3	3.5
9	721	25.4	6.5
12	348	34.2	10.3
15	95	39.0	12.6

Table 6: Proteinuria and microalbuminuria in people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes measured over 15 year follow up.

In people with type 1 diabetes the cumulative incidence of microalbuminuria at 30 years disease duration is approximately 40%.⁵²³⁻⁵²⁵ For microalbuminuric patients the relative risk of developing proteinuria is 9.3 compared to normoalbuminuric patients.⁵²⁶ Twenty five per cent of individuals who were in the conventional arm of the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) had proteinuria, elevated serum creatinine (>177 micromol/l) and/or were on renal replacement therapy after 30 years of diabetes.⁵²⁷

Remission of microalbuminuria may occur (see section 9.5.4) and so the presence of microalbuminuria does not imply an inexorable progression to nephropathy. There are data to suggest that there has been a decrease in the incidence of diabetic nephropathy in people with type 1 diabetes diagnosed more recently, with earlier aggressive blood pressure and glycaemic control.⁵²⁸

In the general population, an estimated GFR of less than 60 ml/min/1.73 m² is associated with an increased risk of the major adverse outcomes of CKD (impaired kidney function, progression to kidney failure and premature death from cardiovascular disease).⁵²⁹⁻⁵³²

There is a strong relationship between reduced GFR and mortality (both all-cause and cardiovascular) in people with diabetes. In one study of people with type 2 diabetes, the hazard ratios for all-cause mortality across different stages of estimated GFR (eGFR) (\geq 90, 60-89, 30-59 and 15-29 ml/min/1.73 m²) were 1.00, 1.27, 2.34 and 9.82.⁵³³ Similar data have been reported in other studies in people with diabetes.⁵³⁴⁻⁵³⁶

Microalbuminuria is associated with an approximately twofold increase in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.⁴¹⁰ The four year mortality of microalbuminuric type 2 patients is 32%, and 50% of proteinuric type 2 patients have died within 4 years.^{537, 538} When proteinuria and hypertension are present the standardised mortality ratio is increased fivefold in men and eightfold in women with type 2 diabetes and 11-fold in men and 18-fold in women with type 1 diabetes.⁵³⁹

9.3 SCREENING FOR KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETES

9.3.1 PREDICTION EQUATIONS

Prediction equations improve the inverse correlation between serum creatinine and GFR by taking into account confounding variables such as age, sex, ethnic origin and body weight. The formula developed by Cockcroft and Gault to estimate creatinine clearance,⁵⁴⁰ and the four-variable formula derived from the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) study to estimate GFR,⁵⁴¹ are the most widely used of these prediction equations. The Cockcroft-Gault formula incorporates age, sex, and ethnicity, but not weight. The limitations of these equations are discussed in SIGN 103.⁵¹⁵

eGFR should be assessed on an annual basis in people with diabetes. More frequent assessment may be necessary in adults with established CKD.

3

2-

9.3.2 MICROALBUMINURIA

Microalbuminuria is the earliest, clinically detectable manifestation of classic diabetic kidney disease. Conventional urine dipstick testing cannot reliably be used to diagnose the presence or absence of microalbuminuria.

A meta-analysis of 10 studies in patients with diabetes showed excellent performance of ACR measurement compared with albumin excretion rate (AER) (ACR summary diagnostic odds ratio 45.8, 95% CI 28.5 to 73.4).⁵⁴² There is a daily variability in urinary albumin loss and so ACR is best measured on an early morning specimen of urine.⁵⁴³

Urine albumin excretion may be temporarily increased by other factors, such as intercurrent illness and diabetic ketoacidosis.⁵⁴⁴ Therefore, it is usual to require multiple positive tests, usually two out of three over a period of months, before microalbuminuria is confirmed.

The literature is confusing in relation to the timing of commencing screening in young people with diabetes. Early microvascular abnormalities may occur before puberty, which then appears to accelerate these abnormalities.⁵⁴⁵ Age and puberty are reported without any strict definition. For clarity and simplicity the guideline development group suggests that screening for kidney disease should commence at 12 years of age in both boys and girls.

B ACR should be used to screen for diabetic kidney disease.

C Young people with diabetes should have ACR tested annually from the age of 12 years.

ACR should be measured in a first-pass morning urine specimen once a year. ACR may be measured on a spot sample if a first-pass sample is not provided (but should be repeated on a first-pass specimen if abnormal). Microalbuminuria is confirmed if, in the absence of infection or overt proteinuria, two out of three specimens have an elevated ACR.

9.3.3 PROTEINURIA

Proteinuria is associated with cardiovascular and renal disease and is a predictor of end organ damage in patients with hypertension. Detection of an increase in protein excretion is known to have both diagnostic and prognostic value in the initial detection and confirmation of renal disease.⁵⁴⁶

In evaluating the diagnostic accuracy of tests of proteinuria, measurement of protein (or albumin) accretion in a timed urine collection over 24 hours has been used as a reference standard.⁵⁴⁷

Protein/creatinine ratio (PCR) measured in early morning or random urine samples correlates closely with 24 hour proteinuria⁵⁴⁸ and is at least as good as 24-hour urine protein estimation at predicting the rate of loss of GFR in patients with CKD.⁵⁴⁹

In individuals with significant proteinuria, a PCR on a first-pass morning urine specimen is preferable to a timed collection.

Annex 3 explains the relationship between urinary protein (and albumin) concentrations expressed as a ratio to creatinine and other common expressions of their concentration.

2++ 3

9.4 INVESTIGATION OF KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETES

There are no high quality studies to inform best practice in the evaluation and investigation of people with diabetes who have kidney disease and the decision to perform ultrasonography and a renal autoantibody screen should be made on an individual basis. Non-diabetic kidney disease should be suspected in any of the following circumstances:

- blood pressure is particularly high or resistant to treatment
- the person previously had a documented normal ACR and rapidly develops heavy proteinuria (ACR > 100 mg/mmol, or PCR > 70 mg/mmol)
- significant haematuria is present
- the GFR has worsened rapidly
- the person is systemically ill.⁵⁵⁰

9.5 PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETES

Risk factors for the development and progression of diabetic nephropathy include:

- hyperglycaemia
- raised blood pressure
- baseline urinary albumin excretion
- increasing age
- duration of diabetes
- smoking
- genetic predisposition
- raised cholesterol and triglyceride levels
- male sex.

9.5.1 GLYCAEMIC CONTROL

Randomised controlled trials indicate that intensive glycaemic management will reduce the development of diabetic kidney disease. In the DCCT, a reduction in mean HbA1c from 9.0% to 7.0% (75 to 53 mmol/mol) was associated with a 39% reduction in the occurrence of microalbuminuria and a 54% reduction in the occurrence of proteinuria over 6.5 years in patients with type 1 diabetes.⁶ In UKPDS a reduction in HbA1c from 7.9% to 7.0% (63 to 53 mmol/mol) was associated with a 24% reduction in microalbuminuria, (RR 0.76, 95% Cl 0.53 to 0.88, p < 0.001) a 34% reduction in proteinuria (RR 0.66, 95% Cl 0.39 to 1.1, p = 0.0028) over 12 years in patients with type 2 diabetes.²⁴⁰

Long term follow up of some of the individuals who participated in these studies has suggested that the benefits persist, even though glycaemic control in the intensive and control arms has converged in the post-trial period. In the follow up of the UKPDS study intensive glycaemic control with sulphonylurea or insulin therapy was associated with a relative risk reduction of 24% (p = 0.001) for microvascular disease after a median period of 16.8 years.²⁴⁵ There was no significant risk reduction in microvascular disease in the group treated with metformin compared to the conventional treatment group, but the number in the metformin group was small and underpowered to demonstrate such a difference in the post-trial follow-up period.

After 30 years of type 1 diabetes, 9% of subjects in the intensive arm of the DCCT had developed nephropathy, as defined by either proteinuria, serum creatinine greater than 177 micromol/l and/or renal replacement therapy, compared with 25% in the conventional arm.⁵²⁷

In the ADVANCE trial intensive glycaemic control (HbA1c 6.5% v 7.3% (48 to 56 mmol/mol)) in patients with type 2 diabetes was associated with a significant reduction in renal events, including new and worsening nephropathy (HR 0.79, 95% Cl 0.66 to 0.93, p = 0.006) and new onset microalbuminuria (HR 0.91, 95% Cl 0.85 to 0.98, p = 0.02).²⁴² All patients were treated with a sulphonylurea. This benefit was at the expense of significantly more severe hypoglycaemic events in the intensive group 2.7% v 1.5%.

4

1++

1+

2++

2++

There are no studies specifically looking at whether sulphonylureas, metformin, sibutramine, rimonbant, exenetide, insulin or DPP-4 inhibitors have an additive benefit in reducing the development or progression of diabetic renal disease. There are limited data using the surrogate end point of reduction in proteinuria which suggests that thiazolidinediones may have an additive benefit over other hypoglycaemic agents in reducing proteinuria.⁵⁵¹⁻⁵⁵³

The evidence for benefits of strict glycaemic control following development of microalbuminuria is limited. Among the patients with microalbuminuria in the DCCT, albumin excretion rate increased on average by 6.5% per year in the conventionally treated group compared to no change in the intensive group.⁶ In a study of 52 patients with type 2 diabetes and microalbuminuria, two years of improved glycaemic control (HbA1c 7.1% v 9.1% (54 v 96 mmol/mol)) resulted in stabilisation of urinary albumin excretion whereas albumin excretion rate tripled in the standard treatment group.⁵⁵⁴ In the VADT study of veterans with type 2 diabetes of whom 62% had microalbuminuria, intensive glycaemic control (HbA1c 6.9% v 8.4% (52 v 68 mmol/mol)) was not associated with a reduction in the development of overt nephropathy or doubling of serum creatinine.²⁴⁴

Observational studies have reported a faster rate of progression of kidney disease in people with higher HbA1c.⁵⁵⁵ There are no RCTs suggesting that intensive glycaemic control slows down rate of progression of renal disease once overt proteinuria has occurred or when the glomerular filtration rate has fallen. This may indicate that the maximum benefit of intensive glycaemic control occurs when treatment is initiated at an earlier stage of the disease process. However, in pancreatic transplant recipients with evidence of diabetic kidney disease pre-transplant, histological improvements have been seen after 10 years of euglycaemia.⁵⁵⁶



Intensive glycaemic control in people with type 1 and 2 diabetes should be maintained to reduce the risk of developing diabetic kidney disease.

9.5.2 CONTROL OF PROTEINURIA

Post hoc analyses of two RCTs involving people with CKD and type 2 diabetes have shown that higher baseline proteinuria is associated with a higher risk of CKD progression.

One trial in 1,647 patients with type 2 diabetes with hypertension and CKD demonstrated a doubling of risk of progression to renal end points with each doubling of baseline proteinuria (HR 2.04, 95% CI 1.87 to 2.22).⁵⁵⁷ For each halving of proteinuria in the first year of follow up, the risk of ESRD at three years reduced by 56% (HR 0.44, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.49).

Similarly, in an analysis of 1,513 people with type 2 diabetes with nephropathy, baseline proteinuria predicted long term outcome, eg comparing a baseline proteinuria of 3 g per gram of creatinine with 1.5 g per gram there was a relative risk of any renal end point of 5.2 and of ESRD of 8.1.⁵⁵⁸ The risk of ESRD shows a clear dependence on albuminuria reduction and on the residual level of albuminuria regardless of systolic blood pressure (SBP) change. However, the combination of albuminuria reduction with reduction in SBP produces the greatest risk reduction for ESRD.^{558, 559}

One meta-analysis demonstrated that a reduction in proteinuria in response to antihypertensive treatment is reflected in a slower rate of GFR decline only in 'late' nephropathy.⁵⁶⁰ 'Late' is defined as the presence of overt proteinuria (0.5 g/per day or 0.3 g albuminuria/per day) and a GFR <90 ml/min/1.73 m² (in people with type 1 diabetes) or <75 ml/min/1.73 m² (in people with type 2 diabetes). The authors commented that the lack of a relationship between proteinuria reduction and GFR fall in 'early' nephropathy may reflect the reversibility of changes producing proteinuria at this stage.



Reducing proteinuria should be a treatment target regardless of baseline urinary protein excretion. However, patients with higher degrees of proteinuria benefit more. There should be no lower target as the greater the reduction from baseline urinary protein excretion, the greater the effect on slowing the rate of loss of GFR.

1-

1++ 1+

1+

9.5.3 CONTROL OF BLOOD PRESSURE AND CKD PROGRESSION

Blood pressure lowering is associated with a reduced rate of CKD progression

Blood pressure (BP) reduction, proteinuria reduction and antihypertensive drug use are intrinsically linked in studies. An intervention is necessary to reduce BP or proteinuria, and this is generally an angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor, an angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB) or a non-dihydropyridine calcium channel blocker (CCB). Hence the papers included sub-analysed data to look for BP effects independent of the drugs used.

One very large meta-analysis has demonstrated a clear and large effect of BP reduction on slowing the progression of CKD. In this meta-analysis of 20 RCTs including over 50,000 patients with CKD (both diabetic and non-diabetic), the risk of ESRD reduced with each tertile of BP control, independent of the agent used. The group with the highest tertile of BP reduction, -6.9 mm Hg (-9.1 to -4.8), had a relative risk of ESRD of 0.74 (0.59 to 0.92).⁵⁶¹

Subsequent data from a large RCT affirmed that antihypertenisve therapy reduces the risk of renal disease irrespective of blood pressure at entry, and with no evidence of a threshold effect, ie the lowest risk for renal events was observed in those with a median achieved systolic blood pressure of 106 mm Hg.⁵⁶²

Blood pressure lowering reduces proteinuria

One meta-analysis of 55 RCTs (n = 5,714) in patients with CKD (with and without diabetes) according to tertile of BP reduction demonstrates a clear association between reduction in BP and reduction in albuminuria.⁵⁶¹ Additionally, in people with type 2 diabetes, post hoc analysis of the IDNT trial in 1,647 patients (which was not included in the above meta-analysis), demonstrated that a 10% reduction in diastolic blood pressure reduced proteinuria by 13.7%.⁵⁵⁷

In people with diabetes and kidney disease, blood pressure should be reduced to the lowest achievable level to slow the rate of decline of glomerular filtration rate and reduce proteinuria.

9.5.4 ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME INHIBITORS AND ANGIOTENSIN RECEPTOR BLOCKERS

Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and ARBs confer both cardioprotective and renoprotective effects. ACE inhibitors and ARBs preferentially dilate the efferent renal arteriole reducing intraglomerular hypertension and reducing proteinuria independent of systemic blood pressure effects.

Prevention of microalbuminuria

One meta-analysis of 16 trials (7,603 patients) demonstrated that ACE inhibitors prevented the development of diabetic kidney disease in patients with no microalbuminuria (albumin excretion < 30 mg/day) at baseline.⁵⁶³ This effect appeared to be present in patients with or without hypertension, patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes, and patients with or without normal GFR.

However, subsequent RCT data have questioned whether ACE inhibitors and ARBs prevent the development of microalbuminuria in normotensive people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes.^{564, 565} Further work is required in this area.

Regression of microalbuminuria to no albuminuria

ACE inhibitors and ARBs can cause microalbuminuria to regress to no albuminuria in diabetes.^{566,} ⁵⁶⁷ A meta-analysis of 36 RCTs (1,888 patients) demonstrated that ACE inhibitors increased the likelihood of regression from microalbuminuria to no albuminuria (RR 3.42, 95% CI 1.95 to 5.99) in patients with type 1 or 2 diabetes, both normotensive and with pre-existing hypertension. In patients with type 2 diabetes with hypertension, ARBs also increased the likelihood of regression from microalbuminuria (RR 1.42, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.93), although this analysis did not correct for the BP lowering effects of these drugs.⁵⁶⁷ A smaller meta-analysis of 12 RCTs (689 patients) demonstrated an odds ratio for regression to no albuminuria of 3.07 (95% CI 2.15 to 4.44) for patients treated with ACE inhibitors; an effect attenuated but not abolished by adjusting for blood pressure, suggesting a specific antiproteinuric effect of these drugs.⁵⁶⁶

1++

1++

1++

1+

1++

Progression of microalbuminuria to macroalbuminuria

There is a reduction in the rate of progression of microalbuminuria to macroalbuminuria in patients with diabetes treated with ACE inhibitors or ARBs.⁵⁶⁶⁻⁵⁶⁸ A meta-analysis in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes in primary care demonstrated that ACE inhibitors (36 RCTs, 2,010 patients) reduced the rate of progression of micro- to macroalbuminuria by 45%, and ARBs (four RCTs, 761 patients, type 2 diabetes only) by 51% regardless of the presence or absence of baseline hypertension, diabetes type, or duration of treatment (ACE inhibitors, RR 0.55, 95% Cl 0.28 to 0.71; ARBs, RR 0.49, 95% Cl 0.32 to 1.05). ACE inhibitors and ARBs were not significantly different in their effects of progression of microalbuminuria. The analyses did not correct for the BP lowering effects of these drugs.⁵⁶⁷

A meta-analysis of 12 RCTs in normotensive patients with type 1 diabetes (689 patients) demonstrated that the reduction in progression of micro- to macroalbuminuria (OR for progression 0.38, 95% CI 0.25 to 0.57) with ACE inhibitors was attenuated when blood pressure effects were adjusted for but not abolished suggesting a BP independent effect of ACE inhibitors on microalbuminuria.⁵⁶⁶

ACE inhibitors and ARBs reduce albuminuria in patients with diabetes⁵⁶⁹ and reduce proteinuria ranging from microalbuminuria to overt proteinuria (7.2 to 3,000 mg/day albuminuria). All the RCTs included had an active control arm in respect of BP. No difference in blood pressure was noted between the treatment groups to explain the reduction in albumin excretion rate.⁵⁶¹

Progression of CKD

In a meta-analysis of 36 RCTs in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes and CKD in primary care, the point estimate for developing ESRD or the doubling of serum creatinine was less in patients who were prescribed ACE inhibitors but not statistically significant (all cause mortality RR 0.64, 95% CI 0.40 to 1.03; doubling of serum creatinine RR 0.60, 0.35 to 1.05). This included the micro-HOPE study accounting for over half the patients in the analysis and which recruited patients with a high cardiovascular risk and mortality, but relatively low renal risk. This study alone produced opposite findings to the others in the meta-analysis (ie favoured placebo/no treatment), but, because of its size, accounted for 29% of the weighting of the overall result. Angiotensin receptor blockers did significantly reduce the risk of an adverse renal outcome in patients with type 2 diabetes (ESRD, RR 0.78, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.91; doubling of serum creatinine, RR 0.79, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.93).⁵⁶⁷

A more recent meta-analysis of 24 studies compared the effects of ACE inhibitors or ARBs with placebo and/or a regimen not including a RAAS blocker on the incidence of ESRD, doubling of serum creatinine, or death from any cause in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Use of ACE inhibitors was associated with a trend toward reduction of ESRD incidence (RR 0.70, 95% Cl 0.46 to 1.05) and use of ARBs with significant reduction of ESRD risk (RR 0.78, 95% Cl 0.67 to 0.91). Both drug classes were associated with reduction in the risk of doubling of serum creatinine (RR 0.71, 95% Cl 0.56 to 0.91 for ACEIs; and RR 0.79, 95% Cl 0.68 to 0.91 for ARBs) but none affected all-cause mortality (RR 0.96, 95% Cl 0.85 to 1.09 for ACEIs; and RR 0.99, 95% Cl 0.85 to 1.16 for ARBs).⁵⁷⁰

Combination treatment with ACE inhibitors and ARB

Two meta-analyses have looked at the effect of adding ARB treatment to ACE inhibitors in patients with CKD.^{571, 572} These show that combination treatment reduced proteinuria more than ACE inhibitors alone in both patients with diabetic and non-diabetic kidney disease. The role of blood pressure reduction in this effect is not clear.⁵⁷² The use of sub-maximal doses of the drugs limited the validity of conclusions.⁵⁷¹ Only one study in these meta-analyses studied the ability of the combination to slow CKD progression and suggested that the combination was better, but that trial has now been retracted.⁵⁷³ In one meta-analysis hyperkalaemia was increased overall by a small but significant amount (0.11 mmol/l, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.17 mmol/l).⁵⁷² In the other meta-analysis, clinically significant hyperkalaemia occurred in only 19 out of 434 patients, suggesting this is a safe combination, if monitored.⁵⁷¹

1++

1++

1++

In one RCT dual therapy with telmisartan and ramipril was compared with monotherapy in people with vascular disease or diabetes with end-organ damage.⁵⁷⁴ Most subjects had no diabetic kidney disease and so were at high cardiovascular risk, but low renal risk. Renal outcomes (dialysis, doubling of serum creatinine and death) were similar in the monotherapy arms (HR 1·00, 95% CI 0·92 to 1·09, NS) but increased in the combination therapy arm (HR 1·09, 1·01 to 1·18, p = 0.037). It should be noted that the excess for dialysis in the combination was for acute renal failure and that the frequency of dialysis for CKD was similar in the three groups (although the study was not powered to show major differences in renal outcomes). By virtue of their baseline characteristics, the subjects in this study will have been at high risk of renovascular disease, which predisposes to acute renal failure both on initiation of treatment and in the case of another insult, eg volume depletion. Thus, use of combination treatment must take into account the general rule that therapy affecting the RAAS should be stopped when there is concurrent acute reduction in renal perfusion (*see SIGN 103 for further information*).⁵¹⁵

More data are required to determine the effect of combination therapy on disease progression before it will be possible to make a recommendation on this treatment.

A People with type 1 diabetes and microalbuminuria should be treated with an ACE inhibitor irrespective of blood pressure.

- An ARB may be used if an individual with type 1 diabetes is intolerant of an ACE inhibitor.
- A People with type 2 diabetes and microalbuminuria should be treated with an ACE inhibitor or an ARB irrespective of blood pressure.
- A ACE inhibitors and/or ARBs should be used as agents of choice in patients with chronic kidney disease and proteinuria (≥ 0.5 g/day, approximately equivalent to a protein/ creatinine ratio of 50 mg/mmol) to reduce the rate of progression of chronic kidney disease.

9.5.5 ALDOSTERONE ANTAGONISTS AND DIRECT RENIN INHIBITORS

One systematic review and several trials have examined the impact of mineralocorticoid receptor blocker (MRB) therapy (spironolactone or eplerenone) as additive therapy to conventional RAAS blockade in patients with CKD.^{575, 576} A majority of subjects studied had diabetic kidney disease, though individuals with GFR < 30 were excluded. In general, the trials were small, of short duration and poor methodological quality. Most trials demonstrated that spironolactone therapy reduced proteinuria (weighted mean reduction approximately 0.8 g/24 hours), but in a sub-analysis of four RCTs that included subjects with diabetic kidney disease, no significant reduction was identified.⁵⁷⁶ Spironolactone therapy was associated with a weighted mean reduction in blood pressure of approximately 3.4/1.8 mm Hg, but separate data on people with diabetes were not reported.⁵⁷⁶ Overall there was no effect on GFR, and no data were reported on doubling of serum creatinine, mortality, RRT, progression of microalbuminuria to macroalbuminuria or regression of macroalbuminuria to microalbuminuria.^{575, 576}

In one RCT of direct renin inhibition in 599 subjects with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy, aliskiren therapy combined with a maximal dose of losartan over a median period of six months was associated with a 20% reduction in mean ACR.⁵⁷⁷ There was a non-significant reduction in blood pressure of 2/1 mm Hg. No data were reported on mortality or long term renal outcomes. GFR reduction in the aliskiren group was 2.4 ml/min/1.73 m² v 3.8 ml/min/1.73 m² in the placebo group (p=0.07).

Both aliskiren and spironolactone have anti-proteinuric and anti-hypertensive effects, when given in combination with other drugs that block the RAAS, but there are insufficient data to support their routine use in diabetic individuals with kidney disease.

1-

9.5.6 RACIAL DIFFERENCES IN RENIN-ANGIOTENIN-ALDOSTERONE SYSTEM BLOCKADE

Renin-profiling studies have demonstrated that Caucasians have higher renin activity than Blacks of African descent and that consequently ACE inhibitors and ARBs tend to be more effective at lowering blood pressure in Caucasians.⁵⁷⁸ ACE inhibitor-associated cough may be more prevalent in individuals of Chinese origin.⁵⁷⁹ Most of the large RCTs on diabetic kidney disease have not reported race-specific outcomes, though in the Reduction of Endpoints in Non-Insulin Dependent Diabetes Mellitus with Angiotensin II Antagonist Losartan (RENAAL) trial, where 17% of participants were Asian, no effect of race on outcomes was reported.⁴⁹⁴



Drugs that inhibit the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system may be less efficacious in some racial groups.

9.5.7 LIPID LOWERING

Dyslipidaemia may contribute to the development and progression of diabetic kidney disease by causing intrarenal arteriosclerosis or direct toxicity to renal cells.^{580, 581} However, studies on the effect of lipid lowering on the development and progression of diabetic kidney disease are conflicting.

One observational study which included 197,551 subjects, 27% of whom had diabetes, reported that statins significantly reduced the odds of development of kidney disease as defined by doubling of the serum creatinine or an incremental rise in creatinine of 44 micromol/l (OR 0.87, 95% Cl 0.82. to 0.92, p < 0.0001).⁵⁸²

In a meta-analysis including 39,404 patients from 27 studies, statins reduced the rate of decline of GFR by 1.22 ml/min/year (95% CI 0.44 to 2.00 ml/min/year). However, in the subgroup analysis of patients with diabetes (n = 122) no benefit of statins on rate of progression or proteinuria was seen, although the authors concluded that larger studies were required to address this issue.⁵⁸³

Two meta-analyses examined reduction in proteinuria with statin treatment. One demonstrated no significant change.⁵⁸³ The second meta-analysis included 1,384 patients in 15 studies, 57% of patients had diabetes. It demonstrated a significant reduction in microalbuminuria of 48% (95% Cl 71% to 25%) and proteinuria of 47% (95% Cl 67% to 26%).⁵⁸⁴ The effect was greatest with higher degrees of proteinuria.

9.5.8 LIFESTYLE CHANGES

Diet

A more detailed discussion of dietary modification in chronic kidney disease is provided in SIGN 103.⁵¹⁵

Four small RCTs (n = 69-131) conducted in people with CKD stages 2-3 and diabetes (type 1 and type 2) did not demonstrate a beneficial effect of protein restriction (0.6 to 0.8 g/kg) on delaying disease progression.⁵⁸⁵⁻⁵⁸⁸ These studies followed up individuals for one to four years.

For non-diabetic and diabetic patients with CKD stage 4, two systematic reviews and one metaanalysis suggested that, in comparison to other treatments, there was, at most, a modest benefit associated with restricting protein leading to a delay in CKD progression (0.53 ml/min/year, 95% CI 0.08 to 0.98 ml/min/year).⁵⁸⁹⁻⁵⁹¹

In clinical practice any benefits of protein restriction have to be offset against the potential detrimental effects on nutritional status, the difficulties of patient compliance, potential effects on quality of life and the costs associated with implementation and monitoring.

It is not possible to deduce an optimal protein level from the available evidence. High protein intakes are associated with high phosphate intakes as foods that contain protein also tend to contain phosphate.⁵⁸⁷ It would appear prudent to avoid high protein intakes in stage 4 CKD patients when hyperphosphatemia is prevalent⁵⁸⁰ and this should be done under the guidance of an appropriately qualified dietitian.

4 1+

1++

1++

2+

1 + +

Dietary protein restrictions (< 0.8 g/kg/day) are not recommended in patients with early stages of chronic kidney disease (stages 1-3).

 $\mathbf{\nabla}$ High protein intake (> 1.0 g/kg) is not recommended in patients with stage 4 chronic kidney disease.

Weight reduction and exercise

No evidence was identified that weight reduction or exercise affect the development or progression of diabetic kidney disease.

MULTIFACTORIAL INTERVENTION 9.5.9

In most individuals with diabetes, individual risk factors are not addressed in isolation. The benefits of a multifactorial approach in the management of people with type 2 diabetes and microalbuminuria have been clearly demonstrated.^{592, 593} The combination of improved glycaemic control, BP control, lipid lowering, aspirin, smoking cessation, exercise programmes and dietary intervention reduced the development of overt nephropathy at 3.8 years (RR 0.27, 95% CI 0.1 to 0.75, p = 0.01) and the effect was maintained at 13.3 years, despite post-trial convergence between the two study groups, (RR 0.44, 95% Cl 0.25 to 0.77, p = 0.004). Only one person in the multifactorial intervention group required renal replacement therapy compared to six in the conventional treatment group (p=0.04).



People with diabetes and microalbuminuria should be treated with a multifactorial intervention approach.

9.6 MANAGEMENT OF COMPLICATIONS

9.6.1 ANAEMIA

Anaemia is a common finding in people with diabetic kidney disease and develops at an earlier stage compared to patients with chronic kidney disease from other causes. For a given eGFR patients with diabetic kidney disease have a haemoglobin level approximately 10 g/l less than 4 patients with other causes of kidney disease. The prevalence of anaemia defined by the K/DOOI guidelines (haemoglobin < 120 g/l for men and postmenopausal women and < 110 g/l for premenopausal women) has been reported at 22-51% for patients with diabetic kidney disease compared to 8-14% in patients with other causes for chronic kidney disease.^{594, 595}

Anaemia should be investigated and managed as outlined in SIGN 103.515

In a systematic review of 15 studies which focused on the treatment of the anaemia of CKD in pre-dialysis patients there was a significant improvement in quality of life on treatment with 1+ erythropoietin.⁵⁹⁶ This review included a meta-analysis of three small studies which showed no effect of treatment of anaemia on mortality (RR 0.60, 95% CI 0.13 to 2.88).

The target haemoglobin in people with CKD and anaemia is not clear and adverse effects have been seen in people whose renal anaemia has been corrected to normal levels (see SIGN 103). ⁵¹⁵ In a trial of darbepoetin alfa in 4,038 patients with diabetes, CKD and anaemia, there was no effect on the two primary composite outcomes of death or a cardiovascular event, or death or a renal event.⁵⁹⁷ The median achieved haemoglobin in the intervention group was 125 g/l and in the control group was 106 g/l. Individuals receiving darbepoetin alfa demonstrated a modest improvement in patient-reported fatigue, but had an increased risk of stroke (HR 1.92, 95% Cl 1.38 to 2.68). Further studies are required to determine the optimum target haemoglobin in people with diabetes and CKD and the potential risks of such therapy need to be carefully balanced against quality of life benefits.

- Patients with diabetes and CKD stage 3 -5 should have their haemoglobin checked at least annually.
- Erythropoiesis stimulating agents should be considered in all patients with anaemia of chronic kidney disease, including those with diabetic kidney disease.

9.6.2 RENAL BONE DISEASE

There is no evidence that renal bone disease occurs at a different stage in diabetic kidney disease than other causes of chronic kidney disease and monitoring should follow the recommendations in SIGN 103.⁵¹⁵

9.6.3 METABOLIC ACIDOSIS

There is no evidence that acidosis occurs at a different stage in diabetic renal disease than other causes of chronic kidney disease (see SIGN 103⁵¹⁵ for further discussion on the management of metabolic acidosis).

9.7 MODELS OF CARE

Two retrospective cohort studies suggested that referral to a combined diabetes-renal clinic was associated with better management of clinical variables associated with CKD and a slowing in decline of renal function. In one study the decline in GFR fell from 0.52 ml/min/month (in the first year) to 0.27 ml/min/month⁵⁹⁸ and in the other the decline in GFR fell from 1.09 ml/min/month (first year) to 0.39 ml/min/month.⁵⁹⁹

Two retrospective cohort studies demonstrated comparable benefits using different models of care – one was a nephrologist-led service,⁶⁰⁰ the other was a diabetologist-led clinic for patients with nephropathy.⁵⁹⁹ A common factor amongst all reports was that patients were managed intensively, using evidence based guidelines.

Investigation, monitoring and management of diabetic patients with mild to moderate kidney disease can be undertaken in a variety of settings, providing that appropriate expertise is available, there is a clear evidence based protocol, and facilities for intensive monitoring are available.

People with diabetes who are receiving dialysis require ongoing review of their diabetes. There may be ongoing issues regarding glycaemic control, such as symptomatic hyperglycaemia and recurrent hypoglycaemia which are usually best managed by diabetes healthcare professionals. Regular screening of eyes and feet are also essential given the high prevalence of sight-threatening retinopathy and foot disease in this patient group.

- D Individuals with diabetes and mild to moderate CKD should be managed in a setting that can provide appropriate investigation, monitoring and intensive clinical management.
- ☑ In situations where mild to moderate kidney disease is managed outwith a nephrology clinic, specific referral criteria should be agreed with the local nephrology services.
- ☑ Whatever model of care is employed, a local evidence based protocol should underpin the clinical service.
- Ongoing diabetes care is required for people with diabetes who are undergoing kidney dialysis.

3

9.8 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

- People with diabetes should be advised that kidney disease can occur as a complication of diabetes and that they should have an annual blood and urine test to screen for this.
- People with diabetes should be given information to help them recognise the following modifiable risk factors:
 - hypertension
 - hyperglycaemia
 - smoking
 - dyslipidaemia

and a plan made to help them reduce those which affect them.

People with diabetes and kidney disease should be advised that they will usually require
medication as well as lifestyle modification. They should be advised that success will depend
upon their agreeing to follow the prescribed treatment to prevent progression of kidney
disease. They should also be made aware of any potential side effects of drugs.

10 Prevention of visual impairment

Blindness is one of the most feared complications of diabetes with an incidence of 50-65 per 100,000 diabetic population per year in Europe.⁶⁰¹⁻⁶⁰³ However, with good care, visual impairment due to diabetes can be avoided for the vast majority of patients.

The majority of people with diabetes do not have any retinopathy. However, a minority have macular oedema or proliferative retinopathy that, untreated, may lead to visual impairment (sight-threatening retinopathy). Screening aims to refer to ophthalmology those people whose retinal images suggest they may be at increased risk of having, or at some point developing, sight-threatening retinopathy (referable retinopathy). When examined in ophthalmology, some of those referred will have sight-threatening retinopathy but many will just require regular ophthalmology review until they do develop sight-threatening retinopathy.

The diabetic retinopathy screening service was established to detect signs of diabetic retinopathy only. Patients should be aware of this and ensure that they continue to attend routinely to a community optometrist for all other eyecare needs (see section 10.2).

See section 7.6.3 for specific guidance on assessment and referral during pregnancy.

10.1 RISK IDENTIFICATION AND PREVENTION

10.1.1 RISK FACTORS FOR DIABETIC RETINAL DISEASE

The following risk factors have been shown to determine the development and progression of diabetic retinal disease:

- poor glycaemic control^{6, 604,605}
- raised blood pressure⁶⁰⁶
- duration of diabetes^{607, 608}
- microalbuminuria and proteinuria^{609, 610}
- raised triglycerides and lowered haematocrit⁶¹¹
- pregnancy⁶¹²
- serum cholesterol for macular exudates and oedema.⁶¹³

A study examining lipids and development and progression of retinopathy concluded that total, HDL and LDL cholesterol levels predicted clinically significant macular oedema and hard exudate formation, but that there was no association of lipids with proliferative retinopathy or with retinopathy progression.⁶¹³

B Patients with multiple risk factors should be considered at high risk of developing diabetic retinal disease.

Diabetic retinal disease is the commonest cause of visual impairment in patients with type 1 diabetes, but not in type 2 diabetes.⁶¹⁴ Patients with diabetes have approximately a twofold increased risk of cataract^{615, 616} and the risk is increased with poor glycaemic control.⁶¹⁷ One study has indicated that intensive glycaemic control reduced the incidence of cataract extraction in people with type 2 diabetes.⁴⁰⁹

The effect of smoking on the development and progression of retinopathy is unclear (see section 3.4).

10.1.2 RISK FACTOR MODIFICATIONS

The evidence that modifying risk factors has a beneficial outcome in diabetic retinal disease exists for only some of the risk factors identified above.

Tight control of blood glucose reduces the risk of onset and progression of diabetic eye disease in type 1 and 2 diabetes.^{522, 604, 618}

1++

1++

Reducing HbA1c by 1.5% (16.4 mmol/mol) and, if possible, to 7% (53 mmol/mol) in type 1 and 2 diabetes^{522,604} and reducing blood pressure to 144/82 mm Hg in type 2 diabetes reduces the incidence and progression of sight-threatening diabetic eye disease⁶⁰⁶ and this is likely also to be the case for type 1 diabetes.

Reducing blood pressure and HbA1c below these targets is likely to reduce the risk of eye disease further.^{408,409} Microvascular end points (including retinopathy) are decreased by 37% with each 1% (11 mmol/mol) reduction in HbA1c, and by 13% for each 10 mm Hg reduction in systolic blood pressure indicating that any improvement in these parameters is beneficial.^{409,619}

No evidence was identified suggesting that lowering blood pressure to a level <130/75 mm Hg has a deleterious impact on retinopathy progression. One RCT highlights a subgroup of normotensive patients with type 2 diabetes in whom tight BP control (128/75 mm Hg) versus standard (137/81 mm Hg) reduced diabetic retinopathy (DR) progression over a follow-up period of 5.3 years⁶²⁰ (see section 8.3.2).

A

Good glycaemic control (*HbA1c ideally around 7% or 53 mmol/mol*) **and blood pressure control** (< 130/80 mm Hg) **should be maintained to prevent onset and progression of diabetic eye disease.**

Rapid improvement of glycaemic control can result in short term worsening of diabetic retinal disease although the long term outcomes remain beneficial (see section 10.3.1).^{604, 621} 2⁺⁺



Laser photocoagulation, if required, should be completed before any rapid improvements in glycaemic control are achieved.

10.2 SCREENING

10.2.1 WHO SHOULD BE SCREENED?

The primary aim of screening is the detection of referable (potentially sight-threatening) retinopathy in asymptomatic people with diabetes so that treatment, where required, can be performed before visual impairment occurs. Screening is usually performed in the community using digital retinal photography. In this section screening is defined as the ongoing assessment of fundi with no diabetic retinopathy or non-sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy. Once sight-threatening eye disease develops treatment is usually required. This would normally be carried out in an ophthalmology clinic. Diabetic retinopathy screening does not obviate the need for a regular general eye examination to monitor changes in refraction and to detect other eye diseases.

Up to 39% of patients with type 2 diabetes have retinopathy at diagnosis, with 4-8% being sight threatening.^{522, 622} 1^{++} Screening for diabetic retinal disease is effective at detecting unrecognised sight-threatening 2^{++}

Screening for diabetic retinal disease is effective at detecting unrecognised sight-threatening 2 retinopathy.^{623, 624}

In patients with type 1 diabetes, pre-proliferative retinopathy has been identified 3.5 years after diagnosis in patients post-puberty and within two months of onset of puberty.⁶²⁵

In patients under 11 years old with type 1 diabetes, it takes five to six years for retinopathy to progress (relative risk of progression of retinopathy is 4.23 (95% Cl 1.42 to 12.63, p=0.010). In patients aged 11 years or older with type 1 diabetes, it takes one to two years for retinopathy to progress (relative risk of progression of retinopathy is 1.39 (95% Cl 1.15 to 1.72, p=0.003).⁶²⁶ A population based study demonstrated the prevalence of retinopathy to be 14.5% for any retinopathy and 2.3% for proliferative and pre-proliferative retinopathy in children and adolescents with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus diagnosed before the age of 15 years (disease duration of <12 years) and who were older than nine years at the time of examination.⁶²⁷

97

2+

2++

Fewer than 1% of patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes and no retinopathy at baseline progress to referable retinopathy within two years compared to 1% within 0.3 years in those with background retinopathy at baseline.^{628,629,630} In patients with type 2 diabetes with no retinopathy but who are treated with insulin or have a duration of diagnosed diabetes >20 years (or both) progression of retinopathy is faster.⁶³¹

2++

3

4

1+

B Systematic screening for diabetic retinal disease should be provided for all people with diabetes.

- C Patients with type 1 diabetes should be screened from age 12 years.
- A Patients with type 2 diabetes should be screened from diagnosis.
- Patients with diabetes with no diabetic retinopathy could be screened every two years.
 - All others should be screened at least annually.

10.2.2 HOW SHOULD SCREENING BE PERFORMED?

Diabetes UK proposed that an effective system of screening should achieve a sensitivity of 80% and specificity of 95% with a technical failure rate of less than 5%.⁶³² Some groups believe that visual acuity measurements help in the interpretation of maculopathy.⁶³³

Retinal photography can frequently achieve a sensitivity of 80% and is a more effective screening method than direct ophthalmoscopy, which only rarely achieves 80% sensitivity even when carried out by properly trained operators.⁶²³

Slit lamp biomicroscopy carried out by an appropriately experienced ophthalmologist is as good as the gold standard of 7-field stereoscopic photography for the assessment of clinically significant macular oedema (CSMO).⁶³⁴⁻⁶³⁶

One study, but with only small numbers of patients, suggested that wide angle scanning ophthalmoscopy could possibly be a useful tool for screening for macular oedema, although there was insufficient evidence to recommend its use.⁶³⁷

Between 3% and 14% of retinal photographs are ungradeable^{624, 638, 639} although this rate may be improved by digital imaging. Slit lamp biomicroscopy used by properly trained individuals can achieve sensitivities similar to,⁶²³ or greater than,⁶³⁶ retinal photography, with a lower technical failure rate. However, slit lamp biomicroscopy has only limited validation as a screening tool.⁶⁴⁰

In patients attending ophthalmology units, optical coherence tomography (OCT) detects macular oedema with a sensitivity of 79% and a specificity of 88% compared to a reference standard of fundus stereo-photography or biomicroscopy.⁶⁴¹ There is insufficient evidence to recommend routine use of this tool at this time.

Patients prefer screening to be performed at a site convenient to them.⁶⁴² Non-attendance at eye screening is associated with patients living in areas of social deprivation, those with poor glycaemic control, higher blood pressure, smokers, longer duration of diabetes and young people.⁶⁴³

C Retinal photography or slit lamp biomicroscopy used by trained individuals should be used in a programme of systematic screening for diabetic retinopathy.

Either good quality 7-field stereoscopic photography or slit lamp biomicroscopy (both dilated) carried out by an appropriately experienced ophthalmologist should be used to investigate:

- A clinically significant macular oedema
- proliferative diabetic retinopathy and severe non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy.
- C Dilated direct ophthalmoscopy should only be used opportunistically.

Screening modalities should aim to detect sight-threatening retinal disease with a sensitivity \geq 80% and specificity \geq 95%.

B Patients with ungradeable retinal photographs should receive slit lamp and indirect ophthalmoscopy examination where possible.

D

- Screening should be performed at a site convenient to patients.
- \square Local strategies should be developed to encourage uptake of appointments, including promoting awareness of the service, the health benefits of attendance and risks of nonattendance.

GRADING AND QUALITY ASSURANCE 10.2.3

When grading retinal appearances, digital imaging is more sensitive than polaroid prints and probably similar to 35 mm film.⁶⁴⁴ Initial data indicate that high-resolution automated techniques 2+ can identify the absence of microaneurysms on digital images with a sensitivity of 85%, although further research is required in this area to validate the technique.⁶⁴⁵

An observational study suggested that an increase in the total number and area of haemorrhages and hard exudates temporal to the fovea is associated with the development of macular oedema.646

All screening modalities should undergo quality assurance checks. For retinal photography this 3 should happen in 500 sets of images per grader per year.^{647, 648} 4

 2^{+}

2++

2+

C

Retinal photographs should be graded using digital images by an appropriately trained grader to facilitate quality assurance.

D All graders should have 500 retinal photographs rechecked for quality assurance each year.

One-field retinal photography has been shown to be as sensitive and specific as multiple-field 2++ photography for detecting referable retinopathy.639, 649

Automated grading can detect 'any retinopathy' on digital images with at-least-as-high sensitivity to manual screening when compared to a clinical reference standard.⁶⁵⁰ Automated grading 2++ can operate as the initial screener to exclude a majority of images with 'no retinopathy' before manual grading. The specificity of automated grading is less than manual grading, for equivalent sensitivity.650

Automated grading has a similar sensitivity for detecting referable retinopathy,^{650, 651} but may be less sensitive at detecting diabetic maculopathy.⁶⁴⁹



Either one field 45-50° retinal photography, or multiple field photography can be used for screening purposes.

B

Automated grading may be used for distinguishing no retinopathy from any retinopathy in a screening programme providing validated software is used.

10.2.4 REFERRAL INTERVALS FOR DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT

Delay in treatment of more than two years from diagnosis of proliferative diabetic retinopathy is associated with poor outcome and severe visual loss.⁶⁵² When vitrectomy is required, a delay of over one year is associated with poorer visual outcome.⁶⁵³

A Scottish Government policy outlines intervals for all patients from referral to treatment.⁶⁵⁴



- All patients with sight-threatening retinopathy should be treated within 18 weeks.
- Patients with high-risk proliferative retinopathy (neovascularisation of the disc or neovascularisation elsewhere with vitreous haemorrhage) should receive laser treatment urgently.

10.3 TREATMENT

10.3.1 LASER PHOTOCOAGULATION

Severe visual impairment (legal blindness) can be reduced through laser photocoagulation for people who have severe or very severe non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy, new vessels elsewhere with vitreous haemorrhage^{611, 633, 652, 655} and new vessels elsewhere without vitreous haemorrhage in people with type 2 diabetes.⁶⁵⁶

Macular laser using the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) modified grid can slow visual impairment in people with diabetes and macular oedema affecting the fovea in the absence of predominant macular ischaemia.^{634, 635, 657 658}

Although there are no clinical trial data assessing the effect of laser on preventing lesser levels of visual impairment or surgical intervention in people with type 1 diabetes and new vessels elsewhere it is common practice in the UK to offer laser photocoagulation.

There are no clinical trial data assessing the strategy of whether treatment should be deferred in diffuse maculopathy until visual acuity is affected. There is no evidence for the use of laser in ischaemic maculopathy.

- A All people with type 1 or type 2 diabetes with new vessels at the disc or iris should receive laser photocoagulation.
 - Laser photocoagulation should also be provided for patients with new vessels elsewhere with vitreous haemorrhage.
 - All people with type 2 diabetes and new vessels elsewhere should receive laser photocoagulation.
- D All people with type 1 diabetes with new vessels elsewhere should receive laser photocoagulation.
- A Patients with severe or very severe non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy should receive close follow up or laser photocoagulation.
- A Modified ETDRS grid laser photocoagulation should be used for patients with clinically significant macular oedema in the absence of significant macular ischaemia.

1++

1++

3

4

1 + +

10.3.2 VITRECTOMY

Early vitrectomy is of proven value for improving long term vision in patients with type 1 diabetes and persistent vitreous haemorrhage. Its value in type 2 diabetes is less certain. Patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes who have severe fibrovascular proliferation with or without retinal detachment threatening the macula also have better visual acuity after vitrectomy.⁶⁵⁹

Patients with type 1 diabetes and persistent vitreous haemorrhage should be referred for early vitrectomy.

B Vitrectomy should be performed in patients with tractional retinal detachment threatening the macula and should be considered in patients with severe fibrovascular proliferation.

Patients with type 2 diabetes and vitreous haemorrhage which is too severe to allow photocoagulation should be referred for consideration of a vitrectomy.

10.3.3 CATARACT EXTRACTIONS IN PATIENTS WITH DIABETES

Visual outcome following cataract surgery in patients with diabetes is closely linked to age and severity of retinopathy present before surgery.^{660, 661} Whilst postoperative progression of pre-existing proliferative diabetic retinopathy and CSMO has been documented, the balance of evidence does not show an increase in long term incidence of CSMO or diabetic retinopathy following cataract extraction.^{660-662,663}

1⁺⁺ 2⁺⁺

1++

1+

1+

- B Cataract extraction should not be delayed in patients with diabetes.
- C Cataract extraction is advised when sight-threatening retinopathy cannot be excluded.

C When cataract extraction is planned in the context of advanced disease, which is not stabilised prior to surgery, the risk of progression and the need for close postoperative review should be fully discussed with the patient.

10.3.4 PHARMACOLOGICAL THERAPY

Fenofibrate reduced the risk of progression of retinopathy and the need for laser treatment in patients with type 2 diabetes.^{463, 664} In this trial retinopathy was not the primary outcome, the outcomes were not explained by a change in the serum lipid profile and the effect was independent of its lipid-lowering properties.

Intravitreal triamcinolone may provide a short term reduction in retinal thickness and a corresponding improvement in visual acuity.⁶⁶⁵⁻⁶⁶⁷ In the long term it does not appear to have any benefit over laser treatment.⁶⁶⁸⁻⁶⁷⁰ A small RCT showed that triamcinolone may be useful in patients who do not respond to laser, although in this trial there was a risk of raising intraocular pressure; 68% of patients were affected, with 44% requiring glaucoma medication and 54% of patients requiring cataract surgery.⁶⁷¹

One small RCT identified a non-statistically significant improvement in visual acuity and reduction in clinically significant macular oedema in patients on simvastatin.⁶⁷² A second small RCT of patients with type 2 diabetes and elevated serum lipids at baseline, found atorvastatin reduced the severity of hard exudates (p=0.007) post-laser, although the clinical significance of this is not certain.⁶⁷³

Insufficient evidence was identified to warrant routine usage of antivascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) therapies for the treatment of proliferative diabetic retinopathy or diabetic macular oedema either as stand-alone therapy or as an adjuvant to laser therapy. Phase II trials show a beneficial effect when used in combination with laser.^{674,675-679}

There is no good evidence for any additional benefit of ACE inhibitors in diabetic eye disease. In one multicentred RCT which addressed this issue, the baseline data were not well matched between control and ACE inhibitors groups and retinopathy was not a primary outcome for the study.⁶⁸⁰

In post hoc analysis of three RCTs which did not reach their primary end point, an ARB appeared to significantly reduce the incidence of new-onset retinopathy in patients with type 1 diabetes by 35% (HR 0.65, 95% Cl 0.48 to 0.87) when measured as a change of three steps in the ETDRS scale, rather than the two steps in the original study design.^{681, 682} Treatment with an ARB enhanced regression of retinopathy by 34% (p = 0.009) in patients with type 2 diabetes.⁶⁸² These effects were only found in patients with early retinopathy.

Despite the initial Protein Kinase C Diabetic Retinopathy Study (PKC-DRS) showing a trend suggesting a beneficial effect on moderate visual loss, the follow-up PKC-DRS study showed that the progression to sight-threatening macular oedema was not significantly reduced. A subgroup analysis did indicate slower progression of diabetic macular oedema in the group treated with 32 mg ruboxistaurin (p = 0.4).^{683, 684} A further sub-analysis of data from the PKC-DRS study suggests that ruboxistaurin may slow visual acuity loss although this outcome was not a primary end point and was not prospectively defined.⁶⁸⁵

Although a number of treatments for diabetic retinopathy are of interest, there is no compelling evidence for their routine use.

10.4 REHABILITATION

There is very little evidence relating to programmes of rehabilitation for patients with diabetic eye disease. Awareness of low vision aids is poor, but once available, patients benefit from being instructed in their use. Delay in registration can lead to reduced awareness of available disability benefits and support.⁶⁸⁶

Any level of visual impairment that results in a recognised disability for a patient will allow direct referral to a local low vision network and/or visual impairment team for assessment and ongoing support.

Low vision aid clinics⁶⁸⁷ and community self help groups^{688, 689} as part of a low vision service can 3 improve the quality of life and functional ability for patients with visual impairment.^{690, 691} 4

D Community support, maximising disability benefits, low vision aids and training in their use should be provided to people with diabetes and visual impairment.

Patients with visual impairment should be assisted to register as blind/partially sighted as soon as they fulfil the criteria.

10.5 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

Screening

When sent an appointment for screening, patients should be given the National Screening leaflet outlining:

- the screening procedure and the difference between screening and treatment
- the importance of early identification of retinopathy
- practical information relating to attendance and preparation for screening visits.

1-

Referral to a specialist eye clinic

When invited to attend the eye clinic patients should be advised:

- to bring dark glasses as daylight may seem strong following dilation of the eye pupils
- that it will not be possible to drive a vehicle for around two hours, sometimes longer, following dilation
- there may be some discomfort following the eye drops and examination but it should pass in a few minutes.

At the end of the appointment the following should be discussed with the patient:

- the proposed course of action and any medication or treatment which may be involved
- self help advice relating to blood glucose control, diet and blood pressure
- advice that although changes have occurred these can be improved (depending on extent of change) and, if necessary, timely treatment can stop progression
- the interval for a follow-up appointment
- details of support services
- driving and DVLA regulations/restrictions.

Diagnosis as partially sighted or blind

- Patients should be advised of the process for visual impairment registration with the local social work department. This should be done as soon as possible after diagnosis so that benefits, assistance and assessment of support can be put in place.
- Advice should be provided on other local support services for emotional and family support as well as ongoing patient support, eg Royal National Institute for the Blind, Guide Dogs for the Blind, Citizens Advice Bureau, Council social work offices and support organisations for carers.
- Information on contacting the DVLA and insurance company should be provided.

11 Management of diabetic foot disease

11.1 EPIDEMIOLOGY AND RISK FACTORS

Based on United Kingdom population surveys, diabetic foot problems are a common complication of diabetes with prevalences of 23-42% for neuropathy, 9-23% for vascular disease and 5-7% for foot ulceration. Amputation rates are higher in patients with diabetes than patients without diabetes.⁶⁹²

Patients with diabetes are at increased risk of peripheral arterial disease (PAD), especially when other associated risk factors are present, for example smoking, hypertension and hypercholesterolaemia. Diabetic foot ulceration is principally associated with PAD and peripheral neuropathy, often in combination. Other factors associated with increased risk include previous amputation,⁶⁹³ previous ulceration,⁶⁹⁴ the presence of callus,⁶⁹⁵ joint deformity,⁶⁹⁶ visual/mobility problems⁶⁹⁷ and male sex.⁶⁹⁴ The cumulative effect of these risk factors is at least additive.⁶⁹⁶

11.2 RISK STRATIFICATION

 \square

Diabetic foot screening is effective in identifying the level of risk of developing foot ulceration in patients with diabetes.⁶⁹⁸⁻⁷⁰¹ A systematic review of 16 observational studies found that simple tests are effective at predicting those at risk of developing foot ulceration.⁶⁹⁸ Further studies found that risk stratification can identify those at increased risk of developing foot ulceration.⁷⁰⁰ Patients screened as being low risk have a 99.6% (95% CI 99.5 to 99.7%) chance of remaining free from ulceration (follow up at 1.7 years) and were 83 times less likely to ulcerate than the high-risk group.⁷⁶⁰

Simple tests such as the use of 10 g monofilament, palpation of pulses, neuropathy disability score, presence of significant structural abnormality and previous ulceration, when routinely used during screening are effective at predicting ulceration.⁷⁰⁰ A neurothesiometer can be used as part of a more formal assessment to detect peripheral neuropathy, as can Doppler ultrasound to detect foot pulses. Ankle brachial pressure index can be used to assess for PAD, however it should be interpreted with caution in patients with diabetes as it is often falsely elevated.⁷⁰²

2++

2++

2+

2-

B All patients with diabetes should be screened to assess their risk of developing a foot ulcer.

There is no evidence to support the frequency of screening; however the guideline group considers that at least annual screening from the diagnosis of diabetes is appropriate.

The result of a foot screening examination should be entered onto an online screening tool, such as SCI-DC, to provide automatic risk stratification and a recommended management plan, including patient information (see Figure 1).



Figure 1: Diabetic foot risk stratification and triage. Reproduced by kind permission of the Scottish Diabetes Group - Foot Action Group.

11.3 PATIENT EDUCATION

Several studies have assessed the role of foot education in patients with diabetes. Studies to date have been heterogeneous using different patient populations with small numbers and variable end points giving inconclusive findings. Previous work in this area indicated that at one year follow up, where patients had agreed 'personalised behavioural contracts', there was a significant reduction in serious lesions.⁷⁰³ A further study demonstrated little or no effect of a general education programme after 18 months follow up.⁷⁰⁴

A single RCT of patients with previous diabetic foot disease suggested that intensive education may be effective in the prevention of amputation or recurrent ulceration.⁷⁰⁵

Programmes which include education with podiatry show a positive effect on minor foot problems at relatively short follow up.^{706, 707} Access to a podiatrist reduces the number and size of foot calluses and improves self care.⁷⁰⁷

More recent studies assessing the effectiveness of structured education programmes for patients at high risk of diabetes-associated foot disease found an improvement in overall knowledge and foot care behaviours but no change in the incidence of foot ulceration or in amputation rates.^{24, 708}



Foot care education is recommended as part of a multidisciplinary approach in all patients with diabetes.

11.4 PREVENTATIVE FOOTWEAR AND ORTHOSES

Plantar pressure using ordinary shoes is similar to walking barefoot. Running-style, cushion-soled trainers can reduce plantar pressure more than ordinary shoes but not as much as custom-built shoes.^{709, 710}

There is limited evidence that padded hosiery can reduce peak plantar pressures.⁷¹¹

B Patients with diabetic foot disease should be advised to wear running-style, cushionsoled trainers rather than ordinary shoes.

The use of custom-made foot orthoses and prescription footwear reduces the plantar callus thickness and incidence of ulcer relapse.^{706,712-714} Patients who routinely wear their prescription shoes and orthoses are less likely to have ulcer relapse.⁷¹⁵



Custom-built footwear or orthotic insoles should be used to reduce callus severity and ulcer recurrence.

2+

11.5 MANAGEMENT OF ACTIVE FOOT DISEASE

11.5.1 MULTIDISCIPLINARY FOOT CLINIC

In the absence of a multidisciplinary foot care team, foot lesions are more likely to lead to amputation. Multidisciplinary foot care teams allow intensive treatment and rapid access to orthopaedic and vascular surgery. This allows control of infection and revascularisation when needed. Wound healing and foot-saving amputations can then be successfully achieved, reducing the rate of major amputations.^{716-718, 719} Adherence to locally established protocols may reduce length of hospital stay and major complication rates.^{720, 721}

A cohort study demonstrated that aggressive cardiovascular intervention in the multidisciplinary diabetic foot care clinic reduced mortality at five years by 38% in patients with neuroischaemia and 47% in patients with neuropathy (p < 0.001).⁷²²

C Patients with active diabetic foot disease should be referred to a multidisciplinary diabetic foot care service.

- A multidisciplinary foot team should include:
 - podiatrist
 - diabetes physician
 - orthotist
 - diabetes nurse specialist
 - vascular surgeon
 - orthopaedic surgeon
 - radiologist.
- A multidisciplinary foot service should address cardiovascular risk management.

11.5.2 DEBRIDEMENT

Evidence on local sharp debridement, surgical debridement, larvae therapy and hydrojet therapy proved insufficient to draw any conclusions. Clinical experience suggests that in an appropriate setting any of these methods of debridement are useful in the management of patients with diabetic foot disease. Local sharp debridement should be considered first followed by the others depending on the clinical presentation or response of a wound.

11.5.3 PRESSURE RELIEF

A single RCT showed that treatment of patients with unilateral plantar ulcers using total contact 1+ casting can reduce the healing time to a mean of approximately six weeks.⁷²³⁻⁷²⁵ 2+

Prefabricated walkers, when made irremovable, are a viable alternative to total contact casting.⁷²⁶⁻⁷²⁹ They are almost as good at reducing pressure, have similar ulcer healing rates (95% v 85%), are more cost effective and less time consuming.⁷²⁷

A small study of 40 patients suggested that moderate weight bearing following plaster application is not detrimental.⁷³⁰

Use of 'half shoes' reduces the time to complete closure of the ulcer to a mean of 10 weeks.⁷³¹

Patients who have unilateral plantar ulcers should be assessed for treatment using total contact casting to optimise the healing rate of ulcers.

B

Prefabricated walkers can be used as an alternative if they are rendered irremovable.

☑ The walkers should be specially designed for use with the diabetic foot and should always incorporate a total contact insole.

1+

1⁺⁺ 2⁺⁺

2++

11.5.4 ANTIBIOTIC THERAPY

No single broad spectrum antibiotic regimen was shown to be more effective over another in the treatment of patients with diabetic foot ulcers.⁷³²⁻⁷³⁴

There is no evidence for the optimal duration or route of antibiotic therapy in the treatment of patients with diabetic foot ulcers. A consensus good practice guideline for the treatment of infected diabetic foot ulcers is available.⁷³⁵

✓ Treatment of a patient with an infected diabetic foot ulcer and/or osteomyelitis should be commenced immediately with an antibiotic in accordance with local or national protocols. Subsequent antibiotic regimens may be modified with reference to bacteriology and clinical response.

11.5.5 NEGATIVE PRESSURE WOUND THERAPY

In the treatment of active diabetic foot ulceration and postoperative wounds, several studies of variable methodological quality assessed the role of negative pressure wound therapy (NPWT) as an adjunct to standard wound care. Results from a systematic review of four RCTs of weak to moderate quality and a more recent RCT, the largest to date involving 342 patients, have suggested a benefit in using NPWT compared to advanced moist wound therapy.^{736, 737} NPWT appears to increase the proportion of patients who acheive complete ulcer closure (42.2% achieved complete ulcer closure with vacuum assisted closure/NWPT compared to 28.9% with standard dressings)⁷³⁶ and lowers the rate of secondary amputation (absolute risk reduction 7.9%).⁷³⁷



Negative pressure wound therapy should be considered in patients with active diabetic foot ulcers or postoperative wounds.

11.5.6 ARTERIAL RECONSTRUCTION

Patients with diabetes are more prone to PAD than patients without diabetes. This includes both proximal (aorto-iliac and femoral) and distal (calf and foot) disease. Rates of limb salvage following distal bypass surgery are relatively high. Salvage rates of around 80% are reported in the initial presence of tissue loss (gangrene and ulceration).⁷³⁸ Increased frequency of distal bypass is associated with reduced frequency of amputation.⁷³⁹⁻⁷⁴¹

Infra-popliteal bypass surgery and angioplasty have similar reported limb salvage rates (around 80% at three years) in patients with critical limb ischaemia.^{742, 743} A single RCT has demonstrated broadly similar medium term results with a surgery-first approach and an angioplasty-first approach to infra-inguinal reconstruction.⁷⁴⁴

B

All patients with critical limb ischaemia, including rest pain, ulceration and tissue loss, should be considered for arterial reconstruction.

11.5.7 CHARCOT NEUROARTHROPATHY OF THE FOOT

Charcot neuroarthropathy of the foot is a neuroarthropathic process with osteoporosis, fracture, acute inflammation and disorganisation of foot architecture. During the acute phase, Charcot neuroarthopathy of the foot can be difficult to distinguish from infection.

Clinical diagnosis of Charcot neuroarthropathy is based on the appearance of a red, swollen oedematous and possibly painful foot in the absence of infection. It is associated with increased bone blood flow, osteopenia and fracture or dislocation; however the disease process can become quiescent with increased bone formation, osteosclerosis, spontaneous arthrodesis and ankylosis.⁷⁴⁵

Acute Charcot neuroarthropathy is associated with a skin temperature 2 to 8°C higher than the contralateral foot as measured on thermography.^{746, 747}

2++

1+

1+

2++

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) cannot reliably distinguish acute Charcot neuroarthropathy from osteomyelitis. It does, however, provide additional information on boney involvement.

- C Diagnosis of Charcot neuroarthropathy of the foot should be made by clinical examination.
 - Post-diagnosis thermography can be used to monitor disease activity.
- MRI can be used to detect early changes of Charcot neuroarthropathy which cannot be identified by X-ray.
- V

Suspected Charcot neuroarthropathy of the foot is an emergency and should be referred immediately to the multidisciplinary foot team.

Treatment of patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy of the foot in contact casting is associated with a reduction in skin temperature as measured by thermography and in bone activity as measured by bone isotope uptake compared to the normal foot.⁷⁴⁷ One follow-up study showed that non-weight bearing and foot protection with therapeutic shoes resulted in a resolution rate of 96% in patients with diabetic foot deformities.⁷⁴⁶

D Total contact casting and non-weight bearing are effective treatments for patients with acute Charcot neuroarthropathy of the foot.

There is insufficient evidence to recommend the routine use of bisphosphonates in patients with acute Charcot neuroarthropathy of the foot, although case series involving small numbers of patients indicate that they may reduce skin temperature and bone turnover in active Charcot neuroarthropathy.^{748, 749}

11.6 PAINFUL DIABETIC NEUROPATHY

11.6.1 PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENT

There is good evidence that several agents can improve symptom control and quality of life in painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN). The evidence base for direct comparison of different agents is limited. Older generation tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) amitriptyline, imipramine and desipramine are effective for the treatment of painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN).^{750, 751} More recent evidence has found that newer antidepressants can also be beneficial in DPN. Duloxetine has been shown to reduce pain intensity and improve quality of life. There appears to be no benefit in using higher doses as 60 mg was shown to be as effective as 120 mg/day.^{752, 753} Venlafaxine can also significantly reduce pain intensity although higher doses (150-225 mg) were required.^{754, 755} There was no increase in adverse effects with the higher dose.

Anticonvulsants such as carbamazepine and gabapentin have been shown to be more effective than placebo in reducing symptoms of painful DPN.^{750, 751, 756} Gabapentin is superior to placebo in patients with DPN and one RCT indicated it had fewer side effects than TCAs.⁷⁵⁶ Pregabalin is an effective agent for the treatment of patients with painful DPN.^{757, 758} Opiate analgesia in combination with gabapentin can improve symptom control in patients not controlled on monotherapy.^{757, 758}

1++

1 + +

1+

- 1+
- The initial treatment of DPN is dependent on individual patient choice, dosing regimens, cost and side effect profile.
- A Antidepressants, including tricyclics, duloxetine and venlafaxine should be considered for the treatment of patients with painful DPN.
- A Anticonvulsants, including pregabalin and gabapentin should be considered for the treatment of patients with painful DPN.
- **B** Opiate analgesia in combination with gabapentin should be considered for the treatment of patients with painful DPN which cannot be controlled with monotherapy.

11.6.2 NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENT

No evidence was identified on the effectiveness of acupuncture, cognitive behavioural therapy, anodyne therapy or transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulator in the treatment of patients with painful DPN.

11.7 CHECKLIST FOR PROVISION OF INFORMATION

This section gives examples of the information patients/carers may find helpful at the key stages of the patient journey. The checklist was designed by members of the guideline development group based on their experience and their understanding of the evidence base. The checklist is neither exhaustive nor exclusive.

Screening

During annual foot screening patients should receive verbal and written advice on the following:

- how diabetes affects their feet
- why it is important to have foot screening and risk assessment
- how to care for their feet and when to seek help
- how to contact podiatry services within working hours
- what to do in an emergency out of hours
- patients should be offered NHSScotland leaflets on Low, Moderate or High Risk (available from www.sdsp.org.uk/patientleaflets). These leaflets should only be provided after screening and should be part of their management plan.
- other NHSScotland foot advice leaflets as appropriate, eg Footwear Advice Leaflet, Holiday Feet and Charcot Foot.

Treatment and management

Patients at high risk of ulceration or amputation, or who have previously had ulceration or amputation should be provided with a management plan prepared with their input. Those who present with no risk factors should be given advice regarding self care and self management.

Active foot disease

Patients with active foot ulceration should be referred to a multidisciplinary footcare service for the following advice and information:

- multidisciplinary footcare service emergency contact details
- emergency out of hours contact details
- risk factor modification, eg smoking cessation and good glycaemic control
- wound care and antibiotics, when required
- appropriate off loading
- complications as a result of therapy
- relevant patient support leaflets, eg Looking After Your Foot Ulcer, Charcot Foot.

12 Provision of information

This section reflects the issues likely to be of most concern to patients and their carers. These points are provided for use by health professionals when discussing diabetes with patients and carers and in guiding the production of locally produced information materials.

12.1 SOURCES OF FURTHER INFORMATION

12.1.1 NATIONAL ORGANISATIONS

Diabetes Information Plus

www.diabetesinfoplus.scot.nhs.uk

Provides access to diabetes information leaflets, and information on diabetes support groups, social security benefits, medicines and treatments and the evidence on which treatments are based.

Diabetes in Scotland

www.diabetesinscotland.org.uk

Diabetes UK (Scottish office) The Venlaw, 349 Bath Street, Glasgow, G2 4AA Tel: 0141 245 6380 • Careline 0845 120 2960 www.diabetes.org.uk • Email: Scotland@diabetes.org.uk

Diabetes UK provides a range of information on diabetes including leaflets, fact sheets and Diabetes UK's magazine Balance. They provide advice on all aspects of diabetes including diabetic care, diet, holidays and insurance.

Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency

www.dft.gov.uk/dvla/medical.aspx

Healthtalkonline

www.healthtalkonline.org

Healthtalk online is the website of the DIPEx charity. It provides access to people's experiences of living with diabetes.

Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation

Suite 5, 2nd Floor, Salvesen Tower, Blaikies Quay, Aberdeen, AB11 5PW Tel: 01224 582777 www.jdrf.org.uk • Email: info@jdrf.org.uk

Provides a range of information and support to families and individuals affected by type 1 diabetes. They produce a magazine specifically for children and young people.

My Diabetes My Way

www.mydiabetesmyway.scot.nhs.uk

NHSScotland interactive diabetes website to help support people who have diabetes and their family and friends. You'll find leaflets, videos, educational tools and games containing information about diabetes.

13 Implementing the guideline

This section provides advice on the resource implications associated with implementing the key clinical recommendations, and advice on audit as a tool to aid implementation.

Implementation of national clinical guidelines is the responsibility of each NHS Board and is an essential part of clinical governance. Mechanisms should be in place to review care provided against the guideline recommendations. The reasons for any differences should be assessed and addressed where appropriate. Local arrangements should then be made to implement the national guideline in individual hospitals, units and practices.

13.1 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS OF KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

A cost and resource impact report and an associated spreadsheet have been developed to provide each NHS board with resource and cost information to support the implementation of the recommendations judged to have a material impact on resources (see *Table 7*). These documents are available from the SIGN website: **www.sign.ac.uk**

Recommendation		
A	Obese adults with type 2 diabetes should be offered individualised interventions to encourage weight loss (including lifestyle, pharmacological or surgical interventions) in order to improve metabolic control.	3.6.2
A	Children and adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes should be offered psychological interventions (including motivational interviewing, goal setting skills and CBT) to improve glycaemic control in the short and medium term.	
A	CSII therapy is associated with modest improvements in glycaemic control and should be considered for patients unable to achieve their glycaemic targets.	5.3.2
B	CSII therapy should be considered in patients who experience recurring episodes of severe hypoglycaemia.	5.3.2
V	An insulin pump is recommended for those with very low basal insulin requirements (such as infants and very young children), for whom even small doses of basal insulin analogue may result in hypoglycaemia.	5.3.2
V	Pump therapy should be available from a local multidisciplinary pump clinic for patients who have undertaken structured education.	5.3.2
A	Soluble human insulin or rapid-acting insulin analogues can be used when intensifying insulin regimens to improve or maintain glycaemic control.	SIGN 154 section 10.4.2
A	A suitable programme to detect and treat gestational diabetes should be offered to all women in pregnancy.	7.8
A	Intensive lipid-lowering therapy with atorvastatin 80 mg should be considered for patients with diabetes and acute coronary syndromes, objective evidence of coronary heart disease on angiography or following coronary revascularisation procedures.	8.4.7
A	In patients with diabetes, DES are recommended as opposed to BMS in stable coronary heart disease or non-ST elevation myocardial infarction to reduce in-stent re-stenosis and target lesion revascularisation.	8.6.4

13.2 AUDITING CURRENT PRACTICE

A first step in implementing a clinical practice guideline is to gain an understanding of current clinical practice. Audit tools designed around guideline recommendations can assist in this process. Audit tools should be comprehensive but not time consuming to use. Successful implementation and audit of guideline recommendations requires good communication between staff and multidisciplinary team working.

The guideline development group has identified the following as key points to audit to assist with the implementation of this guideline:

13.2.1 LIFESTYLE MANAGEMENT

- The availability of specific structured education programmes for people with type 1 or type 2 diabetes at Health Board level and capacity of available programmes.
- The proportion of patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes being offered structured education, including measurement of the proportion who are invited, and who fail to attend.
- Evaluation of glycaemic and QoL outcomes in patients attending structured education programmes.
- Availability of services in each Health Board for patients with diabetes who are obese/ overweight including, dietetic, psychological support and bariatric surgery.
- Measurement of outcomes (weight, diabetes resolution, glycaemia) in patients receiving these interventions.

13.2.2 PSYCHOSOCIAL FACTORS

- Extent to which services regularly assess psychological problems in children and adults.
- Frequency with which the service refers children and adults for psychological interventions to improve glycaemic control.

13.2.3 MANAGEMENT OF TYPE 1 DIABETES

- Monitoring of provision of a private area for SMBG and insulin injection at school, and the availability of assistance for these activities.
- Examples of good working collaboration between education and health services should be recorded.
- 13.2.4 PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT OF GLYCAEMIC CONTROL IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES

See SIGN 154 Pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes, section 13.3

13.2.5 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES IN PREGNANCY

- Outcomes of managing women with type 1 and type 2 diabetes during pregnancy including birth weight, rate of macrosomia, intrauterine growth retardation and shoulder dystocia, caesarean section rate, perinatal mortality rate and neonatal hypoglycaemia.
- Number of women diagnosed with GDM under the international consensus criteria.
- Outcomes of managing women with GDM using the international consensus criteria including birth weight, rate of macrosomia, intrauterine growth retardation and shoulder dystocia, caesarean section rate, perinatal mortality rate and neonatal hypoglycaemia.

13.2.6 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETIC CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

- Numbers of diabetic patients aged over 40 years on statins.
- Numbers of patients receiving intensive glycaemic control following acute coronary syndromes.
- Numbers of patients with previous acute coronary syndromes on beta blockers.
- Numbers of patients with chronic heart failure on beta blockers.

13.2.7 MANAGEMENT OF KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETES

- Proportion of people with diabetes who have eGFR and urine protein excretion assessed annually.
- Proportion of people with diabetes who have stage 3, 4 and 5 CKD and who have microalbuminuria and diabetic nephropathy.
- Proportion of people with diabetic kidney disease who are receiving an ACE inhibitor or an ARB.
- Proportion of people with diabetic kidney disease who have BP > 120/70 and 135/75 mm Hg respectively.
- Proportion of people with diabetes and CKD stage 3-5 who have haemoglobin checked annually.

13.2.8 PREVENTION OF VISUAL IMPAIRMENT

- The proportion of patients receiving retinal screening within the appropriate timescale for them (ie 6, 12 or 24 months).
- The proportion of patients with referable retinopathy.
- The mean, and maximum time from the episode of retinal screening to being seen in an ophthalmology clinic.
- The mean, and maximum time from retinal screening to receiving laser photocoagulation, where required.
- Retinal grading should undergo internal and external quality assurance.
- The proportion of patients registered with partial vision or blindness who receive disability benefits.
- The proportion of patients registered with partial vision or blindness who receive low vision aids.
- The proportion of eligible patients receiving the national Diabetes Retinal Screening leaflet.

13.2.9 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETIC FOOT DISEASE

- To determine if the traffic light system improves care.
- Implementation of patient leaflets and patient satisfaction with them.

13.3 ADDITIONAL ADVICE TO NHSSCOTLAND FROM NHS QUALITY IMPROVEMENT SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH MEDICINES CONSORTIUM

The Scottish Medicines Consortium has published guidance on a range of drugs used in the management of people with diabetes. A summary of these findings is available from the SIGN web site (**www.sign.ac.uk**).

NHS Quality Improvement Scotland advises that the recommendations in the following NICE technology apprisals are as valid for Scotland as for England and Wales:

- NICE Technology Appraisal Guidance No 53 The use of long-acting insulin analogues for the treatment of diabetes - insulin glargine (Dec 2002)
- NICE Technology Appraisal Guidance 60 guidance on the use of patient-education models for diabetes (May 2003)
- NICE (Multiple) Technology Appraisal Guidance No 151 insulin pump therapy (Jul 2008).

14 The evidence base

14.1 SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW

The evidence base for this guideline was synthesised in accordance with SIGN methodology. A systematic review of the literature was carried out using an explicit search strategy devised by a SIGN Information Officer. Databases searched include Medline, Embase, Cinahl, PsycINFO and the Cochrane Library. The year range covered was 2003-2009. Internet searches were carried out on various websites including the US National Guidelines Clearinghouse. The main searches were supplemented by material identified by individual members of the development group. Each of the selected papers was evaluated by two members of the group using standard SIGN methodological checklists before conclusions were considered as evidence.

14.1.1 LITERATURE SEARCH FOR PATIENT ISSUES

At the start of the guideline development process, a SIGN Information Officer conducted a literature search for qualitative and quantitative studies that addressed patient issues of relevance to management of patients with diabetes. Databases searched include Medline, Embase, Cinahl and PsycINFO, and the results were summarised and presented to the guideline development group. A copy of the Medline version of the patient search strategy is available on the SIGN website.

14.2 **RECOMMENDATIONS FOR RESEARCH**

The guideline development group was not able to identify sufficient evidence to answer all of the key questions asked in this guideline (see Annex 1). The following areas for further research have been identified:

14.2.1 LIFESTYLE MANAGEMENT

- Further research on the role of blood glucose monitoring and its cost effectiveness in specific subgroups of patients with type 2 diabetes.
- Head-to-head comparisons of interventions to reduce obesity in patients with type 2 diabetes, including effect on glycaemic control.
- Further research on the benefits of blood ketone monitoring.
- Which smoking cessation interventions are most effective in people with diabetes?

14.2.2 PSYCHOSOCIAL FACTORS

- Longitudinal studies of newly diagnosed patients, investigating causal links between diabetes, symptoms, self management and aspects of psychological functioning are required.
- Clinically relevant screening tools to identify psychological problems require validation for use with adults and/or children with diabetes.
- Most research has focused on HbA1c as the main outcome for self management interventions in diabetes. There is a need for theoretically based research studies which identify the relationship between specific self-management behaviours and positive psychological outcomes (such as quality of life, well-being) in diabetes.
- Effective treatments for clinically significant psychological problems in adults and children with diabetes.
- Effectiveness of psychological interventions to improve shorter and longer term health outcomes for specific groups such as those with poor control.
14.2.3 MANAGEMENT OF TYPE 1 DIABETES

- Evidence for an optimal range of HbA1c targets for adults and children with type 1 diabetes based on intensive treat to target trials.
- Large RCTs comparing CSII therapy to MDI therapy with insulin analogues, which assess glycaemic control and rates of hypoglycaemia, DKA and validated QoL assessment are lacking. Such studies should not restrict entry on the basis of hypoglycaemia.
- Does managing hospitalised patients with type 1 diabetes with a dedicated inpatient diabetes team lead to shorter stays in hospital, reduced morbidity and reduced costs compared with standard care?
- Identification of the optimal evidence based process for transition from paediatric to adult services, taking into account measures of glycaemic control, psychological adjustment, loss to follow up and provision of specialist resources.

14.2.4 PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT OF GLYCAEMIC CONTROL IN PEOPLE WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES

See SIGN 154 Pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes, section 14.2

14.2.5 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES IN PREGNANCY

- Optimal timing of delivery in pregnant women with diabetes.
- Frequency and modality of retinopathy screening in pregnant women.

14.2.6 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETIC CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

- Intensive management of hyperglycaemia following acute coronary syndromes.
- Drug treatment of chronic heart failure in patients with diabetes.
- Glycaemic treatment of diabetic patients with chronic heart failure.
- Possible benefits of non-statin lipid-lowering drugs in patients with diabetes.

14.2.7 MANAGEMENT OF KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETES

- What are the mechanisms behind the racial differences in kidney disease prevalence and adverse outcomes?
- Do any anti-diabetic therapies have a specific reno-protective effect?
- In light of recent trial evidence, does blockade of the RAAS prevent the development of microalbuminuria in low-risk patients.
- Does combination therapy with both ACE inhibitors and ARBs have an additive effect in preventing the progression of diabetic kidney disease in high-risk patients and what is the prevalence of adverse events associated with such dual therapy?
- Do mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists and direct renin inhibitors prevent the progression of diabetic kidney disease?
- Does statin therapy prevent the progression of diabetic kidney disease?
- Do erythropoeisis-stimulating agents specifically improve outcomes in people with diabetes and kidney disease and what is the appropriate target haemoglobin concentration?

14.2.8 PREVENTION OF VISUAL IMPAIRMENT

- To ascertain whether or not there has been any marked change in the number of young people pre- and post-puberty with retinopathy, particularly in Scotland, bearing in mind the increased numbers diagnosed at earlier ages.
- The accuracy of automated grading measured aginst a gold-standard reference in cohorts of patients with different levels of retinal disease.
- The accuracy of OCT in screening for macular oedema.
- Identification of reasons for non-attendance at retinal screening and comparison of interventions to improve uptake.
- Investigation of non-use of low vision aids services in people who are eligible for these.

14.2.9 MANAGEMENT OF DIABETIC FOOT DISEASE

- Clinical and cost effectiveness of screening for diabetic foot disease.
- Effectiveness of different debridement techniques for improving healing outcomes in patients with active foot ulceration.
- Effectiveness of hyperbaric oxygen in improving ulcer healing outcomes in patients with active foot ulceration.
- Foot orthosis (construction, matching biomechanics with tissue mechanics).
- Role of vascular interventions in healed ulcers.
- Head-to-head comparisons of pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions to treat painful diabetic neuropathy.
- Role of structured education in high-risk patients to affect ulcer events/amputation or preventing recurrent events in patients with leg ulcer.

14.3 **REVIEW AND UPDATING**

This guideline was issued in 2010 and will be considered for review in three years. The review history, and any updates to the guideline in the interim period, will be noted in the review report, which is available in the supporting material section for this guideline on the SIGN website: **www.sign.ac.uk**

Comments on new evidence that would update this guideline are welcome and should be sent to the SIGN Executive, Gyle Square, 1 South Gyle Crescent, Edinburgh, EH12 9EB (email: sign@sign.ac.uk).

15 Development of the guideline

15.1 INTRODUCTION

SIGN is a collaborative network of clinicians, other healthcare professionals and patient organisations and is part of NHS Quality Improvement Scotland. SIGN guidelines are developed by multidisciplinary groups of practising clinicians using a standard methodology based on a systematic review of the evidence. Further details about SIGN and the guideline development methodology are contained in "SIGN 50: A Guideline Developer's Handbook", available at **www.sign.ac.uk**

15.2 THE GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT GROUP

15.2.1 LIFESTYLE SUBGROUP

Dr Stephen Gallacher (Chair)	Consultant Physician, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow
Dr Karen Adamson	Consultant Diabetologist, St John's Hospital at Howden, Livingston
Dr Satinder Bal	Consultant in Endocrinology, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness
Ms Janet Barclay	Diabetes Specialist Nurse, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh
Dr Christine Findlay	Consultant Paediatrician, Crosshouse Hospital, Kilmarnock
Dr Helen Hopkinson	Consultant Physician, Victoria Infirmary, Glasgow
Dr Alison Kirk	Lecturer in Physical Activity for Health, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow
Dr Vincent McAulay	Consultant Physician and Diabetologist, Crosshouse Hospital, Kilmarnock
Dr Katharine Morrison	General Practitioner, Ballochmyle Medical Group, Mauchline
Dr Rebecca Reynolds	Senior Lecturer in Diabetes and Endocrinology, Queen's Medical Research Institute, Edinburgh
Dr Vivien Swanson	Chartered Health Psychologist, University of Stirling
Dr Debbie Wake	Specialist Registrar in Diabetes and Endocrinology, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh
Ms Sunita Wallia	Community and Research Dietitian, William Street Clinic, Glasgow

15.2.2 TYPE 1 DIABETES SUBGROUP

Dr Michael Small (Chair)	Consultant Diabetologist, Gartnavel General Hospital, Glasgow
Dr Ian Craigie	Staff Grade Paediatrician, Royal Hospital for Sick Children, Glasgow
Mrs Alison Johnston	Lead Clinical Paediatric Specialist Dietitian, Royal Hospital for Sick Children, Glasgow
Dr Andrew Keen	Health Psychologist, Royal Aberdeen Children's Hospital
Dr Chris Kelly	Consultant Endocrinologist, Stirling Royal Infirmary
Mrs Heather Maxwell	Diabetes Nurse Specialist, Gartnavel Hospital, Glasgow
Dr Amalia Mayo	Consultant Paediatrician, Royal Aberdeen Children's Hospital
Dr Colin Perry	Consultant Diabetologist, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
Dr Scott Williamson	Consultant Paediatrician, Crosshouse Hospital, Kilmarnock

15.2.3 PREGNANCY SUBGROUP

Reader in Diabetes and Endocrinology, British Heart Foundation, Glasgow
Consultant Obstetrician and Gynaecologist, Borders General Hospital, Melrose
Diabetes Specialist Nurse, Wishaw General Hospital
Consultant Physician, Royal Alexandra Hospital, Paisley
Consultant in Neonatology, Princess Royal Maternity Hospital, Glasgow
Consultant in Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh
Diabetes Nurse Specialist, Strathclyde Hospital, Motherwell
General Practitioner, Helensburgh Medical Centre
Consultant Obstetrician, Aberdeen Maternity Hospital
Pharmacist, Royal Alexandra Hospital, Paisley

15.2.4 CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE SUBGROUP

Dr Izhar Khan

Dr Alan Patrick

	Professor Miles Fisher (Chair)	Consultant Physician, Glasgow Royal Infirmary and Honorary Professor, University of Glasgow
	Miss Alison Cockburn	Pharmacist, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh
	Dr Ellie Dow	Consultant Biochemist, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee
	Dr Alistair Emslie-Smith	General Practitioner, Arthurstone Medical Centre, Dundee
	Dr Andrew Gallagher	Consultant Physician, Royal Victoria Infirmary, Glasgow
	Professor Martin McIntyre	Consultant Physician, Royal Alexandria Hospital, Paisley
	Dr Gerry McKay	Consultant Physician, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
	Mrs Isobel Miller	Patient Representative, Edinburgh
	Dr Mark Petrie	Consultant in Cardiology, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
15.2.5	KIDNEY SUBGROUP	
	Dr Mark Strachan (Chair)	Consultant Physician, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh
	Dr Corri Black	Senior Clinical Lecturer in Public Health, University of Aberdeen
	Dr Jane Goddard	Consultant Nephrologist, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh
	Dr Nicola Joss	Consultant Nephrologist, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness

Consultant Nephrologist, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness Consultant Physician, Aberdeen Royal Infirmary Consultant Physician, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh

15.2.6 VISUAL IMPAIRMENT SUBGROUP

Dr Graham Leese (Chair)	Consultant Physician, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Dr Graham Cormack	Consultant Ophthalmologist, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Dr Roderick Harvey	Consultant Diabetologist, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness
Ms Fiona Heggie	Clinical Nurse Coordinator – Retinal Screening, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
Dr John Hinnie	Consultant in Endocrinology, Victoria Infirmary, Glasgow
Dr Peter Leslie	Consultant Physician, Borders General Hospital, Melrose
Dr Alasdair Mackie	Consultant in General Medicine, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Mr Frank Munro	Optometrist, Glasgow
Dr John Olson	Consultant in Medical Ophthalmology, Aberdeen Royal Infirmary
Mr David Paul	Patient Representative, Glasgow
Dr Caroline Styles	Consultant in Ophthalmology, Queen Margaret Hospital, Dunfermline
Dr Graeme Williams	Consultant in Ophthalmology, Victoria Infirmary, Glasgow
Mrs Sandra Wilson	Diabetes Nurse Specialist, Kincardine Community Hospital, Stonehaven

15.2.7 FOOT DISEASE SUBGROUP

Dr Brian Kennon (Chair)	Consultant Diabetologist, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow
Ms Margaret Doyle	Podiatrist, Miller Road Clinic, Ayr
Dr Murray Flett	Consultant Vascular Surgeon, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Mr Amar Jain	Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Ms May Lavelle	Diabetes Specialist Nurse, Pollok Health Centre, Glasgow
Mr Kenneth Moyes	Orthotist, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Mr William Munro	Orthotic Director, Munro Bolton Orthotics Ltd, Glasgow
Dr Iain O'Brien	Consultant Physician, Wishaw General Hospital
Miss Diane Snell	Podiatrist, Victoria Hospital, Kirkcaldy
Mr Duncan Stang	Podiatrist/Researcher, Hairmyres Hospital, East Kilbride
Dr Matthew Young	Consultant Physician, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh

The membership of the guideline development group was confirmed following consultation with the member organisations of SIGN. All members of the guideline development group made declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request from the SIGN Executive.

Guideline development and literature review expertise, support and facilitation were provided by the SIGN Executive.

15.2.8 PATIENT INVOLVEMENT

In addition to the identification of relevant patient issues from a broad literature search, SIGN involves patients and carers throughout the guideline development process in several ways. SIGN

recruits a minimum of two patient representatives to guideline development groups by inviting nominations from the relevant 'umbrella', national and/or local patient-focused organisations in Scotland. Where organisations are unable to nominate, patient representatives are sought via other means, eg from consultation with health board public involvement staff. Further patient and public participation in guideline development was achieved by involving patients, carers and voluntary organisation representatives in the peer review stage of the guideline and specific guidance for lay reviewers was circulated. Members of the SIGN patient network were also invited to comment on the draft guideline section on provision of information.

15.2.9 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

SIGN would like to acknowledge the guideline development group responsible for the development of SIGN 55: Management of Diabetes, on which this guideline is based.

15.3 THE GUIDELINE STEERING GROUP

A steering group was established to oversee the work of the eight guideline development subgroups. It retained a strategic responsibility for activities concerning development, consultation and dissemination of the guideline recommendations. The steering group is composed of the chairs of each of the subgroups, and representatives from associated key organisations. It met regularly during the lifetime of the guideline.

Dr John McKnight (Chair)	Consultant Physician, Diabetes Unit, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh
Mr Naseem Anwar	Director of Equality and Diversity, The University of Glasgow
Dr Miles Fisher	Chair of Cardiovascular Disease subgroup and Consultant Physician, Glasgow Royal Infirmary
Dr Stephen Gallacher	Chair of Lifestyle subgroup and Consultant Physician, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow
Dr Roberta James	Programme Manager, SIGN
Mrs Jane-Claire Judson	Director, Diabetes UK Scotland, Glasgow
Dr Brian Kennon	Chair of Foot Disease subgroup and Consultant Physician, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow
Dr Graham Leese	Chair of Visual Impairment subgroup and Consultant Physician, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Dr Robbie Lindsay	Chair of Pregnancy subgroup and Reader in Diabetes and Endocrinology, University of Glasgow
Mrs Isobel Miller	Patient representative, Edinburgh
Dr Moray Nairn	Lead Programme Manager for Diabetes, SIGN
Mrs Anne Paris	National Care Adviser, Diabetes UK Scotland, Glasgow
Mr David Paul	Patient representative, Glasgow
Dr Donald Pearson	Lead Clinician for Diabetes and Consultant in General Medicine, Aberdeen Royal Infirmary
Dr John Petrie	Chair of Type 2 Diabetes subgroup and Professor of Diabetic Medicine, University of Glasgow
Miss Mary Scott	Diabetes Managed Clinical Network Manager, NHS Lothian, Edinburgh
Dr Michael Small	Chair of Type 1 Diabetes subgroup and Consultant Physician, Gartnavel General Hospital, Glasgow
Mrs Ailsa Stein	Programme Manager, SIGN
Dr Mark Strachan	Chair of Kidney Disease subgroup and Consultant Physician, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh

All members of the steering group made declarations of interest and further details of these are available on request from the SIGN Executive.

15.4 CONSULTATION AND PEER REVIEW

15.4.1 PUBLIC CONSULTATION

The draft guideline was available on the SIGN website for a month to allow all interested parties to comment. Individuals and organisations which participated in the consultation are listed on the SIGN website (www.sign.ac.uk).

15.4.2 SPECIALIST REVIEW

This guideline was also reviewed in draft form by the following independent expert referees, who were invited to comment primarily on the comprehensiveness and accuracy of interpretation of the evidence base supporting the recommendations in the guideline. The guideline group addresses every comment made by an external reviewer, and must justify any disagreement with the reviewers' comments.

SIGN is very grateful to all of these experts for their contribution to the guideline.

Professor Cliff Bailey	Professor of Clinical Science, School of Life and Health Sciences, Aston University, Birmingham
Professor Anthony Barnett	Professor of Medicine and Clinical Director, Diabetes and Endocrinology, Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust, Birmingham
Professor Raj Bhopal	Professor of Public Health and Honorary Consultant in Public Health Medicine, University of Edinburgh
Dr Alan Begg	General Practitioner and Honorary Senior Lecturer, Townhead Practice, Montrose
Dr Patrick Bell	Consultant Physician, Royal Victoria Hospital, Belfast
Dr Chris Brand	Consultant Ophthalmologist, Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Sheffield
Ms Andrea Cameron	Director of Academic Programmes, School of Social and Health Sciences, University of Abertay, Dundee
Mr Robert Carter	Consultant Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Surgeon, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow
Dr Bryan Conway	Consultant Nephrologist, Edinburgh Royal Infirmary
Dr Paul Dodson	Consultant Physician, Birmingham Heartlands Hospital
Ms Angela Ellingford	Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Programme Manager, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee
Dr Stewart Ferguson	Consultant Physician, Crosshouse Hospital, Kilmarnock
Dr Stephen Greene	Reader in Child and Adolescent Health, Child Health, University of Dundee
Mr Alberto Gregori	Deputy Clinical Director of Orthopaedics, Hairmyres Hospital East Kilbride
Mr Gareth Griffiths	Consultant Vascular Surgeon, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee
Professor David Hadden	Honorary Professor of Endocrinology, Regional Endocrinology and Diabetes Centre, Royal Victoria Hospital, Belfast
Professor Simon Heller	Professor of Clinical Diabetes and Director of Research and Developmemt, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals Foundation Trust

Ms Susan Hutchinson	Orthotist, Orthotic Department, TORT Centre, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee
Professor David Kerr	Consultant Physician and Visiting Professor, Bournemouth Diabetes and Endocrine Centre
Dr Fiona Mackenzie	Consultant Obstetrician, Princess Royal Maternity Hospital, Glasgow
Dr Sandra MacRury	Consultant Diabetologist, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness
Professor Elizabeth Manias	Associate Head of Research, Melbourne School of Health Sciences, University of Melbourne, Australia
Professor Sally Marshall	Professor of Diabetes and Consultant Physician, Diabetes Research Group, Institute of Cellular Medicine, University of Newcastle
Dr Robert Peel	Consultant Renal Physician and Clinical Lead, NHS Highland Renal Services, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness
Professor John Pickup	Professor of Diabetes and Metabolism, King's College London School of Medicine, Guy's Hospital
Dr Peter Scanlon	Programme Director, English National Screening Programme for Diabetic Retinopathy, Department of Ophthalmology, Cheltenham General Hospital
Professor Christine Skinner	Senior Lecturer, Caledonian University, Glasgow
Mr Wesley Stuart	Consultant Vascular Surgeon, Southern General Hospital, Glasgow
Professor Roy Taylor	Professor of Medicine and Metabolism, University of Newcastle and Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle
Dr Jiten Vora	Consultant Physician and Endocrinologist, Royal Liverpool University Hospital
Ms Laura Walker	Physical Activity Coordinator, Diabetes MCN, Aberdeen
Dr Steve Walkinshaw	Consultant in Maternal and Fetal Medicine, Liverpool Women's Hospital

15.4.3 SIGN EDITORIAL GROUP

As a final quality control check, the guideline is reviewed by an editorial group comprising the relevant specialty representatives on SIGN Council to ensure that the specialist reviewers' comments have been addressed adequately and that any risk of bias in the guideline development process as a whole has been minimised. The editorial group for this guideline was as follows:

Dr Keith Brown	Chair of SIGN; Co-Editor
Ms Beatrice Cant	SIGN Programme Manager
Dr Sara Twaddle	Director of SIGN; Co-Editor

Abbreviations

4S	Scandinavian Simvastatin Study
AC	abdominal circumference
ACCORD	Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes
ACE	angiotensin converting enzyme
ACR	albumin/creatinine ratio
ACT	acceptance and commitment therapy
ADOPT	A Diabetes Outcome Progression
ADVANCE	Action in Diabetes and Vascular Disease: Preterax and Diamicron MR Controlled Evaluation
AER	albumin excretion rate
AFCAPS/TexCAPS	Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study
AIRE	Acute Infarction Ramipril Efficacy
ALLHAT	Antihypertensive and Lipid Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial
AR	absolute risk
ARB	angiotensin-II receptor blocker
ARI	absolute risk increase
ARR	absolute risk reduction
ASCOT	Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial
ASSIGN	assessing cardiovascular risk using SIGN guidelines to assign preventative treatment
BARI	Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation
BDI	Beck Depression Inventory
BGAT	Blood Glucose Awareness Training
BMI	body mass index
BMS	bare metal stents
BNF	British National Formulary
BP	blood pressure
BSA	body surface area
CABG	coronary artery bypass grafting
CAPRICORN	Carvedilol Post-Infarct Survival Control in Left Ventricular dysfunction
CARDS	Collaborative Atorvastatin Diabetes Study
CARE	Cholesterol and Recurrent Events
CBT	cognitive behavioural therapy
ССВ	calcium channel blocker
CES-D	Centre for Epidemiological Studies–Depression Scale

CHARISMA	Clopidogrel for High Atherothrombotic Risk and Ischemic Stabilization, Management and Avoidance
CHD	coronary heart disease
CHF	congestive heart failure
CI	confidence interval
CIBIS II	Cardiac Insufficiency Bisoprolol Study II
CKD	chronic kidney disease
СМС	continuous monitoring of interstitial glucose
COC	combined oral contraceptive
COMET	Carvedilol Or Metoprolol European Trial
COMMIT/CCS-2	Clopidogrel and Metoprolol in Myocardial Infarction Trial/Second Chinese Cardiac Study
CONSENSUS	Co-operative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COPERNICUS	Carvedilol Prospective Randomized Cumulative Survival Trial
CSII	continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion
CSMO	clinically significant macular oedema
CTG	cardiotocography
CURE	Clopidogrel in Unstable angina to prevent Recurrent ischemic Events
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DAFNE	Dose Adjustment for Normal Eating
DCCT	Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
DES	drug-eluting stents
DESMOND	Diabetes Education and Self-Management for Ongoing and Newly Diagnosed
DIGAMI	Diabetes mellitus, Insulin-Glucose infusion in Acute Myocardial Infarction
DKA	diabetic ketoacidosis
DPN	diabetic peripheral neuropathy
DPP-4	dipeptidyl peptidase-4
DR	diabetic retinopathy
DVLA	Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency
EAST	Emory Angioplasty vs Surgery Trial
ES	effect size
ESRD	end-stage renal disease
ETDRS	Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study
EUROPA	European trial on Reduction Of cardiac events with Perindopril in stable coronary Artery disease
FIELD	Fenofibrate Intervention and Event Lowering in Diabetes
FPG	fasting plasma glucose

g-csf	granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GDM	gestational diabetes mellitus
GFR	glomerular filtration rate
GHbSD	standard deviations of glycosylated haemoglobin
GI	glycaemic index
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide 1
GP	general practitioner
GSD	guided self-determination
HAATT	Hypoglycemia Anticipation, Awareness and Treatment Training
HADS	Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale
НАРО	Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome
HbA1c	glycated haemoglobin
HDL	high density lipoprotein
HF	heart failure
НОРЕ	Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation
НОТ	Hypertension Optimal Treatment
HPS	Heart Protection Study
HR	hazard ratio
HTA	Health Technology Assessment
IDNT	Irbesartan in Diabetic Nephropathy Trial
IFCC	International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine
IFG	impaired fasting glucose
IGT	impaired glucose tolerance
IUD	intrauterine device
IUGR	intrauterine growth restriction
IUS	intrauterine systems
JBS 2	Joint British Societies' guideline
KCND	Keeping Childbirth Natural and Dynamic
K/DOQI	Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative
LCD	low calorie diet
LDL	low density lipoprotein
LED	low energy diets
LoS	length of stay
LVSD	left ventricular systolic dysfunction
MDI	multiple daily injections
MDRD	Modification of Diet in Renal Disease
MERIT-HF	MEtoprolol CR/XL Randomised Intervention Trial in congestive Heart Failure

МІ	myocardial infarction
Motl	motivational interviewing
MR	modified release
MRB	mineralocorticoid receptor blocker
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
ΜΤΑ	multiple technology appraisal
NHS QIS	NHS Quality Improvement Scotland
NICE	National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence
NPH	neutral protamine hagedorm
NPWT	negative pressure wound therapy
NYHA	New York Heart Association classification
OCT	optical coherence tomography
OFC	occipito-frontal head circumference
OGTT	oral glucose tolerance test
OR	odds ratio
PAD	peripheral arterial disease
PAID	Problem Areas in Diabetes
PCI	percutaneous coronary intervention
PCR	protein/creatinine ratio
РСТ	primary care trust
PEACE	Prevention of Events with Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibition
PES	paclitaxel-eluting stents
PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire
PKC-DRS	Protein Kinase C Diabetic Retinopathy Study
PROACTIVE	PROspective pioglitAzone Clinical Trial In macroVascular Events
PROVE-IT	Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy
PSMF	protein sparing modified fast
РТСА	percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acid
QALY	quality adjusted life year
QOF	quality outcomes framework
QoL	quality of life
QUIET	QUinapril Ischemic Event Trial
RAAS	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
RCT	randomised controlled trial
RECORD	Rosiglitazone Evaluated for Cardiac Outcomes and Regulation of glycaemia in Diabetes
RENAAL	Reduction of Endpoints in Non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus with the Angiotensin II Antagonist Losartan

REPOSE	Relative Effectiveness of Pumps Over MDI and Structured Education
RR	relative risk
RRT	renal replacement therapy
SBP	systolic blood pressure
SCID	Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR
SD	standard deviation
SE	standard error
SENIORS	Study of the Effects of Nebivolol Intervention on Outcomes and Rehospitalisation in Seniors
SES	sirolimus-eluting stents
SGA	small for gestational age
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
SMBG	self monitoring of blood glucose
SMC	Scottish Medicines Consortium
SMD	standardised mean difference
SMUG	self monitoring of urine glucose
SOLVD	Studies of Left Ventricular Dysfunction
SSRI	selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
SU	sulphonylurea
ТСА	tricyclic antidepressant
TG	triglycerides
TNT	Treating to New Targets
TZD	thiazolidinedione
UK	United Kingdom
UKPDS	United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study
USA	United States of America
VADT	Veterans Affairs Diabetes Trial
VA-HIT	Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Intervention Trial
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VLED	very low energy diet
WHO	World Health Organization
WMD	weighted mean difference

Annex 1

Key questions addressed in this update

LIFESTYLE SUBGROUP Key question	See guideline section
 What is the evidence that weight loss (5-10%) in patients with type 2 diabetes has a beneficial effect on glycaemia, morbidity (retinopathy, renal, MI and stroke), depression and quality of life? (Consider long term and short term weight loss) 	3.6
2. In type 2 diabetes patients over 18 with a BMI over 30, what is the clinical and cost effectiveness of bariatric surgery in terms of quality of life, morbidity (glycaemia and diabetes associated complications) and mortality?	3.6.2
3. In patients with diabetes what are the outcomes of group education, individualised (one on one) education and structured education (such as DAFNE, BERTIE, RECLAIM for type 1; DESMOND for type 2), compared in terms of patient satisfaction, QoL, psychological well-being (depression, confidence, reduced stress), cost effectiveness, glycaemic control (HbA1c, hypo consider major and minor and hyperglycaemia), weight loss (where applicable) and hospital admissions? – include children and adults, type 1 and type 2 diabetes	3.2
 4. What evidence is there to support (i) self monitoring of blood glucose (ii) continuous glucose monitoring as a strategy to improve glycaemic control (HbA1c, rates of hypo and hyperglycaemia), micro/macrovascular diseases and patient satisfaction in a) type 1 diabetes b) type 2 diabetes? (Also consider during periods of fasting, during pregnancy, around the time of exercise, or during periods of illness) 	3.3.1, 3.3.2
5. (a) In patients with type 1 diabetes, does ketone monitoring reduce rates of hospital admission, rates of DKA, mortality, or improve glycaemic control (HbA1c, rates of hypo/hyperglycaemia)?	3.3.4
(b) Is there evidence that blood is better (more sensitive/specific than urine (or vice versa) for monitoring ketones?	3.3.4
6. In patients with type 2 diabetes does self monitoring of urinary glucose reduce rates of hospital admission, rates of DKA, mortality, and improve glycaemic control (HbA1C, rates of hypo/ hyperglycaemia)?	3.3.4
7. Is there a validated screening tool for use in primary and secondary care to detect (a) depression (b) anxiety (c) eating disorders in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes?	4.2
8. What is the evidence that psychological interventions (motivational interviewing, goal setting, coping skills and CBT) are effective in supporting treatment adherence, lifestyle change and self-management in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes?	4.3

9. Are structured exercise programmes or exercise referral programmes 3.5.4-3.5.7 (such as exercise on prescription) cost effective and beneficial in terms of: 3.5.4-3.5.7 • weight loss improvements in glycaemic control (hypo/hyperglycaemia HbA1C) - • reduction in macrovascular and microvascular complications - • reductions in mortality - - • psychological outcomes in patients with type 1 OR type 2 diabetes? - Consider audit data, uptake, adherence and adverse effects (eg hypoglycaemia) - - 10.Does physical activity (and how much/what kind) a) improve glycaemic control (hypo/ hyperglycaemia/ HbA1c) b) reduce macrovascular and microvascular complications or c) reduce mortality in patients with type 1 OR type 2 diabetes? - - Include studies with minimum three months follow up - - - 11.In patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, are any specific dietary interventions effective in terms of patient satisfaction, quality of life, glycaemic control (HbA1c, hypo major and minor and hyperglycaemia), weight loss, reduced hospital admissions, improved haemoglobin A1C, reduced blood pressure, and improved haemoglobin A1C, reduced blood consumption result in additional harm to diabetic populations as compared to non-diabetic populations in terms of alcohol consumption result in additional harm to diabetic populat		
 improvements in glycaemic control (hypo/hyperglycaemia HbA1C) reduction in macrovascular and microvascular complications reductions in mortality psychological outcomes in patients with type 1 OR type 2 diabetes? Consider audit data, uptake, adherence and adverse effects (eg hypoglycaemia) 10.Does physical activity (and how much/what kind) a) improve glycaemic control (hypo/ hyperglycaemia/ HbA1c) b) reduce macrovascular and microvascular complications or c) reduce mortality in patients with type 1 OR type 2 diabetes? Include studies with minimum three months follow up 11.In patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, are any specific dietary interventions effective in terms of patient satisfaction, quality of life, glycaemia, weight loss, reduced hospital admissions, improved haemoglobin A1C, reduced blood pressure, and improved lipid pattern? Consider: low carbohydrate/restricted carbohydrate low GI healthy eating advice atkins/ketogenic. 12.Is there any evidence that particular levels of alcohol consumption result in additional harm to diabetic populations as compared to non-diabetic populations in terms of cardiovascular risk and mortality? 13.Do patients with diabetes benefit from different smoking cessation 	(such as exercise on prescription) cost effective and beneficial in	3.5.4-3.5.7
10. Does physical activity (and how much/what kind) a) improve 3.5 10. Does physical activity (and how much/what kind) a) improve 3.5 glycaemic control (hypo/ hyperglycaemia/ HbA1c) b) reduce 3.5 macrovascular and microvascular complications or c) reduce 3.5 mortality in patients with type 1 OR type 2 diabetes? 3.7 11. In patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, are any specific 3.7 dietary interventions effective in terms of patient satisfaction, 3.7 quality of life, glycaemic control (HbA1c, hypo major and minor 3.7 and hyperglycaemia), weight loss, reduced hospital admissions, 3.7 improved haemoglobin A1C, reduced blood pressure, and 5 improved lipid pattern? 6 Consider: 10 w Carbohydrate/restricted carbohydrate atkins/ketogenic. 3.8 12.Is there any evidence that particular levels of alcohol consumption 3.8 result in additional harm to diabetic populations as compared 3.8 to non-diabetic populations in terms of cardiovascular risk and 3.4.2	 improvements in glycaemic control (hypo/hyperglycaemia HbA1C) reduction in macrovascular and microvascular complications reductions in mortality psychological outcomes in patients with type 1 OR type 2 diabetes? 	
11. In patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, are any specific dietary interventions effective in terms of patient satisfaction, quality of life, glycaemic control (HbA1c, hypo major and minor and hyperglycaemia), weight loss, reduced hospital admissions, improved haemoglobin A1C, reduced blood pressure, and improved lipid pattern? Consider: low carbohydrate/restricted carbohydratelow GIhealthy eating adviceatkins/ketogenic. 12.Is there any evidence that particular levels of alcohol consumption result in additional harm to diabetic populations as compared to non-diabetic populations in terms of cardiovascular risk and mortality? 13.Do patients with diabetes benefit from different smoking cessation	10.Does physical activity (and how much/what kind) a) improve glycaemic control (hypo/ hyperglycaemia/ HbA1c) b) reduce macrovascular and microvascular complications or c) reduce	3.5
dietary interventions effective in terms of patient satisfaction, quality of life, glycaemic control (HbA1c, hypo major and minor and hyperglycaemia), weight loss, reduced hospital admissions, improved haemoglobin A1C, reduced blood pressure, and improved lipid pattern? Consider: low carbohydrate/restricted carbohydratelow GIhealthy eating adviceatkins/ketogenic. 12.Is there any evidence that particular levels of alcohol consumption result in additional harm to diabetic populations as compared 		
result in additional harm to diabetic populations as compared to non-diabetic populations in terms of cardiovascular risk and mortality? 13.Do patients with diabetes benefit from different smoking cessation 3.4.2	 dietary interventions effective in terms of patient satisfaction, quality of life, glycaemic control (HbA1c, hypo major and minor and hyperglycaemia), weight loss, reduced hospital admissions, improved haemoglobin A1C, reduced blood pressure, and improved lipid pattern? Consider: low carbohydrate/restricted carbohydrate low GI healthy eating advice 	3.7
	result in additional harm to diabetic populations as compared to non-diabetic populations in terms of cardiovascular risk and	3.8
		3.4.2

Key question	See guideline section
 1. In people with type 1 diabetes, which of the following therapies are most beneficial in terms of glycaemic control, hypoglycaemia, diabetic ketoacidosis and quality of life (of patient/parents/carers)? multiple injection therapy (≥3 injections per day) insulin pump therapy. 	5.3.2
 2. Which of the following insulin in people with type 1 diabetes is most beneficial in terms of glycaemic control (HbA1c), hypoglycaemia and quality of life? analogue (glargine; detemir; aspart; lispro; glulisine) non-analogue. 	5.3.2
3. In adolescents with type 1 diabetes, what is the best model of transition care from paediatric to adult services in terms of glycaemic control, patient satisfaction, quality of life, non-attendance rates and hospital admissions?	5.3.7
4. What is the evidence that children under 18 yrs (nursery; school; college) offered management support with their type 1 diabetes at (nursery; school; college) have fewer hypos, better glycaemic control and improved quality of life in comparison to those not offered such support?	5.3.8
5. In people with type 1 diabetes, is management with an integrated care pathway (ICP) versus no ICP associated with improved outcome in terms of hypoglycaemia, mortality, duration of inpatient stay and morbidity (complications of treatment, infection, hypokalaemia, cerebral oedema)?	5.3.5
6. What is the evidence that specialist out of hours diabetes helplines prevent unnecessary hospital admissions; prevent acute metabolic upset (DKA); and increase user satisfaction?	5.3.6
7. In adults with type 1 diabetes in the hospital setting, what is the evidence that an inpatient diabetes specialist team (nurse/educator) compared to no specialist team shortens length of stay and reduces complications [infections, hypoglycaemia, hyperglycaemia]?	5.3.4
8. In people with type 1 diabetes in the hospital setting, what is the evidence that self care/or carer care/or a specialist team/nurse (insulin administration, glucose monitoring and diet) compared to routine ward care (non-diabetes specialists) shorten length of stay, improve patient satisfaction and reduce complications (infections, hypoglycaemia, hyperglycaemia)?	5.3.4
9. What are the influences of psychological or social factors on diabetic outcomes in people with diabetes?	4.1
10. Are there any interventions which affect the specific psychological or social factors noted in question 9 which also affect improvement in diabetes outcomes?	4.2

PREGNANCY SUBGROUP		
Key question	See guideline section	
1. What is the optimal pre-pregnancy HbA1c and risk of problems (congenital anomalies, miscarriage and hypoglycaemia) depending on HbA1c?	7.3.1	
2. In pre-pregnant women do structured education programmes improve pregnancy outcomes (congenital anomalies, miscarriage, intrauterine death, macrosomia, preterm labour, pre-eclampsia, neonatal unit admission, hypoglycaemia) compared to standard diabetes care?	7.3	
3. What are the optimum targets for blood glucose during pregnancy (type 1 or type 2 diabetes or gestional diabetes) to improve outcome (miscarriage, intrauterine death, macrosomia, pre-term labour, pre-eclampsia, neonatal unit admission, hypoglycaemia, mode of delivery)?	7.5.1	
4. Do analogue insulins or insulin pump therapy compared to standard insulin regimens improve pregnancy outcomes (congenital anomalies, miscarriage, intrauterine death, macrosomia, pre-term labour, pre-eclampsia, neonatal unit admission or frequency of hypoglycaemia, mode of delivery) in type 1 or type 2 diabetes or gestational diabetes? Consider: subcutaneous insulin infusion, continuous basal delivery, lantus, detanir, levenir, novoropid, aspart, hunalog, lispro	7.5.2	
5. Which oral hypoglycaemics are safe and effective in pregnancy (outcomes: congenital anomalies, miscarriage, intrauterine death, macrosomia, pre-term labour, pre-eclampsia, neonatal unit admission or frequency of hypoglycaemia, mode of delivery) (metformin, glibenclamide, glyburide and oral hypoglycaemics)?	7.3.2, 7.8.3	
6. Compared to standard antenatal care pathway, by what methods and when should fetal growth and well-being be monitored to improve pregnancy outcomes in type 1, type 2 and GDM, including macrosomia, intrauterine growth retardation, shoulder dystocia, perinatal mortality, perinatal morbidity and mode of delivery? Consider: fetal growth/ cardiotocograph/ biophysical profile/ umbilical artery Doppler	7.7, 7.8	
7. When and by what method should women be offered screening for congenital malformations and counselling?	7.7	
8. Does screening for, and diagnosis of, gestational diabetes alter pregnancy outcomes (including macrosomia, perinatal mortality, perinatal morbidity and mode of delivery)? Consider who should be screened: obese, previous delivery >4 kg baby, family history diabetes, polycystic ovarian syndrome, previous GDM	7.8.1	
9. Is there a threshold in fasting, one hour or two hour glucose values above which adverse pregnancy outcomes (including macrosomia, perinatal mortality, perinatal morbidity and mode of delivery) are increased?	7.8.1, 7.8.2	
10. Does lowering of blood glucose during pregnancy in women with gestational diabetes alter pregnancy outcomes (including macrosomia, perinatal mortality, perinatal morbidity and mode of delivery)?	7.8.3	
11. What is the risk of type 2 diabetes after GDM?	7.12	
12. Which interventions decrease the incidence of type 2 diabetes after GDM including information and follow up?	7.12	

Key question	See guideline section
 In people with type 2 diabetes with or without cardiovascular disease, does treatment with glitazone/thiazolodine/TZD compared to the following improve cardiovascular outcomes (define), reduce mortality and incidence of MI and stroke? placebo metformin sulphonyl urea insulin. 	6.3.4, 6.4.3, 6.5.2, 6.5.5
2. In people with type 2 diabetes with or without cardiovascular disease, what is the optimum target for glycaemic control/HbA1c to reduce cardiovascular disease (all-cause death, MI, stroke, CV death)?	6.2
3. Which patients with diabetes without CV disease (with or without renal disease) should have a statin to reduce cardiovascular outcomes (death, MI, CVA, stroke)?	8.3.2
 4. What is the optimum statin and statin dose to reduce cardiovascular events (death, MI, CVA, stroke) in people with diabetes? Should treatment be based on treat-to-target? Consider: atorovastatin simvastatin pravastatin rosuvistatin. 	8.3.2, 8.4.7, 8.6.2
5. In patients with diabetes do angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) (alone or in combination with ACE inhibitor) reduce risk of cardiovascular events (death, MI, CV death, stroke, PAD) (not post- MI and not heart failure as covered by SIGN 93 and 95) but with stable CHD or CV risk?	8.3.2
6. What is the systolic blood pressure target for patients with diabetes (adults, children, type 1, type 2, ethnicity) with or without complications in terms of cardiovascular outcomes (death, MI, CVA, stroke)?	8.3.2
 7. Which class of blood pressure lowering drug is better for cardiovascular protection in all patients with diabetes and raised blood pressure in terms of cardiovascular outcomes (death, MI, CV death, stroke, PAD)? ACE inhibitor Ca channel blocker ARB diuretic (inc. indapamide) beta blockers alpha blockers. 	8.3.2
 8. In people with diabetes without cardiovascular disease, does aspirin/ clopidogrel (compared to placebo) reduce the risk of (death, MI, CV death, stroke, PAD)? Balance against risk of haemorrhage (GI and cerebral). 	8.3.2

O have a strength of the house of the same	
 9. In patients with diabetes with or without cardiovascular disease, do the following lipid-lowering therapies (compared to placebo) improve cardiovascular outcomes (death, MI, CVA, stroke)? gemifibrazil bezafibrate fenofibrate nicotinamide ezetimibe? 	8.3.2, 8.4.7
 10. In patients with diabetes and heart failure, do the following anti-hyperglycaemic therapies increase/decrease hospitalisations due to heart failure, death, MI, CV death, stroke? metformin sulphonylurea glitazones insulin DPP4/IV (dipeptidyl peptidase inhibitors, gliptins exenatide/incretin mimetics. 	8.5.1
 11. What is the optimal stent in people with diabetes undergoing PCI? drug-eluting (sirolimus; paclitaxel) bare metal 	8.6.4
Outcomes: mortality, MI, restenosis, rehospitalisation	
KIDNEY DISEASE SUBGROUP	
Key question	See guideline section
1. What is the prevalence of kidney disease in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes and what is the rate of progression?	9.2
2. What is the aetiology of CKD (include microalbuminuria, proteinuria plus terms such as chronic renal insufficiency) in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes?	9.2.1
proteinuria plus terms such as chronic renal insufficiency) in people	9.2.1 9.3.2
proteinuria plus terms such as chronic renal insufficiency) in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes?3. Is there an indication for timed urine collections in the assessment of	
 proteinuria plus terms such as chronic renal insufficiency) in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes? 3. Is there an indication for timed urine collections in the assessment of diabetic patients? 4. In patients with diabetes, what is the accuracy of near patient testing (compared to standard laboratory tests?) for the diagnosis of 	9.3.2
 proteinuria plus terms such as chronic renal insufficiency) in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes? 3. Is there an indication for timed urine collections in the assessment of diabetic patients? 4. In patients with diabetes, what is the accuracy of near patient testing (compared to standard laboratory tests?) for the diagnosis of microalbuminuria? 5. In patients with diabetes what is the optimum screening interval for 	9.3.2 9.3
 proteinuria plus terms such as chronic renal insufficiency) in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes? 3. Is there an indication for timed urine collections in the assessment of diabetic patients? 4. In patients with diabetes, what is the accuracy of near patient testing (compared to standard laboratory tests?) for the diagnosis of microalbuminuria? 5. In patients with diabetes what is the optimum screening interval for microalbuminuria? 6. In patients with diabetes and raised ACR how often and when 	9.3.2 9.3 9.3.2
 proteinuria plus terms such as chronic renal insufficiency) in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes? 3. Is there an indication for timed urine collections in the assessment of diabetic patients? 4. In patients with diabetes, what is the accuracy of near patient testing (compared to standard laboratory tests?) for the diagnosis of microalbuminuria? 5. In patients with diabetes what is the optimum screening interval for microalbuminuria? 6. In patients with diabetes and raised ACR how often and when should repeat estimates of ACR be performed? 7. In urinalysis of patients with diabetes, does the sample need to be 	9.3.2 9.3 9.3.2 9.3.2

10. What is the prevalence of USS (ultrasound scan) abnormalities in people with diabetes and CKD?	9.4
11. What is the evidence that lowering blood pressure reduces the development and progression of CKD in diabetes? NB CKD includes microalbuminuria/proteinuria.	9.5.3
12. What is the evidence that reducing proteinuria reduces the development and progression of CKD in diabetes?	9.5.2
13. What is the evidence that ACEI, ARBs, spironolocatone and direct renin inhibitors and/or combination therapy reduces the development and progression of CKD in diabetes?	9.5.4, 9.5.5
14. Do other classes of antihypertensive agents (eg beta blockers and calcium antagonists) reduce the development and progression of CKD in diabetes?	9.5.3
15. What is the incidence of hyperkalaemia and deteriorating renal function in people with diabetes treated with ACEI, ARBs, spironolocatone and direct renin inhibitors and/or combination therapy?	9.5.4
16. Does race affect the efficacy of antihypertensive therapy in people with diabetes and CKD?	9.5.6
17. What is the prevalence of hyperkalaemia, anaemia, metabolic acidosis and secondary hyperparathyroidism in CKD in diabetes?	9.6.1-9.6.3
 18. Which of the following agents/factors influence risk of development or progression of diabetic nephropathy? glycaemic control with: metformin sulphonylureas thiazolidinediones peptidase IV inhibitors exenatide insulin orlistat sibutramine rimonabant lipid-lowering therapy smoking exercise weight loss multifactorial intervention. 	9.5.1
19. In people with diabetes < 40 years with diabetic nephropathy, does statin and aspirin therapy prevent the development of cardiovascular disease?	9.5.7, 9.5.9
20. Is there evidence that joint diabetes/nephrology clinics result in better outcomes?	9.7
21. Should people with diabetes on kidney dialysis continue to be followed in diabetes clinics?	9.7
	•

Key question	See guideline section
 1. Is there any evidence to indicate that in patients with diabetes the following risk factors affect the development and/or progression of diabetic retinopathy a) smoking b) cholesterol c) BB balawi 140/20 mm Hg2 	10.1.1
c) BP below 140/80 mm Hg?	
2. Is there any evidence of diabetic macular oedema or diabetic ischaemic maculopathy or proliferative diabetic retinopathy under the age of 12 years?	10.2.1
 3. Have the following factors been shown to increase, or decrease, the uptake of diabetic eye screening: a) routine use of mydriasis b) social deprivation c) rural living d) frequency of screening? 	10.2.2
4. How frequently should patients with diabetes be screened for retinopathy to ensure prompt identification of referable retinopathy?	10.2.1
 5. What is the sensitivity and specificity of the following for detecting diabetic macular oedema or proliferative diabetic retinopathy: a) one-field retinal photography b) two-field retinal photography c) automated grading d) WSLO (wide angle scanning laser ophthalmoscopy) e) OTC (optical coherence tomography)? 	10.2.2, 10.2.3
6. What is the best surrogate retinal feature to predict macular oedema (or clinically significant macular oedema)? Consider: microaneurysm, blot haemorrhage, exudates, circinate	
7. What is the optimal laser treatment for:a) proliferative diabetic retinopathy andb) diabetic macular oedema?	10.3.1
 8. What pharmacological agents reduce the development or progression of diabetic retinopathy, and are independent of blood pressure and glucose effects: a) statins b) fibrates (fenofibrate) c) ACE Inhibitors d) angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) e) PKC Inhibitors f) VEGF aptamers g) intraocular steroids h) somatostatin analogues and pegvisomant? 	10.3.4
9. Does cataract extraction affect the development or progression of diabetic retinopathy?	10.3.3
10. Is there any evidence of programmes which provide support and assistance to improve the quality of life and functional ability of people with diabetes and visual impairment?	10.4

Key question	See guideline section
 1. Does a structured screening programme versus no screening in patients with diabetes result in: prevention of ulceration decreased incidence of major amputation? Consider who conducts screening 	11.2.1
 2. In the following groups of people, what is the evidence that specialist/prescription/therapeutic bespoke footwear/insoles or orthosis lowers the risk of development of ulceration or amputation: those with arterial disease those with previous ulceration those with diabetic neuropathy those with deformity? 	11.2.3
 3. In diabetic patients with active plantar foot ulceration is there any evidence that the following interventions improve ulcer healing rate, reduce incidence of amputation, and reduce incidence of new ulceration: total contact casting (plaster bootie) air cast boot (remove and irremovable) (axial offloading, CROW walker) non-weight bearing additional orthosis eg forefoot offloading (IPOS; DARCO)? 	11.3.3
4. In diabetic patients with active foot ulceration is there any evidence that vacuum-assisted wound closure devices/topical negative pressure devices improve healing outcomes?	11.3.5
 5. In diabetic patients with active foot ulceration is there any evidence that the following debridement techniques improve healing outcomes: surgical debridement larvae therapy local sharp debridement hydrojet therapy – 'versajet'? 	11.3.2
6. In diabetic patients with critical limb ischaemia (including ulceration, rest pain and tissue loss) is there any evidence that vascular intervention (angioplasty/bypass) improves healing outcomes or decreases major amputation rates, necrosis and gangrene?	11.3.6
7. What is the evidence that referral to a multidisciplinary diabetic foot team improves the outcomes of patients with active diabetes foot ulceration? (Outcomes: QoL, ulcer healing rate, ulcer re-occurrence rate, death, amputation)?	11.3.1
8. In patients with diabetes, what is the evidence to improve the management of Charcot neuropathy? [Outcomes: reduction in pain, ulceration rate, amputation rate, disease duration and deformity	11.3.7

	T
9. What is the most effective agent for the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy (outcomes: pain reduction, QoL):	11.4.1
 gabapentin 	
 pregabablin 	
 duloxetine 	
 opiates 	
 tricyclic antidepressantss 	
 carbamezapine 	
tramadol?	
10. What is the most effective non-pharmacological treatment of	11.4.2
painful diabetic neuropathy? [outcomes: pain reduction, QoL]:	
 acupuncture 	
 cognitive behavioural therapy 	
 anodyne therapy 	
TENS?	

Annex 2 Conversion table for HbA1c formats

From June 2009 to June 2011 HbA1c will be dual reported in DCCT-aligned format (measured in percentage) and IFCC-aligned format (measured in mmol/mol). The conversion formulae for these formats are as follows:

DCCT-aligned HbA1c value = (0.0915 x IFCC-aligned value) + 2.15 % IFCC-aligned HbA1c value = (10.93 x DCCT-aligned value) - 23.5 mmol/mol

DCCT-aligned HbA1c (%)			IFCC-aligned HbA1c (mmol/mol)	
4.0	20	8.0	64	
4.1	21	8.1	65	
4.2	22	8.2	66	
4.3	23	8.3	67	
4.4	25	8.4	68	
4.5	26	8.5	69	
4.6	27			
4.7	28	8.7	70 72	
4.8	29	8.8	73	
4.9	30	8.9	74	
5.0	31	9.0	75	
5.1	32	9.1	76	
5.2	33	9.2	77	
5.3	34	9.3	78	
5.4	36	9.4	79	
5.5	37	9.5	80	
5.6	38	9.6	81	
5.7	39	9.7	83	
5.8	40	9.8	84	
5.9	41	9.9	85	
6.0	42	10.0	86	
6.1	43	10.1	87	
6.2	44	10.2	88	
6.3	45	10.3	89	
6.4	46	10.4	90	
6.5	48	10.5	91	
6.6	49	10.6	92	
6.7	50	10.7	93	
6.8	51	10.8	95	
6.9	52	10.9	96	
7.0	53	11.0	97	
7.1	54	11.1	98	
7.2	55	11.2	99	

7.3	56	11.3	100
7.4	57	11.4	101
7.5	58	11.5	102
7.6	60	11.6	103
7.7	61	11.7	104
7.8	62	11.8	105
7.9	63	11.9	107
		12.0	108

Annex 3

Expressions of urinary protein concentration and their approximate equivalents and clinical correlates

	Dipstick reading	Urine protein: creatinine ratio, mg/ mmol (PCR)	Urine total protein excretion, (g/24 hour)	Urinary albumin: creatinine ratio, mg/mmol (ACR)	Urinary albumin excretion, micrograms/ min (mg/24 hour)
Normal	Negative	<15	< 0.150	<2.5 (males) <3.5 (females)	<20 (<30)
Microalbuminuria	Negative	<15	< 0.150	\geq 2.5 to 30 (males)	20-200 (30-300)
"Trace" protein	Trace	15-44	0.150– 0.449	\geq 3.5 to 30 (females)	
Clinical proteinuria (macroalbuminuria)	1+	45-149	0.450- 1.499	>30	>200 (>300)
	2+	150-449	1.50-4.49		
Nephrotic range proteinuria	3+	≥450	≥4.50		

Values in this table are based on an assumed average creatinine excretion of 10 mmol/day and an average urine volume of 1.5 l/day.

NB males and females have different thresholds for the diagnosis of microalbuminuria as a consequence of the lower urinary creatinine excretion in women.

There is no single value for the accurate conversion between ACR to PCR, however, at low levels of proteinuria (<1 g/day), a rough conversion is that doubling the ACR gives the PCR. At proteinuria excretion rates of >1 g/day, the relationship is more accurately represented by $1.3 \times ACR = PCR$.

Adapted from Joint Specialty Committee on Renal Medicine of the Royal College of Physicians and the Renal Association, and the Royal College of General Practitioners guideline Chronic kidney disease in adults.

References

- NHS Scotland. Scottish Diabetes Survey 2009. Scottish Diabetes Survey Monitoring Group. NHS Scotland; 2009. [cited 14 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.diabetesinscotland.org.uk/ Publications/Scottish%20Diabetes%20Survey%202009.pdf
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of Diabetes. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2001. (SIGN publication no. 55). [cited 01 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/ guidelines/fulltext/55/index.html
- World Health Organisation (WHO) & International Diabetes Federation (IDF). Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia. Geneva: WHO; 2006. [cited 01 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.who.int/diabetes/ publications/Definition%20and%20diagnosis%20of%20diabetes_ new.pdf
- 4. Barth JH, Marshall SM, Watson ID. Consensus meeting on reporting glycated haemoglobin and estimated average glucose in the UK: report to the National Director for Diabetes, Department of Health. Ann Clin Biochem 2008;45(Pt 4):343-4.
- Guidance on prescribing. In: The British National Formulary No. 58. London: British Medical Association and Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain; 2009.
- The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. N Engl J Med 1993;329(14):977-86.
- Glasgow RE, Toobert DJ, Hampson SE. Effects of a brief office-based intervention to facilitate diabetes dietary self-management. Diabetes Care 1996;19(8):835-42.
- Krishna S, Balas EA, Spencer DC, Griffin JZ, Boren SA. Clinical trials of interactive computerized patient education: implications for family practice. J Fam Pract 1997;45(1):25-33.
- 9. Griffin SJ. Lost to follow-up: the problem of defaulters from diabetes clinics. Diabet Med 1998;15(Suppl 3):S14-24.
- 10. Franklin VL, Waller A, Pagliari C, Greene SA. A randomized controlled trial of Sweet Talk, a text-messaging system to support young people with diabetes. Diabet Med 2006;23(12):1332-8.
- Kinmonth AL, Woodcock A, Griffin S, Spiegal N, Campbell MJ. Randomised controlled trial of patient centred care of diabetes in general practice: impact on current wellbeing and future disease risk. The Diabetes Care From Diagnosis Research Team. Br Med J 1998;317(7167):1202-8.
- 12. Adams CE, Cook DL. The impact of a diabetes nurse educator on nurses' knowledge of diabetes and nursing interventions in a home care setting. Diabetes Educ 1994;20(1):49-53.
- Loveman E, Frampton GK, Clegg AJ. The clinical effectiveness of diabetes education models for Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Health Technology Assess 2008;12(9). [cited 01 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.hta.ac.uk/fullmono/mon1209.pdf
- Amiel S, Beveridge S, Bradley C, Gianfrancesco C, Heller S, James P, et al. Training in flexible, intensive insulin management to enable dietary freedom in people with type 1 diabetes: dose adjustment for normal eating (DAFNE) randomised controlled trial. Br Med J 2002;325(7367):746.
- Ellis SE, Speroff T, Dittus RS, Brown A, Pichert JW, Elasy TA. Diabetes patient education: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Patient Educ Couns 2004;52(1):97-105.
- Murphy HR, Rayman G, Skinner TC. Psycho-educational interventions for children and young people with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2006;23(9):935-43.
- Zoffmann V, Lauritzen T. Guided self-determination improves life skills with type 1 diabetes and A1C in randomized controlled trial. Patient Educ Couns 2006;64(1-3):78-86.
- Loveman E, Cave C, Green C, Royle P, Dunn N, Waugh N. The clinical and cost-effectiveness of patient education models for diabetes: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assess 2003;7(22). [cited 21 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.hta.ac.uk/fullmono/mon722.pdf
- George JT, Valdovinos AP, Russell I, Dromgoole P, Lomax S, Torgerson DJ, et al. Clinical effectiveness of a brief educational intervention in Type 1 diabetes: results from the BITES (Brief Intervention in Type 1 diabetes, Education for Self-efficacy) trial. Diabet Med. 2008;25(12):1447-53.
- 20. Everett J, Jenkins E, Kerr D, Cavan DA. Implementation of an effective outpatient intensive education programme for patients with type 1 diabetes. Pract Diab Int 2003;20(2):51-5.

- Cox DJ, Kovatchev B, Koev D, Koeva L, Dachev S, Tcharaktchiev D, et al. Hypoglycemia anticipation, awareness and treatment training (HAATT) reduces occurrence of severe hypoglycemia among adults with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Int J Behav Med 2004;11(4):212-8.
 Hermanns N, Kulzer B, Kuhiak T, Krichbaum M, Haak T, The
 - . Hermanns N, Kulzer B, Kubiak T, Krichbaum M, Haak T. The effect of an education programme (HyPOS) to treat hypoglycaemia problems in patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2007;23(7):528-38.
- Schachinger H, Hegar K, Hermanns N, Straumann M, Keller U, Fehm-Wolfsdorf G, et al. Randomized controlled clinical trial of Blood Glucose Awareness Training (BGAT III) in Switzerland and Germany. J Behav Med 2005;28(6):587-94.
- Barlow JH, Ellard DR. Psycho-educational interventions for children with chronic disease, parents and siblings: an overview of the research evidence base. Child Care Health Dev 2004;30(6):637-45.
- Hill-Briggs F, Gemmell L. Problem solving in diabetes selfmanagement and control: a systematic review of the literature. Diabetes Educ 2007;33(6):1032-50.
- Howe CJ, Jawad AF, Tuttle AK, Moser JT, Preis C, Buzby M, et al. Education and telephone case management for children with type 1 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. J Pediatr Nurs 2005;20(2):83-95.
- Davies MJ, Heller S, Skinner TC, Campbell MJ, Carey ME, Cradock S, et al. Effectiveness of the diabetes education and self management for ongoing and newly diagnosed (DESMOND) programme for people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Br Med J 2008;336(7642):491-5.
- Kulzer B, Hermanns N, Reinecker H, Haak T. Effects of selfmanagement training in Type 2 diabetes: a randomized, prospective trial. Diabet Med 2007;24(4):415-23.
- Thoolen B, De Ridder D, Bensing J, Maas C, Griffin S, Gorter K, et al. Effectiveness of a self-management intervention in patients with screen-detected type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2007;30(11):2832-7.
- Hawthorne K, Robles Y, Cannings-John R, Edwards AG. Culturally appropriate health education for type 2 diabetes mellitus in ethnic minority groups (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2008. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Chodosh J, Morton SC, Mojica W, Maglione M, Suttorp MJ, Hilton L, et al. Meta-analysis: chronic disease self-management programs for older adults. Ann Intern Med 2005;143(6):427-38.
- Deakin TA, McShane CE, Cade JE, Williams R. Group based training for self-management strategies in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2005. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Boren SA, Gunlock TL, Schaefer J, Albright A. Reducing risks in diabetes self-management: a systematic review of the literature. Diabetes Educ 2007;33(6):1053-77.
- Duke SA, Colagiuri S, Colagiuri R. Individual patient education for people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 1, 2009. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd..
- Deakin TA, Cade JE, Williams R, Greenwood DC. Structured patient education: the diabetes X-PERT Programme makes a difference. Diabet Med. 2006;23(9):944-54.
- Farmer AJ, Wade AN, French DP, Simon J, Yudkin P, Gray A, et al. Blood glucose self-monitoring in type 2 diabetes: a randomised controlled trial. Health Technology Assess 2009;13(15). [cited 01 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.hta.ac.uk/fullmono/ mon1315.pdf
- O'Kane MJ, Bunting B, Copeland M, Coates VE. Efficacy of self monitoring of blood glucose in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes (ESMON study): randomised controlled trial. Br Med J 2008;336(7654):1174-7.
- Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. Systematic review of use of blood glucose test strips for the management of diabetes mellitus. Ottawa: Optimal Therapy Report - COMPUS; 2009. [cited 21 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.cadth. ca/media/pdf/BGTS_SR_Report_of_Clinical_Outcomes.pdf
 - Bode BW, Schwartz S, Stubbs HA, Block JE. Glycemic characteristics in continuously monitored patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes: normative values. Diabetes Care. 2005;28(10):2361-6.

39.

- Deiss D, Bolinder J, Riveline JP, Battelino T, Bosi E, Tubiana-Rufi N, et al. Improved glycemic control in poorly controlled patients with type 1 diabetes using real-time continuous glucose monitoring. Diabetes Care 2006;29(12):2730-2.
- 41. Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation Continuous Glucose Monitoring Study Group. The effect of continuous glucose monitoring in well-controlled type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2009;32(8):1378-83.

- 42. Newman SP, Cooke D, Casbard A, Walker S, Meredith S, Nunn A, et al. A randomised controlled trial to compare minimally invasive glucose monitoring devices with conventional monitoring in the management of insulin-treated diabetes mellitus (MITRE). Health Technol Assess 2009;13(28). [cited 21 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.hta.ac.uk/fullmono/mon1328.pdf
- Tamborlane WV, Beck RW, Bode BW, Buckingham B, Chase HP, Clemons R, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring and intensive treatment of type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008;359(14):1464-76.
- Golicki DT, Golicka D, Groele L, Pankowska E. Continuous Glucose Monitoring System in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia 2008;51(2):233-40.
- Coster S, Gulliford MC, Seed PT, Powrie JK, Swaminathan R. Monitoring blood glucose control in diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Health Technology Assess 2000;4(12). [cited 01 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.hta.nhs.uk/fullmono/mon412.pdf
- McAndrew L, Schneider SH, Burns E, Leventhal H. Does patient blood glucose monitoring improve diabetes control? A systematic review of the literature. Diabetes Educ 2007;33(6):991-1010.
- Aydin H, Deyneli O, Yavuz D, Tarçın O, Akalın S. Does the frequency of the self -monitoring of blood glucose influence glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients? Marmara Medical Journal 2005;18(1):13-6.
- Jansen JP. Self-monitoring of glucose in type 2 diabetes mellitus: A Bayesian meta-analysis of direct and indirect comparisons. Curr Med Res Opin 2006;22(4):671-81.
- Sarol JN, Jr., Nicodemus NA, Jr., Tan KM, Grava MB. Selfmonitoring of blood glucose as part of a multi-component therapy among non-insulin requiring type 2 diabetes patients: a metaanalysis (1966-2004). Curr Med Res Opin 2005;21(2):173-84.
- 50. Barnett AH, Krentz AJ, Strojek K, Sieradzki J, Azizi F, Embong M, et al. The efficacy of self-monitoring of blood glucose in the management of patients with type 2 diabetes treated with a gliclazide modified release-based regimen. A multicentre, randomized, parallel-group, 6-month evaluation (DINAMIC 1 study). Diabetes Obes Metab 2008;10(12):1239-47.
- 51. Welschen LM, Bloemendal E, Nijpels G, Dekker JM, Heine RJ, Stalman WA, et al. Self-monitoring of blood glucose in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus who are not using insulin (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, issue 2, 2005. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- 52. Koch B. The role of urine glucose testing in the management of diabetes mellitus. Can J Diabetes 2004;28(3):238-45.
- Laffel LM, Wentzell K, Loughlin C, Tovar A, Moltz K, Brink S. Sick day management using blood 3-hydroxybutyrate (3-OHB) compared with urine ketone monitoring reduces hospital visits in young people with T1DM: a randomized clinical trial. Diabet Med 2006;23(3):278-84.
- Bektas F, Eray O, Sari R, Akbas H. Point of care blood ketone testing of diabetic patients in the emergency department. Endocr Res 2004;30(3):395-402.
- Doll R, Peto R, Boreham J, Sutherland I. Mortality in relation to smoking: 50 years' observations on male British doctors. Br Med J 2004;328(7455):1519.
- 56. Law MR, Wald NJ. Environmental tobacco smoke and ischemic heart disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2003;46(1):31-8.
- Stamler J, Vaccaro O, Neaton JD, Wentworth D. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-yr cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Diabetes Care 1993;16(2):434-44.
- Turner RC, Millns H, Neil HA, Stratton IM, Manley SE, Matthews DR, et al. Risk factors for coronary artery disease in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus: United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS: 23). Br Med J 1998;316(7134):823-8.
- Uusitupa MI, Niskanen LK, Siitonen O, Voutilainen E, Pyorala K. Ten-year cardiovascular mortality in relation to risk factors and abnormalities in lipoprotein composition in type 2 (non-insulindependent) diabetic and non-diabetic subjects. Diabetologia 1993;36(11):1175-84.
- 60. Suarez L, Barrett-Connor E. Interaction between cigarette smoking and diabetes mellitus in the prediction of death attributed to cardiovascular disease. Am J Epidemiol 1984;120(5):670-5.
- 61. Ockene IS, Miller NH. Cigarette smoking, cardiovascular disease, and stroke: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. American Heart Association Task Force on Risk Reduction. Circulation 1997;96(9):3243-7.
- Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG, Whincup PH, Walker M. Smoking cessation and the risk of stroke in middle-aged men. JAMA 1995;274(2):155-60.

- Ejerblad E, Fored CM, Lindblad P, Fryzek J, Dickman PW, Elinder CG, et al. Association between smoking and chronic renal failure in a nationwide population-based case-control study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004;15(8):2178-85.
- Karamanos B, Porta M, Songini M, Metelko Z, Kerenyi Z, Tamas G, et al. Different risk factors of microangiopathy in patients with type I diabetes mellitus of short versus long duration. The EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. Diabetologia 2000;43(3):348-55.
- Muhlhauser I, Bender R, Bott U, Jorgens V, Grusser M, Wagener W, et al. Cigarette smoking and progression of retinopathy and nephropathy in type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 1996;13(6):536-43.
 Solberg Y, Rosner M, Belkin M. The association between cigarette
 - smoking and ocular diseases. Surv Ophthalmol 1998;42(6):535-47. Stratton IM, Kohner EM, Aldington SJ, Turner RC, Holman RR,
- Stratton IM, Kohner EM, Aldington SJ, Turner RC, Holman RR, Manley SE, et al. UKPDS 50: risk factors for incidence and progression of retinopathy in Type II diabetes over 6 years from diagnosis. Diabetologia 2001;44(2):156-63.
- Canga N, De Irala J, Vara E, Duaso MJ, Ferrer A, Martinez-Gonzalez MA. Intervention study for smoking cessation in diabetic patients: a randomized controlled trial in both clinical and primary care settings. Diabetes Care 2000;23(10):1455-60.
- Persson L, Hjalmarson A. Smoking cessation in patients with diabetes mellitus: results from a controlled study of an intervention programme in primary healthcare in Sweden. Scand J Prim Health Care 2006;24(2):75-80.
- Hokanson JM, Anderson RL, Hennrikus DJ, Lando HA, Kendall DM. Integrated tobacco cessation counseling in a diabetes selfmanagement training program: a randomized trial of diabetes and reduction of tobacco. Diabetes Educ 2006;32(4):562-70.
- Stead LF, Bergson G, Lancaster T. Physician advice for smoking cessation (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2008. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Risk estimation and the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2007. (SIGN publication no. 97). [cited 01 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/97/index.html
 - Blondal T, Gudmundsson LJ, Olafsdottir I, Gustavsson G, Westin A. Nicotine nasal spray with nicotine patch for smoking cessation: randomised trial with six year follow up. Br Med J 1999;318(7179):285-8.
- Clavel-Chapelon F, Paoletti C, Benhamou S. Smoking cessation rates 4 years after treatment by nicotine gum and acupuncture. Prev Med 1997;26(1):25-8.
- Lowther M, Mutrie N, Loughlan C, McFarlane C. Development of a Scottish physical activity questionnaire: a tool for use in physical activity interventions. Br J Sports Med 1999;33(4):244-9.
- Albright AL. Exercise precautions and recommendations for patients with autonomic neuropathy. Diabetes Spectrum 1998;11(4):231-7.
- Burchfiel CM, Sharp DS, Curb JD, Rodriguez BL, Hwang LJ, Marcus EB, et al. Physical activity and incidence of diabetes: the Honolulu Heart Program. Am J Epidemiol 1995;141(4):360-8.
- Helmrich SP, Ragland DR, Leung RW, Paffenbarger RS, Jr. Physical activity and reduced occurrence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 1991;325(3):147-52.
 - Hu FB, Sigal RJ, Rich-Edwards JW, Colditz GA, Solomon CG, Willett WC, et al. Walking compared with vigorous physical activity and risk of type 2 diabetes in women: a prospective study. JAMA 1999;282(15):1433-9.
- Lynch J, Helmrich SP, Lakka TA, Kaplan GA, Cohen RD, Salonen R, et al. Moderately intense physical activities and high levels of cardiorespiratory fitness reduce the risk of non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus in middle-aged men. Arch Intern Med 1996;156(12):1307-14.
- Manson JE, Nathan DM, Krolewski AS, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Hennekens CH. A prospective study of exercise and incidence of diabetes among US male physicians. JAMA 1992;268(1):63-7.
- Manson JE, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Krolewski AS, et al. Physical activity and incidence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in women. Lancet 1991;338(8770):774-8.
- Pan XR, Li GW, Hu YH, Wang JX, Yang WY, An ZX, et al. Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance. The Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study. Diabetes Care 1997;20(4):537-44.
- Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hamalainen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med 2001;344(18):1343-50.

- Lindstrom J, Louheranta A, Mannelin M, Rastas M, Salminen V, Eriksson J, et al. The Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (DPS): Lifestyle intervention and 3-year results on diet and physical activity. Diabetes Care 2003;26(12):3230-6.
- Li G, Zhang P, Wang J, Gregg EW, Yang W, Gong Q, et al. The long-term effect of lifestyle interventions to prevent diabetes in the China Da Qing Diabetes Prevention Study: a 20-year follow-up study. Lancet 2008;371(9626):1783-9.
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 2002;346(6):393-403.
- Thomas DE, Elliott EJ, Naughton GA. Exercise for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2006. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Brun JF, Bordenave S, Mercier J, Jaussent A, Picot MC, Préfaut C. Cost-sparing effect of twice-weekly targeted endurance training in type 2 diabetics: a one-year controlled randomized trial. Diabetes Metab 2008;34(3):258-65.
- Kavookjian J, Elswick BM, Whetsel T. Interventions for being active among individuals with diabetes: a systematic review of the literature. Diabetes Educ 2007;33(6):962-88.
- 91. Diabetes Mellitus and Exercise. Diabetes Care 2001;24(suppl 1):S51-S5.
- Dunstan DW, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Burke V, Morton AR, Stanton KG. Effects of a short-term circuit weight training program on glycaemic control in NIDDM. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 1998;40(1):53-61.
- Albright A, Franz M, Hornsby G, Kriska A, Marrero D, Ullrich I, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and type 2 diabetes. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000;32(7):1345-60.
- 94. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Four commonly used methods to increase physical activity: brief interventions in primary care, exercise referral schemes, pedometers and community-based exercise programmes for walking and cycling. London: NICE; 2006. [cited 01 Dec 2009]. Available from url: http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/ PH002_physical_activity.pdf
- Martinus R, Corban R, Wackerhage H, Atkins S, Singh J. Effect of psychological intervention on exercise adherence in type 2 diabetic subjects. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;1084:350-60.
- 96. Schiffrin A, Parikh S. Accommodating planned exercise in type I diabetic patients on intensive treatment. Diabetes Care 1985;8(4):337-42.
- Frid A, Ostman J, Linde B. Hypoglycemia risk during exercise after intramuscular injection of insulin in thigh in IDDM. Diabetes Care 1990;13(5):473-7.
- Koivisto VA, Felig P. Effects of leg exercise on insulin absorption in diabetic patients. N Engl J Med 1978;298(2):79-83.
- Calle-Pascual AL, Martin-Alvarez PJ, Reyes C, Calle JR. Regular physical activity and reduced occurrence of microalbuminuria in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabete Metab 1993;19(3):304-9.
- 100. Cruickshanks KJ, Moss SE, Klein R, Klein BE. Physical activity and proliferative retinopathy in people diagnosed with diabetes before age 30 yr. Diabetes Care 1992;15(10):1267-72.
- LeMaster JW, Mueller MJ, Reiber GE, Mehr DR, Madsen RW, Conn VS. Effect of weight-bearing activity on foot ulcer incidence in people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy: Feet first randomized controlled trial. Physical Therapy 2008;88(11):1385-98.
- 102. Mittleman MA, Maclure M, Tofler GH, Sherwood JB, Goldberg RJ, Muller JE. Triggering of acute myocardial infarction by heavy physical exertion. Protection against triggering by regular exertion. Determinants of Myocardial Infarction Onset Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 1993;329(23):1677-83.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of Obesity. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2010. (SIGN publication no. 115). Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk
- Norris SL, Zhang X, Avenell A, Gregg E, Bowman B, Serdula M, et al. Long-term effectiveness of lifestyle and behavioral weight loss interventions in adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. Am J Med 2004;117(10):762-74.
- 105. Pi-Sunyer FX. How effective are lifestyle changes in the prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus? Nutr Rev 2007;65(3):101-10.
- Anderson JW, Kendall CW, Jenkins DJ. Importance of weight management in type 2 diabetes: review with meta-analysis of clinical studies. J Am Coll Nutr 2003;22(5):331-9.
- 107. Avenell A, Brown TJ, McGee MA, Campbell MK, Grant AM, Broom J, et al. What are the long-term benefits of weight reducing diets in adults? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. J Hum Nutr Diet 2004;17(4):317-35.

- Norris SL, Zhang X, Avenell A, Gregg E, Schmid CH, Lau J. Pharmacotherapy for weight loss in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 1, 2005. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Buchwald H, Estok R, Fahrbach K, Banel D, Jensen MD, Pories WJ, et al. Weight and type 2 diabetes after bariatric surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Med 2009;122(3):248-56.
- Aucott L, Poobalan A, Smith WC, Avenell A, Jung R, Broom J, et al. Weight loss in obese diabetic and non-diabetic individuals and long-term diabetes outcomes—a systematic review. Diabetes Obes Metab 2004;6(2):85-94.
- 111. Pories WJ, MacDonald KG, Jr., Flickinger EG, Dohm GL, Sinha MK, Barakat HA, et al. Is type II diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) a surgical disease? Overview: jejunoileal bypass in the treatment of morbid obesity. Ann Surg 1992;215(6):633-42.
- 112. O'Leary JP. Overview: jejunoileal bypass in the treatment of morbid obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1980;33(2 Suppl):389-94.
- Dixon JB, O'Brien PE, Playfair J, Chapman L, Schachter LM, Skinner S, et al. Adjustable gastric banding and conventional therapy for type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2008;299(3):316-23.
- Sjostrom L, Lindroos AK, Peltonen M, Torgerson J, Bouchard C, Carlsson B, et al. Lifestyle, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk factors 10 years after bariatric surgery. N Engl J Med 2004;351(26):2683-93.
- 115. Ponce J, Haynes B, Paynter S, Fromm R, Lindsey B, Shafer A, et al. Effect of Lap-Band-induced weight loss on type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension. Obes Surg 2004;14(10):1335-42.
- UK Prospective Diabetes Study 7: response of fasting plasma glucose to diet therapy in newly presenting type II diabetic patients, UKPDS Group. Metabolism 1990;39(9):905-12.
- 117. United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS). 13: Relative efficacy of randomly allocated diet, sulphonylurea, insulin, or metformin in patients with newly diagnosed noninsulin dependent diabetes followed for three years. Br Med J 1995;310(6972):83-8.
- Thomas D, Elliott EJ. Low glycaemic index, or low glycaemic load, diets for diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 1, 2009. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd. CD006296.
- Daly ME, Paisey R, Millward BA, Eccles C, Williams K, Hammersley S, et al. Short-term effects of severe dietary carbohydrate-restriction advice in Type 2 diabetes - A randomized controlled trial. Diabet Med 2006;23(1):15-20.
- Westman EC, Yancy WS, Jr., Mavropoulos JC, Marquart M, McDuffie JR. The effect of a low-carbohydrate, ketogenic diet versus a low-glycemic index diet on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutr Metab 2008;5:36.
- 121. Hartweg J, Perera R, Montori V, Dinneen S, Neil HAW, Farmer A. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 1, 2008. London: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- 122. Ward NC, Wu JH, Clarke MW, Puddey IB, Burke V, Croft KD, et al. The effect of vitamin E on blood pressure in individuals with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Hypertens 2007;25(1):227-34.
- Colman E, Katzel LI, Rogus E, Coon P, Muller D, Goldberg AP. Weight loss reduces abdominal fat and improves insulin action in middle-aged and older men with impaired glucose tolerance. Metabolism 1995;44(11):1502-8.
- 124. Dyson PA, Hammersley MS, Morris RJ, Holman RR, Turner RC. The Fasting Hyperglycaemia Study: II. Randomized controlled trial of reinforced healthy-living advice in subjects with increased but not diabetic fasting plasma glucose. Metabolism 1997;46(12 Suppl 1):50-5.
- Eriksson KF, Lindgarde F. Prevention of type 2 (non-insulindependent) diabetes mellitus by diet and physical exercise. The 6-year Malmo feasibility study. Diabetologia 1991;34(12):891-8.
- 126. Agurs-Collins TD, Kumanyika SK, Ten Have TR, Adams-Campbell LL. A randomized controlled trial of weight reduction and exercise for diabetes management in older African-American subjects. Diabetes Care 1997;20(10):1503-11.
- 127. Arseneau DL, Mason AC, Wood OB, Schwab E, Green D. A comparison of learning activity packages and classroom instruction for diet management of patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Educ 1994;20(6):509-14.
- Campbell LV, Barth R, Gosper JK, Jupp JJ, Simons LA, Chisholm DJ. Impact of intensive educational approach to dietary change in NIDDM. Diabetes Care 1990;13(8):841-7.

- Glasgow RE, La Chance PA, Toobert DJ, Brown J, Hampson SE, Riddle MC. Long-term effects and costs of brief behavioural dietary intervention for patients with diabetes delivered from the medical office. Patient Educ Couns 1997;32(3):175-84.
- Glasgow RE, Toobert DJ, Hampson SE, Brown JE, Lewinsohn PM, Donnelly J. Improving self-care among older patients with type II diabetes: the «Sixty Something...» Study. Patient Educ Couns 1992;19(1):61-74.
- 131. Manning RM, Jung RT, Leese GP, Newton RW. The comparison of four weight reduction strategies aimed at overweight diabetic patients. Diabet Med 1995;12(5):409-15.
- 132. Smith DE, Heckemeyer CM, Kratt PP, Mason DA. Motivational interviewing to improve adherence to a behavioral weight-control program for older obese women with NIDDM. A pilot study. Diabetes Care 1997;20(1):52-4.
- 133. Franz MJ, Monk A, Barry B, McClain K, Weaver T, Cooper N, et al. Effectiveness of medical nutrition therapy provided by dietitians in the management of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: a randomized, controlled clinical trial. J Am Diet Assoc 1995;95(9):1009-17.
- Franz MJ, Splett PL, Monk A, Barry B, McClain K, Weaver T, et al. Cost-effectiveness of medical nutrition therapy provided by dietitians for persons with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Am Diet Assoc 1995;95(9):1018-24.
- 135. Laitinen J, Uusitupa M, Ahola I, Siitonen O. Metabolic and dietary determinants of serum lipids in obese patients with recently diagnosed non-insulin-dependent diabetes. Ann Med 1994;26(2):119-24.
- 136. Laitinen JH, Ahola IE, Sarkkinen ES, Winberg RL, Harmaakorpilivonen PA, Uusitupa MI. Impact of intensified dietary therapy on energy and nutrient intakes and fatty acid composition of serum lipids in patients with recently diagnosed non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Am Diet Assoc 1993;93(3):276-83.
- Vanninen E, Uusitupa M, Lansimies E, Siitonen O, Laitinen J. Effect of metabolic control on autonomic function in obese patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 1993;10(1):66-73.
- Haynes RB, Kris-Etherton P, McCarron DA, Oparil S, Chait A, Resnick LM, et al. Nutritionally complete prepared meal plan to reduce cardiovascular risk factors: a randomized clinical trial. J Am Diet Assoc 1999;99(9):1077-83.
- Jeffery RW, Wing RR, Thorson C, Burton LR, Raether C, Harvey J, et al. Strengthening behavioral interventions for weight loss: a randomized trial of food provision and monetary incentives. J Consult Clin Psychol 1993;61(6):1038-45.
- 140. Metz JA, Kris-Etherton PM, Morris CD, Mustad VA, Stern JS, Oparil S, et al. Dietary compliance and cardiovascular risk reduction with a prepared meal plan compared with a self-selected diet. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;66(2):373-85.
- 141. Pi-Sunyer FX, Maggio CA, McCarron DA, Reusser ME, Stern JS, Haynes RB, et al. Multicenter randomized trial of a comprehensive prepared meal program in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 1999;22(2):191-7.
- 142. Foppa M, Fuchs FD, Preissler L, Andrighetto A, Rosito GA, Duncan BB. Red wine with the noon meal lowers post-meal pressure: A randomized trial in centrally obese, hypertensive patients. J Stud Alcohol 2002;63(2):247-51.
- 143. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). The management of harmful drinking and alcohol dependence in primary care. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2003. (SIGN publication no. 74). Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/74/ index.html
- 144. Pitsavos C, Makrilakis K, Panagiotakos DB, Chrysohoou C, Ioannidis I, Dimosthenopoulos C, et al. The J-shape effect of alcohol intake on the risk of developing acute coronary syndromes in diabetic subjects: the CARDIO2000 II Study. Diabet Med 2005;22(3):243-8.
- Howard AA, Arnsten JH, Gourevitch MN. Effect of Alcohol Consumption on Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review. Ann Intern Med 2004;140(3):211-9.
- 146. Koppes LL, Dekker JM, Hendriks HF, Bouter LM, Heine RJ. Metaanalysis of the relationship between alcohol consumption and coronary heart disease and mortality in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia 2006;49(4):648-52.
- Gin H, Morlat P, Ragnaud JM, Aubertin J. Short-term effect of red wine (consumed during meals) on insulin requirement and glucose tolerance in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 1992;15(4):546-8.
- Koivisto VA, Tulokas S, Toivonen M, Haapa E, Pelkonen R. Alcohol with a meal has no adverse effects on postprandial glucose homeostasis in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 1993;16(12):1612-4.

- Moriarty KT, Maggs DG, Macdonald IA, Tattersall RB. Does ethanol cause hypoglycaemia in overnight fasted patients with type 1 diabetes? Diabet Med 1993;10(1):61-5.
- Burge MR, Zeise TM, Sobhy TA, Rassam AG, Schade DS. Lowdose ethanol predisposes elderly fasted patients with type 2 diabetes to sulfonylurea-induced low blood glucose. Diabetes Care 1999;22(12):2037-43.
- 151. Christiansen C, Thomsen C, Rasmussen O, Hansen C, Hermansen K. The acute impact of ethanol on glucose, insulin, triacylglycerol, and free fatty acid responses and insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetes. Br J Nutr 1996;76(5):669-75.
- Rasmussen BM, Christiansen C, Rasmussen OW, Hansen C, Hermansen K. Alcohol and postexercise metabolic responses in type 2 diabetes. Metabolism 1999;48(5):597-602.
- Cheyne EH, Sherwin RS, Lunt MJ, Cavan DA, Thomas PW, Kerr D. Influence of alcohol on cognitive performance during mild hypoglycaemia; implications for Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2004;21(3):230-7.
- Ismail K, Thomas SM, Maissi E, Chalder T, Schmidt U, Bartlett J, et al. Motivational enhancement therapy with and without cognitive behavior therapy to treat type 1 diabetes: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2008;149(10):708-19.
- 155. Snoek FJ, Van Der Ven NCW, Twisk JWR, Hogenelst MHE, Tromp-Wever AME, Van Der Ploeg HM, et al. Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) compared with blood glucose awareness training (BGAT) in poorly controlled Type 1 diabetic patients: Long-term effects on HbA1c moderated by depression. A randomized controlled trial. Diabet Med 2008;25(11):1337-42.
- Channon SJ, Huws-Thomas MV, Rollnick S, Hood K, Cannings-John RL, Rogers C, et al. A multicenter randomized controlled trial of motivational interviewing in teenagers with diabetes. Diabetes care 2007;30(6):1390-95.
- 157. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health. Type 1 Diabetes - diagnosis and management of type 1 diabetes in children and young people. London: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2004. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.rcog.org.uk/catalog/book/type-1-diabetes
- The National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions. Type 1 diabetes in adults. London: Royal College of Physicians; 2004. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.rcplondon. ac.uk/pubs/contents/be953e5f-8851-4137-b326-857e6c83cc55. pdf
- 159. Winkley K, Ismail K, Landau S, Eisler I. Psychological interventions to improve glycaemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Br Med J 2006;333(7558):65.
- 160. Amato L, Paolisso G, Cacciatore F, Ferrara N, Canonico S, Rengo F, et al. Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is associated with a greater prevalence of depression in the elderly. The Osservatorio Geriatrico of Campania Region Group. Diabetes Metab 1996;22(5):314-8.
- Talbot F, Nouwen A. A review of the relationship between depression and diabetes in adults: is there a link? Diabetes Care 2000;23(10):1556-62.
- Bailey BJ. Mediators of depression in adults with diabetes. Clin Nurs Res 1996;5(1):28-42.
- Lloyd CE, Matthews KA, Wing RR, Orchard TJ. Psychosocial factors and complications of IDDM. The Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. VIII. Diabetes Care 1992;15(2):166-72.
- Lustman PJ, Griffith LS, Freedland KE, Kissel SS, Clouse RE. Cognitive behavior therapy for depression in type 2 diabetes mellitus. A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1998;129(8):613-21.
- Lustman PJ, Clouse RE, Griffith LS, Carney RM, Freedland KE. Screening for depression in diabetes using the Beck Depression Inventory. Psychosom Med 1997;59(1):24-31.
- 166. Stahl D, Sum CF, Lum SS, Liow PH, Chan YH, Verma S, et al. Screening for depressive symptoms: validation of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) in a multiethnic group of patients with diabetes in Singapore. Diabetes Care 2008;31(6):1118-9.
- Daly EJ, Trivedi MH, Raskin P, Grannemann BG. Screening for depression in a diabetic outpatient population. Int J Psychiatry Clin Prac 2007;11(4):268-72.
- Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1983;67(6):361-70.
- 169. Psychology Working Group for the Scottish Diabetes Group. A Review of Psychology Provision to Adults & Children with Diabetes in Scotland; 2006. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.diabetesinscotland.org.uk/publications/sdg%20 psychology%20report%202006.pdf

- de Wit M, Pouwer F, Gemke RJ, Delemarre-van de Waal HA, Snoek FJ. Validation of the WHO-5 Well-Being Index in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2007;30(8):2003-6.
- 171. Hampson SE, Skinner TC, Hart J, Storey L, Gage H, Foxcroft D, et al. Effects of educational and psychosocial interventions for adolescents with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Health Technology Assess 2001;5(10). [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.hta.ac.uk/fullmono/mon510.pdf
- 172. Armour TA, Norris SL, Jack Jr L, Zhang X, Fisher L. The effectiveness of family interventions in people with diabetes mellitus: A systematic review. Diabet Med 2005;22(10):1295-305.
- 173. Ismail K, Winkley K, Rabe-Hesketh S. Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of psychological interventions to improve glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. Lancet 2004;363(9421):1589-97.
- 174. Gregg JA, Callaghan GM, Hayes SC, Glenn-Lawson JL. Improving diabetes self-management through acceptance, mindfulness, and values: a randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2007;75(2):336-43.
- 175. Richardson CR, Mehari KS, McIntyre LG, Janney AW, Fortlage LA, Sen A, et al. A randomized trial comparing structured and lifestyle goals in an internet-mediated walking program for people with type 2 diabetes. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2007;4(59).
- West DS, DiLillo V, Bursac Z, Gore SA, Greene PG. Motivational interviewing improves weight loss in women with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2007;30(5):1081-87.
- 177. Lustman PJ, Freedland KE, Griffith LS, Clouse RE. Fluoxetine for depression in diabetes: a randomized double-blind placebocontrolled trial. Diabetes Care 2000;23(5):618-23.
- Lustman PJ, Griffith LS, Clouse RE, Freedland KE, Eisen SA, Rubin EH, et al. Effects of nortriptyline on depression and glycemic control in diabetes: results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Psychosom Med 1997;59(3):241-50.
- 179. Lustman PJ, Clouse RE, Nix BD, Freedland KE, Rubin EH, McGill JB, et al. Sertraline for prevention of depression recurrence in diabetes mellitus: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2006;63(5):521-9.
- 180. Grey M, Boland EA, Davidson M, Yu C, Sullivan-Bolyai S, Tamborlane WV. Short-term effects of coping skills training as adjunct to intensive therapy in adolescents. Diabetes Care 1998;21(6):902-8.
- Peyrot M, Rubin RR. Persistence of depressive symptoms in diabetic adults. Diabetes Care 1999;22(3):448-52.
- Spiess K, Sachs G, Pietschmann P, Prager R. A program to reduce onset distress in unselected type I diabetic patients: effects on psychological variables and metabolic control. Eur J Endocrinol 1995;132(5):580-6.
- 183. Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990-1999. Diabet Med 2006;23(8):857-66.
- Fagot-Campagna A, Narayan KM, Imperatore G. Type 2 diabetes in children. Br Med J 2001;322(7283):377-8.
- 185. Factors influencing glycemic control in young people with type 1 diabetes in Scotland: a population-based study (DIABAUD2). Diabetes Care 2001;24(2):239-44.
- Gale EA, Gillespie KM. Diabetes and gender. Diabetologia 2001;44(1):3-15.
- Rosenbloom AL, Schatz DA, Krischer JP, Skyler JS, Becker DJ, Laporte RE, et al. Therapeutic controversy: prevention and treatment of diabetes in children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000;85(2):494-522.
- Siminerio LM, Charron-Prochownik D, Banion C, Schreiner B. Comparing outpatient and inpatient diabetes education for newly diagnosed pediatric patients. Diabetes Educ 1999;25(6):895-906.
- Chase HP, Crews KR, Garg S, Crews MJ, Cruickshanks KJ, Klingensmith G, et al. Outpatient management vs in-hospital management of children with new-onset diabetes. Clin Pediatr 1992;31(8):450-6.
- Standards of medical care in diabetes--2009. Diabetes Care 2009;32(Suppl 1):S13-61.
- 191. Canadian Diabetes Association Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. Canadian Diabetes Association 2008. Clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada. Can J Diabetes 2008;32(Suppl1):S1-S201.
- 192. Bougneres PF, Landais P, Mairesse AM, Jais JP, Jos J, Peyraud J, et al. Improvement of diabetic control and acceptability of a threeinjection insulin regimen in diabetic adolescents. A multicenter controlled study. Diabetes Care 1993;16(1):94-102.
- 193. Hinde FR, Johnston DI. Two or three insulin injections in adolescence? Arch Dis Child 1986;61(2):118-23.

- 194. Effect of intensive diabetes treatment on the development and progression of long-term complications in adolescents with insulindependent diabetes mellitus: Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. J Pediatr 1994;125(2):177-88.
- 195. Singh SR, Ahmad F, Lal A, Yu C, Bai Z, Bennett H. Efficacy and safety of insulin analogues for the management of diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Can Med Assoc J 2009;180(4):385-97.
- 196. Siebenhofer A, Plank J, Berghold A, Jeitler K, Horvath K, Narath M, et al. Short acting insulin analogues versus regular human insulin in patients with diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2006. London: Wiley.
- 197. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH). Long-Acting Insulin Analogues for the Treatment of Diabetes Mellitus: Meta-analyses of Clinical Outcomes. Ottawa: CADTH; 2008. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.cadth. ca/media/compus/reports/compus_Long-Acting-Insulin-Analogs-Report Clinical-Outcomes.pdf
- Monami M, Marchionni N, Mannucci E. Long-acting insulin analogues vs. NPH human insulin in type 1 diabetes. A metaanalysis. Diabetes Obes Metab 2009;11(4):372-8.
- 199. Bartley PC, Bogoev M, Larsen J, Philotheou A. Long-term efficacy and safety of insulin detemir compared to Neutral Protamine Hagedorn insulin in patients with Type 1 diabetes using a treat-totarget basal-bolus regimen with insulin aspart at meals: a 2-year, randomized, controlled trial. Diabet Med 2008;25(4):442-9.
- Witthaus E, Stewart J, Bradley C. Treatment satisfaction and psychological well-being with insulin glargine compared with NPH in patients with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med. 2001;18(8):619-25.
- 201. Heller S, Koenen C, Bode B. Comparison of insulin detemir and insulin glargine in a basal-bolus regimen, with insulin aspart as the mealtime insulin, in patients with type 1 diabetes: a 52-week, multinational, randomized, open-label, parallel-group, treat-totarget noninferiority trial. Clin Ther. 2009;31(10):2086-97.
- 202. Pieber TR, Treichel HC, Hompesch B, Philotheou A, Mordhorst L, Gall MA, et al. Comparison of insulin detemir and insulin glargine in subjects with Type 1 diabetes using intensive insulin therapy. Diabet Med. 2007;24(6):635-42. Epub 2007 Mar 22.
- Robertson KJ, Schoenle E, Gucev Z, Mordhorst L, Gall MA, Ludvigsson J. Insulin detemir compared with NPH insulin in children and adolescents with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med. 2007;24(1):27-34.
- Colquitt JL, Green C, Sidhu MK, Hartwell D, Waugh N. Clinical and cost-effectiveness of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion for diabetes. Health Technology Assess 2004;8(43). [cited 19 Nov 2009]. Available from URL: http://www.hta.ac.uk/fullmono/ mon843.pdf.
- 205. Pickup JC, Sutton AJ. Severe hypoglycaemia and glycaemic control in Type 1 diabetes: meta-analysis of multiple daily insulin injections compared with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion. Diabet Med 2008;25(7):765-74.
- 206. Siebenhofer A, Plank J, Berghold A, Horvath K, Sawicki PT, Beck P, et al. Meta-analysis of short-acting insulin analogues in adult patients with type 1 diabetes: continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion versus injection therapy. Diabetologia 2004;47(11):1895-905.
- 207. Pankowska E, Blazik M, Dziechciarz P, Szypowska A, Szajewska H. Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion vs. multiple daily injections in children with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized control trials. Pediatr Diabetes 2009;10(1):52-8.
- Jeitler K, Horvath K, Berghold A, Gratzer TW, Neeser K, Pieber TR, et al. Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion versus multiple daily insulin injections in patients with diabetes mellitus: systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia 2008;51(6):941-51.
- 209. Fatourechi MM, Kudva YC, Murad MH, Elamin MB, Tabini CC, Montori VM. Hypoglycemia with intensive insulin therapy: A systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized trials of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion versus multiple daily injections. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94(3):729-40.
- 210. Barnard KD, Lloyd CE, Skinner TC. Systematic literature review: Quality of life associated with insulin pump use in type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2007;24(6):607-17.
- 211. Bruttomesso D, Crazzolara D, Maran A, Costa S, Dal Pos M, Girelli A, et al. In Type 1 diabetic patients with good glycaemic control, blood glucose variability is lower during continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion than during multiple daily injections with insulin glargine. Diabet Med 2008;25(3):326-32.

- 212. Skogsberg L, Fors H, Hanas R, Chaplin JE, Lindman E, Skogsberg J. Improved treatment satisfaction but no difference in metabolic control when using continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion vs. multiple daily injections in children at onset of type 1 diabetes mellitus. Pediatr Diabetes 2008;9(5):472-9.
- 213. Bolli GB, Kerr D, Thomas R, Torlone E, Sola-Gazagnes A, Vitacolonna E, et al. Comparison of a multiple daily insulin injection regimen (basal once-daily glargine plus mealtime lispro) and continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (lispro) in type 1 diabetes: a randomized open parallel multicenter study. Diabetes Care 2009;32(7):1170-6.
- 214. Davies M, Dixon S, Currie CJ, Davis RE, Peters JR. Evaluation of a hospital diabetes specialist nursing service: a randomized controlled trial. Diabet Med 2001;18(4):301-7.
- 215. Waller SL, Delaney S, Strachan MWJ. Does an Integrated Care Pathway enhance the management of diabetic ketoacidosis? Diabet Med 2007;24(4):359-63.
- 216. British Society of Paediatric Endocrinology and Diabetes. Guidelines for the Management of Diabetic Ketoacidosis. Oxford; 2009. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.bsped. org.uk/professional/guidelines/docs/DKAGuideline.pdf
- 217. Wolfsdorf J, Craig ME, Daneman D, Dunger D, Edge J, Lee W, et al. Diabetic ketoacidosis in children and adolescents with diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes. 2009;10(Suppl 12):118-33.
- Chiari G, Ghidini B, Vanelli M. Effectiveness of a toll-free telephone hotline for children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. A 5-year study. Acta Biomed 2003;74(Suppl 1):45-8.
- 219. Kapellen TM, Dost A, Leludas C, Kiess W. Patient acceptance and use of an emergency telephone hotline service in pediatric diabetes care. Diabetes Care 1998;21(8):1365.
- 220. A longitudinal observational study of insulin therapy and glycaemic control in Scottish children with Type 1 diabetes: DIABAUD 3. Diabet Med 2006;23(11):1216-21.
- 221. Royal College of Physicians Edinburgh Transition Steering Group. Think Transition: Developing the essential link between paediatric and adult care. Edinburgh: Royal College of Physicians; 2008. [cited 15 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/ clinical-standards/documents/transition.pdf
- Royal College of Nursing. Lost in Transistion. Moving people between child and adult health services. London: Royal College of Nursing; 2008. [cited 15 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http:// www.rcn.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/157879/003227.pdf
- Royal College of Nursing. Adolescent transition care. Guidance for nursing staff. London: Royal College of Nursing; 2004. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.rcn.org.uk/_data/ assets/pdf_file/0011/78617/002313.pdf
- 224. Kipps S, Bahu T, Ong K, Ackland FM, Brown RS, Fox CT, et al. Current methods of transfer of young people with Type 1 diabetes to adult services. Diabet Med 2002;19(8):649-54.
- 225. Holmes-Walker DJ, Llewellyn AC, Farrell K. A transition care programme which improves diabetes control and reduces hospital admission rates in young adults with Type 1 diabetes aged 15-25 years. Diabet Med 2007;24(7):764-9.
- 226. Wilson V, Beskine D. Children and young people with type 1 diabetes: managing at school. J Diabet Nurs 2007;11(10):5p.
- Faro B, Ingersoll G, Fiore H, Ippolito KS. Improving students' diabetes management through school-based diabetes care. J Pediatr Health Care 2005;19(5):301-8.
- Nguyen TM, Mason KJ, Sanders CG, Yazdani P, Heptulla RA. Targeting blood glucose management in school improves glycemic control in children with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Pediatr 2008;153(4):575-8.
- Influence of intensive diabetes treatment on quality-of-life outcomes in the diabetes control and complications trial. Diabetes Care 1996;19(3):195-203.
- Quality of life in type 2 diabetic patients is affected by complications but not by intensive policies to improve blood glucose or blood pressure control (UKPDS 37). U.K. Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Diabetes Care 1999;22(7):1125-36.
- 231. Mayou R, Bryant B, Turner R. Quality of life in non-insulindependent diabetes and a comparison with insulin-dependent diabetes. J Psychosom Res 1990;34(1):1-11.
- 232. Holl RW, Lang GE, Grabert M, Heinze E, Lang GK, Debatin KM. Diabetic retinopathy in pediatric patients with type-1 diabetes: effect of diabetes duration, prepubertal and pubertal onset of diabetes, and metabolic control. J Pediatr 1998;132(5):790-4.
- 233. Moore WV, Donaldson DL, Chonko AM, Ideus P, Wiegmann TB. Ambulatory blood pressure in type I diabetes mellitus. Comparison to presence of incipient nephropathy in adolescents and young adults. Diabetes 1992;41(9):1035-41.

- Lanng S, Hansen A, Thorsteinsson B, Nerup J, Koch C. Glucose tolerance in patients with cystic fibrosis: five year prospective study. Br Med J 1995;311(7006):655-9.
- Lanng S, Thorsteinsson B, Nerup J, Koch C. Influence of the development of diabetes mellitus on clinical status in patients with cystic fibrosis. Eur J Pediatr 1992;151(9):684-7.
- Lanng S, Thorsteinsson B, Nerup J, Koch C. Diabetes mellitus in cystic fibrosis: effect of insulin therapy on lung function and infections. Acta Paediatr 1994;83(8):849-53.
- 237. Carlsson AK, Axelsson IE, Borulf SK, Bredberg AC, Lindberg BA, Sjoberg KG, et al. Prevalence of IgA-antiendomysium and IgA-antigliadin autoantibodies at diagnosis of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in Swedish children and adolescents. Pediatrics 1999;103(6 Pt 1):1248-52.
- Lorini R, Scotta MS, Cortona L, Avanzini MA, Vitali L, De Giacomo C, et al. Celiac disease and type I (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus in childhood: follow-up study. J Diabetes Complications 1996;10(3):154-9.
- 239. Radetti G, Paganini C, Gentili L, Bernasconi S, Betterle C, Borkenstein M, et al. Frequency of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Acta Diabetol 1995;32(2):121-4.
- Turner R. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). Lancet 1998;352(9131):837-53.
- Turner R. Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34). Lancet 1998;352(9131):854-65.
- Patel A, MacMahon S, Chalmers J, Neal B, Billot L, Woodward M, et al. ADVANCE Collaborative Group. Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008;358(24):2560-72.
- Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study Group, Gerstein HC, Miller ME, Byington RP, Goff DC, Jr., Bigger JT, et al. Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008;358(24):2545-59.
- 244. Duckworth W, Abraira C, Moritz T, Reda D, Emanuele N, Reaven PD, et al. Glucose control and vascular complications in veterans with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2009;360(2):129-39.
- Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HAW. 10-Year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008;359(15):1577-89.
- Kelly TN, Bazzano LA, Fonseca VA, Thethi TK, Reynolds K, He J. Systematic review: glucose control and cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes. Ann Intern Med 2009;151(6):394-403.
- Turnbull FM, Abraira C, Anderson RJ, Byington RP, Chalmers JP, Duckworth WC, et al. Intensive glucose control and macrovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 2009;52(11):2288-98.
- Saenz A, Fernandez-Esteban I, Mataix A, Ausejo M, Roque M, Moher D. Metformin monotherapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2005. London: Wiley.
- 249. Bolen S, Wilson L, Vassy J, Feldman L, Yeh J, Marinopoulos Sea. Comparative Effectiveness and Safety of Oral Diabetes Medications for Adults With Type 2 Diabetes. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2007. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/ehc/ products/6/39/OralFullReport.pdf
- 250. Lund SS, Tarnow L, Frandsen M, Smidt UM, Pedersen O, Parving HH, et al. Impact of metformin versus the prandial insulin secretagogue, repaglinide, on fasting and postprandial glucose and lipid responses in non-obese patients with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol 2008;158(1):35-46.
- 51. Salpeter S, Greyber E, Pasternak G, Salpeter E. Risk of fatal and nonfatal lactic acidosis with metformin use in type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 1, 2006. London: Wiley.
- Eurich DT, McAlister FA, Blackburn DF, Majumdar SR, Tsuyuki RT, Varney J, et al. Benefits and harms of antidiabetic agents in patients with diabetes and heart failure: Systematic review. Br Med J 2007;335(7618):497-501.
- 253. Inzucchi SE. Oral antihyperglycemic therapy for type 2 diabetes: scientific review. JAMA 2002;287(3):360-72.
- Schernthaner G, Grimaldi A, Di Mario U, Drzewoski J, Kempler P, Kvapil M, et al. GUIDE study: double-blind comparison of oncedaily gliclazide MR and glimepiride in type 2 diabetic patients. Eur J Clin Invest 2004;34(8):535-42.

- 255. Belsey J, Krishnarajah G. Glycaemic control and adverse events in patients with type 2 diabetes treated with metformin + sulphonylurea: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Obes Metab 2008;1(Suppl 1):1-7.
- 256. Leese GP, Wang J, Broomhall J, Kelly P, Marsden A, Morrison W, et al. Frequency of severe hypoglycemia requiring emergency treatment in type 1 and type 2 diabetes: a population-based study of health service resource use. Diabetes Care 2003;26(4):1176-80.
- 257. Tzoulaki I, Molokhia M, Curcin V, Little MP, Millett CJ, Ng A, et al. Risk of cardiovascular disease and all cause mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes prescribed oral antidiabetes drugs: retrospective cohort study using UK general practice research database. Br Med J 2009;339:b4731(doi):10.1136/bmj.b4731.
- Kahn SE, Haffner SM, Heise MA, Herman WH, Holman RR, Jones NP, et al. Glycemic durability of rosiglitazone, metformin, or glyburide monotherapy. N Engl J Med 2006;355(23):2427-43.
- 259. Dormandy JA, Charbonnel B, Eckland DJ, Erdmann E, Massi-Benedetti M, Moules IK, et al. Secondary prevention of macrovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes in the PROactive Study (PROspective pioglitAzone Clinical Trial In macroVascular Events): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2005;366(9493):1279-89.
- 260. Czoski-Murray C, Warren E, Chilcott J, Beverley C, Psyllaki MA, Cowan J. Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone in the treatment of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assess 2004; 8(13). [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http:// www.hta.ac.uk/execsumm/summ813.shtml
- 261. Richter B, Bandeira-Echtler E, Bergerhoff K, Clar C, Ebrahim SH. Pioglitazone for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2006. London: Wiley.
- 262. Erdmann E, Dormandy JA, Charbonnel B, Massi-Benedetti M, Moules IK, Skene AM, et al. The effect of pioglitazone on recurrent myocardial infarction in 2,445 patients with type 2 diabetes and previous myocardial infarction: results from the PROactive (PROactive 05) Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;49(17):1772-80.
- 263. Wilcox R, Bousser MG, Betteridge DJ, Schernthaner G, Pirags V, Kupfer S, et al. Effects of pioglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes with or without previous stroke: results from PROactive (PROspective pioglitAzone Clinical Trial In macroVascular Events 04). Stroke 2007;38(3):865-73.
- Mannucci E, Monami M, Lamanna C, Gensini GF, Marchionni N. Pioglitazone and cardiovascular risk. A comprehensive metaanalysis of randomized clinical trials. Diabetes Obes Metab 2008;10(12):1221-38.
- Lincoff AM, Wolski K, Nicholls SJ, Nissen SE. Pioglitazone and risk of cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A meta-analysis of randomized trials. JAMA 2007;298(10):1180-88.
- 266. Lago RM, Singh PP, Nesto RW. Congestive heart failure and cardiovascular death in patients with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes given thiazolidinediones: a meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. Lancet 2007;370(9593):1129-36.
- 267. Erdmann E, Charbonnel B, Wilcox RG, Skene AM, Massi-Benedetti M, Yates J, et al. Pioglitazone use and heart failure in patients with type 2 diabetes and preexisting cardiovascular disease: Data from the PROactive Study (PROactive 08). Diabetes Care 2007;30(11):2773-78.
- Giles TD, Miller AB, Elkayam U, Bhattacharya M, Perez A. Pioglitazone and Heart Failure: Results From a Controlled Study in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Systolic Dysfunction. J Card Fail 2008;14(6):445-52.
- Bolen S, Feldman L, Vassy J, Wilson L, Yeh H, Marinopoulos S, et al. Systematic review: comparative effectiveness and safety of oral medications for type 2 diabetes mellitus. Ann Intern Med 2007;147(6):386-99.
- Berlie HD, Kalus JS, Jaber LA. Thiazolidinediones and the risk of edema: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2007;76(2):279-89.
- Loke YK, Singh S, Furberg CD. Long-term use of thiazolidinediones and fractures in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. CMAJ 2009;180(1):32-9.
- 272. Dormuth CR, Carney G, Carleton B, Bassett K, Wright JM. Thiazolidinediones and fractures in men and women. Arch Intern Med 2009;169(15):1395-402.
- 273. Richter B, Bandeira-Echtler E, Bergerhoff K, Clar C, Ebrahim SH. Rosiglitazone for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2007. London: Wiley.
- Nissen SE, Wolski K. Effect of rosiglitazone on the risk of myocardial infarction and death from cardiovascular causes. N Engl J Med 2007;356(24):2457-71.

- Diamond GA, Bax L, Kaul S. Uncertain effects of rosiglitazone on the risk for myocardial infarction and cardiovascular death. Ann Intern Med 2007;147(8):578-81.
- 276. Singh S, Loke YK, Furberg CD. Long-term risk of cardiovascular events with rosiglitazone: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2007;298(10):1189-95.
- Home PD, Pocock SJ, Beck-Nielsen H, Curtis PS, Gomis R, Hanefeld M, et al. Rosiglitazone evaluated for cardiovascular outcomes in oral agent combination therapy for type 2 diabetes (RECORD): a multicentre, randomised, open-label trial. Lancet 2009;373(9681):2125-35.
- 278. Richter B, Bandeira-Echtler E, Bergerhoff K, Lerch CL. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2008. London: Wiley.
- 279. DeFronzo RA, Hissa MN, Garber AJ, Gross JL, Duan RY, Ravichandran S, et al. The efficacy and safety of saxagliptin when added to metformin therapy in patients with inadequately controlled type 2 diabetes with metformin alone. Diabetes Care 2009;32(9):1649-55.
- Rosenstock J, Aguilar-Salinas C, Klein E, Nepal S, List J, Chen R. Effect of saxagliptin monotherapy in treatment-naive patients with type 2 diabetes. Curr Med Res Opin 2009;25(10):2401-11.
- 281. Hermansen K, Kipnes M, Luo E, Fanurik D, Khatami H, Stein P. Efficacy and safety of the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, sitagliptin, in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus inadequately controlled on glimepiride alone or on glimepiride and metformin. Diabetes Obes Metab 2007;9(5):733-45.
- 282. Nauck MA, Meininger G, Sheng D, Terranella L, Stein PP, Tesone P, et al. Efficacy and safety of the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, sitagliptin, compared with the sulfonylurea, glipizide, in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on metformin alone: A randomized, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. Diabetes Obes Metab 2007;9(2):194-205.
- 283. Goke B, Hershon K, Kerr D, Calle Pascual A, Schweizer A, Foley J, et al. Efficacy and safety of vildagliptin monotherapy during 2-year treatment of drug-naive patients with type 2 diabetes: comparison with metformin. Horm Metab Res 2008;40(12):892-5.
- Rosenstock J, Baron MA, Dejager S, Mills D, Schweizer A. Comparison of vildagliptin and rosiglitazone monotherapy in patients with type 2 diabetes: a 24-week, double-blind, randomized trial. Diabetes Care 2007;30(2):217-23.
- Bolli G, Dotta F, Rochotte E, Cohen SE. Efficacy and tolerability of vildagliptin vs. pioglitazone when added to metformin: a 24week, randomized, double-blind study. Diabetes Obes Metab 2008;10(1):82-90.
- Ferrannini E, Fonseca V, Zinman B, Matthews D, Ahren B, Byiers S, et al. Fifty-two-week efficacy and safety of vildagliptin vs. glimepiride in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus inadequately controlled on metformin monotherapy. Diabetes Obes Metab 2009;11(2):157-66.
- Amori RÉ, Lau J, Pittas AG. Efficacy and safety of incretin therapy in type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2007;298(2):194-206.
- Van de Laar FA, Lucassen PLB, Akkermans RP, Van de Lisdonk EH, Rutten GEH, Van Weel C. Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2005. London: Wiley.
- 289. Pan C, Yang W, Barona JP, Wang Y, Niggli M, Mohideen P, et al. Comparison of vildagliptin and acarbose monotherapy in patients with Type 2 diabetes: a 24-week, double-blind, randomized trial. Diabet Med 2008;25(4):435-41.
- Black C, Donnelly P, McIntyre L, Royle PL, Shepherd JP, Thomas S. Meglitinide analogues for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2007. London: Wiley.
- Ristic S, Collober M, Cressier F, Tang P, Pecher E. Nateglinide or gliclazide in combination with metformin for treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus inadequately controlled on maximum doses of metformin alone: 1-year trial results. Diabetes Obes Metab 2007;9(4):506-11.
- Plosker GL, Figgitt DP. Repaglinide : a pharmacoeconomic review of its use in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Pharmacoeconomics 2004;22(6):389-411.
- Monami M, Marchionni N, Mannucci E. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Eur J Endocrinol 2009;160(6):909-17.
- 294. Buse JB, Rosenstock J, Sesti G, Schmidt WE, Montanya E, Brett JH, et al. Liraglutide once a day versus exenatide twice a day for type 2 diabetes: a 26-week randomised, parallel-group, multinational, open-label trial (LEAD-6). Lancet 2009;374(9683):39-47.

- 295. Moretto TJ, Milton DR, Ridge TD, MacConell LA, Okerson T, Wolka AM, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of exenatide monotherapy over 24 weeks in antidiabetic drug-naive patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study. Clin Ther 2008;30(8):1448-60.
- 296. DeFronzo RA, Ratner RE, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, Baron AD. Effects of exenatide (exendin-4) on glycemic control and weight over 30 weeks in metformin-treated patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005;28(5):1092-100.
- 297. Heine RJ, Van GLF, Johns D, Mihm MJ, Widel MH, Brodows RG, et al. Exenatide versus insulin glargine in patients with suboptimally controlled type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2005;143(8):559-69.
- 298. Buse B, Henry RR, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, Baron AD. Effects of exenatide (exendin-4) on glycemic control over 30 weeks in sulfonylurea-treated patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004;27(11):2628-35.
- 299. Nauck MA, Duran S, Kim D, Johns D, Northrup J, Festa A, et al. A comparison of twice-daily exenatide and biphasic insulin aspart in patients with type 2 diabetes who were suboptimally controlled with sulfonylurea and metformin: a non-inferiority study. Diabetologia 2007;50(2):259-67.
- 300. Goudswaard AN, Furlong NJ, Valk GD, Stolk RP, Rutten GEHM. Insulin monotherapy versus combinations of insulin with oral hypoglycaemic agents in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2004. London: Wiley.
- Monami M, Lamanna C, Marchionni N, Mannucci E. Comparison of different drugs as add-on treatments to metformin in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2008;79(2):196-203.
- 302. Bazzano LA, Lee LJ, Shi L, Reynolds K, Jackson JA, Fonseca V. Safety and efficacy of glargine compared with NPH insulin for the treatment of Type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Diabet Med 2008;25(8):924-32.
- 303. Horvath K, Jeitler K, Berghold A, Ebrahim SH, Gratzer TW, Plank J, et al. Long-acting insulin analogues versus NPH insulin (human isophane insulin) for type 2 diabetes mellitus (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2007. London: Wiley.
- 304. Waugh N, Cummins E, Royle P, Clar C, Marien M, Richter B, et al. Newer agents for blood glucose control in type 2 diabetes. Health Technology Assess 2009; in press. Available from url: www.hta. ac.uk/project/1743.asp
- 305. Tran K, Banerjee S, Li H, Cimon K, Daneman D, Simpson S, et al. Long-Acting Insulin Analogues for Diabetes Mellitus: Meta-analysis of Clinical Outcomes and Assessment of Cost-Effectiveness. Ottawa: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; 2007. [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.cadth. ca/index.php/en/hta/reports-publications/search/publication/757
- Holman RR, Farmer AJ, Davies MJ, Levy JC, Darbyshire JL, Keenan JF, et al. Three-year efficacy of complex insulin regimens in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2009;361(18):1736-47.
- 307. Qayyum R, Bolen S, Maruthur N, Feldman L, Wilson LM, Marinopoulos SS, et al. Systematic review: comparative effectiveness and safety of premixed insulin analogues in type 2 diabetes. Ann Intern Med 2008;149(8):549-59.
- Holman RR, Thorne KI, Farmer AJ, Davies MJ, Keenan JF, Paul S, et al. Addition of biphasic, prandial, or basal insulin to oral therapy in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2007;357(17):1716-30.
- 309. Ilag LL, Kerr L, Malone JK, Tan MH. Prandial Premixed Insulin Analogue Regimens Versus Basal Insulin Analogue Regimens in the Management of Type 2 Diabetes: An Evidence-Based Comparison. Clin Ther 2007;29(6 PART 1):1254-70.
- 310. Banerjee S, Tran K, Li H, Cimon K, Daneman D, Simpson S, et al. Short-acting Insulin Analogues for Diabetes Mellitus: Meta-analysis of Clinical Outcomes and Assessment of Cost-effectiveness. Ottawa: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; 2007. Available from url: http://www.cadth.ca/index.php/en/hta/ reports-publications/search/publication/706
- 311. Penney GC, Pearson D. A national audit to monitor and promote the uptake of clinical guidelines on the management of diabetes in pregnancy. Clin Perform Qual Health Care 2000;8(1):28-34.
- Kernaghan D, Penney GC, Pearson DWM. Pregnancy-related care and outcomes for women with type 1 diabetes in Scotland: a five-year population-based audit cycle. Clin Govern Int J 2006;11(2):114–27.
- WHO Reproductive Health and Research. Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004. [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://whqlibdoc. who.int/publications/2004/9241562668.pdf

- Luukkainen T, Toivonen J. Levonorgestrel-releasing IUD as a method of contraception with therapeutic properties. Contraception 1995;52(5):269-76.
- Fuhrmann K, Reiher H, Semmler K, Fischer F, Fischer M, Glockner E. Prevention of congenital malformations in infants of insulindependent diabetic mothers. Diabetes Care 1983;6(3):219-23.
- Kitzmiller JL, Gavin LA, Gin GD, Jovanovic-Peterson L, Main EK, Zigrang WD. Preconception care of diabetes. Glycemic control prevents congenital anomalies. JAMA 1991;265(6):731-6.
- 317. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health. Diabetes in pregnancy: Management of diabetes and its complications from preconception to the postnatal period. Evidence tables. London: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2008. [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG063EvidenceTables. pdf
- Guerin A, Nisenbaum R, Ray JG. Use of maternal GHb concentration to estimate the risk of congenital anomalies in the offspring of women with prepregnancy diabetes. Diabetes Care 2007;30(7):1920-5.
- 319. Jensen DM, Damm P, Sorensen B, Molsted-Pedersen L, Westergaard JG, Korsholm L, et al. Proposed diagnostic thresholds for gestational diabetes mellitus according to a 75-g oral glucose tolerance test. Maternal and perinatal outcomes in 3260 Danish women. Diabet Med 2003;20(1):51-7.
- 320. Kirke PN, Molloy AM, Daly LE, Burke H, Weir DG, Scott JM. Maternal plasma folate and vitamin B12 are independent risk factors for neural tube defects. Q J Med 1993;86(11):703-8.
- Prevention of neural tube defects: results of the Medical Research Council Vitamin Study. MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. Lancet 1991;338(8760):131-7.
- 322. Moretti ME, Rezvani M, Koren G. Safety of glyburide for gestational diabetes: a meta-analysis of pregnancy outcomes. Ann Pharmacother 2008;42(4):483-90.
- 323. Feig DS, Briggs GG, Koren G. Oral antidiabetic agents in pregnancy and lactation: a paradigm shift? Ann Pharmacother 2007;41(7):1174-80.
- Gutzin SJ, Kozer E, Magee LA, Feig DS, Koren G. The safety of oral hypoglycemic agents in the first trimester of pregnancy: a meta-analysis. Can J Clin Pharmacol 2003;10(4):179-83.
- 325. Briggs GG, Freeman RK, Yaffe SJ. Drugs in Pregnancy and Lactation: A Reference Guide to Fetal and Neonatal Risk. 8th edition. US: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- 326. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Diabetes in pregnancy: Management of diabetes and its complications from pre-conception to the postnatal period. London: NICE; 2008. (NICE clinical guideline 63). [cited 05 Jan 2010] Available from url: http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/ CG63NICEGuideline.pdf
- 327. Dietary recommendations for people with diabetes: an update for the 1990s. Nutrition Subcommittee of the British Diabetic Association's Professional Advisory Committee. Diabet Med 1992;9(2):189-202.
- Manderson JG, Patterson CC, Hadden DR, Traub AI, Ennis C, McCance DR. Preprandial versus postprandial blood glucose monitoring in type 1 diabetic pregnancy: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2003;189(2):507-12.
- de Veciana M, Major CA, Morgan MA, Asrat T, Toohey JS, Lien JM, et al. Postprandial versus preprandial blood glucose monitoring in women with gestational diabetes mellitus requiring insulin therapy. N Engl J Med 1995;333(19):1237-41.
- Crowther CA, Hiller JE, Moss JR, McPhee AJ, Jeffries WS, Robinson JS, et al. Effect of treatment of gestational diabetes mellitus on pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med 2005;352(24):2477-86.
- Landon MB, Spong CY, Thom E, Carpenter MW, Ramin SM, Casey B, et al. A multicenter, randomized trial of treatment for mild gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med 2009;361(14):1339-48.
- Kestilä KK, Ekblad UU, Rönnemaa T. Continuous glucose monitoring versus self-monitoring of blood glucose in the treatment of gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2007;77(2):174-9.
- Murphy HR, Rayman G, Lewis K, Kelly S, Johal B, Duffield K, et al. Effectiveness of continuous glucose monitoring in pregnant women with diabetes: Randomised clinical trial. Br Med J 2008;337(7675):907-10.
- 334. Pregnancy outcomes in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996;174(4):1343-53.
- 335. Loukovaara S, Immonen I, Teramo KA, Kaaja R. Progression of retinopathy during pregnancy in type 1 diabetic women treated with insulin lispro. Diabetes Care 2003;26(4):1193-8.

- 336. Mecacci F, Carignani L, Cioni R, Bartoli E, Parretti E, La TP, et al. Maternal metabolic control and perinatal outcome in women with gestational diabetes treated with regular or lispro insulin: comparison with non-diabetic pregnant women. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2003;111(1):19-24.
- 337. Pettitt DJ, Ospina P, Howard C, Zisser H, Jovanovic L. Efficacy, safety and lack of immunogenicity of insulin aspart compared with regular human insulin for women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 2007;24(10):1129-35.
- 338. Hod M, Damm P, Kaaja R, Visser GH, Dunne F, Demidova I, et al. Fetal and perinatal outcomes in type 1 diabetes pregnancy: a randomized study comparing insulin aspart with human insulin in 322 subjects. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2008;198(2):186.e1-7.
- 339. Mathiesen ER, Kinsley B, Amiel SA, Heller S, McCance D, Duran S, et al. Maternal glycemic control and hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetic pregnancy: a randomized trial of insulin aspart versus human insulin in 322 pregnant women. Diabetes Care 2007;30(4):771-6.
- 340. Farrar D, Tuffnell DJ, West J. Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion versus multiple daily injections of insulin for pregnant women with diabetes (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2007. London: Wiley.
- 341. Mukhopadhyay A, Farrell T, Fraser RB, Ola B. Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion vs intensive conventional insulin therapy in pregnant diabetic women: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized, controlled trials. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2007;197(5):447-56.
- 342. Di Cianni G, Torlone E, Lencioni C, Bonomo M, Di Benedetto A, Napoli A, et al. Perinatal outcomes associated with the use of glargine during pregnancy. Diabet Med 2008;25(8):993-6.
- Gallen IW, Jaap A, Roland JM, Chirayath HH. Survey of glargine use in 115 pregnant women with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 2008;25(2):165-9.
- Imbergamo MP, Amato MC, Sciortino G, Gambina M, Accidenti M, Criscimanna A, et al. Use of glargine in pregnant women with type 1 diabetes mellitus: a case-control study. Clin Ther 2008;30(8):1476-84.
- Smith JG, Manuck TA, White J, Merrill DC. Insulin glargine versus neutral protamine Hagedorn insulin for treatment of diabetes in pregnancy. Am J Perinatol 2009;26(1):57-62.
- Rosenn B, Miodovnik M, Kranias G, Khoury J, Combs CA, Mimouni F, et al. Progression of diabetic retinopathy in pregnancy: association with hypertension in pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1992;166(4):1214-8.
- 347. Lauszus FF, Gron PL, Klebe JG. Pregnancies complicated by diabetic proliferative retinopathy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1998;77(8):814-8.
- Chan WC, Lim LT, Quinn MJ, Knox FA, McCance D, Best RM. Management and outcome of sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy in pregnancy. Eye (Lond) 2004;18(8):826-32.
- Chaturvedi N, Stephenson JM, Fuller JH. The relationship between pregnancy and long-term maternal complications in the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. Diabet Med 1995;12(6):494-9.
- 350. Ritchie K, Boynton J, Bradbury I, Foster L, Iqbal K, Kohli H, Love C, Penney G, Quinn S, Reid M, Slattery J, Wright D. Routine ultrasound scanning before 24 weeks of pregnancy. Glasgow: NHS Quality Improvement Scotland; 2004. [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.nhshealthquality.org/nhsqis/controller?p_service=Content.show&p_applic=CCC&pContentID=1209
- 351. Bracero LA, Figueroa R, Byrne DW, Han HJ. Comparison of umbilical Doppler velocimetry, nonstress testing, and biophysical profile in pregnancies complicated by diabetes. J Ultrasound Med 1996;15(4):301-8.
- 352. Alfirevic Z, Neilson JP. Doppler ultrasound for fetal assessment in high risk pregnancies (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 1996. London: Wiley.
- 353. Best G, Pressman EK. Ultrasonographic prediction of birth weight in diabetic pregnancies. Obstet Gynecol 2002;99(5 Pt 1):740-4.
- 354. Chauhan SP, Parker D, Shields D, Sanderson M, Cole JH, Scardo JA. Sonographic estimate of birth weight among high-risk patients: feasibility and factors influencing accuracy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2006;195(2):601-6.
- 355. Levine AB, Lockwood CJ, Brown B, Lapinski R, Berkowitz RL. Sonographic diagnosis of the large for gestational age fetus at term: does it make a difference? Obstet Gynecol 1992;79(1):55-8.
- 356. Parry S, Severs CP, Sehdev HM, Macones GA, White LM, Morgan MA. Ultrasonographic prediction of fetal macrosomia. Association with cesarean delivery. J Reprod Med 2000;45(1):17-22.
- Colman A, Maharaj D, Hutton J, Tuohy J. Reliability of ultrasound estimation of fetal weight in term singleton pregnancies. N Z Med J 2006;119(1241):U2146.

- Combs CA, Rosenn B, Miodovnik M, Siddiqi TA. Sonographic EFW and macrosomia: is there an optimum formula to predict diabetic fetal macrosomia? J Matern Fetal Med 2000;9(1):55-61.
- Wong SF, Chan FY, Cincotta RB, Oats JJ, McIntyre HD. Sonographic estimation of fetal weight in macrosomic fetuses: diabetic versus non-diabetic pregnancies. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2001;41(4):429-32.
- Coomarasamy A, Connock M, Thornton J, Khan KS. Accuracy of ultrasound biometry in the prediction of macrosomia: a systematic quantitative review. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 2005;112(11):1461-6.
- Johnstone FD, Prescott RJ, Steel JM, Mao JH, Chambers S, Muir N. Clinical and ultrasound prediction of macrosomia in diabetic pregnancy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1996;103(8):747-54.
- 362. Kernaghan D, Ola B, Fraser RB, Farrell T, Owen P. Fetal size and growth velocity in the prediction of the large for gestational age (LGA) infant in a glucose impaired population. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2007;132(2):189-92.
- Weiner Z, Ben-Shlomo I, Beck-Fruchter R, Goldberg Y, Shalev E. Clinical and ultrasonographic weight estimation in large for gestational age fetus. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2002;105(1):20-4.
- Buchanan TA, Kjos SL, Montoro MN, Wu PY, Madrilejo NG, Gonzalez M, et al. Use of fetal ultrasound to select metabolic therapy for pregnancies complicated by mild gestational diabetes. Diabetes Care 1994;17(4):275-83.
- 365. Bonomo M, Cetin I, Pisoni MP, Faden D, Mion E, Taricco E, et al. Flexible treatment of gestational diabetes modulated on ultrasound evaluation of intrauterine growth: A controlled randomized clinical trial. Diabetes Metab 2004;30(3 1):237-43.
- 366. Kjos SL, Schaefer-Graf U, Sardesi S, Peters RK, Buley A, Xiang AH, et al. A randomized controlled trial using glycemic plus fetal ultrasound parameters versus glycemic parameters to determine insulin therapy in gestational diabetes with fasting hyperglycemia. Diabetes Care 2001;24(11):1904-10.
- 367. Schaefer-Graf UM, Kjos SL, Fauzan OH, Buhling KJ, Siebert G, Buhrer C, et al. A randomized trial evaluating a predominantly fetal growth-based strategy to guide management of gestational diabetes in Caucasian women. Diabetes Care 2004;27(2):297-302.
- 368. Bochner CJ, Medearis AL, Williams J, 3rd, Castro L, Hobel CJ, Wade ME. Early third-trimester ultrasound screening in gestational diabetes to determine the risk of macrosomia and labor dystocia at term. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987;157(3):703-8.
- 369. Rossi G, Somigliana E, Moschetta M, Bottani B, Barbieri M, Vignali M. Adequate timing of fetal ultrasound to guide metabolic therapy in mild gestational diabetes mellitus. Results from a randomized study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2000;79(8):649-54.
- 370. Schmidt MI, Duncan BB, Reichelt AJ, Branchtein L, Matos MC, Costa e Forti A, et al. Gestational diabetes mellitus diagnosed with a 2-h 75-g oral glucose tolerance test and adverse pregnancy outcomes. Diabetes Care 2001;24(7):1151-5.
- Bonomo M, Corica D, Mion E, Gonçalves D, Motta G, Merati R, et al. Evaluating the therapeutic approach in pregnancies complicated by borderline glucose intolerance: a randomized clinical trial. Diabet Med 2005;22(11):1536-41.
- 372. Naylor CD, Sermer M, Chen E, Sykora K. Cesarean delivery in relation to birth weight and gestational glucose tolerance: pathophysiology or practice style? Toronto Trihospital Gestational Diabetes Investigators. JAMA 1996;275(15):1165-70.
- Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, Trimble ER, Chaovarindr U, Coustan DR, et al. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med 2008;358(19):1991-2002.
- 374. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel. International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Recommendations on the Diagnosis and Classification of Hyperglycemia in Pregnancy. Diabetes Care 2010;33(3):676-82..
- Langer O, Conway DL, Berkus MD, Xenakis EM, Gonzales O. A comparison of glyburide and insulin in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 2000;343(16):1134-8.
- Rowan JA, Hague WM, Gao W, Battin MR, Moore MP. Metformin versus insulin for the treatment of gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008;358(19):2003-15.
- 377. Moore LE, Briery CM, Clokey D, Martin RW, Williford NJ, Bofill JA, et al. Metformin and insulin in the management of gestational diabetes mellitus: preliminary results of a comparison. J Reprod Med 2007;52(11):1011-5.
- 378. Roberts D, Dalziel SR. Antenatal corticosteroids for accelerating fetal lung maturation for women at risk of preterm birth (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2006. London: Wiley

- Remsberg KE, McKeown RE, McFarland KF, Irwin LS. Diabetes in pregnancy and cesarean delivery. Diabetes Care 1999;22(9):1561-7.
- Cornblath M, Hawdon JM, Williams AF, Aynsley-Green A, Ward-Platt MP, Schwartz R, et al. Controversies regarding definition of neonatal hypoglycemia: suggested operational thresholds. Pediatrics 2000;105(5):1141-5.
- Anderson JM, Milner RD, Strich SJ. Effects of neonatal hypoglycaemia on the nervous system: a pathological study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1967;30(4):295-310.
- Banker BQ. The neuropathological effects of anoxia and hypoglycemia in the newborn. Dev Med Child Neurol 1967;9(5):544-50.
- Haworth JC, McRae KN. Neonatal hypoglycemia: a six-year experience. J Lancet 1967;87(2):41-5.
- Lucas A, Morley R, Cole TJ. Adverse neurodevelopmental outcome of moderate neonatal hypoglycaemia. Br Med J 1988;297(6659):1304-8.
- Duvanel CB, Fawer CL, Cotting J, Hohlfeld P, Matthieu JM. Long-term effects of neonatal hypoglycemia on brain growth and psychomotor development in small-for-gestational-age preterm infants. J Pediatr 1999;134(4):492-8.
- 386. Koh TH, Aynsley-Green A, Tarbit M, Eyre JA. Neural dysfunction during hypoglycaemia. Arch Dis Child 1988;63(11):1353-8.
- Cooke RW, Lucas A, Yudkin PL, Pryse-Davies J. Head circumference as an index of brain weight in the fetus and newborn. Early Hum Dev 1977;1(2):145-9.
- Ferris AM, Neubauer SH, Bendel RB, Green KW, Ingardia CJ, Reece EA. Perinatal lactation protocol and outcome in mothers with and without insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr 1993;58(1):43-8.
- Schaefer C, P.W.J. P, Miller RK. Drugs During Pregnancy and Lactation: Treatment Options and Risk Assessment. 2 edition. London: Academic Press; 2007.
- 390. Hale TW. Medications and Mothers' Milk. 12th edition. Amarillo, TX: Pharmasoft Publishing; 2006.
- Kim C, Newton KM, Knopp RH. Gestational diabetes and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Care 2002;25(10):1862-8.
- 392. Amorim AR, Linne YM, Lourenco PMC. Diet or exercise, or both, for weight reduction in women after childbirth (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2007. London: Wiley.
- 393. Bell DS. Stroke in the diabetic patient. Diabetes Care 1994;17(3):213-9.
- Fuller JH, Shipley MJ, Rose G, Jarrett RJ, Keen H. Coronary-heartdisease risk and impaired glucose tolerance. The Whitehall study. Lancet 1980;1(8183):1373-6.
- 395. Kanters SD, Banga JD, Stolk RP, Algra A. Incidence and determinants of mortality and cardiovascular events in diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Vasc Med 1999;4(2):67-75.
- Rosengren A, Welin L, Tsipogianni A, Wilhelmsen L. Impact of cardiovascular risk factors on coronary heart disease and mortality among middle aged diabetic men: a general population study. Br Med J 1989;299(6708):1127-31.
- Schernthaner G. Cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in type-2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 1996;31(Suppl):S3-13.
- 398. Yudkin JS, Blauth C, Drury P, Fuller J, Henley J, Lancaster T, et al. Prevention and management of cardiovascular disease in patients with diabetes mellitus: an evidence base. Diabet Med 1996;13(9 Suppl 4):S101-21.
- Zimmet PZ, Alberti KG. The changing face of macrovascular disease in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: an epidemic in progress. Lancet 1997;350(Suppl 1):SI1-4.
- 400. Howard BV, Cowan LD, Go O, Welty TK, Robbins DC, Lee ET. Adverse effects of diabetes on multiple cardiovascular disease risk factors in women. The Strong Heart Study. Diabetes Care 1998;21(8):1258-65.
- 401. Lee WL, Cheung AM, Cape D, Zinman B. Impact of diabetes on coronary artery disease in women and men: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetes Care 2000;23(7):962-8.
- 402. Chaturvedi N, Jarrett J, Shipley MJ, Fuller JH. Socioeconomic gradient in morbidity and mortality in people with diabetes: cohort study findings from the Whitehall Study and the WHO Multinational Study of Vascular Disease in Diabetes. Br Med J 1998;316(7125):100-5.
- Roper NA, Bilous RW, Kelly WF, Unwin NC, Connolly VM. Excess mortality in a population with diabetes and the impact of material deprivation: longitudinal, population based study. Br Med J 2001;322(7299):1389-93.
- 404. Garcia MJ, McNamara PM, Gordon T, Kannel WB. Morbidity and mortality in diabetics in the Framingham population. Sixteen year follow-up study. Diabetes 1974;23(2):105-11.

- Syvanne M, Taskinen MR. Lipids and lipoproteins as coronary risk factors in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Lancet 1997;350 (Suppl 1):SI20-3.
- 406. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaborators. Efficacy of cholesterol-lowering therapy in 18,686 people with diabetes in 14 randomised trials of statins: a meta-analysis. Lancet 2008;371(9607):117-25.
- 407. Fontbonne A, Eschwege E, Cambien F, Richard JL, Ducimetiere P, Thibult N, et al. Hypertriglyceridaemia as a risk factor of coronary heart disease mortality in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance or diabetes. Results from the 11-year follow-up of the Paris Prospective Study. Diabetologia 1989;32(5):300-4.
- 408. Adler Al, Stratton IM, Neil HA, Yudkin JS, Matthews DR, Cull CA, et al. Association of systolic blood pressure with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 36): prospective observational study. Br Med J 2000;321(7258):412-9.
- 409. Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil HA, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, et al. Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. Br Med J 2000;321(7258):405-12.
- 410. Dinneen SF, Gerstein HC. The association of microalbuminuria and mortality in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. A systematic overview of the literature. Arch Intern Med 1997;157(13):1413-8.
- 411. Hansson L, Zanchetti A, Carruthers SG, Dahlof B, Elmfeldt D, Julius S, et al. Effects of intensive blood-pressure lowering and low-dose aspirin in patients with hypertension: principal results of the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) randomised trial. HOT Study Group. Lancet 1998;351(9118):1755-62.
- 412. Lithell H, Berglund L. Validation of an oscillometric blood pressure measuring device: a substudy of the HOT Study. Hypertension Optimal Treatment. Blood Press 1998;7(3):149-52.
- 413. Barzilay JI, Davis BR, Bettencourt J, Margolis KL, Goff DC, Jr., Black H, et al. Cardiovascular outcomes using doxazosin vs. chlorthalidone for the treatment of hypertension in older adults with and without glucose disorders: a report from the ALLHAT study. J Clin Hypertens 2004;6(3):116-25.
- 414. Ostergren J, Poulter NR, Sever PS, Dahlof B, Wedel H, Beevers G, et al. The Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial: blood pressure-lowering limb: effects in patients with type II diabetes. J Hypertens 2008;26(11):2103-11.
- 415. Balamuthusamy S, Molnar J, Adigopula S, Arora R. Comparative analysis of beta-blockers with other antihypertensive agents on cardiovascular outcomes in hypertensive patients with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Ther 2009;16(2):133-42.
- 416. Patel A. Effects of a fixed combination of perindopril and indapamide on macrovascular and microvascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (the ADVANCE trial): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007;370(9590):829-40.
- 417. Berthet K, Neal BC, Chalmers JP, MacMahon SW, Bousser MG, Colman SA, et al. Reductions in the risks of recurrent stroke in patients with and without diabetes: the PROGRESS Trial. Blood Press 2004;13(1):7-13.
- 418. Matchar DB, McCrory DC, Orlando LA, Patel MR, Patel UD, Patwardhan MB, et al. Systematic review: comparative effectiveness of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers for treating essential hypertension. Ann Intern Med 2008;148(1):16-29.
- Lewis EJ, Hunsicker LG, Clarke WR, Berl T, Pohl MA, Lewis JB, et al. Renoprotective effect of the angiotensin-receptor antagonist irbesartan in patients with nephropathy due to type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2001;345(12):851-60.
- 420. Belch J, MacCuish A, Campbell I, Cobbe S, Taylor R, Prescott R, et al. The prevention of progression of arterial disease and diabetes (POPADAD) trial: factorial randomised placebo controlled trial of aspirin and antioxidants in patients with diabetes and asymptomatic peripheral arterial disease. Br Med J 2008;337(a1840).
- 421. Ogawa H, Nakayama M, Morimoto T, Uemura S, Kanauchi M, Doi N, et al. Low-dose aspirin for primary prevention of atherosclerotic events in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2008;300(18):2134-41.
- 422. De Berardis G, Sacco M, Evangelista V, Filippi A, Giorda CB, Tognoni G, et al. ACCEPT-D Study Group. Aspirin and Sinvastatin Combination for Cardiovascular Events Prevention Trial in Diabetes (ACCEPT-D): design of a randomized study of the efficacy of lowdose aspirin in the prevention of cardiovascular events in subjects with diabetes mellitus treated with statins. Trials 2007;8(21).

- 423. ASCEND: A Study of Cardiovascular Events iN Diabetes. ClinicalTrials.gov; 2007. [cited 25 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00135226
- 424. De Berardis G, Sacco M, Strippoli GF, Pellegrini F, Graziano G, Tognoni G, et al. Aspirin for primary prevention of cardiovascular events in people with diabetes: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Br Med J 2009;339:b4531.
- 425. Colhoun HM, Betteridge DJ, Durrington PN, Hitman GA, Neil HA, Livingstone SJ, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with atorvastatin in type 2 diabetes in the Collaborative Atorvastatin Diabetes Study (CARDS): multicentre randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2004;364(9435):685-96.
- 426. Sever PS, Poulter NR, Dahlof B, Wedel H, Collins R, Beevers G, et al. Reduction in cardiovascular events with atorvastatin in 2,532 patients with type 2 diabetes: Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial–lipid-lowering arm (ASCOT-LLA). Diabetes Care 2005;28(5):1151-7.
- 427. Collins R, Armitage J, Parish S, Sleigh P, Peto R, Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol-lowering with simvastatin in 5963 people with diabetes: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2003;361(9374):2005-16.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Acute coronary syndromes. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2007. (SIGN publication no. 93). [cited 05 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/ guidelines/fulltext/93/index.html
- 429. Herlitz J, Malmberg K, Karlson BW, Ryden L, Hjalmarson A. Mortality and morbidity during a five-year follow-up of diabetics with myocardial infarction. Acta Med Scand 1988;224(1):31-8.
- 430. Malmberg K, Norhammar A, Wedel H, Ryden L. Glycometabolic state at admission: important risk marker of mortality in conventionally treated patients with diabetes mellitus and acute myocardial infarction: long-term results from the Diabetes and Insulin-Glucose Infusion in Acute Myocardial Infarction (DIGAMI) study. Circulation 1999;99(20):2626-32.
- 431. Malmberg K, Ryden L, Efendic S, Herlitz J, Nicol P, Waldenstrom A, et al. Randomized trial of insulin-glucose infusion followed by subcutaneous insulin treatment in diabetic patients with acute myocardial infarction (DIGAMI study): effects on mortality at 1 year. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;26(1):57-65.
- Malmberg K, Ryden L, Wedel H, Birkeland K, Bootsma A, Dickstein K, et al. Intense metabolic control by means of insulin in patients with diabetes mellitus and acute myocardial infarction (DIGAMI 2): effects on mortality and morbidity. Eur Heart J 2005;26(7):650-61.
- 433. Hasdai D, Granger CB, Srivatsa SS, Criger DA, Ellis SG, Califf RM, et al. Diabetes mellitus and outcome after primary coronary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction: lessons from the GUSTO-IIb Angioplasty Substudy. Global Use of Strategies to Open Occluded Arteries in Acute Coronary Syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;35(6):1502-12.
- 434. Thomas K, Ottervanger JP, de Boer MJ, Suryapranata H, Hoorntje JC, Zijlstra F. Primary angioplasty compared with thrombolysis in acute myocardial infarction in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 1999;22(4):647-9.
- 435. Hartwell D, Colquitt J, Loveman E, Clegg AJ, Brodin H, Waugh N, et al. Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of immediate angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction: systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assess 2005;9(17). [cited 05 Jan 2010].
- 436. Keeley EC, Boura JA, Grines CL. Primary angioplasty versus intravenous thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction: a quantitative review of 23 randomized trials. Lancet 2003;361(9351):13-20.
- 437. Indications for fibrinolytic therapy in suspected acute myocardial infarction: collaborative overview of early mortality and major morbidity results from all randomised trials of more than 1000 patients. Fibrinolytic Therapy Trialist' (FTT) Collaborative Group. Lancet 1994;343(8893):311-22.
- 438. Brodie BR, Stone GW, Morice MC, Cox DA, Garcia E, Mattos LA, et al. Importance of time to reperfusion on outcomes with primary coronary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction (results from the Stent Primary Angioplasty in Myocardial Infarction Trial). Am J Cardiol 2001;88(10):1085-90.
- 439. Schomig A, Ndrepepa G, Mehilli J, Schwaiger M, Schuhlen H, Nekolla S, et al. Therapy-dependent influence of time-to-treatment interval on myocardial salvage in patients with acute myocardial infarction treated with coronary artery stenting or thrombolysis. Circulation 2003;108(9):1084-8.

- 440. Antman EM, Armstrong PW, Bates ER, Green LA, Hand M, Hochman JS, et al. ACC/AHA Guidelines for the Management of Patients With ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. Bethesda, MD: American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines; 2004. [cited 25 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.acc.org/qualityandscience/clinical/guidelines/ STEMI/Guideline1/index.htm
- 441. Van de Werf F, Ardissino D, Betriu A, Cokkinos DV, Falk E, Fox KA, et al. Management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J 2003;24(1):28-66.
- 442. Collaborative overview of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy--I: Prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke by prolonged antiplatelet therapy in various categories of patients. Antiplatelet Trialists' Collaboration. Br Med J 1994;308(6921):81-106.
- 443. Fox KA, Mehta SR, Peters R, Zhao F, Lakkis N, Gersh BJ, et al. Benefits and risks of the combination of clopidogrel and aspirin in patients undergoing surgical revascularization for non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome: the Clopidogrel in Unstable angina to prevent Recurrent ischemic Events (CURE) Trial. Circulation 2004;110(10):1202-8.
- 444. Yusuf S, Mehta SR, Zhao F, Gersh BJ, Commerford PJ, Blumenthal M, et al. Early and late effects of clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. Circulation 2003;107(7):966-72.
- 445. Main C, Palmer S, Griffin S, Jones L, Orton V, Sculpher M, et al. Clopidogrel used in combination with aspirin compared with aspirin alone in the treatment of non-ST-segment-elevation acute coronary syndromes: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technology Assess 2004;8(40). [cited 06 Jan 2010].
- Bhatt DL, Fox KA, Hacke W, Berger PB, Black HR, Boden WE, et al. Clopidogrel and aspirin versus aspirin alone for the prevention of atherothrombotic events. N Engl J Med 2006;354(16):1706-17.
- 447. Chen ZM, Jiang LX, Chen YP, Xie JX, Pan HC, Peto R, et al. Addition of clopidogrel to aspirin in 45,852 patients with acute myocardial infarction: randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2005;366(9497):1607-21.
- 448. The Beta-Blocker Pooling Project (BBPP): subgroup findings from randomized trials in post infarction patients. The Beta-Blocker Pooling Project Research Group. Eur Heart J 1988;9(1):8-16.
- 449. Freemantle N, Cleland J, Young P, Mason J, Harrison J. beta Blockade after myocardial infarction: systematic review and meta regression analysis. Br Med J 1999;318(7200):1730-7.
- 450. Dargie HJ. Effect of carvedilol on outcome after myocardial infarction in patients with left-ventricular dysfunction: the CAPRICORN randomised trial. Lancet 2001;357(9266):1385-90.
- 451. Indications for ACE inhibitors in the early treatment of acute myocardial infarction: systematic overview of individual data from 100,000 patients in randomized trials. ACE Inhibitor Myocardial Infarction Collaborative Group. Circulation 1998;97(22):2202-12.
- 452. Flather MD, Yusuf S, Kober L, Pfeffer M, Hall A, Murray G, et al. Long-term ACE-inhibitor therapy in patients with heart failure or left-ventricular dysfunction: a systematic overview of data from individual patients. ACE-Inhibitor Myocardial Infarction Collaborative Group. Lancet 2000;355(9215):1575-81.
- 453. Dickstein K, Kjekshus J. Effects of losartan and captopril on mortality and morbidity in high-risk patients after acute myocardial infarction: the OPTIMAAL randomised trial. Optimal Trial in Myocardial Infarction with Angiotensin II Antagonist Losartan. Lancet 2002;360(9335):752-60.
- 454. Ward S, Lloyd Jones M, Pandor A, Holmes M, Ara R, Ryan A et al. Statins for the prevention of coronary events. Technology assessment report commissioned by the HTA Programme on behalf of The National Institute for Clinical Excellence. 2005.
- Cannon CP, Braunwald E, McCabe CH, Rader DJ, Rouleau JL, Belder R, et al. Intensive versus moderate lipid lowering with statins after acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2004;350(15):1495-504.
- Cannon CP, McCabe CH, Belder R, Breen J, Braunwald E. Design of the Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy (PROVE IT)-TIMI 22 trial. Am J Cardiol 2002;89(7):860-1.
- 457. Ahmed S, Cannon CP, Murphy SA, Braunwald E. Acute coronary syndromes and diabetes: Is intensive lipid lowering beneficial? Results of the PROVE IT-TIMI 22 trial. Eur Heart J 2006;27(19):2323-9.
- 458. LaRosa JC, Grundy SM, Waters DD, Shear C, Barter P, Fruchart JC, et al. Intensive lipid lowering with atorvastatin in patients with stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med 2005;352(14):1425-35.

- 459. Waters DD, Guyton JR, Herrington DM, McGowan MP, Wenger NK, Shear C. Treating to New Targets (TNT) Study: does lowering low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels below currently recommended guidelines yield incremental clinical benefit? Am J Cardiol 2004;93(2):154-8.
- 460. Shepherd J, Barter P, Carmena R, Deedwania P, Fruchart J, Haffner S, et al. Effect of lowering LDL cholesterol substantially below currently recommended levels in patients with coronary heart disease and diabetes: the Treating to New Targets (TNT) study. Diabetes Care 2006;29(6):1220-6.
- 461. Shepherd J, Kastelein JP, Bittner VA, Carmena R, Deedwania PC, Breazna A, et al. Intensive lipid lowering with atorvastatin in patients with coronary artery disease, diabetes, and chronic kidney disease. Mayo Clin Proc 2008;83(8):870-9.
- 462. Robins SJ, Collins D, McNamara JR, Bloomfield HE. Body weight, plasma insulin, and coronary events with gemfibrozil in the Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Intervention Trial (VA-HIT). Atherosclerosis 2008;196(2):849-55.
- 463. Keech A, Simes RJ, Barter P, Best J, R. S, Taskinen MR, et al. FIELD study investigators. Effects of long-term fenofibrate therapy on cardiovascular events in 9795 people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (the FIELD study): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2005;366(9500):1849-61.
- 464. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, et al. Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. Safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1987;317(20):1237-45.
- 465. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of chronic heart failure. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2007. (SIGN publication no. 95). [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.sign. ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/95/index.html
- 466. Effects of enalapril on mortality in severe congestive heart failure. Results of the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study (CONSENSUS). The CONSENSUS Trial Study Group. N Engl J Med 1987;316(23):1429-35.
- 467. Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. The SOLVD Investigators. N Engl J Med 1991;325(5):293-302.
- 468. The Acute Infarction Ramipril Efficacy (AIRE) Study Investigators. Effect of ramipril on mortality and morbidity of survivors of acute myocardial infarction with clinical evidence of heart failure. Lancet 1993;342(8875):821-8.
- 469. Køber L, Torp-Pedersen C, Carlsen JE, Bagger H, Eliasen P, Lyngborg K, et al. A clinical trial of the angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor trandolapril in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. Trandolapril Cardiac Evaluation (TRACE) Study Group. N Engl J Med 1995;333(25):1670-6.
- 470. Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E, Moyé LA, Basta L, Brown EJJ, Cuddy TE, et al. Effect of captopril on mortality and morbidity in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. Results of the survival and ventricular enlargement trial. The SAVE Investigators. N Engl J Med 1992;327(10):669-77.
- The SOLVD Investigators. Effect of enalapril on mortality and the development of heart failure in asymptomatic patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions. N Engl J Med 1992;327(10):685-91.
- Garg R, Yusuf S. Overview of randomized trials of angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors on mortality and morbidity in patients with heart failure. Collaborative Group on ACE Inhibitor Trials. JAMA 1995;273(18):1450-6.
- 473. Flather MD, Yusuf S, Kober L, Pfeffer M, Hall A, Murray G, et al. Long-term ACE-inhibitor therapy in patients with heart failure or left ventricular dysfunction: a systematic overview of data from individual patients. ACE-Inhibitor Myocardial Infarction Collaborative Group. Lancet 2000;355(9215):1575-81.
- 474. The Cardiac Insufficiency Bisoprolol Study II (CIBIS-II): a randomised trial. Lancet 1999;353(9146):9-13.
- 475. Hjalmarson A, Goldstein S, Fagerberg B, Wedel H, Waagstein F, Kjekshus J, et al. Effects of controlled-release metoprolol on total mortality, hospitalizations, and well-being in patients with heart failure: the Metoprolol CR/XL Randomized Intervention Trial in congestive heart failure (MERIT-HF). MERIT-HF Study Group. JAMA 2000;283(10):1295-302.
- 476. Packer M, Coats AJ, Fowler MB, Katus HA, Krum H, Mohacsi P, et al. Effect of carvedilol on survival in severe chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 2001;344(22):1651-8.
- 477. Flather MD, Shibata MC, Coats AJ, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Parkhomenko A, Borbola J, et al. Randomized trial to determine the effect of nebivolol on mortality and cardiovascular hospital admission in elderly patients with heart failure (SENIORS). Eur Heart J 2005;26(3):215-25.

- 478. Domanski MJ, Krause-Steinrauf H, Massie BM, Deedwania P, Follmann D, Kovar D, et al. A comparative analysis of the results from 4 trials of beta-blocker therapy for heart failure: BEST, CIBIS-II, MERIT-HF, and COPERNICUS. J Card Fail 2003;9(5):354-63.
- 479. Poole-Wilson PA, Swedberg K, Cleland JG, Di Lenarda A, Hanrath P, Komajda M, et al. Comparison of carvedilol and metoprolol on clinical outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure in the Carvedilol Or Metoprolol European Trial (COMET): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2003;362(9377):7-13.
- Salpeter SR, Ormiston TM, Salpeter EE, Poole PJ, Cates CJ. Cardioselective beta blockers for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a metaanalysis. Respir Med 2003;97(10):1094-101.
- 481. Haas SJ, Vos T, Gilbert RE, Krum H. Are beta blockers as efficacious in patients with diabetes mellitus as in patients without diabetes mellitus who have chronic heart failure? A meta-analysis of largescale clinical trials. Am Heart J 2003;146(5):848-53.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of stable angina. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2007. (SIGN publication no. 96). [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/ guidelines/fulltext/96/index.html
- Derry S, Loke YK. Risk of gastrointestinal haemorrhage with long term use of aspirin: meta-analysis. Br Med J 2000;321(7270):1183-7.
- Garcia Rodriguez LA, Hernandez-Diaz S, de Abajo FJ. Association between aspirin and upper gastrointestinal complications: systematic review of epidemiologic studies. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001;52(5):563-71.
- Kelly JP, Kaufman DW, Jurgelon JM, Sheehan J, Koff RS, Shapiro S. Risk of aspirin-associated major upper-gastrointestinal bleeding with enteric-coated or buffered product. Lancet 1996;348(9039):1413-6.
- 486. Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Buck G, Pollicino C, et al. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. Lancet 2005;366(9493):1267-78.
- 487. Yusuf S, Sleight P, Pogue J, Bosch J, Davies R, Dagenais G. Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 2000;342(3):145-53.
- 488. Fox KM. Efficacy of perindopril in reduction of cardiovascular events among patients with stable coronary artery disease: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial (the EUROPA study). Lancet 2003;362(9386):782-8.
- Braunwald E, Domanski MJ, Fowler SE, Geller NL, Gersh BJ, Hsia J, et al. Angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibition in stable coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2004;351(20):2058-68.
- 490. Pitt B, O'Neill B, Feldman R, Ferrari R, Schwartz L, Mudra H, et al. The QUinapril Ischemic Event Trial (QUIET): evaluation of chronic ACE inhibitor therapy in patients with ischemic heart disease and preserved left ventricular function. Am J Cardiol 2001;87(9):1058-63.
- 491. Al-Mallah MH, Tleyjeh IM, Abdel-Latif AA, Weaver WD. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in coronary artery disease and preserved left ventricular systolic function: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47(8):1576-83.
- 492. Dagenais GR, Pogue J, Fox K, Simoons ML, Yusuf S. Angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibitors in stable vascular disease without left ventricular systolic dysfunction or heart failure: a combined analysis of three trials. Lancet 2006;368(9535):581-8.
- 493. Kizer JR, Dahlof B, Kjeldsen SE, Julius S, Beevers G, de Faire U, et al. Stroke reduction in hypertensive adults with cardiac hypertrophy randomized to losartan versus atenolol: the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension study. Hypertension 2005;45(1):46-52.
- 494. Chan JC, Wat NM, So WY, Lam KS, Chua CT, Wong KS, et al. Renin angiotensin aldosterone system blockade and renal disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. An Asian perspective from the RENAAL Study. Diabetes Care 2004;27(4):874-9.
- 495. Zanchetti A, Julius S, Kjeldsen S, McInnes GT, Hua T, Weber M, et al. Outcomes in subgroups of hypertensive patients treated with regimens based on valsartan and amlodipine: an analysis of findings from the VALUE trial. J Hypertens 2006;24(11):2163-8.
- 496. Yusuf S, Teo K, Anderson C, Pogue J, Dyal L, Copland I, et al. Effects of the angiotensin-receptor blocker telmisartan on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients intolerant to angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2008;372(9644):1174-83.
- 497. ONTARGET Investigators, Yusuf S, Teo KK, Pogue J, Dyal L, Copland I, et al. Telmisartan, ramipril, or both in patients at high risk for vascular events. N Engl J Med 2008;358(15):1547-59.

- 498. Influence of diabetes on 5-year mortality and morbidity in a randomized trial comparing CABG and PTCA in patients with multivessel disease: the Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation (BARI). Circulation 1997;96(6):1761-9.
- 499. King SB, 3rd, Kosinski AS, Guyton RA, Lembo NJ, Weintraub WS. Eight-year mortality in the Emory Angioplasty versus Surgery Trial (EAST). J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;35(5):1116-21.
- 500. Braunwald E, Antman EM, Beasley JW, Califf RM, Cheitlin MD, Hochman JS, et al. ACC/AHA guidelines for the management of patients with unstable angina and non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina). J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;36(3):970-1062.
- Meads C, Cummins C, Jolly K, Stevens A, Burls A, Hyde C. Coronary artery stents in the treatment of ischaemic heart disease: a rapid and systematic review. Health Technology Assess 2000;4(23). [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.hta.ac.uk/ fullmono/mon423.pdf
- 502. Use of a monoclonal antibody directed against the platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor in high-risk coronary angioplasty. The EPIC Investigation. N Engl J Med 1994;330(14):956-61.
- 503. Platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa receptor blockade and low-dose heparin during percutaneous coronary revascularization. The EPILOG Investigators. N Engl J Med 1997;336(24):1689-96.
- 504. Randomised placebo-controlled trial of abciximab before and during coronary intervention in refractory unstable angina: the CAPTURE Study. Lancet 1997;349(9063):1429-35.
- 505. Randomised placebo-controlled trial of effect of eptifibatide on complications of percutaneous coronary intervention: IMPACT-II. Integrilin to Minimise Platelet Aggregation and Coronary Thrombosis-II. Lancet 1997;349(9063):1422-8.
- 506. Boyden TF, Nallamothu BK, Moscucci M, Chan PS, Grossman PM, Tsai TT, et al. Meta-analysis of randomized trials of drug-eluting stents versus bare metal stents in patients with diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiol 2007;99(10):1399-402.
- 507. Kirtane AJ, Ellis SG, Dawkins KD, Colombo A, Grube E, Popma JJ, et al. Paclitaxel-eluting coronary stents in patients with diabetes mellitus: pooled analysis from 5 randomized trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51(7):708-15.
- Kumbhani DJ, Bavry AA, Kamdar AR, Helton TJ, Bhatt DL. The effect of drug-eluting stents on intermediate angiographic and clinical outcomes in diabetic patients: insights from randomized clinical trials. Am Heart J 2008;155(4):640-7.
- 509. Patti G, Nusca A, Di Sciascio G. Meta-Analysis Comparison (Nine Trials) of Outcomes With Drug-Eluting Stents Versus Bare Metal Stents in Patients With Diabetes Mellitus. Am J Cardiol 2008;102(10):1328-34.
- 510. Stettler C, Allemann S, Wandel S, Kastrati A, Morice MC, Schomig A, et al. Drug eluting and bare metal stents in people with and without diabetes: Collaborative network meta-analysis. Br Med J 2008;337(7671):668-72.
- Mahmud E, Bromberg-Marin G, Palakodeti V, Ang L, Creanga D, Demaria AN. Clinical efficacy of drug-eluting stents in diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51(25):2385-95.
- Stettler C, Allemann S, Juni P, Cull CA, Holman RR, Egger M, et al. Glycemic control and macrovascular disease in types 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus: Meta-analysis of randomized trials. Am Heart J 2006;152(1):27-38.
- 513. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Management of patients with stroke or TIA: Assessment, investigation, immediate management and secondary prevention. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2008. (SIGN publication no. 108). [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/108/index.html
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Diagnosis and management of peripheral arterial disease. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2006. (SIGN publication no. 89). [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/89/index.html
- 515. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Diagnosis and managemnt of chronic kidney disease. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2008. (SIGN publication no. 103). [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.sign.ac.uk/guidelines/fulltext/103/index.html
- Christensen PK, Larsen S, Horn T, Olsen S, Parving HH. Renal function and structure in albuminuric type 2 diabetic patients without retinopathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2001;16(12):2337-47.
- McIntosh JF, Moller E, Van Slyke DD. Studies of Urea Excretion. III: The Influence of Body Size on Urea Output. J Clin Invest 1928;6(3):467-83.

- Dreyer G, Hull S, Aitken Z, Chesser A, Yaqoob MM. The effect of ethnicity on the prevalence of diabetes and associated chronic kidney disease. Q J Med 2009;102(4):261-9.
- Middleton RJ, Foley RN, Hegarty J, Cheung CM, McElduff P, Gibson JM, et al. The unrecognized prevalence of chronic kidney disease in diabetes. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006;21(1):88-92.
- Earle KK, Porter KA, Ostberg J, Yudkin JS. Variation in the progression of diabetic nephropathy according to racial origin. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2001;16(2):286-90.
- 521. Scottish Renal Registry. Scottish Renal Registry Report 2002-2004. Edinburgh: ISD Scotland; 2007. [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.srr.scot.nhs.uk/Report2004/ SRR_Report_2002_2004.pdf
- 522. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet 1998;352(9131):837-53.
- 523. Parving HH, Hommel E, Mathiesen E, Skott P, Edsberg B, Bahnsen M, et al. Prevalence of microalbuminuria, arterial hypertension, retinopathy and neuropathy in patients with insulin dependent diabetes. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1988;296(6616):156-60.
- Orchard TJ, Dorman JS, Maser RE, Becker DJ, Drash AL, Ellis D, et al. Prevalence of complications in IDDM by sex and duration. Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study II. Diabetes 1990;39(9):1116-24.
- 525. Microvascular and acute complications in IDDM patients: the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. Diabetologia 1994;37(3):278-85.
- Messent JW, Elliott TG, Hill RD, Jarrett RJ, Keen H, Viberti GC. Prognostic significance of microalbuminuria in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: a twenty-three year follow-up study. Kidney Int 1992;41(4):836-9.
- 527. Nathan DM, Zinman B, Cleary PA, Backlund JY, Genuth S, Miller R, et al. Modern-day clinical course of type 1 diabetes mellitus after 30 years' duration: the diabetes control and complications trial/epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications and Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complications experience (1983-2005). Arch Intern Med 2009;169(14):1307-16.
- Hovind P, Tarnow L, Rossing K, Rossing P, Eising S, Larsen N, et al. Decreasing incidence of severe diabetic microangiopathy in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(4):1258-64.
- 529. Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med 2004;351(13):1296-305.
- 530. Sarnak MJ, Levey AS, Schoolwerth AC, Coresh J, Culleton B, Hamm LL, et al. Kidney disease as a risk factor for development of cardiovascular disease: a statement from the American Heart Association Councils on Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease, High Blood Pressure Research, Clinical Cardiology, and Epidemiology and Prevention. Hypertension 2003;42(5):1050-65.
- 531. Weiner DE, Tighiouart H, Amin MG, Stark PC, MacLeod B, Griffith JL, et al. Chronic kidney disease as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality: a pooled analysis of community-based studies. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004;15(5):1307-15.
- 532. Coresh J, Astor B, Sarnak MJ. Evidence for increased cardiovascular disease risk in patients with chronic kidney disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2004;13(1):73-81.
- 533. So WY, Kong AP, Ma RC, Ozaki R, Szeto CC, Chan NN, et al. Glomerular filtration rate, cardiorenal end points, and all-cause mortality in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 2006;29(9):2046-52.
- 534. Nag S, Bilous R, Kelly W, Jones S, Roper N, Connolly V. Allcause and cardiovascular mortality in diabetic subjects increases significantly with reduced estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR): 10 years' data from the South Tees Diabetes Mortality study. Diabet Med 2007;24(1):10-7.
- 535. McCullough PA, Jurkovitz CT, Pergola PE, McGill JB, Brown WW, Collins AJ, et al. Independent components of chronic kidney disease as a cardiovascular risk state: results from the Kidney Early Evaluation Program (KEEP). Arch Intern Med. 2007;167(11):1122-9.
- 536. Bruno G, Merletti F, Bargero G, Novelli G, Melis D, Soddu A, et al. Estimated glomerular filtration rate, albuminuria and mortality in type 2 diabetes: the Casale Monferrato study. Diabetologia 2007;50(5):941-8.
- 537. Mattock MB, Morrish NJ, Viberti G, Keen H, Fitzgerald AP, Jackson G. Prospective study of microalbuminuria as predictor of mortality in NIDDM. Diabetes 1992;41(6):736-41.
- Schmitz A, Vaeth M. Microalbuminuria: a major risk factor in non-insulin-dependent diabetes. A 10-year follow-up study of 503 patients. Diabet Med 1988;5(2):126-34.

- 539. Wang SL, Head J, Stevens L, Fuller JH. Excess mortality and its relation to hypertension and proteinuria in diabetic patients. The world health organization multinational study of vascular disease in diabetes. Diabetes Care 1996;19(4):305-12.
- 540. Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron 1976;16(1):31-41.
- Levey AS, Greene T, Kusek J, Beck G. A simplified equation to predict glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine. J Am Soc Nephrol 2000;11:155A.
- 542. Ewald B, Attia J. Which test to detect microalbuminuria in diabetic patients? A systematic review. Aust Fam Physician 2004;33(7):565-7.
- 543. Mogensen CE, Keane WF, Bennett PH, Jerums G, Parving HH, Passa P, et al. Prevention of diabetic renal disease with special reference to microalbuminuria. Lancet 1995;346(8982):1080-4.
- Miltenyi M, Szabo A, Tulassay T, Korner A, Kenesei E, Dobos M. Reduced glomerular filtration and elevated urinary protein excretion in diabetic ketoacidosis. Acta Paediatr Scand 1990;79(4):444-7.
- 545. Schultz CJ, Konopelska-Bahu T, Dalton RN, Carroll TA, Stratton I, Gale EA, et al. Microalbuminuria prevalence varies with age, sex, and puberty in children with type 1 diabetes followed from diagnosis in a longitudinal study. Oxford Regional Prospective Study Group. Diabetes Care 1999;22(3):495-502.
- 546. Price CP, Newall RG, Boyd JC. Use of protein: Creatinine ratio measurements on random urine samples for prediction of significant proteinuria: A systematic review. Clin Chem 2005;51(9):1577-86.
- Newman DJ, Pugia MJ, Lott JA, Wallace JF, Hiar AM. Urinary protein and albumin excretion corrected by creatinine and specific gravity. Clin Chim Acta 2000;294(1-2):139-55.
- Ginsberg JM, Chang BS, Matarese RA, Garella S. Use of single voided urine samples to estimate quantitative proteinuria. N Engl J Med 1983;309(25):1543-6.
- 549. Ruggenenti P, Gaspari F, Perna A, Remuzzi G. Cross sectional longitudinal study of spot morning urine protein:creatinine ratio, 24 hour urine protein excretion rate, glomerular filtration rate, and end stage renal failure in chronic renal disease in patients without diabetes. Br Med J 1998;316(7130):504-9.
- 550. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Early identification and management of chronic kidney disease in adults in primary and secondary care. London: NICE; 2008. (NICE clinical guideline 73). [cited 06 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG73NICEGuideline.pdf
- 551. Bakris G, Viberti G, Weston WM, Heise M, Porter LE, Freed MI. Rosiglitazone reduces urinary albumin excretion in type II diabetes. J Hum Hypertens 2003;17(1):7-12.
- 552. Jin HM, Pan Y. Renoprotection provided by losartan in combination with pioglitazone is superior to renoprotection provided by losartan alone in patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Blood Press Res 2007;30(4):203-11.
- 553. Nakamura T, Ushiyama C, Osada S, Hara M, Shimada N, Koide H. Pioglitazone reduces urinary podocyte excretion in type 2 diabetes patients with microalbuminuria. Metabolism 2001;50(10):1193-6.
- 554. Levin SR, Coburn JW, Abraira C, Henderson WG, Colwell JA, Emanuele NV, et al. Effect of intensive glycemic control on microalbuminuria in type 2 diabetes. Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study on Glycemic Control and Complications in Type 2 Diabetes Feasibility Trial Investigators. Diabetes Care 2000;23(10):1478-85.
- 555. Mulec H, Blohme G, Grande B, Bjorck S. The effect of metabolic control on rate of decline in renal function in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus with overt diabetic nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998;13(3):651-5.
- 556. Fioretto P, Steffes MW, Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Mauer M. Reversal of lesions of diabetic nephropathy after pancreas transplantation. N Engl J Med 1998;339(2):69-75.
- 557. Atkins RC, Briganti EM, Lewis JB, Hunsicker LG, Braden G, Champion de Crespigny PJ, et al. Proteinuria reduction and progression to renal failure in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and overt nephropathy. Am J Kidney Dis 2005;45(2):281-7.
- 558. de Zeeuw D, Remuzzi G, Parving HH, Keane WF, Zhang Z, Shahinfar S, et al. Proteinuria, a target for renoprotection in patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy: lessons from RENAAL. Kidney Int 2004;65(6):2309-20.
- 559. Eijkelkamp WB, Zhang Z, Remuzzi G, Parving HH, Cooper ME, Keane WF, et al. Albuminuria is a target for renoprotective therapy independent from blood pressure in patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy: post hoc analysis from the Reduction of Endpoints in NIDDM with the Angiotensin II Antagonist Losartan (RENAAL) trial. J Am Soc Nephrol 2007;18(5):1540-6.

- 560. Jerums G, Panagiotopoulos S, Premaratne E, Power DA, MacIsaac RJ. Lowering of proteinuria in response to antihypertensive therapy predicts improved renal function in late but not in early diabetic nephropathy: A pooled analysis. Am J Nephrol 2008;28(4):614-27.
- Casas JP, Chua W, Loukogeorgakis S, Vallance P, Smeeth L, Hingorani AD, et al. Effect of inhibitors of the renin-angiotensin system and other antihypertensive drugs on renal outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 2005;366(9502):2026-33.
- de Galan BE, Perkovic V, Ninomiya T, Pillai A, Patel A, Cass A, et al. Lowering blood pressure reduces renal events in type 2 diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20(4):883-92.
- 563. Strippoli GFM, Craig M, Craig JC. Antihypertensive agents for preventing diabetic kidney disease (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2006. London: Wiley.
- Mauer M, Zinman B, Gardiner R, Suissa S, Sinaiko A, Strand T, et al. Renal and retinal effects of enalapril and losartan in type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2009;361(1):40-51.
- Bilous R, Chaturvedi N, Sjolie AK, Fuller J, Klein R, Orchard T, et al. Effect of candesartan on microalbuminuria and albumin excretion rate in diabetes: three randomized trials. Ann Intern Med 2009;151(1):11-20, W3-4.
- 566. The ACE Inhibitors in Diabetic Nephropathy Trialist Group. Should all patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus and microalbuminuria receive angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. Ann Intern Med 2001;134(5):370-9.
- 567. Strippoli GFM, Bonifati C, Craig M, Navaneethan SD, Craig JC. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists for preventing the progression of diabetic kidney disease (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2006. London: Wiley.
- 568. Kshirsagar AV, Joy MS, Hogan SL, Falk RJ, Colindres RE. Effect of ACE inhibitors in diabetic and nondiabetic chronic renal disease: a systematic overview of randomized placebo-controlled trials. Am J Kidney Dis 2000;35(4):695-707.
- 569. Hamilton RA, Kane MP, Demers J. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and type 2 diabetic nephropathy: a meta-analysis. Pharmacotherapy 2003;23(7):909-15.
- 570. Sarafidis PA, Stafylas PC, Kanaki AI, Lasaridis AN. Effects of reninangiotensin system blockers on renal outcomes and all-cause mortality in patients with diabetic nephropathy: An updated meta-analysis. Am J Hypertens 2008;21(8):922-9.
 - Doulton TWR, He FJ, MacGregor GA. Systematic review of combined angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade in hypertension. Hypertension 2005;45(5):880-6.
- 572. MacKinnon M, Shurraw S, Akbari A, Knoll GA, Jaffey J, Clark HD. Combination therapy with an angiotensin receptor blocker and an ACE inhibitor in proteinuric renal disease: a systematic review of the efficacy and safety data. Am J Kidney Dis 2006;48(1):8-20.
- 573. Nakao N, Yoshimura A, Morita H, Takada M, Kayano T, Ideura T. Combination treatment of angiotensin-II receptor blocker and angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor in non-diabetic renal disease (COOPERATE): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2003;361(9352):117-24.
- i74. Mann JF, Schmieder RE, McQueen M, Dyal L, Schumacher H, Pogue J, et al. Renal outcomes with telmisartan, ramipril, or both, in people at high vascular risk (the ONTARGET study): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. Lancet 2008;372(9638):547-53.
- 575. Bomback AS, Kshirsagar AV, Amamoo MA, Klemmer PJ. Change in proteinuria after adding aldosterone blockers to ACE inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers in CKD: a systematic review. Am J Kidney Dis 2008;51(2):199-211.
- 576. Navaneethan SD, Nigwekar SU, Sehgal AR, Strippoli GF. Aldosterone antagonists for preventing the progression of chronic kidney disease (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2009. London: Wiley.
- Parving HH, Persson F, Lewis JB, Lewis EJ, Hollenberg NK, Investigators AS. Aliskiren combined with losartan in type 2 diabetes and nephropathy. N Engl J Med 2008;358(23):2433-46.
- Williams B, Poulter NR, Brown MJ, Davis M, McInnes GT, Potter JF, et al. British Hypertension Society guidelines for hypertension management 2004 (BHS-IV): summary. Br Med J 2004;328(7440):634-40.
- 579. Morimoto T, Gandhi TK, Fiskio JM, Seger AC, So JW, Cook EF, et al. An evaluation of risk factors for adverse drug events associated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. J Eval Clin Pract 2004;10(4):499-509.

- Kasiske BL, O'Donnell MP, Kim Y, Keane WF. Treatment of hyperlipidemia in chronic progressive renal disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 1993;2(4):602-8.
- 581. Keane WF. The role of lipids in renal disease: future challenges. Kidney Int Suppl 2000;75:S27-31.
- Sukhija R, Bursac Z, Kakar P, Fink L, Fort C, Satwani S, et al. Effect of statins on the development of renal dysfunction. Am J Cardiol 2008;101(7):975-9.
- Sandhu S, Wiebe N, Fried LF, Tonelli M. Statins for improving renal outcomes: a meta-analysis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;17(7):2006-16.
 Douglas K, O'Mallev PG, Jackson JL. Meta-analysis: the effect of
- statins on albuminuria. Ann Intern Med 2006;145(2):117-24. 585. Hansen HP, Tauber-Lassen E, Jensen BR, Parving HH. Effect of
- 585. Hansen HP, Tauber-Lassen E, Jensen BK, Parving HH. Effect of dietary protein restriction on prognosis in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int 2002;62(1):220-8.
- Meloni C, Morosetti M, Suraci C, Pennafina MG, Tozzo C, Taccone-Gallucci M, et al. Severe dietary protein restriction in overt diabetic nephropathy: benefits or risks? J Ren Nutr 2002;12(2):96-101.
- 587. Meloni C, Tatangelo P, Cipriani S, Rossi V, Suraci C, Tozzo C, et al. Adequate protein dietary restriction in diabetic and nondiabetic patients with chronic renal failure. J Ren Nutr 2004;14(4):208-13.
- Pijls LTJ, de Vries H, van Eijk J, Donker AJM. Protein restriction, glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized trial. Eur J Clin Nutr 2002;56(12):1200-7.
- 589. Fouque D, Wang P, Laville M, Boissel JP. Low protein diets for chronic kidney disease in non diabetic adults (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2000. London: Wiley.
- 590. Kasiske BL, Lakatua JDA, Ma JZ, Louis TA. A meta-analysis of the effects of dietary protein restriction on the rate of decline in renal function. Am J Kidney Dis 1998;31(6):954-61.
- Robertson L, Waugh N, Robertson A. Protein restriction for diabetic renal disease (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2007. London: Wiley.
- 592. Gaede P, Vedel P, Parving HH, Pedersen O. Intensified multifactorial intervention in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and microalbuminuria: the Steno type 2 randomised study. Lancet 1999;353(9153):617-22.
- Gaede P, Lund-Andersen H, Parving HH, Pedersen O. Effect of a multifactorial intervention on mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008;358(6):580-91.
- 594. Al-Khoury S, Afzali B, Shah N, Covic A, Thomas S, Goldsmith DJ. Anaemia in diabetic patients with chronic kidney disease -Prevalence and predictors. Diabetologia 2006;49(6):1183-9.
- 595. El-Achkar TM, Ohmit SE, McCullough PA, Crook ED, Brown WW, Grimm R, et al. Higher prevalence of anemia with diabetes mellitus in moderate kidney insufficiency: The Kidney Early Evaluation Program. Kidney Int 2005;67(4):1483-8.
- 596. Cody J, Daly C, Campbell M, Donaldson C, Grant A, Khan I, et al. Recombinant human erythropoietin for chronic renal failure anaemia in pre-dialysis patients (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 2005. London: Wiley.
- 597. Pfeffer MA, Burdmann EA, Chen CY, Cooper ME, de Zeeuw D, Eckardt KU, et al. A trial of darbepoetin alfa in type 2 diabetes and chronic kidney disease. N Engl J Med 2009;361(21):2019-32.
- Joss N, Paterson KR, Deighan CJ, Simpson K, Boulton-Jones JM. Diabetic nephropathy: How Effective is treatment in clinical practice? Q J Med 2002;95(1):41-9.
- Hardy KJ, Furlong NJ, Hulme SA, O'Brien SV. Delivering improved management and outcomes in diabetic kidney disease in routine clinical care. BrJ Diabetes Vasc Dis 2007;7(4):172-8.
- 600. Feest TG, Dunn EJ, Burton CJ. Can intensive treatment alter the progress of established diabetic nephropathy to end-stage renal failure? Q J Med 1999;92(5):275-82.
- 601. Cormack TG, Grant B, Macdonald MJ, Steel J, Campbell IW. Incidence of blindness due to diabetic eye disease in Fife 1990-9. Br J Ophthalmol 2001;85(3):354-6.
- 602. Rhatigan MC, Leese GP, Ellis J, Ellingford A, Morris AD, Newton RW, et al. Blindness in patients with diabetes who have been screened for eye disease. Eye 1999;13 (Pt 2):166-9.
- 603. Trautner C, Icks A, Haastert B, Plum F, Berger M. Incidence of blindness in relation to diabetes. A population-based study. Diabetes Care 1997;20(7):1147-53.
- 604. Early worsening of diabetic retinopathy in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Arch Ophthalmol 1998;116(7):874-86.
- 605. The effect of intensive diabetes treatment on the progression of diabetic retinopathy in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Arch Ophthalmol 1995;113(1):36-51.

- 606. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Br Med J 1998;317(7160):703-13.
- 607. Klein R, Klein BE, Moss SE, Davis MD, DeMets DL. The Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. III. Prevalence and risk of diabetic retinopathy when age at diagnosis is 30 or more years. Arch Ophthalmol 1984;102(4):527-32.
- 608. Klein R, Klein BE, Moss SE, Davis MD, DeMets DL. The Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. II. Prevalence and risk of diabetic retinopathy when age at diagnosis is less than 30 years. Arch Ophthalmol 1984;102(4):520-6.
- 609. Mathiesen ER, Ronn B, Storm B, Foght H, Deckert T. The natural course of microalbuminuria in insulin-dependent diabetes: a 10year prospective study. Diabet Med 1995;12(6):482-7.
- 610. Savage S, Estacio RO, Jeffers B, Schrier RW. Urinary albumin excretion as a predictor of diabetic retinopathy, neuropathy, and cardiovascular disease in NIDDM. Diabetes Care 1996;19(11):1243-8.
- 611. Davis MD, Fisher MR, Gangnon RE, Barton F, Aiello LM, Chew EY, et al. Risk factors for high-risk proliferative diabetic retinopathy and severe visual loss: Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Report #18. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1998;39(2):233-52.
- Klein BE, Moss SE, Klein R. Effect of pregnancy on progression of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care 1990;13(1):34-40.
- 613. Miljanovic B, Glynn RJ, Nathan DM, Manson JE, Schaumberg DA. A prospective study of serum lipids and risk of diabetic macular edema in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004;53(11):2883-92.
- 614. Klein R, Klein BE, Moss SE. Visual impairment in diabetes. Ophthalmology 1984;91(1):1-9.
- 615. Leske MC, Wu SY, Hennis A, Connell AM, Hyman L, Schachat A. Diabetes, hypertension, and central obesity as cataract risk factors in a black population. The Barbados Eye Study. Ophthalmology 1999;106(1):35-41.
- Rowe NG, Mitchell PG, Cumming RG, Wans JJ. Diabetes, fasting blood glucose and age-related cataract: the Blue Mountains Eye Study. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2000;7(2):103-14.
- 617. Klein BE, Klein R, Lee KE. Diabetes, cardiovascular disease, selected cardiovascular disease risk factors, and the 5-year incidence of age-related cataract and progression of lens opacities: the Beaver Dam Eye Study. Am J Ophthalmol 1998;126(6):782-90.
- 618. Wang PH, Lau J, Chalmers TC. Meta-analysis of effects of intensive blood-glucose control on late complications of type I diabetes. Lancet 1993;341(8856):1306-9.
- Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet 1998;352(9131):854-65.
- Schrier RW, Estacio RO, Jeffers B. Appropriate Blood Pressure Control in NIDDM (ABCD) Trial. Diabetologia 1996;39(12):1646-54.
- 621. Writing Team for the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial, Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group. Effect of intensive therapy on the microvascular complications of type 1 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 2002;287(19):2563-9.
- Kohner EM, Aldington SJ, Stratton IM, Manley SE, Holman RR, Matthews DR, et al. United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study, 30: diabetic retinopathy at diagnosis of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and associated risk factors. Arch Ophthalmol 1998;116(3):297-303.
- Hutchinson A, McIntosh A, Peters J, O'Keeffe C, Khunti K, Baker R, et al. Effectiveness of screening and monitoring tests for diabetic retinopathy–a systematic review. Diabet Med 2000;17(7):495-506.
- 624. Taylor R. Practical community screening for diabetic retinopathy using the mobile retinal camera: report of a 12 centre study. British Diabetic Association Mobile Retinal Screening Group. Diabet Med 1996;13(11):946-52.
- 625. Bonney M, Hing SJ, Fung AT, Stephens MM, Fairchild JM, Donaghue KC, et al. Development and progression of diabetic retinopathy: adolescents at risk. Diabet Med 1995;12(11):967-73.
- 626. Maguire A, Chan A, Cusumano J, Hing S, Craig M, Silink M, et al. The case for biennial retinopathy screening in children and adolescents. Diabetes Care 2005;28(3):509-13.
- 627. Kernell A, Dedorsson I, Johansson B, Wickstrom CP, Ludvigsson J, Tuvemo T, et al. Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in children and adolescents with IDDM. A population-based multicentre study. Diabetologia 1997;40(3):307-10.

- 628. Younis N, Broadbent DM, Harding SP, Vora JP. Incidence of sight-threatening retinopathy in Type 1 diabetes in a systematic screening programme. Diabet Med 2003;20(9):758-65.
- 629. Kohner EM, Štratton IM, Aldington SJ, Holman RR, Matthews DR. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (IKPDS) Group. Relationship between the severity of retinopathy and progression to photocoagulation in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus in the UKPDS (UKPDS 52). Diabet Med 2001;18(3):178-84.
- 630. Misra A, Bachmann MO, Greenwood RH, Jenkins C, Shaw A, Barakat O, et al. Trends in yield and effects of screening intervals during 17 years of a large UK community-based diabetic retinopathy screening programme. Diabet Med 2009;26(10):1040-7.
- 631. Younis N, Broadbent DM, Vora JP, Harding SP. Incidence of sight-threatening retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes in the Liverpool Diabetic Eye Study: a cohort study. Lancet 2003;361(9353):195-200.
- 632. British Diabetic Association. Retinal photography screening for diabetic eye disease. London: BDA; 1997.
- 633. The Royal College of Ophthalmologists. Guidelines for diabetic retinopathy. London: The Royal College of Opthalmologists; 2005. [cited 11 Jan 2010]. Available from url: www.rcophth.ac.uk/docs/publications/published-guidelines/ DiabeticRetinopathyGuidelines2005.pdf
- 634. Photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study report number 1. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study research group. Arch Ophthalmol 1985;103(12):1796-806.
- 635. Photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema: Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Report no. 4. The Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Int Ophthalmol Clin 1987;27(4):265-72.
- 636. Kinyoun J, Barton F, Fisher M, Hubbard L, Aiello L, Ferris F, 3rd. Detection of diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmoscopy versus photography–Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Report Number 5. The ETDRS Research Group. Ophthalmology 1989;96(6):746-50.
- 637. Neubauer AS, Kernt M, Haritoglou C, Priglinger SG, Kampik A, Ulbig MW. Nonmydriatic screening for diabetic retinopathy by ultra-widefield scanning laser ophthalmoscopy (Optomap). Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2008;246(2):229-35.
- 638. Harding SP, Broadbent DM, Neoh C, White MC, Vora J. Sensitivity and specificity of photography and direct ophthalmoscopy in screening for sight threatening eye disease: the Liverpool Diabetic Eye Study. Br Med J 1995;311(7013):1131-5.
- 639. Murgatroyd H, Ellingford A, Cox A, Binnie M, Ellis JD, MacEwen CJ, et al. Effect of mydriasis and different field strategies on digital image screening of diabetic eye disease. Br J Ophthalmol 2004;88(7):920-4.
- 640. Leese GP, Tesfaye S, Dengler-Harles M, Laws F, Clark DI, Gill GV, et al. Screening for diabetic eye disease by optometrists using slit lamps. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1997;31(1):65-9.
- 641. Virgili G, Menchini F, Dimastrogiovanni AF, Rapizzi E, Menchini U, Bandello F, et al. Optical coherence tomography versus stereoscopic fundus photography or biomicroscopy for diagnosing diabetic macular edema: A systematic review. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007;48(11):4963-73.
- 642. Leese GP, Newton RW, Jung RT, Haining W, Ellingford A. Screening for diabetic retinopathy in a widely spaced population using non-mydriatic fundus photography in a mobile unit. Tayside Mobile Eye Screening Unit. Diabet Med 1992;9(5):459-62.
- 643. Leese GP, Boyle P, Feng Z, Emslie-Smith A, Ellis JD. Screening uptake in a well-established diabetic retinopathy screening program: the role of geographical access and deprivation. Diabetes Care 2008;31(11):2131-5.
- 644. Ryder RE, Kong N, Bates AS, Sim J, Welch J, Kritzinger EE. Instant electronic imaging systems are superior to Polaroid at detecting sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy. Diabet Med 1998;15(3):254-8.
- 645. Hipwell JH, Strachan F, Olson JA, McHardy KC, Sharp PF, Forrester JV. Automated detection of microaneurysms in digital red-free photographs: a diabetic retinopathy screening tool. Diabet Med 2000;17(8):588-94.
- 646. Hove MN, Kristensen JK, Lauritzen T, Bek T. Quantitative analysis of retinopathy in type 2 diabetes: identification of prognostic parameters for developing visual loss secondary to diabetic maculopathy. Acta Ophthalmol Scand 2004;82(6):679-85.
- 647. NHS Quality Improvement Scotland. Diabetic Retinopathy Screening: Clinical Standards. Edinburgh: NHS Quality Improvement Scotland; 2004. [cited 11 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.nhshealthquality.org/nhsqis/files/Diabetic%20 Retinopathy%20%20Standard.pdf

- 648. Slattery J. Sampling for quality assurance of grading decisions in diabetic retinopathy screening: designing the system to detect errors. Int J Health Care Qual Assur Inc Leadersh Health Serv. 2005;18(2-3):113-22.
- 649. Olson JA, Strachan FM, Hipwell JH, Goatman KA, McHardy KC, Forrester JV, et al. A comparative evaluation of digital imaging, retinal photography and optometrist examination in screening for diabetic retinopathy. Diabet Med 2003;20(7):528-34.
- 650. Philip S, Fleming AD, Goatman KA, Fonseca S, McNamee P, Scotland GS, et al. The efficacy of automated "disease/no disease" grading for diabetic retinopathy in a systematic screening programme. Br J Ophthalmol 2007;91(11):1512-7.
- 651. Fleming AD, Goatman KA, Philip S, Williams GJ, Prescott GJ, Scotland GS, et al. The role of haemorrhage and exudate detection in automated grading of diabetic retinopathy. Br J Ophthalmol 2009;Online.
- 652. Photocoagulation treatment of proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Clinical application of Diabetic Retinopathy Study (DRS) findings, DRS Report Number 8. The Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Ophthalmology 1981;88(7):583-600.
- 653. Early vitrectomy for severe vitreous hemorrhage in diabetic retinopathy. Two-year results of a randomized trial. Diabetic Retinopathy Vitrectomy Study report 2. The Diabetic Retinopathy Vitrectomy Study Research Group. Arch Ophthalmol 1985;103(11):1644-52.
- 654. The Scottish Government. Better Health, Better Care: Action Plan. Edinburgh: The Scottish Government; 2007. [cited 04 Feb 2010]. Available from url: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/ Publications/2007/12/11103453/0
- Murphy RP, Egbert PR. Regression of iris neovascularization following panretinal photocoagulation. Arch Ophthalmol 1979;97(4):700-2.
- 656. Ferris F. Early photocoagulation in patients with either type I or type II diabetes. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc 1996;94:505-37.
- Olk RJ. Modified grid argon (blue-green) laser photocoagulation for diffuse diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 1986;93(7):938-50.
- 658. Fong DS, Strauber SF, Aiello LP, Beck RW, Callanan DG, Danis RP, et al. Writing Committee for the Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research Network. Comparison of the modified Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study and mild macular grid laser photocoagulation strategies for diabetic macular edema. Arch Ophthalmol 2007;125(4):469-80.
- 659. Early vitrectomy for severe vitreous hemorrhage in diabetic retinopathy. Four-year results of a randomized trial: Diabetic Retinopathy Vitrectomy Study Report 5. Arch Ophthalmol 1990;108(7):958-64.
- 660. Chew EY, Benson WE, Remaley NA, Lindley AA, Burton TC, Csaky K, et al. Results after lens extraction in patients with diabetic retinopathy: early treatment diabetic retinopathy study report number 25. Arch Ophthalmol 1999;117(12):1600-6.
- Dowler JG, Hykin PG, Lightman SL, Hamilton AM. Visual acuity following extracapsular cataract extraction in diabetes: a metaanalysis. Eye 1995;9 (Pt 3):313-7.
- 662. Jaffe GJ, Burton TC, Kuhn E, Prescott A, Hartz A. Progression of nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy and visual outcome after extracapsular cataract extraction and intraocular lens implantation. Am J Ophthalmol 1992;114(4):448-56.
- 663. Romero-Aroca P, Fernandez-Ballart J, Almena-Garcia M, Mendez-Marin I, Salvat-Serra M, Buil-Calvo JA. Nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy and macular edema progression after phacoemulsification: Prospective study. J Cataract Refract Surg 2006;32(9):1438-44.
- 664. Keech AC, Mitchell P, Summanen PA, O'Day J, Davis TM, Moffitt MS, et al. Effect of fenofibrate on the need for laser treatment for diabetic retinopathy (FIELD study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007;370(9600):1687-97.
- 665. Avitabile T, Longo A, Reibaldi A. Intravitreal triamcinolone compared with macular laser grid photocoagulation for the treatment of cystoid macular edema. Am J Ophthalmol 2005;140(4):695-702.
- 666. Dehghan MH, Ahmadieh H, Ramezani A, Entezari M, Anisian A. A randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial of intravitreal triamcinolone for refractory diabetic macular edema. Int Ophthalmol 2008;28(1):7-17.
- 667. Lam DS, Chan CK, Mohamed S, Lai TY, Lee VY, Liu DT, et al. Intravitreal triamcinolone plus sequential grid laser versus triamcinolone or laser alone for treating diabetic macular edema: six-month outcomes. Ophthalmology 2007;114(12):2162-7.

- 668. Beck RW, Edwards AR, Aiello LP, Bressler NM, Ferris F, Glassman AR, et al. Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research Network: Three-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing focal/ grid photocoagulation and intravitreal triamcinolone for diabetic macular edema. Arch Ophthalmol 2009;127(3):245-51.
- 669. Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research Network. A randomized trial comparing intravitreal triamcinolone acetonide and focal/grid photocoagulation for diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 2008;115(9):1447-9.
- 670. Ockrim ZK, Sivaprasad S, Falk S, Roghani S, Bunce C, Gregor Z, et al. Intravitreal triamcinolone versus laser photocoagulation for persistent diabetic macular oedema. Br J Ophthalmol 2008;92(6):795-9.
- 671. Gillies MC, Sutter FK, Simpson JM, Larsson J, Ali H, Zhu M. Intravitreal triamcinolone for refractory diabetic macular edema: two-year results of a double-masked, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. Ophthalmology 2006;113(9):1533-8.
- 672. Sen K, Misra A, Kumar A, Pandey RM. Simvastatin retards progression of retinopathy in diabetic patients with hypercholesterolemia. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2002;56(1):1-11.
- 673. Gupta A, Gupta V, Thapar S, Bhansali A. Lipid-lowering drug atorvastatin as an adjunct in the management of diabetic macular edema. Am J Ophthalmol 2004;137(4):675-82.
- 674. Cunningham ETJ, Adamis AP, Altaweel M, Aiello LP, Bressler NM, D'Amico DJ, et al. Macugen Diabetic Retinopathy Study Group. A phase II randomized double-masked trial of pegaptanib, an antivascular endothelial growth factor aptamer, for diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 2005;112(10):1747-57.
- 675. Ahmadieh H, Ramezani A, Shoeibi N, Bijanzadeh B, Tabatabaei A, Azarmina M, et al. Intravitreal bevacizumab with or without triamcinolone for refractory diabetic macular edema; a placebocontrolled, randomized clinical trial. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2008;246(4):483-9.
- 676. Scott IU, Edwards AR, Beck RW, Bressler NM, Chan CK, Elman MJ, et al. Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research Network. A phase II randomized clinical trial of intravitreal bevacizumab for diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology 2007;114(10):1860-7.
- 677. Mirshahi A, Roohipoor R, Lashay A, Mohammadi SF, Abdoallahi A, Faghihi H. Bevacizumab-augmented retinal laser photocoagulation in proliferative diabetic retinopathy: a randomized double-masked clinical trial. Eur J Ophthalmol 2008;18(2):263-9.
- 678. Soheilian M, Ramezani A, Bijanzadeh B, Yaseri M, Ahmadieh H, Dehghan MH, et al. Intravitreal bevacizumab (avastin) injection alone or combined with triamcinolone versus macular photocoagulation as primary treatment of diabetic macular edema. Retina 2007;27(9):1187-95.
- 679. Tonello M, Costa RA, Almeida FP, Barbosa JC, Scott IU, Jorge R. Panretinal photocoagulation versus PRP plus intravitreal bevacizumab for high-risk proliferative diabetic retinopathy (IBeHi study). Acta Ophthalmol (Copenh) 2008;86(4):385-9.
- 680. Chaturvedi N, Sjolie AK, Stephenson JM, Abrahamian H, Keipes M, Castellarin A, et al. Effect of lisinopril on progression of retinopathy in normotensive people with type 1 diabetes. The EUCLID Study Group. EURODIAB Controlled Trial of Lisinopril in Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus. Lancet 1998;351(9095):28-31.
- 681. Chaturvedi N, Porta M, Klein R, Orchard T, Fuller J, Parving HH, et al. DIRECT Programme Study Group. Effect of candesartan on prevention (DIRECT-Prevent 1) and progression (DIRECT-Protect 1) of retinopathy in type 1 diabetes: randomised, placebo-controlled trials. Lancet 2008;372(9647):1394-402.
- 682. Sjølie AK, Klein R, Porta M, Orchard T, Fuller J, Parving HH, et al. Effect of candesartan on progression and regression of retinopathy in type 2 diabetes (DIRECT-Protect 2): a randomised placebocontrolled trial. Lancet 2008;372(9647):1385-93.
- 683. Aiello LP. The effect of ruboxistaurin on visual loss in patients with moderately severe to very severe nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy: Initial results of the protein kinase C beta inhibitor diabetic retinopathy study (PKC-DRS) multicenter randomized clinical trial. Diabetes 2005;54(7):2188-97.
- 684. PKC-DMES Study Group. Effect of ruboxistaurin in patients with diabetic macular edema: thirty-month results of the randomized PKC-DMES clinical trial. Arch Ophthalmol 2007;125(5):318-24.
- 685. Davis MD, Sheetz MJ, Aiello LP, Milton RC, Danis RP, Zhi X, et al. Effect of ruboxistaurin on the visual acuity decline associated with long-standing diabetic macular edema. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009;50(1):1-4.
- 686. Williams GP, Pathak-Ray V, Austin MW, Lloyd AP, Millington IM, Bennett A. Quality of life and visual rehabilitation: an observational study of low vision in three general practices in West Glamorgan. Eye 2007;21(4):522-7.

- Leat SJ, Fryer A, Rumney NJ. Outcome of low vision aid provision: the effectiveness of a low vision clinic. Optom Vis Sci 1994;71(3):199-206.
- Kalafat J, Dehmer J. A survey of statewide self-help groups for older persons who are visually impaired. J Vis Impair Blind 1993;87:112-4.
- 689. Van Zandt P, Van Zandt SL, Wang A. The role of support groups in adjusting to visual impairment i old age. J Vis Impair Blind 1994;88:244-52.
- 690. Low Vision Services Consensus Group. Low vision services: recommendations for future service delivery in the UK. London: Royal National Institute for the Blind; 1999. [cited 11 Jan 2010]. Available from url: http://www.lowvision.org.uk/Publications/ LowVisionServicesRecommendations.doc
- 691. The Royal College of Ophthalmologists. The provision of low vision care. London: The Royal College of Ophthalmologists; 1998. .
- 692. Williams R, Airey M. The size of the problem: epidemiological and economic aspects of foot problems in diabetes. In: Boulton A, Cavanagh P, Connor H, editors. The foot in diabetes. 3rd ed. Chicester: John Wiley & Sons; 2000.
- 693. Peters EJ, Lavery LA. Effectiveness of the diabetic foot risk classification system of the International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot. Diabetes Care 2001;24(8):1442-7.
- 694. Adler AI, Boyko EJ, Ahroni JH, Smith DG. Lower-extremity amputation in diabetes. The independent effects of peripheral vascular disease, sensory neuropathy, and foot ulcers. Diabetes Care 1999;22(7):1029-35.
- 695. Murray HJ, Young MJ, Hollis S, Boulton AJ. The association between callus formation, high pressures and neuropathy in diabetic foot ulceration. Diabet Med 1996;13(11):979-82.
- 696. Rith-Najarian SJ, Stolusky T, Gohdes DM. Identifying diabetic patients at high risk for lower-extremity amputation in a primary health care setting. A prospective evaluation of simple screening criteria. Diabetes Care 1992;15(10):1386-9.
- 697. Thomson FJ, Veves A, Ashe H, Knowles EA, Gem J, Walker MG, et al. A team approach to diabetic foot care–the Manchester experience. The Foot 1991;1(2):75-82.
- 698. Crawford F, Inkster M, Kleijnen J, Fahey T. Predicting foot ulcers in patients with diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Q J Med 2007;100(2):65-86.
- 699. Lavery LA, Wunderlich RP, Tredwell JL. Disease management for the diabetic foot: effectiveness of a diabetic foot prevention program to reduce amputations and hospitalizations. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2005;70(1):31-7.
- 700. Abbott CA, Carrington AL, Ashe H, Bath S, Every LC, Griffiths A et al. The North-West Diabetes Foot Care Study: incidence of, and risk factors for, new diabetic foot ulceration in a community-based patient cohort. Diabet Med 2002;19:377-384.
- 701. Singh N, Armstrong DG, Lipsky BA. Preventing foot ulcers in patients with diabetes. JAMA 2005;293(2):217-28.
- Emanuele MA, Buchanan BJ, Abraira C. Elevated leg systolic pressures and arterial calcification in diabetic occlusive vascular disease. Diabetes Care 1981;4(2):289-92.
- Litzelman DK, Slemenda CW, Langefeld CD, Hays LM, Welch MA, Bild DE, et al. Reduction of lower extremity clinical abnormalities in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1993;119(1):36-41.
- Bloomgarden ZT, Karmally W, Metzger MJ, Brothers M, Nechemias C, Bookman J, et al. Randomized, controlled trial of diabetic patient education: improved knowledge without improved metabolic status. Diabetes Care 1987;10(3):263-72.
- Malone JM, Snyder M, Anderson G, Bernhard VM, Holloway GA, Jr., Bunt TJ. Prevention of amputation by diabetic education. Am J Surg 1989;158(6):520-3.
- Dargis V, Pantelejeva O, Jonushaite A, Vileikyte L, Boulton AJ. Benefits of a multidisciplinary approach in the management of recurrent diabetic foot ulceration in Lithuania: a prospective study. Diabetes Care 1999;22(9):1428-31.
- Ronnemaa T, Hamalainen H, Toikka T, Liukkonen I. Evaluation of the impact of podiatrist care in the primary prevention of foot problems in diabetic subjects. Diabetes Care 1997;20(12):1833-7.
- Valk GD, Kriegsman DM, Assendelft WJ. Patient education for preventing diabetic foot ulceration (Cochrane Review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2001. London: Wiley.
- Kastenbauer T, Sokol G, Auinger M, Irsigler K. Running shoes for relief of plantar pressure in diabetic patients. Diabet Med 1998;15(6):518-22.
- 710. Perry JE, Ulbrecht JS, Derr JA, Cavanagh PR. The use of running shoes to reduce plantar pressures in patients who have diabetes. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1995;77(12):1819-28.

- Veves A, Masson EA, Fernando DJ, Boulton AJ. Use of experimental padded hosiery to reduce abnormal foot pressures in diabetic neuropathy. Diabetes Care 1989;12(9):653-5.
- 712. Colagiuri S, Marsden LL, Naidu V, Taylor L. The use of orthotic devices to correct plantar callus in people with diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 1995;28(1):29-34.
- Edmonds ME, Blundell MP, Morris ME, Thomas EM, Cotton LT, Watkins PJ. Improved survival of the diabetic foot: the role of a specialized foot clinic. O I Med 1986;60(232):763-71.
- 714. Uccioli L, Faglia E, Monticone G, Favales F, Durola L, Aldeghi A, et al. Manufactured shoes in the prevention of diabetic foot ulcers. Diabetes Care 1995;18(10):1376-8.
- 715. Breuer U. Diabetic patient's compliance with bespoke footwear after healing of neuropathic foot ulcers. Diabete Metab 1994;20(4):415-9.
- Albrektsen SB, Henriksen BM, Holstein PE. Minor amputations on the feet after revascularization for gangrene. A consecutive series of 95 limbs. Acta Orthop Scand 1997;68(3):291-3.
- 717. Faglia E, Favales F, Aldeghi A, Calia P, Quarantiello A, Barbano P, et al. Change in major amputation rate in a center dedicated to diabetic foot care during the 1980s: prognostic determinants for major amputation. J Diabetes Complications 1998;12(2):96-102.
- 718. Larsson J, Apelqvist J, Agardh CD, Stenstrom A. Decreasing incidence of major amputation in diabetic patients: a consequence of a multidisciplinary foot care team approach? Diabet Med 1995;12(9):770-6.
- 719. Krishnan S, Nash F, Baker N, Fowler D, Rayman G. Reduction in diabetic amputations over 11 years in a defined U.K. population: benefits of multidisciplinary team work and continuous prospective audit. Diabetes Care 2008;31(1):99-101.
- 720. Crane M, Werber B. Critical pathway approach to diabetic pedal infections in a multidisciplinary setting. J Foot Ankle Surg 1999;38(1):30-3.
- 721. Rith-Najarian S, Branchaud C, Beaulieu O, Gohdes D, Simonson G, Mazze R. Reducing lower-extremity amputations due to diabetes. Application of the staged diabetes management approach in a primary care setting. J Fam Pract 1998;47(2):127-32.
- Young MJ, McCardle JE, Randall LE, Barclay JI. Improved survival of diabetic foot ulcer patients 1995-2008: possible impact of aggressive cardiovascular risk management. Diabetes Care 2008;31(11):2143-7.
- Laing PW, Cogley DI, Klenerman L. Neuropathic foot ulceration treated by total contact casts. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1992;74(1):133-6.
- Mueller MJ, Diamond JE, Sinacore DR, Delitto A, Blair VP, 3rd, Drury DA, et al. Total contact casting in treatment of diabetic plantar ulcers. Controlled clinical trial. Diabetes Care 1989;12(6):384-8.
- Myerson M, Papa J, Eaton K, Wilson K. The total-contact cast for management of neuropathic plantar ulceration of the foot. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1992;74(2):261-9.
- Armstrong DG, Lavery LA, Wu S, Boulton AJM. Evaluation of removable and irremovable cast walkers in the healing of diabetic foot wounds: A randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care 2005;28(3):551-4.
- 727. Katz IR, Harlan A, Miranda-Palma B, Prieto-Sanchez L, Armstrong DG, Bowker JH, et al. A randomized trial of two irremovable offloading devices in the management of plantar neuropathic diabetic foot ulcers. Diabetes Care 2005;28(3):555-9.
- Nabuurs-Franssen MH, Sleegers R, Huijberts MSP, Wijnen W, Sanders AP, Walenkamp G, et al. Total contact casting of the diabetic foot in daily practice: a prospective follow-up study. Diabetes Care 2005;28(2):243-7.
- Piaggesi A, Macchiarini S, Rizzo L, Palumbo F, Tedeschi A, Nobili LA, et al. An off-the-shelf instant contact casting device for the management of diabetic foot ulcers: a randomized prospective trial versus traditional fiberglass cast. Diabetes Care 2007;30(3):586-90.
- Saltzman CL, Zimmerman MB, Holdsworth RL, Beck S, Hartsell HD, Frantz RA. Effect of initial weight-bearing in a total contact cast on healing of diabetic foot ulcers. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2004;86A(12):2714-9.
- 731. Chantelau E, Haage P. An audit of cushioned diabetic footwear: relation to patient compliance. Diabet Med 1994;11(1):114-6.
- 732. Chantelau E, Tanudjaja T, Altenhofer F, Ersanli Z, Lacigova S, Metzger C. Antibiotic treatment for uncomplicated neuropathic forefoot ulcers in diabetes: a controlled trial. Diabet Med 1996;13(2):156-9.
- Grayson ML, Gibbons GW, Habershaw GM, Freeman DV, Pomposelli FB, Rosenblum BI, et al. Use of ampicillin/sulbactam versus imipenem/cilastatin in the treatment of limb-threatening foot infections in diabetic patients. Clin Infect Dis 1994;18(5):683-93.

- Lipsky BA, Baker PD, Landon GC, Fernau R. Antibiotic therapy for diabetic foot infections: comparison of two parenteral-to-oral regimens. Clin Infect Dis 1997;24(4):643-8.
- 735. Leese GP, Nathwani D, Young MJ, Seaton A, Kennon B, Hopkinson H, et al. Good practice guidance for the use of antibiotics in patients with diabetic foot ulcers. Diabetic Foot Journal 2009;12(2):62-78.
- 736. Blume PA, Walters J, Payne W, Ayala J, Lantis J. Comparison of negative pressure wound therapy using vacuum-assisted closure with advanced moist wound therapy in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care 2008;31(4):631-6.
- 737. Noble-Bell G, Forbes A. A systematic review of the effectiveness of negative pressure wound therapy in the management of diabetes foot ulcers. Int Wound J 2008;5(2):233-42.
- Gloviczki P, Bower TC, Toomey BJ, Mendonca C, Naessens JM, Schabauer AM, et al. Microscope-aided pedal bypass is an effective and low-risk operation to salvage the ischemic foot. Am J Surg 1994;168(2):76-84.
- Conte MS, Belkin M, Upchurch GR, Mannick JA, Whittemore AD, Donaldson MC. Impact of increasing comorbidity on infrainguinal reconstruction: a 20-year perspective. Ann Surg 2001;233(3):445-52.
- LoGerfo FW, Gibbons GW, Pomposelli FB, Jr., Campbell DR, Miller A, Freeman DV, et al. Trends in the care of the diabetic foot. Expanded role of arterial reconstruction. Arch Surg 1992;127(5):617-20.
- Shah DM, Darling RC, 3rd, Chang BB, Fitzgerald KM, Paty PS, Leather RP. Long-term results of in situ saphenous vein bypass. Analysis of 2058 cases. Ann Surg 1995;222(4):438-46.
- 742. Albers M, Romiti M, Brochado-Neto FC, De Luccia N, Pereira CA. Meta-analysis of popliteal-to-distal vein bypass grafts for critical ischemia. J Vasc Surg 2006;43(3):498-503.
- Romiti M, Albers M, Brochado-Neto FC, Durazzo AES, Pereira CAB, De Luccia N. Meta-analysis of infrapopliteal angioplasty for chronic critical limb ischemia. J Vasc Surg 2008;47(5):975-81.
- 744. Adam DJ, Beard JD, Cleveland T, Bell J, Bradbury AW, Forbes JF, et al. Bypass versus angioplasty in severe ischaemia of the leg (BASIL): multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2005;366(9501):1925-34.
- 745. Jeffcoate W, Lima J, Nobrega L. The Charcot foot. Diabet Med 2000;17(4):253-8.
- Fabrin J, Larsen K, Holstein PE. Long-term follow-up in diabetic Charcot feet with spontaneous onset. Diabetes Care 2000;23(6):796-800.
- 747. McGill M, Molyneaux L, Bolton T, Ioannou K, Uren R, Yue DK. Response of Charcot's arthropathy to contact casting: assessment by quantitative techniques. Diabetologia 2000;43(4):481-4.
- Guis S, Pellissier JF, Arniaud D, Turck F, Witjas T, Roux H, et al. Healing of Charcot's joint by pamidronate infusion. J Rheumatol 1999;26(8):1843-5.
- Selby PL, Young MJ, Boulton AJ. Bisphosphonates: a new treatment for diabetic Charcot neuroarthropathy? Diabet Med 1994;11(1):28-31.
- McQuay H, Carroll D, Jadad AR, Wiffen P, Moore A. Anticonvulsant drugs for management of pain: a systematic review. Br Med J 1995;311(7012):1047-52.
- McQuay HJ, Tramer M, Nye BA, Carroll D, Wiffen PJ, Moore RA. A systematic review of antidepressants in neuropathic pain. Pain 1996;68(2-3):217-27.
- 752. Sultan A, Gaskell H, Derry S, Andrew RA. Duloxetine for painful diabetic neuropathy and fibromyalgia pain: Systematic review of randomised trials. BMC Neurology 2008;8(29).
- 753. Wernicke JF, Pritchett YL, D'Souza DN, Waninger A, Tran P, Iyengar S, et al. A randomized controlled trial of duloxetine in diabetic peripheral neuropathic pain. Neurology 2006;67(8):1411-20.
- 754. Jia HY, Li QF, Song DP, An ZM, Liu YP, Ran XW, et al. Effects of venlafaxine and carbamazepine for painful peripheral diabetic neuropathy: A randomized, double-blind and double-dummy, controlled multi-center trial. Chin J Evi Base Med 2006;6(5):321-28.
- Rowbotham MC, Goli V, Kunz NR, Lei D. Venlafaxine extended release in the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy: a doubleblind, placebo-controlled study. Pain 2004;110(3):697-706
- 756. Backonja M, Beydoun A, Edwards KR, Schwartz SL, Fonseca V, Hes M, et al. Gabapentin for the symptomatic treatment of painful neuropathy in patients with diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1998;280(21):1831-6.
- 757. Gutierrez-Alvarez AM, Beltran-Rodriguez J, Moreno CB. Antiepileptic drugs in treatment of pain caused by diabetic neuropathy. J Pain Symptom Manage 2007;34(2):201-8.
- Hurley RW, Lesley MR, Adams MCB, Brummett CM, Wu CL. Pregabalin as a Treatment for Painful Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy: A Meta-Analysis. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2008;33(5):389-94.

- 759 Jacobs-van der Bruggen MA, van Baal PH, Hoogenveen RT, Feenstra TL, Briggs AH, Lawson K, et al. Cost-effectiveness of lifestyle modification in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(8):1453-8
- Leese GP, Reid F, Green V, McAlpine R, Cunningham S, Emslie-Smith AM, et al. Stratification of foot ulcer risk in patients with diabetes: a population-based study. Int J Clin Pract 2006;60(5):541-5
 World Health Organisation (WHO). Use of Glycated Haemoglobin
- 761 World Health Organisation (WHO). Use of Glycated Haemoglobin (HbA1c) in the Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus. Abbreviated Report of a WHO Consultation. Geneva: WHO; 2011 [cited 13 May 2014]. Available from: http://www.who.int/diabetes/publications/ diagnosis_diabetes2011/en/
 762 John WG, UK Department of Health Advisory Committee on
- 762 John WG, UK Department of Health Advisory Committee on Diabetes. Use of HbA1c in the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in the UK. The implementation of World Health Organization guidance 2011. Diabet Med 2012;29(11):1350-7
- 763. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). Pharmacological management of glycaemic control in people with type 2 diabetes. Edinburgh: SIGN; 2017. (SIGN publication no. 154). [cited 29 Nov 2017]. Available from url: http://www.sign. ac.uk/sign-116-and-154-diabetes.html

ISBN 978 1 905813 58 2

Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network Healthcare Improvement Scotland Gyle Square, 1 South Gyle Crescent Edinburgh EH12 9EB

www.sign.ac.uk

